
 
Telephone Enquiries: Michael Cunliffe, Democratic Services (01254) 380109 
Email: michael.cunliffe@hyndburnbc.gov.uk 
Published on Wednesday, 13 February 2019 

Page 1 of 2  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Council 
 
Thursday, 21 February 2019 at 7.00 pm, 
Council Chamber, Town Hall, Accrington 
 
Membership 
 
Councillor Mohammad Ayub (Mayor) in the Chair,  
Councillors Judith Addison, Josh Allen, Lisa Allen, Noordad Aziz, Jean Battle, Sara Britcliffe, 
Stephen Button, Clare Cleary, Andrew Clegg, Loraine Cox, Paul Cox, Munsif Dad, Tony Dobson, 
Stewart Eaves, Diane Fielding, Melissa Fisher, Glen Harrison, June Harrison, Marlene Haworth, 
Stephanie Haworth, Eamonn Higgins, Terry Hurn, Abdul Khan, Michael Miller, Gareth Molineux, 
Jenny Molineux, Tim O'Kane, Dave Parkins, Bernadette Parkinson, Miles Parkinson, 
Joyce Plummer, Kath Pratt, Jeff Scales and Paddy Short 
 

 

A G E N D A 
 
 

1.   Apologies for absence   
 
 

2.   Declarations of Interest and Dispensations   
 
 

3.   Announcements   
 
 

4.   Confirmation of Minutes  (Pages 5 - 12) 
 
To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the last Council Meeting held on the 10th 
January 2019.  
 

Public Document Pack



Page 2 of 2 

 

5.   Core Strategy Review and Site Allocations DPD consultation draft (Regulation 18)  
(Pages 11 - 230) 
 
To update Council on progress with preparation of the new Local Plan (the Core Strategy 
Review and Site Allocations DPD) and to seek approval for a consultation process under 
Regulation 18 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 
2012. 
 

6.   National Non Domestic Rates Retail Discount Scheme  (Pages 231 - 243) 
 
The report presents the proposed National Non Domestic Rates Retail Discount Scheme 
for 2019-20 and 2020-21. 
 

7.   Medium Term Financial Strategy 2019/20 to 2021/2022  (Pages 245 - 305) 
 
To consider the attached report which was approved by Cabinet on the 6th February 
2019. 
 

8.   Prudential Indicators and Treasury Management & Investment Strategy 2019/20- 
2021/22  (Pages 307 - 373) 
 
To consider the attached report which was considered by Cabinet on the 6th February 
2019 and is referred to Council for approval.  
 

9.   General Revenue Budget, Council Tax Levels and Capital Programme 2019/20  
(Pages 357 - 434) 
 
To determine the General Revenue Budget, Capital Programme and Council Tax Levels 
for 2019/20. To enable Council to make the required decisions, the following documents 
are submitted:-  
 
a) Revenue Budget 2019/20  
The proposals put forward by Cabinet on 6TH

 February 2019 are set out in the attached 
report. The final proposals of the Controlling Group will be submitted at the meeting.  
 
b) Capital Programme 2019/20  
The proposals put forward by Cabinet on 6th February 2019 are set out in the attached 
report. The final proposals of the Controlling Group will be submitted at the meeting.  
 
c) Comments and Recommendations of Overview and Scrutiny  
The Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee met on 12th February 2019 to consider 
the budget proposals for 2019/20. The Committee’s comments will be reported at the 
meeting.  

 

 
Chief Executive, Hyndburn Borough Council  
Scaitcliffe House, Ormerod Street, Accrington 
Wednesday, 13 February 2019 



 

 
1 

 
COUNCIL 

 

 
Thursday, 10th January, 2019 

 
Present:  Councillor Mohammad Ayub (Mayor), Councillors Judith Addison, 

Josh Allen, Lisa Allen, Noordad Aziz, Jean Battle, Sara Britcliffe, 
Stephen Button, Loraine Cox, Paul Cox, Munsif Dad, Tony Dobson, 
Stewart Eaves, Diane Fielding, Melissa Fisher, Glen Harrison, 
June Harrison, Marlene Haworth, Eamonn Higgins, Terry Hurn, 
Michael Miller, Gareth Molineux, Jenny Molineux, Tim O'Kane, 
Dave Parkins, Bernadette Parkinson, Miles Parkinson, Joyce Plummer, 
Kath Pratt and Jeff Scales 
 

Apologies: Councillors Clare Cleary, Andrew Clegg, Stephanie Haworth, Abdul Khan 
and Paddy Short 

  

 
268 Apologies for absence 

 
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Clare Cleary, Andrew 
Clegg, Stephanie Haworth, Abdul Khan and Paddy Short. 
 

269 Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 
 
There were no interests or dispensations declared at the meeting. 
 

270 Announcements 
 

1) Councillor Terry Hurn  
 
Councillor Hurn thanked Members for the good wishes and flowers received during 
the time of his illness. 

 
2) Christmas and New Year 

 
The Mayor welcomed Members back to the first Council in 2019 and wished them 
well for the New Year. 

 
3) Mr. Henri Murison, Northern Powerhouse Partnership 

 
The Mayor welcomed Mr. Murison to Full Council and thanked him for accepting 
their invitation to give a presentation on the Northern Powerhouse Partnership.   

 
4) Hyndburn and Great Harwood Fire Station Inspections 

 
The Leader of the Council informed Members that he was the Vice-Chair of 
Lancashire Combined Fire Authority and, as such, was pleased to report that the 
Hyndburn and Great Harwood Fire Stations had been inspected and commended.  
He paid tribute to the efforts of the staff in achieving this outstanding standard.  

 
 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 4.



 
 
 

 

 
2 

271 Question Time 
 
The following question was put to the Leader of the Council by Kerry Gormley, in 
accordance with Council Procedure 2.2(vi):- 
 
“Although currently classed as brownfield land, Huncoat Colliery is more like a nature 
reserve and the local community want this valuable habitat to be given protected status not 
developed.  Huncoat Colliery is one of the best places in Hyndburn to see butterflies, 
wildflowers and other wildlife.  
 
Since the Colliery stopped operating in the 1960s, the land has been reclaimed by nature 
and is now a haven for wildlife.  Recently Hyndburn Butterfly Project has recorded sightings 
of 21 butterfly species at Huncoat Colliery, 13 of which are in decline, including 2 species 
classed as a priority in the UK Biodiversity Action Plan (Small Heath and White-letter 
Hairstreak).  Butterflies are attracted to Huncoat Colliery by large areas of wildflowers, 
including stunning patches of wild orchids. Huncoat Colliery is an accessible site which 
gives local people easy access to nature, as well as providing educational interest. 
 
That, Huncoat Colliery has been earmarked for housing development is terrible news for 
local biodiversity, as we stand to lose an area rich in wildlife at a time when it’s more 
important than ever to protect the precious habitat we have left.  In 2014, WWF-UK 
reported in its Living Planet report that Earth has lost half its wildlife in the last 40 years.  
However, worse is to come as climate change and habitat loss are leading us into the Sixth 
Mass Extinction.  In the 40 years that the world has witnessed critical losses of species, the 
former colliery site has become a haven for thriving nature. 
 
This site has the potential to be a destination and a contribution to tourism in the Borough. 
 
With other less biodiverse lands available in and around Huncoat we ask that this site is 
given special protection and that The Leader of Hyndburn Borough Council calls a special 
full council meeting where experts and local people can present their case as to why this 
habitat needs to be saved from development.  Can he do this?” 
 
The Leader of the Council thanked Kerry Gormley for her question to Full Council.  He 
reported that the Huncoat Colliery site was allocated as a strategic housing site by the 
adopted Hyndburn Core Strategy and that this was one of a number of sites that were 
currently being considered in the preparation of the Huncoat Garden Village Masterplan.  
As part of the Masterplan option development, Ecology surveys had been undertaken.  He 
reported that the surveys confirmed that the former Colliery site contained “neutral 
grasslands that support a species-rich flora” and the habitat with the site “may support 
invertebrates of conservation concern”. 
 
He reported that these findings would be reflected in the Garden Village Masterplan 
preferred option, which would be subject to further consultation in March and that planning 
applications would give consideration to any protected or endangered species and habitats 
in line with national and local planning policy.  He advised that any results from further 
surveys showing that the Huncoat Colliery site was important for invertebrates would 
require development mitigation proposals to included retention or re-creation of suitable 
habitat.    
 
The Mayor thanked Kerry Gormley for the submission of her question. 
 

272 Confirmation of Minutes 
 

Page 4



 
 
 

 

 
3 

The Minutes of the Council meeting held on 15th November 2018 were submitted for 
approval as a correct record. 
 
The Opposition Leader, Councillor Dobson, referred to 2.18 in the minutes – Motion(s) 
submitted on Notice, Universal Credits – and informed Council that he had met with the 
Director for the Department of Works and Pensions in respect of problems associated with 
implementing working Universal Credit in Hyndburn and that they had agreed a review 
process.  He advised all Members of the Council that any relevant issues raised by 
residents could be sent to himself and he would forward them onto the Department of 
Works and Pensions.   
 
Councillor Gareth Molineux reported that he had also been looking at ways of resolving 
issues raised by residents in respect of Universal Credit and suggested that a more 
effective and direct way to deal with these issues would be to forward onto MPs who would 
deal with the Department of Works and Pensions.  He referred to the amount of time it had 
taken for action to be taken by the Department of Works and Pensions to acknowledge and 
agree to review the process in place.  
 
Resolved - That the minutes of the Council meeting, held on 15th 

November 2018, be approved as a correct record. 
 

273 Suspension of Council Procedure Rules 
 
The Mayor proposed the suspension of Council Procedure Rules to facilitate a presentation 
by the Director of the Northern Powerhouse Partnership, Mr. Henri Murison. 
 
Resolved - That Council Procedure Rules be suspended for the 

purpose of receiving a presentation by the Director of 
the Northern Powerhouse Partnership.   

 
 

274 Presentation by the Director of Northern Powerhouse Partnership 
 
In accordance with Council Procedure Rules A10(c), it was agreed by Council for the order 
of business to be changed and that item 12 - Northern Powerhouse Partnership was 
brought forward in the agenda. 
 
Mr. Murison, Director of Northern Powerhouse Partnership had been invited to inform Full 
Council how Hyndburn could make the most of potential opportunities and lobby for 
investment whether infrastructure, employment sites or businesses.  He reported that the 
Northern Powerhouse Partnership was responsible for helping to develop unity in approach 
in improving the economy amongst businesses, local authorities and related organisations 
across the north of England.  The aim of the Partnership was to encourage new ideas to 
improve the quality of life in the north and he referred to transport links, the strength of 
manufacturing in the north and the digital economy all being vital to economic growth.  He 
reported that there was a need for economic assets to be in place to create a northern 
economy and that these should not just be city based.  He referred to funding being 
available to achieve the ambitions which would benefit residents and the role that better 
education and skill sets would play in the long term demands for the North West.  He 
pointed out that the Partnership’s aim was to close the productivity gap with the south.   
 
Members then put a series of comments and questions to Mr. Murison, covering the 
following issues:- 
 

Page 5



 
 
 

 

 
4 

 Retaining people in and coming into the borough with the development of new 
housing such as Huncoat Village Green and improving education and skills 
necessary to do this (Councillor Dave Parkins) 

 Concern about the make-up of the Northern Powerhouse Partnership Board, 
consisting of representation from national corporations, and this being a mismatch 
from the aims of the Partnership in bringing businesses of all types together.  He 
also wanted to know how the Partnership worked with MPs and the Local Authority.  
(Councillor Jeff Scales) 

 A request for assurance in how due diligence would be exercised in respect of 
companies awarded million pound contracts (Councillor Tim O’Kane) 

 A suggestion that organisations worked better when all assets were run under one 
organisation and referred to small district councils having to rely on others.  
(Councillor Noordad Aziz) 

 Concerns around how the Partnership operated and how each location in the north 
differed in their needs and assets and hoped that this would be taken into 
consideration (Councillor Gareth Molineux) 

 Concern around business investments and the share of wealth and suggested that 
young people were consulted. (Councillor Josh Allen) 

 Concern that transport links were available were currently not good enough. 
(Councillor Kath Pratt) 

 
The Mayor thanked Mr Murison for his presentation and for answering Members’ questions. 
 
 
 

275 Gambling Act 2005 - Review of Statement of Principles 
 
The Cabinet Member for Licensing, Councillor Plummer, advised the Council of the 
responses received to the consultation in respect of the Council’s draft revised Gambling 
Act 2005 Statement of Principles and of the proposal for a policy having regard to the 
responses received.  They were asked to consider and agree the final draft of the revised 
Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles.  
 
A short debate on the Policy took place and Councillors O’Kane and Addison requested 
that the following issues were given greater reflection in the policy: 
 

 Operators being required to review local risk assessments due to significant 
changes, with particular importance to the provision and location of bus stops used 
by children in respect of safeguarding. 

 The need to kerb online betting using mobile phones in pubs which contributed to 
anti-social behaviour.  

 Greater control on how betting shops would portray themselves. 

 Greater safeguarding of vulnerable adults by owners of betting shops.   
 
Councillor Plummer reported that safeguarding of vulnerable adults would already be 
reflected in the policy as part of a duty of care by employers. 
 
Resolved - That the final draft of the revised Gambling Act 2005 

Statement of Principles be agreed. 
 

276 Prudential Indicators Monitoring and Treasury Management Strategy Update 
 
Cabinet Member for Finance, Councillor Plummer, updated Council on the Prudential 
Indicators set annually by the Council for the forthcoming three years which aim to 

Page 6



 
 
 

 

 
5 

demonstrate that the Council’s capital investment plans are affordable, prudent and 
sustainable.  The Council formally adopted its current prudential indicators at the Council 
meeting in February 2018. 
 
Resolved - That the report be noted. 
 

277 Minutes of Cabinet 
 
The Minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 5th December 201/8. 
 
Resolved - That the minutes be received and noted. 
 

278 Minutes of Committees 
 
The minutes of the following meetings were submitted:-  
 
COMMITTEE 
 

DATE 

Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

31st October 2018 

Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

1st November 2018 

Audit Committee 
 

19th November 2018 

Licensing Sub-Committee 
 

29th November 2018 

Planning Committee 
 

12th December 2018 

Judicial Committee (Private Hire and Hackney Carriage 
Licensing) 

19th December 2018 

 
Councillor O’Kane requested a correction to the Licensing Sub-Committee minutes to 
reflect that he chaired the meeting and not Councillor Fisher. 
 
Councillor Battle referred to item 200 in the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee minutes – Homelessness in Hyndburn.  She expressed her concern 
about the number of people sleeping rough on Hyndburn’s streets.  She requested that 
action was taken to ensure that provision was made to prevent this from happening.  
Members suggested that empty properties could be used to prevent homelessness and that 
more innovation was need in finding a solution to the problem.   
 
Councillor Gareth Molineux referred Members to the Council’s Homelessness policy and to 
a shortage of social housing.  Councillor Dobson pointed out that a solution to 
homelessness required organisations to work together and was a complex matter.   
 
Councillor Parkins referred to a lack of support for vulnerable people and Councillor Lisa 
Allen referred to meetings currently taking place which were aiming to improve the issue. 
 
Resolved - That the minutes be received and noted. 
 

279 Motion(s) submitted on Notice 
 
The following motion was moved by Councillor Miles Parkinson and seconded by 
Councillor Loraine Cox under Council Procedure Rule A9:- 
 

Page 7



 
 
 

 

 
6 

"The Council calls upon the Government to make fair transitional State Pension 
arrangements for all women born in the 1950s, who have unfairly borne the burden of the 
increase to the State Pension Age (SPA) with lack of appropriate notification. 

 
  3.8 million women had significant pension changes imposed on them by the Pensions 

Acts of 1995 and 2011 with little or no personal notification of the changes. Some women 
had only two years notice of a six-year increase to their state pension age. 

 
  Many had no notification at all. Many women born in the 1950's are living in hardship. 

Retirement plans have been shattered with devastating consequences. Many of these 
women are already out of the labour market, caring for elderly relatives, and/or providing 
childcare for grandchildren, or suffer discrimination in the workplace and struggle to find 
employment. Women born in this decade are suffering financially. These women have 
worked hard, raised families and paid their tax and national insurance with the expectation 
that they would be financially secure when reaching 60. 

 
 It is not the pension age itself that is in dispute - it is widely accepted that women and men 

should retire at the same time. The issue is that the rise in the women's state pension age 
has been too rapid and has happened without sufficient notice being given to the women 
affected, leaving them with no time to make alternative arrangements. 

 
  The Council calls upon the Government “To provide fair transitional State Pension 

arrangements for all women affected by the changes. This translates into a 'bridging' 
pension to provide an income from age 60 until State Pension Age. An income that is not 
means-tested, and also includes recompense for losses incurred, for those women who 
have already reached their SPA, so that women do not live in hardship due to pension 
changes they were not told about until it was too late to make alternative arrangements." 

 
After a debate, the motion was put to the vote and declared carried. 
 
Resolved (1) That this Council supports the call for transitional State 

Pension arrangements for all women born in the 1950s; 
and 

                                (2)  That this Council calls upon the Government to take 
action to put arrangements in place, as set out in the 
motion above. 

 

The following motion was moved by Councillor Gareth Molineux and seconded by 
Councillor Noordad Aziz under Council Procedure Rule A9:- 
 
 “That this Council resolves to write to Lancashire County Council to ask that the proposal 

in their budget for 19/20 to introduce on street car parking charges in Great Harwood be 
abandoned. 

 
We, the Council, believe this is a regressive move for the high street shops in Great 
Harwood and will drive customers away.  The changes in the retail sector means we need 
to be innovative in our approach in supporting our high street and this goes against that.” 
An amendment was then proposed by Councillor Gareth Molineux and seconded by 
Councillor Noordad Aziz as the following addendum to the motion above: 
 
“And that this Council commits to continue to keep all public car parks in its ownership 
free of charge.” 
 
After a debate, the amended motion was put to the vote and declared carried. 
 

Page 8



 
 
 

 

 
7 

Resolved (1) That a letter be sent to Lancashire County Council 
requesting that the proposal in their budget for 2019/20 
to introduce on street car parking charges in Great 
Harwood be abandoned; and 

                                (2)  That this Council commits to continue to keeping all 
public car parks in its ownership free of charge. 

 
The following motion was moved by Councillor Judith Addison and seconded by Councillor 
Sara Britcliffe under Council Procedure Rule A9:- 
 
“In light of the recent bad publicity for car parking fines at the Arndale Centre, can the 
leader of the council update members on what this council is doing to safeguard 
Accrington’s free parking reputation and ensure that any future visitors aren’t penalised for 
making a simple mistake?!” 
 
An amendment was then proposed by Councillor Judith Addison and seconded by 
Councillor Sara Britcliffe as follows: 
 
“In light of the recent bad publicity for car parking fines at the Arndale Centre, we ask the 
Leader to arrange a meeting with the Arndale Centre Management so that any issues can 
be resolved.” 
 
After a debate, the amended motion was put to the vote and declared carried. 
 
Resolved - That a meeting be organised between the Leader of the 

Council and the Arndale Centre Management to discuss 
parking arrangements at the Arndale Centre. 

 
 

280 IHRA Definition of Antisemitism 
 

The following item was submitted as urgent business with the Chair’s agreement in 
accordance with Section 100B(4) of the Local Government Act 1972.  The reason 
for urgency was that this item was discussed before the next available Council 
meeting in February 2019. 
 
Council was asked to adopt the International Holocaust Memorial alliance (IHRA) 
definition of antisemitism and its examples and ensure that this is reflected in its 
Equality and Diversity Scheme and other relevant policies.  
 
Council took part in a short debate on the matter which reflected their support for 
adopting the definition of antisemitism.  Councillor Aziz reported that an All Party 
Parliamentary Group had published a report outlining the definition of Islamophobia 
and suggested that Council also gave consideration to adopting a definition.   

 
 Resolved  - That Council adopt the International Holocaust 

Memorial Alliance (IHRA) definition of antisemitism and 
its examples and reflect these in its Equality and 
Diversity Scheme and other relevant policies. 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 9



 
 
 

 

 
8 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
at which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 10



REPORT TO: Council 

DATE: 21 February 2019 

PORTFOLIO: Cllr Miles Parkinson, Leader 

REPORT AUTHOR: Principal Planning Officer - Policy 

TITLE OF REPORT: Core Strategy Review and Site Allocations DPD 
consultation draft (Regulation 18) 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

Options Not applicable 

  

KEY DECISION: Options If yes, date of publication: No 

 
  
1. Purpose of Report 
 

1.1 To update Council on progress with preparation of the new Local Plan (the Core 

Strategy Review and Site Allocations DPD) and to seek approval for a consultation 

process under Regulation 18 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 

(England) Regulations 2012. 
 
2. Recommendations  
 

2.1 That Council: 

 

1. note and approves the content of the Core Strategy Review Consultation Draft; 

2. note and approves the content of the Site Allocations DPD Consultation Draft 

including the long list of sites for which initial site assessment information will be 

published; 

3. delegate authority to  the Chief Planning and Transportation Officer, following 

consultation with the portfolio holder for Planning, to make any final minor 

changes as they consider necessary or appropriate; and 

4. approve publication of the documents for a 6 week public consultation period 

recommended to commence on Tuesday 26th February 2019.  
 
 
3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 

 

Background 

 

Page 11

Agenda Item 5.



3.1 Work is continuing on preparation of the new Local Plan for Hyndburn. The emerging 

new Local Plan is comprised of four key policy documents: 

 

1. The Core Strategy (first adopted in 2012, now under review - subject of this 

report); 

2. The Site Allocations DPD (work underway – also subject of this report); 

3. The Development Management DPD (adopted in 2018); and 

4. The Accrington Area Action Plan (adopted in 2012) 

 

3.2 In 20181, Cabinet approved an initial set of documents for consultation on the Core 

Strategy Review and Site Allocations DPDs under Regulation 18 of the Town and 

Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. The consultation 

documents set out a range of options for planning for future housing and employment 

growth in the Borough, the distribution of that growth, and how the Council should 

assess specific sites to allocate. Consultation took place between February and April of 

2018. 

 

3.3 The outcomes of that consultation were reported to Cabinet in July 2018. Since that 

time further work has been undertaken on progressing draft policies for the Core 

Strategy Review, informed by the consultation responses. The Government has also 

published a new National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the Council has 

completed further evidence base work2 to help further develop the Local Plan. 

Consultation Draft versions of both the Core Strategy and Site Allocations DPD are 

now complete and are provided as background papers to this report.   

 

3.4 The 2012 Local Planning Regulations require that a Local Plan is subject to 

independent Sustainability Appraisal (SA). The Core Strategy Review Consultation 

Draft has been prepared taking into account the findings of the sustainability appraisal 

of the initial Regulation 18 consultation published in 2018. Further SA work is now 

being prepared on both the Core Strategy and Site Allocations DPD Consultation 

Drafts by Land Use Consultants. The findings of this work will be published by the end 

of February alongside the other consultation material, and used to help refine the 

documents for Publication at Regulation 19 stage.  

 

Core Strategy Consultation Draft  

 

3.5 The Core Strategy Regulation 18 Consultation Draft document is attached to this 

Council report. It sets out the vision for Hyndburn as a place in 2036, aspirations to 

grow the local economy and population of the Borough. It contains a series of strategic 

objectives and planning policies that will help to realise the vision. Comments and 

views on the strategy and policies proposed will be sought through the consultation 

process.  

                                                      
1
 Cabinet meeting of 14 February 2018 

2
 Most important of which is a Housing and Economic Needs Assessment (HENA). Details of the HENA and its findings were 

reported to Cabinet in January 2019 

Page 12



 

3.6 In terms of planned growth the Core Strategy sets out proposals to make provision for 

at least 68.7 hectares (ha) of land for employment uses over the plan period 2016-

2036 (equivalent to 3.4ha/annum3). This level of growth will support the local economic 

growth scenario set out in the HENA study4 and an additional flexibility allowance for 

potential future losses of existing employment sites5.  
 

3.7 In terms of planned housing growth, the Core Strategy sets out proposals to make 

provision for at least 4,320 dwellings over the plan period 2016-2036 (equivalent to an 

average of 216 dwellings per annum6). This level of housing growth will ensure that 

resident labour-supply will increase sufficiently to align with jobs growth anticipated 

under the local economic growth scenario.  
 

3.8 The Core Strategy Regulation 18 Consultation Draft provides a Spatial Development 

Strategy (Policy CS1) at its outset. This clarifies the settlement hierarchy in the 

Borough along with proposed strategic development locations. The Huncoat Garden 

Village is proposed to be the only strategic housing allocation. A new strategic 

employment site will be identified along the M65 corridor at one of the existing key 

employment hubs (J6 - Whitebirk, J7 - Clayton-le-Moors or J8 - Altham), to be 

confirmed at the Publication stage of the plan in 2020. Policy CS1 also clarifies broad 

development principles in relation to developing brownfield land, releasing green belt, 

ensuring sustainable development, and ensuring adequate infrastructure provision is 

provided alongside planned growth. 
 

3.9 Nine distinct areas of the Borough are recognised for spatial planning purposes in the 

new Local Plan, each having its own planning policy7: Accrington (Central); Baxenden; 

Church; Clayton-le-Moors (including Altham); Great Harwood; Huncoat; Rishton; 

Oswaldtwistle; and Knuzden & Whitebirk. Due to the significance of the Huncoat 

Garden Village in the overall Development Strategy, this has its own individual policy 

as well (Policy CS2) set out in the General Development Strategy (Section 3). 
 

3.10 Topic based policies in the Core Strategy are structured in accordance with the 

recently adopted Development Management DPD. Policies are grouped into chapters 

on:  
 

 The Economy and Town Centres (Policies CS3-CS5);  

 Community Infrastructure (Policies CS6-CS8); 

 Housing (Policies CS9-CS11); 

 Protecting and Enhancing the Environment (Policies CS12-CS19);  

 Accessibility and Transport (Policies CS20-CS22); and  

 Rural Issues (Policy CS23). 

                                                      
3
 For context the existing Core Strategy adopted in 2012 sought to allocate around 3.8ha/annum for employment uses. 

4
 As reported to Cabinet 9 January 2019 

5
 Recommended in the Council’s Employment Land Study of 2016 

6
 The existing Core Strategy has an adopted housing requirement of 213 dwellings per annum. 

7
 Policies CS24 – CS32 

Page 13



 

3.11 In total the Core Strategy Regulation 18 Consultation Draft sets out 32 separate 

policies that are intended to replace the existing 39 policies set out in the 2012 adopted 

Core Strategy. Appendix B of the Consultation Draft summarises how the existing 

policies are to be replaced by the emerging new Core Strategy ones.  

 

Site Allocations DPD Consultation Draft 

 

3.12 The Site Allocations DPD Regulation 18 Consultation Draft document is attached to 

this Council report. Once adopted, the Site Allocations DPD will provide details of 

allocated sites around the Borough to meet the future development requirements set 

out in the Core Strategy, and any specific policy requirements of those sites. A Policies 

Map will also identify sites and areas to be protected from development over the plan 

period. 

 

3.13 The Consultation Draft of the Site Allocations DPD is produced under Regulation 18 of 

the 2012 Regulations; however it is not yet at such an advanced stage as the Core 

Strategy Review. At this stage the Council will be presenting information on the list of 

179 sites that have made it to Stage 3 of the Council’s Site Assessment Methodology8 

only. No indications of which sites are preferred to go forward for allocation are made 

at this stage; this will be presented as part of the Regulation 19 consultation next year.   
 

3.14 The attached Consultation Draft document provides further context on the Site 

Allocations DPD, along with maps showing the long list of sites for which detailed site 

assessment information will be published as part of the consultation process. These 

are still being prepared with input from external organisations and are therefore not 

available at this stage but will be completed ready for consultation commencement on 

26th February with a 3 page assessment report to be provided on each of the 179 sites.  
 

Next Steps 
 

3.15 The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 set out 

how Local Authorities are to prepare Local Plans. Following this Regulation 18 

consultation (planned to run from 26 February – 8 April 2019) the Council must prepare 

its Publication version of its plan under Regulation 19. The Publication version is in 

effect the final version that the Council would seek to adopt. For the Core Strategy this 

will mean refined policies over those presented in the Consultation Draft. For the Site 

Allocations DPD it will be confirmation of the Council’s preferred sites for allocation with 

any specific policy requirements attached to those sites. A further stage of public 

consultation is required on the Publication version of the plan, and the Council then 

submits the plan along with all representations received at the Publication stage, and 

its supporting evidence, to the Planning Inspectorate for independent examination. 

 

                                                      
8
 Subject of consultation approved by Cabinet 14 February 2018, findings reported to Cabinet 18 July 2018 

Page 14



3.16 Responses to this Regulation 18 consultation will be brought to Cabinet in the summer 

of 2019. Further evidence base work will also be required9 before the Publication 

version of the Plan can be prepared, therefore it is planned to consult on Regulation 19 

early in 2020, with submission in the summer of 2020. Typically, examination of plans 

takes around 12 months and so the Council can expect to have its new Local Plan 

documents adopted in the second half of 2021. 

 
 
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 

4.1 The Core Strategy Review and Site Allocations DPD Consultation Drafts have been 

prepared in accordance with the Town and Country (Local Planning) (England) 

Regulations 2012. As the preparation of these documents is to be in accordance with 

this legal framework there are no alternative options for their preparation. 

 

4.2 Alternative policy options have been considered and addressed through the previous 

Regulation 18 consultation, and set out in the accompanying sustainability appraisal 

report. A further sustainability appraisal will be published alongside these consultation 

documents, along with other supporting justification papers. 
 
 
5. Consultations 
 

5.1 A wide range of people and organisations have been involved in the evolution of the 

Local Plan documents up to this point. This includes the initial public consultation event 

held in February to April 2018. The outcomes of this have been taken into account in 

preparing these Consultation Draft documents.  

 

5.2 The Council is undertaking this statutory consultation period under Regulation 18 of the 

Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. It will 

continue to fulfil its role under the duty to cooperate ensuring that neighbouring Local 

Authorities and other relevant statutory bodies are involved in the plan preparation.  

 

5.3 A further round of public consultation will also take place on the ‘Publication’ version of 

the Plan in early 2020.  

. 
 
6. Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 
 

The direct financial implications of this work 
are costs relating to the consultation process 
itself, and publication of relevant material. 
This will be covered by the annual budget 
assigned to Local Plan work. 

                                                      
9
 e.g. completion of an Open Space Audit, Habitat Surveys, and Transport Assessments will be required  

Page 15



 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

The Core Strategy and Site Allocations 
documents form part of the statutory 
development plan for the Borough. Once 
adopted therefore, they are the starting point 
for considering planning applications and 
should be given full weight in decision 
making. At this stage however (Issues and 
Options), the issues raised can be given very 
little weight in decision making. Local plans 
are prepared in a manner that is prescribed 
by statute and by its very nature seeks to 
protect human rights. 

Assessment of risk 
 

There are no significant risks associated with 
this consultation exercise 

Equality and diversity implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  
 

The Council is subject to the public sector 
equality duty introduced by the Equality Act 
2010. When making a decision in respect of 
the recommendations in this report Cabinet 
must have regard to the need to: 

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, 
harassment and victimisation; and 

 advance equality of opportunity between 
those who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and those who don’t; and 

 foster good relations between those who 
share a relevant protected characteristic 
and those who don’t. 

For these purposes the relevant protected 
characteristics are: age, disability, gender 
reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, 
race, religion or belief, sex and sexual 
orientation. When making a decision in 
respect of the proposals in this report 
members should have regard to the 
Customer First Analysis annexed to this 
report.   

 
 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 

7.1 The following background papers will form the proposed consultation documents: 

 

1. Core Strategy Review: Regulation 18 Consultation Draft 

2. Core Strategy Review: Growth Option and Spatial Option justification paper 

Page 16

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407


3. Site Allocations DPD: Regulation 18 Consultation Draft (excluding site assessment 

reports – still to be completed) 
 
 
8. Freedom of Information 
 
8.1 The report does not contain exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972, 
 Schedule 12A and all information can be disclosed under the Freedom of Information 
 Act 2000. 
 
 
 
 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

Hyndburn 2036: 

The Local Plan  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Core Strategy Review Development Plan 

Document (DPD) 

Regulation 18 Consultation Draft: February 2019 

  

Page 19



 

 
 

The Core Strategy Review DPD: Executive Summary 
 

In 2036 Hyndburn will be a vibrant, distinctive, and prosperous area of Pennine Lancashire.  

It will be recognised for the collective quality and attractiveness of its market towns, its 

diverse communities, its landscape setting and environmental credentials and the iconic 

Huncoat Garden Village.  

 

There will be a good choice of homes, skilled local jobs, and efficient infrastructure and 

service provision has ensured that Hyndburn has grown in a sustainable way, with healthier 

residents, and is seen as a great place to settle.   

 

In 2036, Hyndburn will be a place: 

 where people aspire to live and where there is a good choice and range of high 

quality housing; 

 with a prosperous and productive economy driven by innovative businesses located 

at the heart of the northern power house;   

 with a high quality and valued environment with good connections between urban 

and rural areas; 

 that is accessible and well connected to neighbouring conurbations and regions; 

 where you will achieve a first class education; and 

 where there are good opportunities to lead an active and healthy lifestyle.  

 

This consultation document sets out a proposed vision for Hyndburn as a place in 2036, and 

a series of strategic objectives and policies that will realise that vision.  This is your 

opportunity to comment on Hyndburn 2036 so that it can be developed in the most 

appropriate way, having regard to national and local policy and the views of a range of 

stakeholders.   

 

The Core Strategy will form part of the Local Plan for the Borough, setting the strategic 

context for the Site Allocations DPD that is currently being developed, the adopted 

Development Management DPD and the adopted Accrington Area Action Plan.  

 

The planning system should be plan led and local plans should be succinct, flexible and up 

to date.  Since the Hyndburn Core Strategy was adopted in 2012 there have been some 

significant changes in the Borough – development of the strategic employment site at 

Frontier Park has commenced, Accrington Bus Station is open and the Pennine Reach 

Quality Bus Scheme is operating, and new opportunities have arisen that necessitate a 

change of strategy in relation to development at Huncoat.  Since the 2012 Core Strategy 

was adopted National Planning Policy has also changed and the Local Plan for Hyndburn 

must be consistent with national policy.   

 

Whilst there have been a number of changes that necessitate review, the Core Strategy is 

intended to present strategic, long term, policy solutions to the challenges that face the 

Borough and many of these remain.  A key part of the review is therefore to consider which 

aspects of the existing Core Strategy have been successful and should be retained, and 

Page 20



 

 
 

those aspects that need to be reconsidered or for which a different policy approach is 

required.   

 

The Core Strategy 2036 presents a strategy for growth in Hyndburn to counteract the decline 

in population that has been forecast, and seeks to provide high quality housing and jobs for 

those who live and work in the Borough.  The strategy will focus growth along the M65 

corridor and at Huncoat, making provision for: 

 housing growth within the Borough, the strategy supporting the development of 

Huncoat Garden Village; 

 a higher level of employment development that will support business development in 

the Borough and Pennine Lancashire;  

 the development of other key sectors including retail, leisure and other commercial 

development; 

 community facilities such as health, education and cultural infrastructure; 

 the development of the infrastructure required to deliver and support the 

development planned; and 

 the conservation and enhancement of the natural, built and historic environment.   

 

As well as addressing the strategic priorities of Hyndburn, the policies of the Core Strategy 

will also provide a clear starting point for the non-strategic policies within the Local Plan.  In 

Hyndburn, the Core Strategy will establish the strategic context for the policies of the 

Development Management DPD that was adopted in 2018 and the Site Allocations DPD that 

is currently being developed.  References to these more detailed policies and sites will be 

set out throughout the Core Strategy.  The Core Strategy will also set out how the strategic 

policy framework is consistent with the National Planning Policy Framework.   

 

Green Belt was first designated around the Pennine Lancashire towns by the North East 

Lancashire Structure Plan in 1980.  Since that time, there have been significant 

developments across Pennine Lancashire, including construction of the M65 that was 

completed in 1996, connecting Pennine Lancashire to the M6 corridor to the west and the 

A56/M66 to the south.  A review of Green Belt boundaries has been undertaken as part of 

the development of this Core Strategy. The Council will ensure that strategic allocations are 

well aligned with the main transport corridors, a key requisite for future business growth, 

which is likely to require amendments to the existing Green Belt.   

 

The Council is seeking views on this document from local communities, alongside other 

organisations and partners involved with development and place making.  

Following this consultation (to be held between 26th February and 8th April 2019) the Council 

will consider a number of different matters to help improve and refine the policies that are 

drafted in this document.  These include: 

 views that have been made during this consultation exercise; 

 the findings of the Sustainability Appraisal (SA) report that accompanies the Local 

Plan consultation documents; 

 outcomes of ‘Duty to Cooperate’ work with neighbouring authorities and consultees; 

 the recommendations of the Huncoat Masterplan which is expected to be completed 

during 2019; 

Page 21



 

 
 

 any new evidence that may be published between now and the next stage of the 

Local Plan; and 

 other material considerations such as new national, regional strategies or policies 

that are adopted in the interim. 

 

The Council will refine this document and publish its final preferred version early in 2020.  

An independent examination of the Local Plan will then take place during 2020/21, and 

‘Hyndburn 2036’ is anticipated to be adopted in 2021, at which point it will formally replace 

the existing 2012 Core Strategy.   

 
This is a key time for the Borough, so please do get involved and help contribute to the 

debate.  By getting involved now, you can help to shape the future development of Hyndburn 

to ensure that Hyndburn in 2036 is the best that it can be.   

 

 

Page 22



 

 
 

Table of Contents 
 

1.0 Introduction ....................................................................... 1 

Hyndburn 2036 – The Core Strategy ................................................................. 2 

The Development Plan in Hyndburn .................................................................. 5 

How to get involved and comment ..................................................................... 7 

2.0 Vision, Aims and Objectives ............................................ 8 

3.0 The General Development Strategy .............................. 14 

Policy CS1: The Spatial Development Strategy ............................................... 14 

Policy CS2: Huncoat Garden Village ............................................................... 20 

Key Diagram .................................................................................................... 24 

4.0 The Economy & Town Centres ...................................... 25 

Policy CS3: Employment Provision .................................................................. 26 

Policy CS4: Protection, Modernisation and Development of Employment Sites

 .............................................................................................................................. 28 

Policy CS5: Centre Hierarchy, Strategy and Retail Provision .......................... 31 

5.0 Community Infrastructure .............................................. 35 

Policy CS6: Open Space and Local Green Space Provision ........................... 36 

Policy CS7: Provision of Community Facilities ................................................. 38 

Policy CS8: Community Benefits/Planning Obligations.................................... 39 

6.0 Housing............................................................................ 41 

Policy CS9: Housing Provision (including affordable housing) ......................... 42 

Policy CS10: Suitable Range of Housing ......................................................... 47 

Policy CS11: Gypsy and Traveller and Travelling Showpeople Provision........ 52 

7.0 Protecting and enhancing the environment ................. 54 

Policy CS12: Sustainable Development and Climate Change ......................... 55 

Policy CS13: Green Infrastructure ................................................................... 60 

Policy CS14: Landscape Character ................................................................. 61 

Policy CS15: Natural Environment Enhancement ............................................ 63 

Policy CS16: Renewable Energy ..................................................................... 66 

Policy CS17: High Quality Design and Heritage .............................................. 67 

Policy CS18: Environmental Amenity and Air Quality ...................................... 71 

Policy CS19: The Leeds and Liverpool Canal .................................................. 72 

Page 23



 

 
 

8.0 Accessibility and Transport ........................................... 74 

Policy CS20: Connectivity and improvements to transport networks ............... 76 

Policy CS21: Sustainable and safe transport ................................................... 78 

Policy CS22: Cycle and Footpath Networks .................................................... 80 

9.0 Rural Issues (Green Belt and Countryside Area) ........ 82 

Policy CS23: Development in rural areas ........................................................ 83 

10.0 The Local Plan Areas .................................................. 85 

Policy CS24: Accrington (Central) ................................................................... 86 

Policy CS25: Baxenden ................................................................................... 88 

Policy CS26: Church ........................................................................................ 90 

Policy CS27: Clayton-le-Moors and Altham ..................................................... 91 

Policy CS28: Great Harwood ........................................................................... 94 

Policy CS29: Huncoat ...................................................................................... 96 

Policy CS30: Rishton ....................................................................................... 98 

Policy CS31: Oswaldtwistle ........................................................................... 101 

Policy CS32: Knuzden & Whitebirk ................................................................ 104 

11.0 Implementation and Monitoring ............................... 106 

Appendix A: Glossary ......................................................... 107 

Appendix B: Core Strategy (2012) and Core Strategy 

Review policy mapping ...................................................... 108 

Appendix C: DM DPD and Core Strategy Review policy 

mapping ............................................................................... 110 

 

Page 24



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

1 

 

1.0 Introduction 
 

1.1 The Borough of Hyndburn is situated in the east of the County of Lancashire, in the 

North West of England.  It lies at the heart of “Pennine” Lancashire, close to the 

borders with Yorkshire and Greater Manchester.  It directly borders Blackburn with 

Darwen, Burnley, Ribble Valley and Rossendale local authority areas.   

 

Figure 1 - Map illustrating the strategic position of Hyndburn in North West England 

to be inserted before consultation  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.2 The Borough covers an area of 73 square kilometres and has an estimated 

population of 80,4101. The main settlement is Accrington (and its townships of 

Baxenden, Clayton-le-Moors, Church, Huncoat and Oswaldtwistle) with Rishton and 

Great Harwood the remaining settlements of significant size. The Borough has 

smaller rural settlements (such as Belthorn and Altham) and significant areas of 

surrounding countryside, much of which is Green Belt.  Areas of countryside extend 

to rural uplands and moorland fringe landscapes to the south and east. 

 

1.3 Hyndburn is well connected by both road and rail. The M65 motorway provides 

connections east and west, whilst the A56/M66 provides connections south to 

Manchester. Direct rail services are also available to Preston/Fylde, 

Leeds/Bradford, and Manchester sub-regions. 

                                                           
1
 Office for National Statistics mid-year population estimates (2017) 

Page 25



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

2 

 

 

Figure 2- Map illustrating the main settlements in Hyndburn to be inserted before 

consultation  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Hyndburn 2036 – The Core Strategy 

 

1.4 Hyndburn 2036 – The Core Strategy, will set out the strategic policy framework for 

the development of Hyndburn up to 2036, and in some cases beyond that period.  It 

will do this through the development of the following framework: 

 

A Vision  

This sets out how we want Hyndburn to look in 2036.  It should be ambitious but 

realistic and achievable.   

 

Strategic Objectives  

The Core Strategy identifies five strategic objectives that reflect the strategic 

priorities of the Borough.   

 

The Spatial Development Strategy 

The Spatial Development Strategy sets out the pattern and scale of development 

across the Borough required to deliver the vision and strategic objectives, and will 

be further informed by the subsequent policies and supporting text. Planning 

policies seeking to deliver the Spatial Development Strategy and the Strategic 

Objectives are grouped into thematic and area based policies. 

Page 26



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

3 

 

 

Thematic Policies 

A series of 21 proposed planning policies that will seek to deliver the Spatial 

Development Strategy and the Strategic Objectives are grouped under the 

headings of: economy and town centres; community infrastructure; housing; 

environment; accessibility and transport; and rural areas. The Core Strategy 

thematic policies will provide the strategic framework for more detailed policies set 

out within the Development Management DPD.   

 

Area Policies 

A series of nine proposed spatial planning policies summarise the likely level of 

development and future development strategies for each of the different Local Plan 

areas identified in Figure 3 below. The Core Strategy area policies will provide the 

strategic framework for more detailed policies/site allocations to be set out within 

the Site Allocations DPD.  

 

Figure 3 – The Local Plan Areas 

 
 

Page 27



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

4 

 

Supporting Text  

The supporting text set out below each of the thematic and area policies will seek to 

explain the purpose of each policy and how it should be applied.  The supporting 

text will also consider how the policy relates to national planning policy and explain 

any policy links with other elements of the Local Plan and relevant evidence.   

 

1.5 This consultation paper provides a proposed draft of a new Core Strategy for 

Hyndburn.  The new Core Strategy once adopted (anticipated in 2021) will replace 

the 2012 Core Strategy and form part of the development plan for the Borough.  

The development plan is also referred to as the Hyndburn Local Plan and includes 

the Development Management DPD adopted in 2018, the Accrington Area Action 

Plan adopted in 2012, and the Site Allocations DPD that is being prepared 

alongside this Core Strategy.   

 

1.6 Since the existing Hyndburn Core Strategy was adopted in 2012 there have been a 

variety of strategic changes that justify undertaking a review.  The strategic 

employment site at Frontier Park (Whitebirk) is now open and being developed, 

Accrington has new bus and rail stations, the Pennine Reach Quality Bus Service is 

operational, the Todmorden Curve has been reinstated, and opportunities have 

arisen that justify a new approach being taken to the distribution of housing in the 

Borough and in particular development at Huncoat. The Government has also 

imposed a new requirement to review Local Plan documents at least every 5 years2. 

 

1.7 The new Core Strategy is being produced in accordance with the Town and Country 

Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (hereon referred to as ‘the 

Regulations’).  This paper forms part of the Regulation 18 statutory consultation 

under the Regulations and follows an earlier round of consultation held between 

February and April 2018 (the Core Strategy Policies Scoping Assessment). 

 

1.8 The primary purpose of the Core Strategy is to set the strategic planning policy 

framework for Hyndburn.  Paragraph 20 of the National Planning Policy Framework 

(NPPF) defines ‘strategic’ policies as those that concern the ‘pattern, scale and 

quality of development’. It goes on to state that strategic policies should ‘make 

sufficient provision for: 

 housing (including affordable housing), employment, retail, leisure and 

other commercial development 

 infrastructure for transport, telecommunications, security, waste 

management, water supply, wastewater, flood risk  

 community facilities (such as health, education and cultural infrastructure); 

and 

                                                           
2
 Paragraph 33 of the NPPF 

Page 28



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

5 

 

 conservation and enhancement of the natural, built and historic 

environment, including landscapes and green infrastructure, and planning 

measures to address climate change mitigation and adaptation’. 

 

1.9 As well as addressing the strategic priorities of Hyndburn, the policies of the Core 

Strategy will also provide a clear starting point for the non-strategic policies within 

the Local Plan.  In Hyndburn, the Core Strategy will establish the strategic context 

for the policies of the Development Management DPD that was adopted in 2018 

and the Site Allocations DPD that is currently being developed.  References to 

these more detailed policies and sites will be set out throughout the Core Strategy.   

 

1.10 All the policies set out in this paper are considered to be ‘strategic’ policies.  

Policies must look ahead a minimum of 15 years from adoption3 and should be 

‘prepared positively, in a way that is aspirational but deliverable’4.  The policies will 

be used for identifying suitable land for allocation in the Borough in the Council’s 

Site Allocations DPD to 20365.  

 

The Development Plan in Hyndburn 

 

1.11 The NPPF confirms that ‘the planning system should be genuinely plan-led. 

Succinct and up-to-date plans should provide a positive vision for the future of each 

area; a framework for addressing housing needs and other economic, social and 

environmental priorities; and a platform for local people to shape their 

surroundings’. 

 

1.12 The development plan in Hyndburn comprises a number of different documents, the 

Local Plan documents set out in Figure 4 below, and also Neighbourhood Plans (of 

which there are none at present), and the Lancashire County Council Minerals and 

Waste Local Plan.  

 

1.13 The Core Strategy provides the overarching strategic planning policies and was first 

adopted in 2012, and is now under review, the subject of this Regulation 18 

Consultation paper.  The Site Allocations DPD will identify the sites required to meet 

the development needs set out in the Core Strategy, as well as sites to be protected 

from development.  A Proposals Maps will be published alongside the policies of 

the Site Allocations DPD.   

 

                                                           
3
 Paragraph 22 of the NPPF 

4
 Paragraph 16 of the NPPF 

5
 Alongside this consultation paper the Council is also consulting under Regulation 18 of the Regulations on its 

Site Allocations DPD. Initial information on the large pool of potential sites to be considered for allocation is 
presented for comment. Comments are sought on sites in combination with the draft policies set out in this Core 
Strategy consultation document 

Page 29



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

6 

 

1.14 The Development Management DPD provides more detailed planning policies used 

in determining planning applications. This was adopted by the Council in 2018. 

Finally the Accrington Area Action Plan (AAP), adopted in 2012, provides specific 

planning policies for the town centre and environs.  This has been reviewed by the 

Council in 2018 and will not be subject to any formal policy updates until adoption of 

the Core Strategy and Site Allocations DPD in 2021. 

 

Figure 4: Structure of the Hyndburn Local Plan

 

 

 

1.15 The Town and Country Planning Act6 states that planning applications should be 

determined in accordance with the policies of the development plan unless material 

considerations indicate otherwise. The existing Core Strategy (adopted in 2012) will 

remain part of the development plan until the replacement Core Strategy is 

adopted.  Developing policy documents can be considered a material consideration 

but the weight afforded to them will depend upon the stage it has reached and the 

extent to which objections have been made. 

 
Structure of this consultation paper 

1.16 This paper begins by setting out the overall vision, aims and objectives of the Core 

Strategy in Section 2. This is followed by the General Development Strategy for the 

Borough set out in Section 3 - policies on the Spatial Development Strategy and the 

Huncoat Garden Village are presented along with a key diagram. 

 

1.17 Sections 4 to 9 of the document present the main thematic based policies aligned to 

the structure of the recently adopted Development Management DPD. This enables 

easy cross-referencing and application of policies in different documents of the 

development plan.  Specific sections are: 

 The Economy and Town Centres (Section 4) 

 Community Infrastructure (Section 5) 

 Housing (Section 6) 

 Protecting and enhancing the environment (Section 7) 

 Accessibility and Transport (Section 8) 

                                                           
666

 Section 70 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

Core Strategy 
DPD 

Site 
Allocations 

DPD 

Development 
Management 

DPD 

Proposals 
Map 

Accrington 
Area Action 

Plan 

Page 30



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

7 

 

 Rural Issues (Section 9) 

 

1.18 Section 10 concludes the strategic policies of the Core Strategy with area specific 

policies. These serve to summarise and outline the key policy ambitions for each 

sub area of the Borough.  

 

1.19 The paper concludes with Section 11 on implementation and monitoring 

arrangements, followed by Appendices.  

 

How to get involved and comment 

 

1.20 This consultation paper invites you to comment on the proposed policies and 

content of the draft Core Strategy. You can view the document and all supporting 

documentation including representation forms online7. Hard copies will also be 

made available at all libraries across the Borough and at Scaitcliffe House 

(Accrington) for the duration of the consultation period (Tuesday 26 February 2019 

– Monday 8 April 2019).  

 

1.21 Comments must be received no later than 5pm on Monday 8th April 2019 to be 

considered valid and to ensure they can be taken into account as the Core Strategy 

is developed.  
 

1.22 You can submit comments in the following ways: 

 using the comments forms provided at www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/localplan, or 

available in hard copy format at all library locations across the Borough and at 

Scaitcliffe House; 

 e-mailing comments through to planningpolicy@hyndburnbc.gov.uk; or 

 writing to the Council at the following address: Hyndburn Borough Council, 

Plans and Environment, Scaitcliffe House, Ormerod Street, Accrington, BB5 

0PF 

 

1.23 Please note that the Council is not asking specific questions through this document 

as it is all open for comment. Please ensure though that any comments that you do 

make clearly state the policy and/or paragraph number that it relates. The 

Council is keen to receive feedback on aspects of policies that are supported, and 

not just those that are objected to, or are seen to require improvement. To ensure 

that the correct information is captured please use the appropriate comments forms 

wherever possible. 

 

 

                                                           
7
 www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/corestrategy  

Page 31

http://www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/localplan
mailto:planningpolicy@hyndburnbc.gov.uk
http://www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/corestrategy


Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

8 

 

2.0 Vision, Aims and Objectives 

2.1 The Vision for Hyndburn: 

 

 In 2036 Hyndburn will be a vibrant, distinctive, and prosperous area of 

Pennine Lancashire.  It will be recognised for the collective quality and 

attractiveness of its market towns, its diverse communities, its landscape 

setting and environmental credentials and the iconic Huncoat Garden Village.  

 

There will be a good choice of homes, skilled local jobs, and efficient 

infrastructure and service provision has ensured that Hyndburn has grown in 

a sustainable way, with healthier residents, and is seen as a great place to 

settle.   

 

2.2 The overall population of Hyndburn has seen a decline since 20018 the most 

significant factor being due to net internal migration exceeding natural changes in 

the population. Whilst this longer term trend shows signs of having halted in recent 

years, baseline demographic forecasts predict further population decline over the 

plan period, with a significant increase in the proportion of elderly residents, 

meaning fewer working age residents in the future. 

 

2.3 The existing Core Strategy was adopted in 2012. Although there have been a 

number of positive planned changes since that time, many of the underlying 

challenges that underpinned the vision and objectives at that time remain.  The 

policies of the Core Strategy are long term and require implementation over a 

sustained period of time to be successful.  The Vision will be realised through the 

delivery of the following five strategic objectives.   

 

Strategic Objective 1 

 

To create greater opportunities for all to access improved economic 

opportunities and to provide support for the local economy and higher wage 

employment   

 

2.4 Manufacturing and distribution play an important role in the local and regional 

economy and some of the Borough’s main employers have witnessed strong growth 

in recent years.  This has been evidenced by strong growth at Altham Business 

Park and more recently development starting at Frontier Park (Whitebirk).  The 

presence of good transport links is a significant factor when companies are 

considering developing their sites and the M65 connects Pennine Lancashire to the 

rest of the world.   

 

                                                           
8
 ONS Census and mid-year population estimates 

Page 32



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

9 

 

2.5 Despite evidence of growth, employment and economic activity rates in Hyndburn 

are relatively low in comparison to regional and national trends.  There are a 

relatively high number of economically inactive people within Hyndburn, many of 

whom rely on state support.  The average gross annual pay of those working in 

Hyndburn is significantly higher than those who live in the Borough, indicating that 

higher paid jobs in the area are occupied by people who are in-commuting and do 

not live in the Borough and are therefore in effect exporting wealth generated in the 

Borough to be spent elsewhere. 

 

2.6 Baseline economic forecasts suggest that the number of people employed in the 

Borough will steadily reduce, reflecting the general population trend.  However, the 

strategy being adopted by this Core Strategy seeks to reverse this trend by seeking 

to ensure sufficient housing is developed to support economic growth for which land 

will be allocated.   

 

2.7 This strategic objective reflects the ambitions of the Pennine Lancashire Growth 

and Prosperity Plan 2016-32 that has been adopted by Pennine Lancashire local 

authorities and Lancashire County Council. The Lancashire Strategic Economic 

Plan – A Growth Deal for the Arc of Prosperity also recognises the importance of 

the M65 corridor to the sub region and the policies of the Core Strategy support the 

growth agenda that has been agreed for the area. 

 

2.8 The town and local centres of Hyndburn also act as important hubs of economic 

activity, supporting a wide range of shops and services depending upon their role 

and function.  However, they are facing challenges similar to those of many high 

streets in the United Kingdom with increasing vacancy rates and the loss of some 

key retailers such as Marks and Spencer's who chose to leave the town in favour of 

an out of centre location elsewhere.   
 

2.9 Evidence suggests that a relatively small proportion of residents’ expenditure on 

comparison retailing goods (non-food shopping) is retained in the defined centres in 

Hyndburn.  Specific threats are competition from higher order centres and special 

forms of trading (online), edge and out-of-centre retail destinations, and these 

factors compounding a lack of investment in the existing centres resulting in further 

deterioration of the built environment and public realm.  The policies of the Core 

Strategy will continue to support the vision and strategic objectives of the 

Accrington Area Action Plan adopted in 2012.   

 

2.10 At the time the previous Core Strategy was drafted there was no sixth form 

education available in Hyndburn.  Since that time, sixth form education is now 

available at St Christopher’s Secondary School and Accrington Academy.  

Accrington and Rossendale College also provides a good range of higher level 

vocational and academic courses that can be undertaken by students.  

Notwithstanding this, educational attainment still remains below average and there 

remains a lack of skilled employees.   

 

Page 33



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

10 

 

2.11 Since the adoption of the existing Core Strategy in 2012, good progress has been 

made in addressing the issues and challenges faced by Hyndburn, evidenced by 

the opening of the strategic employment site at Frontier Park and there has been 

steady growth of businesses at Altham Business Park and Huncoat Industrial 

Estate.  However, evidence from the Housing and Economic Needs Assessment 

(2018) indicates that there is a need to identify further land for employment 

development up to 2036 and potentially beyond. If Green Belt boundaries are to be 

protected over a longer time period than the plan, it will be necessary to consider 

land requirements beyond 2036. 
 

2.12 Planning policies to help address these issues are covered in particular in Section 

4: The Economy & Town Centres.  

 

Strategic Objective 2 

 

To provide for a greater choice and quality of housing, including through 

transformational change at the Huncoat Garden Village   

 

2.13 Over 50% of housing stock in the Borough still comprises terraced properties 

constructed prior to 1919, resulting in a lack of choice of housing and, at times, 

housing market failure.  There is a continued need to develop high quality family 

homes so that residents can move up the housing ladder and remain in the 

Borough.   

 

2.14 Although over 650 new houses have been developed, and over 630 houses brought 

back into use in the six years since the adoption of the existing Core Strategy in 

20129, the level of house building has not reached the level that was planned in 

2012.  The reasons for this are associated with the long term impacts of the 

economic recession, the attractiveness of the housing market, low land values and 

the suitability of housing sites.  Over the last 5 years, net additional new homes 

have averaged 125 dwellings per annum (dpa), significantly above the Government 

standard method for calculating housing need (60dpa), but below the identified 

need (of around 216dpa) to support local economic growth. Planning permission for 

976 dwelling units remain extant10. 

 

2.15 House prices in Hyndburn are amongst the lowest in the country, and although this 

means that houses are comparatively affordable, it is also means that home owners 

are sometimes unwilling to invest in improvements to their property because they 

cannot recover that investment.  Despite the low house prices, there remains a 

need for affordable housing in the Borough. Since 2012 Registered Providers have 

                                                           
9
 Including the regeneration of Woodnook and Blackburn Road (Phoenix project) in Accrington 

10
 Hyndburn Borough Council 5-Year Housing Land Supply Statement (2018-2023) (September 2018) 

Page 34



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

11 

 

completed 95 new affordable homes, a further 58 affordable units have planning 

permission and remain extant.   
 

2.16 Planning policies to help address these issues are covered in particular in Section 

6: Housing.  

 

Strategic Objective 3 

 

To improve the quality of health of the residents of Hyndburn  

 

2.15 Health continues to be a significant cause for concern with life expectancy, rates of 

limiting life-long illnesses, and rates of adult participation in sport all indicating a 

population less healthy than regional and national comparators, with large 

disparities across different wards. 

 

2.16 Since the adoption of the existing Core Strategy in 2012 there have been a number 

of significant planning developments that will help promote healthy lifestyles, in 

particular: 

 The development of new playing pitches on Harwood Lane, Great Harwood 

as part of a near-by housing development; 

 The granting of planning permission for the development of a sports hub at 

Highams Playing Fields; 

 The development of new sports facilities at St Christopher's School and 

Accrington Academy, and; 

 The designation of two new Local Nature Reserves (LNRs) at Woodnook 

Vale and Peel Park, the largest LNRs in Lancashire. 
 

2.17 Planning policies to help address these issues are included in a number of Sections 

including Section 5: Community Infrastructure, Section 6: Housing, Section7: 

Protecting and enhancing the environment and Section 8: Accessibility and 

Transport. 

 

Strategic Objective 4 

 

To create a valued urban and rural environment 

 

2.18 The towns of Hyndburn are set within the rolling countryside of the West Pennine 

Moors and are characterised by having a rich heritage, much of which is associated 

with the areas industrial past. Whilst the redevelopment of brownfield sites has 

been successful in recent years, some sites continue to remain vacant, and have 

been so for a long period of time. These include strategic allocations at Huncoat 

(the former power station and colliery sites) and land at Brookside in Oswaldtwistle. 

 

2.19 Since the existing Core Strategy was adopted in 2012 there have been some 

notable developments: 

Page 35



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

12 

 

 The designation of a large part of Oswaldtwistle Moor as a Site of Special 

Scientific Interest (SSSI)11, forming part of one of the largest SSSI's in 

North West England; 

 The development of the Hyndburn Windfarm on Oswaldtwistle Moor that 

generates a significant amount of renewable electricity;   

 The designation of two new Local Nature Reserves (LNR's) at Woodnook 

Vale and Peel Park, the largest LNR's in Lancashire;  

 Accrington Town Centre Townscape Heritage Initiative support from 

Heritage Lottery Fund and the development of the Town Square / 

Blackburn Road in Accrington, and; 

 The development and improvement of Rhyddings Park with support from 

the Heritage Lottery Fund. 

 

2.20 The designation of Green Belt across a large part of the Borough's rural areas has 

helped to prevent urban sprawl, safeguarding the countryside from encroachment.  

It is important that the policies of the Core Strategy ensure that the Borough's rural 

areas are developed in an appropriate manner that reflects their rural setting and 

character, consistent with national policy. Since the Green Belt was first established 

by the Lancashire Structure Plan in 1990 there has not been a formal review of 

Green Belt boundaries, something that has been undertaken as part of the 

development of this Core Strategy.  

 

2.21 There are over 100 listed buildings, 10 conservation areas and many locally 

significant buildings in the Borough that require conservation in appropriate manner. 

The Borough also has a number of heritage assets identified on the Heritage at 

Risk register published by Historic England. 
 

2.22 Planning policies to help address these issues are covered in Sections 7: Protecting 

and enhancing the environment and Section 9: Rural Issues (Green Belt and 

Countryside Area). 

 

Strategic Objective 5 

 

To provide easy access for all to good quality services and facilities 

 

2.23 Since the adoption of the existing Core Strategy in 2012, there have been a number 

of significant improvements in transport networks and accessibility: 

 The Pennine Reach quality bus service connecting Accrington, Clayton-Le-

Moors, Great Harwood and Rishton with Blackburn, Darwen and major 

employment sites has been implemented; 

 Accrington Bus Station has been developed; 

                                                           
11

 West Pennine Moors SSSI.   

Page 36



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

13 

 

 The Todmorden Curve rail link has been reinstated and hourly rail services 

between Accrington and Manchester have commenced;   

 Accrington Railway Station has been improved, and 

 Improvements (signalisation) have been undertaken to junctions 6 and 7 of 

M65 to reduce queuing and increase capacity. 

 

2.24 Despite these improvements, the quality of the rolling stock in East Lancashire 

remains poor, and rail services in and out of Pennine Lancashire remain 

constrained by the alignment of routes. The M65 is also constrained in parts with 

the need for capacity improvements identified at Junction 8 of the M65, and 

connectivity into West Yorkshire severely constrained at Colne. There is also a 

recognised need to improve the M65 between central Lancashire and Blackburn.  

This improvement will not only help existing businesses but also help attract more 

businesses to the area, recognising that it has excellent transport links. Strategic 

Cycle Network connectivity also remains disjointed in some areas where cycle 

network provision has been implemented. 

 

2.25 Planning policies to help further enhance accessibility to services are covered in 

Sections 4: The Economy & Town Centres, Section 5: Community Infrastructure 

and Section 8: Accessibility and Transport. 

 

 

Page 37



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

14 

 

3.0 The General Development Strategy 
 

3.1 The National Planning Policy Framework12 requires that strategic policies in the Local 

Plan ‘should set an overall strategy for the pattern, scale and quality of development’. 

It further states13 that ‘broad locations for development should be indicated on a key 

diagram’. 

 

3.2 The strategy underpinning the existing Core Strategy, adopted in 2012, seeks to 

distribute new housing development more or less equally across the Borough in a 

way that is proportionate to the population of the main towns.  However, one of the 

main purposes of reviewing the Core Strategy is to assess the effectiveness of the 

existing policy framework and to ensure that new opportunities to secure delivery of 

the Strategic Objectives are taken.   

 

3.3 One of the most significant strategic changes that has taken place since 2012 is the 

designation of the Huncoat Housing Zone by Homes England. This recognises the 

benefits associated with the development of new housing in close proximity to the 

strategic transport network and strategic employment sites.   
 

3.4 The new Spatial Development Strategy for Hyndburn 2036 proposed below clarifies 

the settlement hierarchy in the Borough and reflects this change with a higher 

proportion of growth proposed at Huncoat. The policy also re-affirms the Council’s 

commitment to supporting sustainable development across the Borough.   

 

Policy CS1: The Spatial Development Strategy 
 

1) Development will be supported where it is appropriate to the scale, role and 

accessibility of the settlement hierarchy14 as set out below: 

 

Settlement Type Growth Strategy 

Principal Town 

Accrington (includes 

the townships of 

Baxenden, Church, 

Clayton-le-Moors, 

Huncoat and 

Oswaldtwistle) 

The Principal Town will accommodate the majority of 

new development. Huncoat will grow at a significantly 

faster rate than the other Accrington townships to 

support the Council’s ambitions to create a new Garden 

Village (see Policy CS2: Huncoat Garden Village). 

Key Towns 

Great Harwood, 

The Key Towns will develop in a manner broadly 

consistent with their existing size and function. Rishton 

                                                           
12

 Paragraph 20 
13

 Paragraph 23 
14

 A separate retail hierarchy is set out under Policy CS5: Centre Hierarchy and Retail Provision 

Page 38



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

15 

 

Rishton, 

Knuzden and 

Whitebirk 

will see higher relative growth than Great Harwood owing 

to its superior transport links (both road and rail). 

Main Villages 

Belthorn, 

Altham 

The Main Villages will see only small scale development 

to help meet specific local needs and to help improve the 

quality and choice of housing or employment 

opportunities. The exception to this is the business park 

at Altham that may see significant expansion of 

employment uses owing to its success as a strategic 

employment location in the Borough. 

Small Villages 

Green Haworth 

The Small Villages will see limited infilling only, in line 

with Policy DM34. 

 

2) Development proposals in the rural areas will be limited to that supporting farm 

diversification and promoting leisure and recreational facilities whilst retaining 

landscape character.   

 

3) Sufficient land will be made available in the Borough to meet the identified needs 

for employment, retail and housing15. Priority will be given to developing 

brownfield land within the urban areas first16, focussing investment and 

improvement in key regeneration areas, and returning long term vacant properties 

back into use.  

 

4) The overall general extent of the Green Belt will be maintained. The Council will 

propose specific amendments to the Green Belt through the Core Strategy and 

Site Allocations DPDs at Regulation 19 to: 
 

a. accommodate strategic allocations in the plan; 

b. assist the delivery of brownfield sites currently located within the Green Belt;  

c. ensure that future employment and housing land requirements can be met in 

full; 

d. address minor boundary discrepancies where they arise17; and 

e. to safeguard land for beyond the current plan period18. 

 

5) The development of a strategic housing site at Huncoat19, and strategic 

employment site(s) located along the M65 corridor20 in particular will help to 

                                                           
15

 Sites will be identified through allocations in the Site Allocations DPD 
16

 Where these are demonstrated to be suitable, available and achievable through the Site Assessment 
Methodology 
17

 Associated with the review of the urban boundary as part of preparation of the Site Allocations DPD 
18

 In accordance with paragraph 135 of the NPPF. Specific areas of Green Belt release will be identified at 
Regulation 19 

Page 39



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

16 

 

achieve the vision and objectives set out in the Local Plan.  

 

6) The Local Plan recognises the importance of protecting and enhancing green 

infrastructure and addressing the causes and consequences of climate change. 

Existing environmental assets21 will be protected and enhanced, and new 

development will be expected to contribute to the local character and 

distinctiveness of the natural, built and cultural environment in which it is sited. 

 

7) An Infrastructure Delivery Plan will support identification of the key infrastructure 

required to support planned growth (including social and health). Development will 

be expected to contribute to infrastructure requirements in line with Policy CS8: 

Community Benefits/Planning Obligations.  

 

8) Proposals for new development in Hyndburn will be assessed in accordance with 

the objectives of sustainable development22 taking into account the development 

principles set out above.  

Policy Context and Relationships 

Core Strategy Policies 
to be replaced 

BD1: The Balanced Development Strategy 
ED1: New and improved educational facilities 

Key NPPF para. links 20, 23, 136-138 

Key DPD Policy links Policy CS2: Huncoat Garden Village 

CS3: Employment Provision 

CS5: Centre Hierarchy and Retail Provision 

CS8: Community Benefits/Planning Obligations 

CS9: Housing Provision 

CS23: Development in rural areas 

GC1: Presumption in favour of sustainable development 

GC2: Infrastructure, Planning Obligations & CIL 

DM34: Development in the Green Belt and Countryside Area 

Evidence for Policy  

 

                                                                                                                                                                                     
 

19
 Supporting the Huncoat Garden Village proposals and forthcoming masterplan, see Policy CS2: Huncoat 

Garden Village) 
20

 Specific options around J6, J7 and J8 of the M65 will be explored through the Site Allocations DPD with one or 
more of these to be confirmed and allocated as a strategic employment location at Regulation 19 stage 
21

 Identified through the Green Infrastructure network 
22

 As set out in paragraph 8 of the NPPF and DM DPD Policy GC1: Presumption in favour of sustainable 
development 

Page 40



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

17 

 

3.5 Policy CS1: The Spatial Development Strategy proposes the overarching policy 

framework for Hyndburn 2036, and is supported by a proposed Key Diagram for the 

Borough. Development principles are to be set through Policy CS1 within which all 

future development would be expected to take place in the Borough.  Development 

proposals in the Borough would be assessed firstly against Policy CS1, then other 

relevant Local Plan policies23. 

 

3.6 Policy CS1 seeks to provide a balanced policy approach to ensure that the vision and 

objectives set out in Section 2 are met (in so far as planning can influence), whilst 

minimising any adverse impacts on the environment, economy and society. The 

policy supports an urban-focused approach to development, supplemented by large 

strategic development sites in greenfield (including Green Belt) locations that can be 

developed for housing and employment. 

 

Settlement Hierarchy 

 

3.7 Policy CS1 confirms the tiers of the existing settlement hierarchy in Hyndburn, 

indicating the broad scale of development expected in each. Policy CS3: 

Employment Provision and Policy CS9: Housing Provision (including affordable 

housing) provide information on the overall scale of development for which the Site 

Allocations DPD will seek to identify land across the Borough. Policies set out in 

Section 10: The Local Plan Areas provide detail on the proposed distribution of this 

growth by settlement. 

 

3.8 Accrington is the Borough’s largest conurbation and is therefore identified as the 

Principal Town, being appropriate to accommodate the majority of new development. 

It includes five adjoining smaller townships of Baxenden, Church, Clayton-le-Moors, 

Huncoat and Oswaldtwistle. These townships have grown from smaller separate 

villages to coalesce with Accrington but retain their individual identities. 
 

3.9 Policy CS1 identifies three Key Towns: Great Harwood, Rishton, and Knuzden & 

Whitebirk.  Each is surrounded tightly by Green Belt, and is expected to grow in a 

sustainable way to ensure that their existing role and functions are maintained.  
 

 Great Harwood is a historic market town with industrial heritage, situated 

adjacent to the Ribble Valley boundary. The town has an existing population of 

around 10,800 and acts as a key service centre for the north of the Borough; 

 Rishton is a smaller town (population of around 6,700) located between the 

urban areas of Accrington and Blackburn. The town has a historic core of 19th 

Century terraced housing and former mill buildings based on the growth of the 

textile industry and its location on the Leeds and Liverpool Canal.  

                                                           
23

 Which includes those in other development plan documents 

Page 41



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

18 

 

 Knuzden & Whitebirk acts as a suburb of Blackburn, being directly connected to 

its larger urban area, though is situated within Hyndburn on the Borough 

boundary. It represents a distinct area of the Borough situated adjacent to the 

M65 and home to significant employment and retail centres. 
 

3.10 The Main Village of Belthorn is set high up on the edge of the West Pennine Moors, 

one of the highest villages in Lancashire, rising to 300m above sea level. The village 

acquired its name from the 1701 house name ‘The Bell in the Thorn’ where a bell 

placed in a thorn bush would be rung to summon a fresh horse to replace a tired one 

bringing a load up the hill. Most of the cottages are reminiscent of typical weavers 

cottages built in the 19th Century. 
 

3.11 The Main Village of Altham (located in the north-east of the Borough) dates back to 

Saxon times and includes a Conservation Area. The river Calder, a major 

geographical feature of the Borough, flows north of the village. During the industrial 

revolution coal mining was prominent around the village, however today it is 

dominated by Altham Business Park, a major strategic employment hub adjoining the 

south of the village. 
 

3.12 The Small Village of Green Haworth provides a basic level of service provision 

through a primary school. Other large clusters of dwellings around the Borough, such 

as Tottleworth, Whalley Banks do not have any level of service provision and 

therefore do not form a settlement within the identified Settlement Hierarchy. 
 

3.13 The Main Villages and Small Villages will have their boundaries identified on the 

Policy Map. Where Green Belt or Countryside Area wash over these settlements, 

applications for development will be determined in accordance with rural policies of 

the Plan including Policy CS23: Development in rural areas and Policy DM34 of the 

Development Management DPD. 
 

3.14 Proposals for development outside of settlements set out in Policy CS1, outside the 

defined urban area, will be in the rural area. There is a general presumption against 

new development in these areas, however Policy CS23: Development in rural areas 

and DM34 of the Development Management DPD provide exceptions to this and 

further details as to how these applications will be managed. 

 

Sustainable development 

 

3.15 The Council is committed to ensuring that the Borough grows in a sustainable way, in 

accordance with the principles of sustainable development set out in the previous 

Core Strategy, and maintained in the NPPF today. A Sustainability Appraisal will be 

prepared in support of the Core Strategy Review to influence the development of 

individual policies, and the policies in the Local Plan as a whole should be seen to 

reflect the Council’s approach to sustainable development. 

 

Page 42



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

19 

 

3.16 The key overarching principles set out in Policy CS1 should therefore be considered 

to represent the Council’s key aims in achieving sustainable development. These 

include: 

 Giving priority to developing brownfield land and locating new development in 

accessible, sustainable locations; 

 Ensuring that where greenfield sites are required these are of a sufficient scale to 

ensure delivery of appropriate infrastructure to support the development of 

sustainable communities; 

 Protecting the environment and addressing the causes and impacts of climate 

change; and  

 Consideration of the economic, social and environmental aspects in tandem to 

ensure that the overall societal value of new developments is properly understood 
 

3.17 Further detailed considerations around sustainable development are set out in Policy 

CS12: Sustainable Development and Climate Change. 

 

3.18 Many of the considerations under sustainable development cut across all or multiple 

topics presented in this Core Strategy (Chapters 4-10). For example climate change, 

health, social inclusion and design will be considerations for most different types of 

development. The Council will seek for all development to be of high quality or 

exceptional design; further details are provided in Policy CS17: High Quality Design. 

 

Green Belt 
 

3.19 The Green Belt in Pennine Lancashire was first established by the North East 

Lancashire Structure Plan in 1980 and the specific boundaries were identified in the 

1996 Hyndburn Local Plan.  Although there have been significant developments 

since that time, for example the construction of the M65, there has been no formal 

review of Green Belt boundaries at a strategic level.  
 

3.20 The Green Belt boundaries in Hyndburn are currently drawn tightly up to the urban 

boundary, providing little scope for development beyond the urban boundary that was 

established by the 1996 Local Plan.  Although National Planning Policy attaches 

great importance to Green Belt, their openness and permanence24, it also recognises 

that there may be circumstances when it is necessary to alter Green Belt boundaries 

through the preparation and updating of plans.  Strategic policies should establish the 

need for any changes to Green Belt boundaries, having regard to their intended 

permanence in the long term, so that they can endure beyond the plan period25.   

 

3.21 A Green Belt Assessment26 forms part of the evidence base for Hyndburn 2036 and 

in order to deliver the Spatial Development Strategy changes to Green Belt 

                                                           
24

 National Planning Policy Framework, paragraph 133.   
25

 National Planning Policy Framework, paragraph 136.   
26

 Hyndburn Green Belt Assessment completed by Arup in January 2018 

Page 43



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

20 

 

boundaries are considered likely to be necessary in several parts of the Borough 

including: 

 Land around Huncoat to facilitate the development of Huncoat Garden Village 

and associated infrastructure, as proposed by the Masterplan that is being 

prepared; 

 Land in proximity to existing strategic employment hubs to provide sufficient 

land to meet future employment land requirements (e.g. Altham Business 

Park); 

 Land to facilitate the development of major previously developed sites in the 

Green Belt (e.g. Brookside Business Park); 

 Land at other suitable locations required to deliver the Spatial Development 

Strategy in a sustainable manner, and; 

 Land at other suitable locations that will be safeguarded for development 

beyond the plan period to allow the boundaries of the Green Belt to endure 

beyond the plan period, or where minor .   

 

3.22 The Council will ensure that ‘exceptional circumstances’ can be justified to support 

any proposed changes in line with paragraph 139 of the NPPF and will provide 

evidence of this alongside the publication version of the plan once more specific 

locations for any Green Belt release are understood. 

 

Policy CS2: Huncoat Garden Village 
 

1) The Council will identify Huncoat Garden Village as a strategic location for growth 

on the Proposals Map. The Garden Village will provide a transformational 

development scheme for the Borough, delivering and supporting a high quality, 

sustainable community in line with design standards to be adopted for the area27.  

 

2) The Huncoat Garden Village will deliver: 

a. between 1000 and 2000 new homes28, well integrated into the existing 

settlement at Huncoat; 

b. supporting employment uses located within, or in close proximity to, the 

Garden Village boundary29; 

c. improvements to services including transport, community facilities, green, 

blue and grey infrastructure, including a new Local/Neighbourhood Centre 

(see Policy CS5); 

 

                                                           
27

 The Council plans to adopt a Design Code SPD for the Garden Village 
28

 the final figure (quantum and type) is subject to recommendations arising from further Masterplanning work 
and Local Plan consultation and will be confirmed in the Regulation 19 Core Strategy Review. Delivery of the full 
Garden Village within this plan period (prior to 2036) will be subject to the final quantum of development planned 
and will be confirmed in a housing trajectory. Some development may be delivered beyond 2036 
29

 Final quantum and location of employment development is also subject to recommendations arising from 
further Masterplanning work and will be confirmed in the Regulation 19 Core Strategy Review 

Page 44



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

21 

 

3) Developers will be expected to contribute towards the costs of infrastructure 

required for Huncoat Garden Village in line with the recommendations of the 

Huncoat Masterplan. Developers will also be expected to put into place measures 

to secure the future management and maintenance of any infrastructure that will 

not be adopted by public organisations, including (but not limited to) roads, open 

space, drainage infrastructure and community facilities. This is expected to be 

achieved through an appropriate legal agreement. 

 

4) Amendments to the Green Belt may be necessary to help deliver the scale of 

development proposed: some to be developed within this plan period, some as 

safeguarded land for beyond the plan period. 

 

5) Details of specific uses and locations will be set out in the Site Allocations DPD, 

taking into account the Huncoat Masterplan once complete. 

Policy Context and Relationships 

Core Strategy Policies 
to be replaced 

A7: Housing in Huncoat 
A8: Strategic Employment Site at Huncoat 
A9: Whinney Hill Link Road 

Key NPPF para. links 59, 67, 72 

Key DPD Policy links CS29: Huncoat  

Evidence for Policy Huncoat Garden Village Masterplan and Delivery Strategy: 
Baseline evidence report (Arcadis, December 2018) 

 

3.23 The Government is clear that the housing crisis represents one of the biggest 

challenges facing the country. The NPPF seeks to address this by ensuring that local 

authorities are part of the solution by seeking to significantly boost the supply of new 

homes30. 

 

3.24 Paragraph 67 of the NPPF states that planning policies should identify a sufficient 

supply and mix of sites, including ‘specific, deliverable sites for years one to five of 

the plan period; and specific, developable sites or broad locations for growth, for 

years 6-10 and, where possible, for years 11-15 of the plan’. Policy CS9: Housing 

Provision (including affordable housing) and Policy CS10: Suitable Range of Housing 

provides the proposed strategic policy direction for addressing these requirements. 

 

3.25 NPPF paragraph 72 also states that ‘the supply of large numbers of new homes can 

often best be achieved through planning for larger scale development, such as new 

settlements or significant extensions to existing villages and towns, provided they are 

                                                           
30

 Paragraph 59 

Page 45



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

22 

 

well located and designed, and supported by the necessary infrastructure and 

facilities’. In 2016 the Government designated Huncoat as part of the Pennine 

Lancashire Housing Zone, recognising its potential to contribute towards meeting the 

housing and economic growth objectives of Pennine Lancashire through the 

development of brownfield sites.  

 

3.26 Policy CS2: Huncoat Garden Village therefore provides the proposed strategic policy 

framework to reflect the significance of the Housing Zone proposals to the Borough’s 

future development, and a key way in which the Council will ensure that it helps to 

‘significantly boost the supply of new homes’. It should be read alongside the area 

specific policy for Huncoat Policy CS29: Huncoat. 

 

3.27 A masterplan for the Huncoat Housing Zone is currently in preparation that will make 

recommendations on the future growth of this area. The key ambition of the Council 

is for a high quality, transformational scheme to come forward at Huncoat, following 

garden village principles. The garden village would be of significance not just to 

Hyndburn but also to the wider Pennine Lancashire sub-region, due to its strategic 

location on both the road and rail networks. 

 

3.28 The masterplan is currently considering the best approach to enabling delivery of the 

long vacant brownfield sites at the former power station and colliery. Additional 

development at Huncoat31 (beyond the existing brownfield sites) to help deliver a truly 

transformational garden village32 may be necessary. A number of options were the 

subject of a separate consultation exercise in November 2018 setting out different 

quantum’s and mix of development. A key part of the decision making process is in 

considering in detail the impacts on local infrastructure, and the impacts on scheme 

delivery, of the various development options. 

 

3.29 A preferred option under the master planning exercise will be developed early in 

2019, and a final Masterplan will be published prior to the Council publishing its own 

Core Strategy Review under Regulation 19 of the Regulations in 2020. Policy CS2 

will therefore be refined and clarify specific development types and quantum at this 

consultation stage of ‘Hyndburn 2036’. The Council will also confirm its preferred 

uses for specific development sites within the Huncoat Housing Zone in the Site 

Allocations DPD at Regulation 19 stage.  

 

3.30 Paragraph 73 of the NPPF requires that ‘strategic policies should include a trajectory 

illustrating the expected rate of housing delivery over the plan period, and all plans 

should consider whether it is appropriate to set out the anticipated rate of 

development for specific sites’. Due to the strategic significance of Huncoat in the 

                                                           
31

 Including some greenfield (Green Belt) sites alongside the brownfield sites 
32

 The Council has submitted a formal bid for formal ‘Garden Village’ status from the Government to help further 
enhance delivery and quality. An announcement is expected in 2019 

Page 46



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

23 

 

Hyndburn Local Plan, the Council will set out a specific housing trajectory for this 

strategic location for growth at the Publication stage of the plan once a firmer idea of 

development quantum is known. A separate housing trajectory for the Borough wide 

housing requirement will also be set out later in this report in Policy CS9: Housing 

Provision (including affordable housing). 

 

3.31 At this stage a maximum delivery rate of around 75dpa would be expected under the 

lower homes range of around 1,000 dwellings. This would mean that completion 

would be expected towards the end of the plan period (2036), depending to some 

degree on commencement on site (currently unknown due to ongoing masterplan 

work). Higher rates of delivery, and slightly accelerated commencement, would be 

expected under the higher homes range of around 2,000 dwellings33. With a 

maximum of around 100dpa the area would still see completions continuing well 

beyond the plan period of 2036, to around 2040 or thereabouts, again depending 

upon commencement on site. Figure 5 will provide the anticipated housing trajectory 

for Huncoat once details are finalised. 

 

Figure 5: Huncoat Garden Village housing trajectory – to be added at Publication stage 

(Regulation 19) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.32 Policy CS17 and DM16 in the Development Management DPD set out the general 

design expectations for all new development in Hyndburn. The quality of new 

development at the Huncoat Garden Village will be a particularly key factor in the 

future success of the settlement as a truly transformational scheme. All major 

development proposals at Huncoat will therefore be expected to undertake design 

review, and higher design standards will be enforced through supplementary design 

guides or SPDs. These will be strictly enforced through the planning process, the 

Council will refuse applications of sub-standard design. 

 

3.33 Infrastructure required to support development planned at Huncoat will be set out in 

an Infrastructure Delivery Plan. All types of infrastructure are being considered in the 

masterplan process including highways, schools, green, blue and grey 

                                                           
33

 One of the key intentions of the Government’s Garden Village programme is to accelerate housing delivery 

Page 47



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

24 

 

infrastructure34. Highways improvements will be implemented to address the impacts 

of development and alleviate existing issues of HGV traffic in the village. All 

landowners will be expected to make fair contributions to the provision of new 

infrastructure across the area to ensure delivery, and to contribute to future 

management and maintenance where relevant. Equalisation agreements and other 

similar mechanisms are being investigated through the masterplan process, with 

further details expected to be provided through the Huncoat Masterplan once 

complete.  
 

Key Diagram 

3.34 The Key Diagram will be a visual representation of the Spatial Vision and Spatial 

Development Strategy. It is designed to: 

 Identify the different types of settlement to be found in the Borough; 

 Show the key infrastructure and transport linkages; and 

 Indicate broadly how growth will be distributed across the Borough over the 

plan period. 

 

3.35 As this consultation forms part of the preparation stage of the plan, exact locations for 

all the strategic allocations are not yet known. The Key Diagram will therefore be 

presented at the next stage of consultation, Publication stage of the Core Strategy 

Review (under Regulation 19).  

  
Figure 6: Key Diagram – to be added at Publication stage (Regulation 19) 

                                                           
34

 Green infrastructure refers to open space, woodland etc. Blue infrastructure refers to water features such as 
streams, ponds etc. Grey infrastructure typically refers to utilities 

Page 48



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

25 

 

4.0 The Economy & Town Centres 
 

4.1 Policies in this chapter will help to achieve the following aims and objectives: 

 

Strategic Objective 1: To create greater opportunities for all to access 

improved economic opportunities and to provide support for the local 

economy and higher wage employment. 

 Allocating sufficient land for the growth of existing businesses and to attract new 

higher value employment to the Borough;   

 Developing a higher wage economy to help close the GVA gap and to retain 

skilled and qualified people within the Borough; 

 Developing Accrington and Great Harwood as vibrant floral market towns with a 

wide variety of shops, services and activities where people choose to spend their 

leisure time; 

 Supporting the other town and local centres to meet the needs of their respective 

local communities; 

 Encouraging employers to address worklessness in the Borough; and 

 Providing a wide range of educational opportunities to raise skills, attainment and 

aspirations within the workforce. 

 

Strategic Objective 5: To provide easy access for all to good quality services 

and facilities 

 Supporting the role of the market towns by directing shops and services to their 

centres and maintaining local township centres; and 

 

4.2 A key challenge facing the Council now, and over the plan period, is to develop and 

maintain a strong, sustainable and productive economy that can help to address 

some of the deprivation and social issues that prevail in the Borough.   

 

4.3 Planning can directly influence access to new economic opportunities by ensuring 

that sufficient, suitable development sites are provided for new investment for both 

existing and new businesses.  It can also help to protect existing employment 

locations adequately from pressures of redevelopment.  Building on existing 

strengths, in particular advanced manufacturing, as well as allowing diversification 

into other sectors such as digital, health and energy, will help reduce the productivity 

gap that exists and also help retain and attract people into the Borough35.   

 

4.4 Paragraph 80 of the NPPF states that ‘planning policies and decisions should create 

the conditions in which businesses can invest, expand and adapt. Significant weight 

should be placed on the need to support economic growth and productivity, taking 

into account both local business needs and wider opportunities for development.  

                                                           
35

 As set out in the Pennine Lancashire Growth and Prosperity Plan 2016-2032.   

Page 49



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

26 

 

The approach taken should allow each area to build on its strengths, counter any 

weaknesses and address the challenges of the future’. 

 

4.5 The Lancashire Strategic Economic Plan 2015-2025, the Pennine Lancashire Growth 

and Prosperity Plan 2016-2032, and the Hyndburn Corporate Strategy 2018-23 set 

out the economic strategy that the Local Plan is seeking to support.  Increased 

productivity, employment growth and innovation lie at the heart of ambitions for 

Hyndburn and east Lancashire.  To these ends, support for advanced manufacturing 

and businesses in higher value sectors (e.g. digital, professional and financial 

services and logistics) is particularly important.  This will largely be achieved through 

the allocation of land in highly accessible locations that are attractive to business.   
 

4.6 The role of Hyndburn’s town and local centres also plays a key part in the local 

economy, and planning policies can help support the vitality and viability of these 

areas. The Council’s Corporate Strategy (2018-2023) commits to the delivery of a 

grants programme in Accrington and an events programme to help promote the town 

centre. Planning can help support the health, vitality and viability of town centres by 

ensuring that Local Plans take ‘a positive approach to their growth, management and 

adaptation’ (paragraph 85).  

   

Policy CS3: Employment Provision 
 

1) The Council will make provision for 68.7 hectares of land for employment uses 

over the period 2016-2036. Sites that will contribute to the requirement will be 

identified in the Site Allocations DPD. 

 

2) Sites allocated for employment use will be in accordance with the Spatial 

Development Strategy set out in Policy CS1. The Council will seek to find sites: 
 

 within the existing urban boundary; or  

 where they support the future expansion of strategic employment hubs36 at an 

appropriate scale; or 

 where they assist delivery of the Huncoat Garden Village. 
 

3) If required the Council will release Green Belt land to accommodate the expansion 

of existing strategic employment hubs or delivery of Huncoat Garden Village37. 

Land is available to the south of Altham Business Park, north and south of 

Junction 7 of the M65 (Clayton-le-Moors), and north of Junction 6 of the M65 at 

Whitebirk. Proposed locations of Green Belt release will be confirmed at 

Regulation 19 consultation stage. 

                                                           
36

 Reference Policy CS4 
37

 The Council will set out the case of ‘exceptional circumstances’ in line with paragraph 136 of the NPPF in 
support of its Site Allocations DPD 

Page 50



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

27 

 

Policy Context and Relationships 

Core Strategy Policies 
to be replaced 

E1: Future Employment Provision 

Key NPPF para. links 20, 23, 80-82, 136 

Key DPD Policy links DM1: Employment Development 
Policy CS4: Protection, Modernisation and Development of 
Employment Sites 

Evidence for Policy Housing and Economic Needs Assessment (2018) 
Employment Land Study (2016) 
Core Strategy Review: Growth Option and Spatial Option 
justification paper (December 2018) 

 

4.7 Paragraph 81(b) of the NPPF states that planning policies should ‘set criteria, or 

identify strategic sites, for local and inward investment to match the strategy and to 

meet anticipated needs over the plan period’. Part (d) requires policies to ‘be flexible 

enough to accommodate needs not anticipated in the plan, allow for new and flexible 

working practices (such as live-work accommodation), and to enable a rapid 

response to changes in economic circumstances’. 

 

4.8 Paragraph 82 goes on to state that ‘planning policies and decisions should recognise 

and address the specific locational requirements of different sectors. This includes 

making provision for clusters or networks of knowledge and data-driven, creative or 

high technology industries; and for storage and distribution operations at a variety of 

scales and in suitable accessible locations’. 

 

4.9 Policy CS3 provides the strategic policy through which the Council proposes to meet 

the requirements of NPPF, and address the ambitions set out in local economic plans 

and strategies. 

 

4.10 To ensure that the Borough can foster sustainable, economic growth, it is vital that 

sufficient, suitable land is made available for employment uses over the plan period. 

The Housing and Economic Need Assessment (HENA) completed in 2018 for 

Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Council’s highlights the importance to Pennine 

Lancashire of planning for growth to ensure job creation and economic prosperity. 

 

4.11 The HENA confirms that an appropriate employment land requirement to plan for in 

Hyndburn, based on an aspirational but realistic economic growth scenario, is 58.7 

hectares of land between 2016 and 2036.  The Employment Land Study of 2016 

considered the qualitative aspects of existing employment land provision around the 

Borough.  It recognised that historically losses of employment land of poor quality 

have taken place, and that this trend is likely to continue.  An allowance for future 

Page 51



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

28 

 

losses of around 10ha over a 20-year period38 was identified in that study as 

appropriate.  The total requirement of 68.7 hectares proposed in Policy CS3 is a 

combination of these two elements. 

 

4.12 Some of the land will be possible to find within the existing urban boundary, the latest 

analysis of the supply of land available for employment suggests that there will be 

insufficient sites in total to meet the needs identified.  Where the Council considers 

land outside of the existing urban boundary, in suitably accessible locations, this will 

impact on Green Belt.  The policy approach is to ensure that where this is required, 

sustainable development and clustering of networks of industry take place in line with 

NPPF, therefore only Green Belt release in support of the strategic employment hubs 

(or delivery of Huncoat Garden Village) will be considered. 

 

4.13 Over time the commercial property market and key employment sectors in Hyndburn 

have changed significantly.  For decades there has been a steady move away from 

manufacturing, occupying the more traditional mill-style premises located in densely 

populated urban areas, to more modern units and business parks with direct (or 

good) access to the strategic road network.  New premises provide more practical 

space for modern working practices, alongside improved access to markets, 

including labour.  
 

4.14 The most successful of the business parks in Pennine Lancashire are generally 

located along the M65 corridor with direct access onto the motorway; in Hyndburn, 

Altham Business Park, J7 Business Park, and the under construction Frontier Park; 

in Burnley, Burnley Bridge and Network 65; in Blackburn; Tower Business Park and 

Centurion Park.  Due to their ease of access to the strategic road network they are 

particularly attractive to businesses and for this reason it is essential that the 

strategic road network continues to be able to manage the traffic that is generated by 

the industry along this corridor.  Policy CS3 seeks to make clear the strategic role 

that these locations play in the Hyndburn economy by designating them as strategic 

employment hubs.  This acts as a focus to identify locations for new allocations, as 

well as enhancing their protection under Policy CS4.  
 

4.15 The Council has prepared a Growth Option and Spatial Option justification paper 

setting out further reasoning for selection of the level and distribution of growth 

planned for employment. This will be published alongside the other consultation 

material. 

 

Policy CS4: Protection, Modernisation and Development of 
Employment Sites 

 

                                                           
38

 Paragraph 7.110 of the Hyndburn Employment Land Study 2016 

Page 52



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

29 

 

1) Existing employment sites will be identified on the Policy Map, along with strategic 

employment hubs39.  Quality assessments of existing employment sites40 will be 

used as a framework for determining planning applications. 

 

2) Three strategic employment hubs are identified on the Key Diagram (Frontier Park, 

J7 Business Park/Petre Road and Altham Business Park). They aer considered to 

play a strategic role in the local economy and future growth of the Borough. These 

will be retained for employment uses over the plan period, and supported to grow 

in line with Policy CS3. 

 

3) The Council will apply a general presumption that all other existing employment 

sites will be retained in employment use41 over the plan period. Sites will only be 

released for redevelopment for other purposes as follows: 

a. Good quality employment sites – only in exceptional circumstances where 

the applicant can demonstrate sound reasons why the employment use 

cannot remain on the site. Proposed new uses will be expected to comprise a 

reasonable42 scale of employment on site to compensate for the loss; 

b. Adequate quality employment sites – where the proposal is in line with 

paragraphs 2-4 of Policy DM1 and the applicant can demonstrate either:  

i. no current or likely future demand for the site or premises; or 

ii. continued use of the site would give rise to unacceptable environmental 

impacts; or  

iii. permitting an alternative use is the only viable means of retaining a 

building or premises which has particular architectural or historic 

significance; 

c. Poor quality employment sites – where the applicant can demonstrate either 

i. ii. or iii under paragraph 3b. 

 

4) Proposals for the redevelopment of existing employment sites away from a B use 

class to one that retains some form of significant employment 43 on the site will be 

considered more flexibly than proposals for residential use. 

 

5) Where a quality assessment is considered to be out of date or absent, applicants 

may undertake their own in accordance with the method detailed in the Council’s 

latest published assessments.   

 

6) In all cases, redevelopment for alternative uses should not prejudice the operating 

conditions of other remaining employment uses. 

                                                           
39

 Strategic employment hubs will comprise of one or more existing employment areas 
40

 the Council’s latest published quality assessments are in the  Hyndburn Employment Land Study (2016) 
41

 B use classes 
42

 ‘reasonable’ when considered in terms of the previous use/jobs on the site 
43

 for example retail or leisure use 

Page 53



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

30 

 

Policy Context and Relationships 

Core Strategy Policies 
to be replaced 

E2: Protection, Modernisation and Development of Employment 
Sites 
RA3: Protection and development of Altham Business Park 

Key NPPF para. links 80-82 

Key DPD Policy links DM1: Employment Development 

Evidence for Policy Hyndburn Employment Land Study (2016) 

 

4.16 The Council has a significant stock of existing employment sites located all around 

the Borough. The NPPF recognises the need to allow each area to ‘build on its 

strengths, counter any weaknesses and address the challenges of the future’44. 

Policy CS4 provides the proposed framework in which existing employment sites will 

be protected, modernised, or allowed to be release for redevelopment to meet these 

aims. 

 

4.17 As part of the evidence base for the Local Plan, the Council regularly considers the 

quality of the existing stock of employment sites in the Borough. The last time this 

was undertaken was in 2015, the details were published in Appendix 3 of the 

Hyndburn Employment Land Study (2016). Factors taken into consideration in 

determining the quality of existing employment sites include accessibility, adjoining 

uses, development constraints, environmental issues, and general suitability for 

continued employment use. This is the framework against which the retention of sites 

in employment use will be considered. 

 

4.18 The Council will seek to retain all good quality sites in employment use over the plan 

period. Sites considered to be adequate have potential for continued or enhanced 

employment uses and so redevelopment proposals will be required to provide an 

element of modern employment use to compensate for the loss of existing 

employment land. This will help to ensure that the Borough’s employment sites are 

steadily modernised while retaining a mix of uses within the existing urban areas. 

 

4.19 Where alternative uses are sought, uses outside of the traditional employment use 

classes (B1, B2 and B8 uses) that would retain some form of employment on the site, 

such as retail or leisure uses, or residential care homes, will be considered more 

favourably than proposal for residential redevelopment. Other relevant policies in the 

Local Plan will still apply.  

 

                                                           
44

 paragraph 80 

Page 54



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

31 

 

4.20 In order to demonstrate that there is no current or likely future demand for the site or 

premises for employment uses the site should be marketed by at least one 

commercial agent for employment purposes45 for at least 18 months.  

 

4.21 In places the urban grain of the Borough is characterised by areas of densely 

developed terraced housing often clustered around former mill buildings. Whilst these 

buildings provide employment opportunities that are readily accessible to local 

people, some sites are in poor condition or create conflicts with surrounding 

residential areas. Some also have a low density of employment, meaning that the 

same number of people could be employed on a smaller, purpose built, and modern 

site that would not result in environmental problems for residential neighbours. The 

Council will look to re-allocate some of these poor quality sites for other uses in the 

Site Allocations DPD, taking into account any wider regeneration benefits of 

redevelopment in certain locations. Sites that remain will be assessed in line with 

Policy CS4 where alternative uses are proposed. 

  

Policy CS5: Centre Hierarchy, Strategy and Retail Provision 
 

1) The vitality and viability of Hyndburn’s retail centres will be maintained and 

enhanced by directing investment, retail, leisure and other main town centres 

uses46 towards the centres in line with the hierarchy identified below, and criteria 

set out in Development Management Policy DM3: 

 

Tier/Centre Purpose/Strategy 

Tier 1: Strategic Town 

Centre 

Accrington 

The principal centre providing for the Borough’s 

key retail, services, leisure and town centre needs. 

Accrington will consolidate over the plan period 

and be the main focus for investment and site 

allocations if a need for new retailing is 

identified47. 

Tier 2: Town Centres 

Great Harwood, 

Oswaldtwistle 

Important service centres for their own urban and 

rural catchment areas, and the secondary focus in 

the Borough for new investment. 

 

Tier 3: Local Centres 

Clayton-le-Moors, 

Rishton,  

Huncoat48 

Smaller centres providing appropriate 

convenience facilities to enable a weekly shop, 

supported by a smaller range of other shops and 

services, leisure and cultural facilities serving 

                                                           
45

 This must relate to the sale, and leasing, or land or property and either the reuse or redevelopment of the site 
or premises for employment purposes. 
46

 As defined in Annex 2: Glossary of the NPPF 
47

 pending an update to the population and expenditure forecasts of the Hyndburn Retail Study 2016 
48

 See paragraph 4.29 

Page 55



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

32 

 

their local communities and rural catchments. 

Tier 4: Neighbourhood 

Centres / Local Parades 

Baxenden, 

Church (Blackburn Road),  

West End,  

Woodnook,  

Whalley Road (Laneside), 

Whalley Road (Enfield) 

Localised facilities to meet basic, essential needs 

only, to a predominantly walk-in catchment. May 

comprise only a very small number/mix of units in 

a single parade. 

 

2) New Neighbourhood Centres / Local Parades or facilities will be considered where 

this will improve access to services without impacting significantly on other 

nearby centres. A new Neighbourhood/Local Centre will be created as part of the 

Huncoat Garden Village scheme due to existing poor/under provision and 

proposed growth in the area.  

 

3) The Council recognises the complementary role that other commercial locations 

can play in the local retail hierarchy. The Council will support their future 

development in line with the strategy set out below, subject to development taking 

place in a manner that supports the future vitality and viability of the formal town 

and local centres. 

 

Other Commercial Location Purpose/Strategy 

The Peel Centre (Whitebirk) Predominantly bulky goods retail destination 

with ancillary uses to support retailing on the 

site and the strategic employment hub at 

Whitebirk/Frontier Park 

Oswaldtwistle Mills Major tourist attraction, shopping village and 

garden centre on the edge of Oswaldtwistle 

Town Centre 

 

4) All planning applications for new developments should seek to improve 

accessibility to, and the general quality of the environment, within the centres in 

which they invest. 

Policy Context and Relationships 

Core Strategy Policies 
to be replaced 

A2: Accrington Town Centre 
A3: Development of Local Centres in Accrington 
GH2: Great Harwood Town Centre 
R2: Rishton Local Centre 

Key NPPF para. links 85 

Key DPD Policy links DM3: Development of main town centre uses 
DM4: Retail Frontages 

Evidence for Policy Hyndburn Retail Study (2016) 

Page 56



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

33 

 

 

4.22 Paragraph 85a) of the NPPF states that planning policies should ‘define a network 

and hierarchy of town centres and promote their long-term vitality and viability by 

allowing them to grown and diversify in a way that can respond to rapid changes in 

the retail and leisure industries, allows a suitable mix of uses (including housing) and 

reflects their distinctive characters’.  

 

4.23 The Council recognises that the Borough’s centres face significant challenges and 

that these are unlikely to go away. Policy CS5 proposes the strategic policy approach 

that will seek to enhance their vitality and viability, and the role that they play in local 

communities, over the plan period. 

 

4.24 Policy CS5 provides the framework within which decisions on investment in the 

Borough’s town centres should take place. The Council will employ a package of 

ongoing measures (detailed below) to assist the future health and vitality of the town 

centres. It will also determine planning applications in accordance with sequential 

and impact test principles set out in Development Management Policy DM3. 

 

4.25 The Strategic Town Centre in Hyndburn is identified as Accrington. This should be 

the main focus for proposals and investment in major comparison retailing as well as 

other main town centres uses including food and drink, offices, hotels, recreation and 

art and culture. Independent retailers providing for the specialist/leisure shopping 

needs of the Borough will be supported. The Accrington Area Action Plan (adopted 

2012) provides further detailed policies on the town centre.  

 

4.26 The Hyndburn Retail Study (2016) considers the quantitative and qualitative need for 

new retail floorspace in Hyndburn to 2033. No need for new convenience goods 

floorspace was identified, other than to improve consumer choice in particular areas 

of deficiency. In terms of comparison goods however, a need for between 2,311sqm 

and 5,787sqm of new floorspace was identified (depending upon population growth 

assumptions employed). The Council will provide an update to these findings in light 

of clearer population growth projections, permissions/completions to date, and 

revised expenditure forecasts prior to publication at Regulation 19 stage. Should 

there be an identified need for floorspace over the plan period, the Council will seek 

to allocate a site in Accrington town centre (or edge of centre where suitable and 

viable town centre sites are not available). 

 

4.27 The other main Town Centres in the Borough include Great Harwood and 

Oswaldtwistle. Both towns have quite different characteristics in terms of their urban 

form and character. However, both have a significantly (and similar) sized population 

and existing retail/service base. Whilst the nature of these centres has changed over 

recent decades, a result of changing demographics and changing shopping patterns, 

the Council will seek to ensure that they still provide a full range of shops and 

services to the communities that they serve over the plan period.  

 

Page 57



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

34 

 

4.28 To help support the main Town Centres in the Borough, the Council is investing in a 

range of initiatives and measures including free (subsidised) parking; enhanced 

street cleansing; visible environmental enforcement teams; public realm works in 

Accrington to the new Town Square; and grants for shopfront improvements. These 

measures in combination with planning policies set out in the Local Plan will help to 

support the vitality and viability of the high street in the future. 

 

4.29 The Local Centres, whilst still providing a range of shops and services, and the ability 

to undertake a weekly shop, have a smaller population catchment area and therefore 

play a lesser role within the Borough retail hierarchy. These include Clayton-le-Moors 

and Rishton as existing centres, with a proposed new Local Centre planned for 

Huncoat as part of the Garden Village proposals set out in Policy CS2: Huncoat 

Garden Village.  

 

4.30 There are five Neighbourhood Centres / local parades which have been identified 

across the Borough. These are the lowest order centres set out within the retail 

centre hierarchy, providing very small-scale facilities to meet the most basic needs of 

residents. Identification of these has been based on consideration of the following 

criteria: 

 Where there is a cluster of at least five ‘main town centre use’ units; 

 Where at least three different use classes are present, providing a mix of 

services/facilities; 

 Where units are located in close proximity to one another, e.g. there is no 

greater separation than around 50 metres from one or more of the units; 

 The neighbourhood centre is distinctly separated from other identified centres 

in the hierarchy and there is a sufficient population within a localised catchment 

area to support the neighbourhood centre. 

 

4.31 In addition to the formal town centres set out in Tiers 1-4 of the hierarchy, other 

commercial locations with a predominance of retail uses are identified; the Peel 

Centre (Whitebirk) and Oswaldtwistle Mills. The Council recognises that these play 

an important role in the local retail context, and indeed both identified locations have 

a much wider catchment area and trade draw than the Borough itself. The future 

development of these locations will be supported subject to consideration of their 

impact on the designated centres, and their purpose set out in Policy CS5. 

 

4.32 The boundaries of all centres identified in the centre hierarchy, and other commercial 

locations, will be set out in the Site Allocations DPD. 
 

 

 

 

Page 58



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

35 

 

5.0 Community Infrastructure 
 

5.1 Policies in this chapter will help to achieve the following aims and objectives: 

 
Strategic Objective 3: To improve the quality of health of the residents of 

Hyndburn. 

 Increasing levels of participation in sport, leisure and physical activity by the 

protection and enhancement of existing sports and recreation facilities and 

through the development of Green Infrastructure that is accessible 

 

Strategic Objective 5: To provide easy access for all to good quality services 

and facilities 

 Providing new high quality health, education, leisure and cultural facilities in 

accessible locations 

 Developing and keeping up to date an Infrastructure Delivery Plan to support 

planned growth in the Borough 

 

5.2 In the Local Plan context, ‘community infrastructure’ refers to a wide variety of 

matters meeting health, social, educational, spiritual, recreational and cultural needs. 

It is therefore an essential component of place. It helps to bind communities together. 

It does not necessarily refer to just physical facilities and assets such as schools and 

libraries, but may be more intangible assets such as areas of open space.  

 

5.3 Policies which seek to protect and enhance the Borough’s networks of open spaces 

and community and cultural facilities can contribute to the sustainability of 

communities and residential environments and deliver a wide range of quality of life 

benefits to the Borough’s residents, including helping to reduce health inequalities.  
 

5.4 Amongst the efforts of a wide range of agencies that seek to address the impacts of 

the determinants of poor health, planning policies also play a key role in supporting 

health and well-being through the retention and development of a range of 

community infrastructure.  
 

5.5 Through the development management system, the Council can also seek to secure 

planning obligations or agreements that will meet the reasonable costs of new social 

infrastructure that are reasonably related to the new development.  
 

5.6 Tackling the educational and health inequalities in the Borough is a key Council 

ambition. 

 

5.7 Paragraph 92 of NPPF recognises the contribution of planning policy towards the 

provision of social, recreational and cultural facilities.  Plans should provide positively 

for the provision of community facilities, which include meeting spaces, open spaces, 

cultural buildings, places of worship and other local services to enhance the 

sustainability of communities and residential environments and guard against the 

Page 59



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

36 

 

unnecessary loss of facilities especially where this would reduce the community’s 

ability to meet its day to day needs. 

 

5.8 Paragraph 96 recognises that access to a network of high quality open spaces and 

opportunities for sport is important for health and well-being.  Policies should be 

based on up to date and robust assessments of the need for open space, sport and 

recreation facilities and opportunities for new provision. In addition, policies should 

seek to protect existing open space, sports and recreational facilities.   
 

5.9 Paragraph 34 states that plans should set out the contributions expected from 

development. Alongside affordable housing (covered in Policy CS9: Housing Provision 

(including affordable housing)), this should include other infrastructure ‘(such as that 

needed for education, health, transport, flood and water management, green and 

digital infrastructure)’. 

Policy CS6: Open Space and Local Green Space Provision  
 

1) The Council will seek to maintain and enhance a network of high quality open 

spaces in the Borough which provides opportunities for sport, physical activity 

and recreation and which contributes to the health and well-being of the 

Borough’s residents.  It will: 

 

a) seek the provision of appropriate new open space in relation to new 

residential development in accordance with Policy DM11; and 

b) protect and enhance existing open space provision49 in accordance with 

criteria set out in Policy DM21. 

 

2) Developers will be expected to put in place a sustainable scheme of management 

for the lifetime of the development 

 

3) Areas of Open Space within the existing urban boundary that are demonstrably 

special to a local community and have particular local significance50 may be 

designated as Local Green Spaces. These will be confirmed at Regulation 19 

Publication stage51. 
 

Policy Context and Relationships 

Core Strategy Policies 
to be replaced 

HC1: Green Spaces & facilities for Walking/Cycling 

                                                           
49

 Sites of over 0.15ha designated as open space will be shown on the Site Allocations DPD Policy Map. 
50

 For example due to its beauty, historic significance, recreational value, tranquillity or richness of wildlife 
51

 where communities propose them and the Council considers that sufficient justification has been provided to 
warrant their ‘demonstrably special’ nature to the local community 

Page 60



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

37 

 

Key NPPF para. links 92, 96-101 

Key DPD Policy links Policy CS7: Provision of Community Facilities 
Policy CS13: Green Infrastructure 

Policy CS22: Cycle and Footpath Networks 
DM11: Open Space Provision in New Residential Development 
DM21: Protection of Open Spaces 

Evidence for Policy Open Space Audit (to be completed 2019) 

   

5.10 Open space includes all areas of land (and water) which provide public access and 

offer opportunities for sport and recreation or can act as an important area of visual 

amenity.  Opportunities may comprise formal activities (e.g. organised games, team 

sports etc.) or informal recreation (e.g. parks and play areas), and the space may be 

active (used for sport, exercise or active play) or passive (used for sitting and 

relaxing). An Open Space study is currently being undertaken to provide the 

evidence base for the Local Plan policies and will be completed in 2019.  It will 

include a comprehensive audit and assessment of the existing open space provision 

in the Borough. It will include both quantitative and qualitative perspectives to identify 

areas of surplus and deficiency across a range of types of open space.   
 

5.11 Where new open space is required as a result of new residential development, it will 

be considered in relation to the identified existing network and whether that network 

can be improved in relation to new provision or contributions to enhanced provision.  

It is also important that the Council continues to protect those open spaces which 

make an important contribution either in quantitative or qualitative terms to the 

Borough’s open space network from inappropriate development. Further details of 

how the Council will do this are set out in the Development Management DPD. 
 

5.12 Areas of Open Space that are considered most special and unique to local 

communities may be considered for designation as a Local Green Space in 

accordance with paragraphs 99 and 100 of the NPPF. Designation would provide a 

greater level of protection than other areas of Open Space. Proposals for 

development on areas of Local Green Space should be managed in line with areas of 

Green Belt52. The Council will consider the suitability of any areas proposed by 

communities of Local Green Space in the context of evidence provided and the 

findings of the Open Space Audit and highlight any proposed Local Green Spaces in 

the Regulation 19 consultation document. Local Green Spaces can only be 

designated when a plan is being prepared or updated. 

 

5.13 This policy does not cover built sport facilities such as sports centres which should be 

considered under Policy CS7: Provision of Community Facilities.   In addition the 

council recognises that there are further opportunities for recreation that contribute to 

                                                           
52

 Paragraph 101 of the NPPF 

Page 61



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

38 

 

health and well-being e.g. walking and cycling opportunities. Enhancement of cycling 

and walking provision is addressed in Policy CS22: Cycle and Footpath Networks. 

Finally, it is important to note that areas of Open Space or Local Green Space 

covered under Policy CS6 form just a part of the wider Green Infrastructure network53 

which is covered in Policy CS13: Green Infrastructure.  

Policy CS7: Provision of Community Facilities54 
 

1) The Council will support proposals for accessible, high quality educational 

facilities that improve the basic and higher level skills and qualifications of 

residents, and seek financial contributions towards education provision from new 

residential developments in line with DM DPD Policy DM6.   

 

2) The Council will support proposals for new or improved sports, recreation, health, 

community and cultural facilities, seeking to protect and enhance a range of 

facilities to support the social well-being of the Borough’s residents. Where the 

loss of a facility is threatened through redevelopment, the criteria set out in DM 

DPD Policy DM7 will be used to assess development proposals. 

 

Policy Context and Relationships 

Core Strategy Policies 
to be replaced 

ED1: New and improved educational facilities 
HC2: Leisure, Health and Culture 

Key NPPF para. links 91,92 

Key DPD Policy links DM6: Delivering Schools and Early Learning 
DM7: Cultural and Community facilities 

Evidence for Policy n/a 

 

5.14 Educational provision in the Borough in recent years has improved with the 

completion of the Accrington Academy and sixth form provision at both St. 

Christopher’s Church of England High School and Accrington Academy. There 

remains a need to raise educational attainment by providing access to a range of 

high quality educational and training opportunities for children, young people and 

those wanting to progress their education. Such opportunities will increase the 

amount of skilled young people coming through secondary and further education, 

and will provide opportunities for existing employees to maintain and further their 

skills or to learn new skills.  

                                                           
53

 Green infrastructure is defined in the NPPF as ‘a network of multi-functional green space, urban and rural, 
which is capable of delivering a wide range of environmental and quality of life benefits for local communities’. 
54

 for the purposes of this policy, community facilities includes those which provide for the health, social, 
educational, spiritual, recreational and cultural needs of the community.  It does not include local shops or public 
houses which are covered by other policies in the development plan. 

Page 62



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

39 

 

 

5.15 Accessibility for all sectors of the community to high quality education has multiple 

benefits. It gives people the skills, confidence and knowledge to develop to their full 

potential and to contribute fully to society. It can help reduce the rate of 

unemployment and increase the level of skilled labour able to take-up higher level 

employment opportunities. This also has social benefits, including improved health 

and wellbeing and reduced crime. 
 

5.16 The Council will work with Lancashire County Council and other relevant providers 

on proposals to improve the provision and standard of schools in the Borough. The 

Council will also seek to work with Accrington and Rossendale College, Jobcentre 

Plus and employers to help in providing modern apprenticeships and on the job 

training. 
 

5.17 Accessibility to a range of community facilities beyond just education is a factor in 

creating and maintaining sustainable communities, and improving the overall health 

and wellbeing of residents in the Borough, and contributing to community cohesion 

and social inclusion. Community facilities offer opportunities for social interaction, 

meeting places, cultural and spiritual needs, health care and recreation. Sports and 

recreation facilities such as sports centres, leisure centres and swimming pools 

provide opportunities for healthy lifestyles.  
 

5.18 Access to good quality health services is vital in enabling local residents to easily 

obtain the healthcare they need. Such services should be developed, improved and 

made accessible for the whole community, with particular attention being given to 

areas of greatest need or which are poorly served. The Council will support provision 

of new community facilities to help address deficiencies, and seek to prevent the loss 

of existing facilities in line with criteria set out in the Development Management DPD. 

  

Policy CS8: Community Benefits/Planning Obligations 
 

1) In order to secure sustainable development and ensure that development 

proposals meet the reasonable costs of new infrastructure, facilities or services 

needed as a direct result of the development, the Council will seek to secure the 

provision through the use of planning conditions and/or Section 106 obligations or 

agreements. 

 

2) The Council will identify specific obligations in the Site Allocations DPD where 

infrastructure requirements are known and evidenced through an Infrastructure 

Delivery Plan.  
 

3) The Council may also consider the introduction of a Community Infrastructure 

Levy to secure infrastructure, facilities and services required to support growth in 

the Borough, or a separate delivery mechanism for the Huncoat Garden Village 

proposals set out in Policy CS2: Huncoat Garden Village. 

Page 63



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

40 

 

Policy Context and Relationships 

Core Strategy Policies 
to be replaced 

HC4: Community Benefits / Planning Obligations 

Key NPPF para. links 34 

Key DPD Policy links GC2: Infrastructure, Planning Obligations & CIL 

Evidence for Policy Economic Viability Study (2016) 

 

5.19 Proposals for new development should provide the necessary infrastructure to 

support it in order to make it acceptable in planning terms.  This approach will ensure 

that development does not place an unfair burden on existing infrastructure 

especially where there is a deficit. The Council will prepare an Infrastructure Delivery 

Plan in support of the Regulation 19 Publication version of the Core Strategy. This 

will help identify specific infrastructure requirements, from which further information 

on Planning Obligations applicable to specific development sites can be provided in 

the Site Allocations DPD. 

 

5.20 This policy sets the overarching framework in relation to the negotiations of planning 

obligations and Section 106 agreements, further detail is provided in Development 

Management DPD Policy GC2.  The Council recognises that the requirements of its 

development plan place potential financial burdens on developers in the form of 

planning obligations, which may have impacts on the viability of development.  An 

Economic Viability Study was undertaken in support of the Development 

Management DPD to ensure that the scale of the requirements do not cumulatively 

undermine the ability of the development to come forward. 

 

5.21 Specific infrastructure requirements arising from the Huncoat Garden Village 

proposals will be identified through the Masterplan work currently underway. A 

separate delivery mechanism such as an equalisation agreement that will ensure fair 

contributions from all landowners are received is being considered as part of this 

process. Further details are set out under the strategic policy for the Garden Village 

Policy CS2: Huncoat Garden Village and will be refined in the Publication version of 

the plan.  

 

Page 64



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

41 

 

6.0 Housing 

6.1 Policies in this chapter will help to achieve the following aims and objectives: 

Strategic Objective 2: to provide for a greater choice and quality of housing, 

including through transformational change at the Huncoat Garden Village.   

 Providing sufficient housing of the right size and type to meet local needs, 

including delivery of transformational high quality, iconic change through the 

Huncoat Garden Village proposals.   

 Provision to include those in need of affordable and supported housing or 

requiring larger family homes, higher value homes and homes to cater for an 

ageing population. This will provide a more balanced housing supply with a choice 

of property types and tenures; 

 Ensuring that all new property is built to high standards, in sustainable locations, 

making the best use of brownfield land and to designs which minimise carbon 

emissions and relate well to the local character; and 

 Ensuring that areas of low demand housing are regenerated where possible with a 

wider range of improved and new housing and supporting facilities. 

 

Strategic Objective 3: to improve the quality of health of the residents of 

Hyndburn. 

 Developing safe residential areas and surroundings where people are at the heart 

of the design process.   

 

6.2 Access to good quality, affordable housing is vital to the creation of sustainable 

communities. It is also key to delivering the Borough’s growth aspirations in terms of 

being able to retain and attract economically active residents and reducing travel to 

work patterns.   

 

6.3 Planning is key to delivering these important aims by ensuring that sufficient 

deliverable and developable sites are provided for new housebuilding in the plan 

period that meet the identified need for housing.  The location and distribution of 

these sites will be influenced by Policy CS1: The Spatial Development Strategy.  In 

pursuit of a more balanced housing market, the plan also seeks to influence the size, 

type and tenure of housing, including affordable housing and provision for specific 

groups (e.g. the elderly and Gypsies and Travellers) to be delivered up to 2036.    

 

6.4 Paragraph 59 of the NPPF states that, ‘To support the Government’s objective of 

significantly boosting the supply of homes, it is important that a sufficient amount and 

variety of land can come forward where it is needed, that the needs of groups with 

specific housing requirements are addressed and that land with permission is 

developed without unnecessary delay.’ 

 

Page 65



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

42 

 

6.5 Within the context of determining the relevant housing requirement, paragraph 60 

NPPF also requires that the, ‘the size, type and tenure of housing needed for 

different groups55 in the community should be assessed and reflected in planning 

policies.’   This includes provision for those who require affordable housing and for 

travellers.    

 

6.6 The Pennine Lancashire Housing Strategy recognised the structural weakness in the 

sub-regional housing market and rather than trying to target housing interventions in 

isolation, it promoted housing growth, economic competitiveness and inclusion to 

achieve a balanced housing market through a Market Progression Model.  This 

includes three main phases moving from stabilisation and early renewal (2008-14), 

through renewal/early transformation (2015-21, i.e. at present) towards 

transformation in achieving a more balanced housing market by 2028.  The focus of 

interventions has now moved away from large scale regeneration projects (such as 

Project Phoenix) which saw a remodelling of significant areas of former terraced 

housing towards a greater reliance on the private market to deliver a more balanced 

housing offer.  However, there remains a need to develop a more balanced housing 

market that provides a good choice of properties for different groups of people and 

this is likely to remain a long term objective.   

 

Policy CS9: Housing Provision (including affordable housing) 
 

Over the plan period 2016-2036 the Council will: 

 

1) make provision for at least 4320 dwellings (equivalent to an average of 216 

dwellings per year).  Sites which will contribute to this requirement will be 

identified in the Site Allocations DPD in accordance with Policy CS1: The Spatial 

Development Strategy and the Local Plan Area policies.  The Huncoat Garden 

Village will make a significant contribution to overall housing provision in the plan 

period; and 

  

2) seek to maintain a rolling five year supply of specific deliverable sites throughout 

the plan period; and   

 

3) seek to maximise the opportunities for the delivery of affordable housing where 

viable. New housing developments of 10 or more dwellings should provide 20% 

affordable housing.  Specific requirements in relation to allocated sites will be 

determined through the Site Allocations DPD.  In relation to affordable housing, 

the predominant need is for housing at affordable rent, but other forms of 

affordable housing will be supported where this meets an identified need and/or 

                                                           
55

 these include, but are not limited to, those who require affordable housing, families with children, older people, 
students, people with disabilities, service families, travellers, people who rent their homes and people wishing to 
commission or build their own homes. 

Page 66



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

43 

 

contributes to a diverse housing offer; and  
 

4) support proposals that ensure the efficient use of land. The Council will seek 

provision of at least 40 dwellings per hectare in town centres and other locations 

well served by public transport, or at least 30 dwellings per hectare elsewhere.    

Policy Context and Relationships 

Core Strategy Policies 
to be replaced 

H1: Housing Provision 
H2: Affordable Housing 

Key NPPF para. links 59, 60, 67, 122-123 

Key DPD Policy links Site Allocations DPD  
DM10: New Residential Development 
DM12: Affordable Housing 
DM13: Development of Housing within Residential Gardens 
Core Strategy: The Local Plan Areas 

Evidence for Policy Housing and Economic Needs Assessment (2018); 
Core Strategy Review: Growth Option and Spatial Option 
justification paper (December 2018); 
Hyndburn Borough Council 5-Year Housing Land Supply 
Statement. 

 

6.7 The NPPF seeks to deliver a sufficient supply of homes. Paragraph 60 states that the 

Local Plan should be informed by a local housing need assessment which will help to 

determine the minimum number of homes needed, as determined by the application 

of a standard method.  The Housing and Economic Needs Assessment (HENA)56 

considers an appropriate level of housing for the plan period.  The starting point, 

which results from using the standard method, gives rise to only a low level of 

housing57 which is based on past demographic trends and assumes that there will 

continue to be a net out-migration of population.  The Council is seeking to reverse 

these trends in its aims to deliver housing and economic growth which includes 

provision of good quality, well paid jobs and associated levels of housing.  

 

6.8 The Council has prepared a Growth Option and Spatial Option justification paper 

setting out further reasoning for selection of the level and distribution of growth 

planned for housing. This will be published alongside the other consultation material. 

 

Housing provision and trajectory 
 

6.9 The resultant housing figure to support the planned level of economic growth set out 

in Policy CS3: Employment Provision is an average of 216 dwellings per annum up to 

                                                           
56

 Housing and Economic Needs Assessment, Blackburn with Darwen and Hyndburn Councils, 2018 (HENA) 
57

 60 dwellings based on the 2014 based Subnational Household Projections (SNHP) and 31 based on the 2014 
based SNHP – as at November 2018.   

Page 67



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

44 

 

2036, which equates to at least 4320 dwellings in total over the 20 year period 2016-

2036. Completions and commitments since 2016 will be counted towards the 

requirement.  

 

6.10 A housing trajectory illustrating the expected rate of housing delivery over the plan 

period will be provided in Figure 7 below at the Publication stage of the plan 

(Regulation 19). Due to the early stage of preparation of the Site Allocations DPD, 

and ,the current uncertainty over levels and rates of housing provision to come 

forward at Huncoat over the plan period, it is not possible to present a detailed 

housing trajectory at this stage: 
 

Figure 7: Hyndburn Borough housing trajectory 2016-2036 – to be added at Publication 

stage (Regulation 19) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

6.11 When finalised, the housing trajectory will be considered to reflect likely minimum 

housing delivery rates across the Borough. The Council’s latest 5 Year Housing Land 

Supply Statement may therefore suggest higher rates of land availability. Regular 

monitoring (i.e. at least annual) will be undertaken to ensure that there is a rolling five 

year supply of specific deliverable sites to meet the housing trajectory. 

 

6.12 The overall housing requirement will be made up of completions from 1st April 2016, 

sites which already have planning permission, allocated sites and a small windfall 

allowance.  The figure of 4320 is net of clearance.  Specific sites to meet the overall 

housing requirement will be set out in the Site Allocations DPD. Dwelling 

requirements will be allocated in accordance with the Policy CS1: The Spatial 

Development Strategy and The Local Plan Areas policies.  
 

6.13 Ten percent of sites overall (i.e. the equivalent of 432 dwellings) will be 

accommodated on sites which do not exceed one hectare.  It is anticipated that the 

Huncoat Garden Village will deliver somewhere between 1000 and 1550 new 

dwellings in the plan period58 and this will make a significant contribution to the 

overall housing provision figure in the plan period.  Together with existing 

commitments, these sites will meet the requirements of the NPPF paragraph 67 in 

terms of a sufficient supply and mix of sites. The requirements for the individual 

townships are set out in Policy CS24: Accrington (Central) to Policy CS32: Knuzden 

                                                           
58

 see figure 5: Huncoat Garden Village trajectory – if the maximum growth of up to 2,000 homes is planned for 
Huncoat then a maximum of around 1,550 homes would be expected to be delivered during this plan period to 
2036 (subject to confirmation in a trajectory at the Publication stage Regulation 19), the remaining dwellings in 
later years 

Page 68



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

45 

 

& Whitebirk. The Council has published a Growth Option and Spatial Option 

justification paper to provide background context on the reasoning for the spatial 

distribution of growth by these areas. 

 

Affordable housing 
 

6.14 Whilst the Borough may have relatively low house and rental prices in sub-regional 

and national contexts, a significant number of households are unable to meet their 

needs for housing in the general housing market. This is because affordability is 

linked to income levels as well as house prices and rents.  The NPPF definition of 

affordable housing is broader than previous and can include housing for social and 

affordable rent, starter homes, discounted market sales housing and other affordable 

routes to home ownership such as shared ownership, where they are appropriate in 

the local context base, aligned with identified need.  Furthermore, the expansion of 

the definition recognises the increasing role that the private sector has played in the 

provision of affordable housing at affordable (private) rent levels. 

 

6.15 In addition to assessing an appropriate overall level of housing, the HENA has also 

considered the future requirement for affordable housing.  Based on clearing the 

current need across the whole plan period, it assessed that 79 households will not 

have their housing need met by the market each year. This does not necessarily 

provide a target for the provision of affordable housing as it must relate to what the 

market can reasonably be expected to deliver and be considered within the context 

of the overall level of need established as expressed in the housing provisions figure. 
 

6.16 In consideration of this, the Viability Study undertaken in 2016 considered the impact 

of a requirement for 20% affordable housing on typical development costs in the 

Borough and on viability.  It broadly concluded that the requirement does impact on 

viability and that the impacts were variable depending on the location of the site, the 

size of development and whether the site was greenfield or previously developed.  

Where viability was marginal, it could be increased, for example by reducing the 

affordable offer to 10%, changing the affordable housing (e.g. from affordable rent to 

starter homes) or by increasing densities.  In areas where land and property values 

are low in the central wards59 of the Borough, even with adjustments, the study 

showed generally that no type of site or scheme was viable. Hence viability will be an 

important consideration.   
 

6.17 The Council acknowledges that economic circumstances may alter during the plan 

period and in addition grant assistance may assist the delivery of higher numbers of 

affordable homes on sites where viability is an issue.  As such, 20% is considered to 

remain an appropriate starting point for affordable housing requirements in this plan. 

Policy CS9 refers to the fact that affordable housing provision will be sought ‘where 

                                                           
59

 referred to as Zone 4 in the Viability Study 

Page 69



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

46 

 

viable’. Further information is provided in DM DPD Policy DM12 on how viability will 

be taken into account in determining affordable housing requirements. 

 

6.18 Even if all sites which contribute to the overall requirement were to deliver 20% 

affordable housing, this would still fall short of the assessed need for 79 affordable 

units per year. On this basis the Council should seek to maximise opportunities to 

deliver affordable housing.  Part of the opportunity is to consider allocating sites in 

areas where development is more viable in although this needs to be balanced with 

the need to address regeneration issues in the central areas.  A further opportunity to 

maximise delivery is taken in relation to setting the threshold for requirements for 

affordable housing to developments of 10 or more dwellings (or 0.5 hectares or 

more) to reflect NPPF60.  This is a reduction in the threshold that applied in the 

previous Core Strategy and the Development Management DPD (of 15 dwellings).  

 

6.19 In terms of types of affordable housing, given relatively low house prices in some 

parts of the Borough, the typical income need to buy in the Borough is less than the 

income to rent.  In addition the typical cost of buying a second hand home in the 

Borough is sufficiently affordable.  The HENA study states that the majority of 

additional affordable homes should be of a rented nature (i.e. social rent or affordable 

rent). Whilst there may be little demonstrated need for a discounted new build 

product, in some cases this may help people move out of the private rented sector 

into home ownership (e.g. through a “Help to Buy” scheme). This and other forms of 

affordable housing may also help diversify the housing offer for existing and future 

residents.  This would also comply with NPPF61 which specifically requires that at 

least 10% of homes should be for affordable home ownership unless exceptions 

apply. 

 

6.20 All affordable housing which is achieved through this policy will count towards the 

overall housing provision figure for the plan period. 

 

Housing Density 
 

6.21 The Council will seek to avoid homes being built at low densities unless specific 

circumstances can justify it, and there is no shortage of land in the area for meeting 

identified needs. In line with NPPF, minimum density standards are set out in Policy 

CS9: Housing Provision (including affordable housing) and these will be implemented 

through planning decisions. A density of 30 dwellings per hectare will be considered 

a standard minimum across the Borough, unless a proposed development is located 

in a town centre or close to good public transport links, where a minimum of 40 

dwellings per hectare will be considered appropriate. Relevant densities applicable to 

housing allocations will be set out in the Site Allocations DPD. 

                                                           
60

NPPF paragraph 63 
61

 NPPF paragraph 64 

Page 70



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

47 

 

 

Self-build 

 

6.22 The Council maintains a Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Register which it 

publishes details of on its website. It also has a duty under the Self and Custom 

Housebuilding Act 2015 to give suitable development permission to enough serviced 

plots of land to meet the demand for self-build and custom housebuilding in the area.  

 

6.23 Levels of demand in Hyndburn for self-build have proven to be very low, with just two 

applicants registering in the first three years. The Council provides enough suitable 

planning permissions for self-build to cover this low level of demand  through the 

general Development Management function, and therefore no specific requirement 

for self-build is set out in the housing policies of the plan. This will be kept under 

review as part of the regular review of plans, and should demand increase to a 

sufficient level to warrant site allocations for self-build, this will be considered in a 

review. 

 

Policy CS10: Suitable Range of Housing 
 

1) The Council will seek to ensure that an appropriate range of housing is delivered 

in the plan period. The appropriate mix of housing will be determined on a site by 

site basis taking into account: the nature of the development site; the character 

of the area; up to date evidence of need; and the nature of the housing market in 

the local area.  New housing development should aim to provide an appropriate 

mix of dwellings based  on the following:  

 

a) Size of dwellings within different tenures: 

 

 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4+ bed 

market housing 0-5% 40-45% 35-40% 15-20% 

affordable home ownership 15-20% 55-60% 20-25% 0-5% 

affordable housing rented  35-40% 30-35% 20-25% 5-10% 

 

 and 

 

b) Housing for older people, people with disabilities  and wheelchair users: 
 

i) The Council will support the provision of new housing for older people, 

people with disabilities and wheelchair users; and  

ii) The development of Extra Care Home facilities for older people and 

bungalows will be supported; and 

iii) At least 30% of any new affordable housing should be specifically tailored 

to meet the needs of elderly or disabled residents, or be easily adaptable, in 

Page 71



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

48 

 

line with Building Regulations categories M4(2) and M4(3). 

 

2) New apartment developments will only be supported where they would maintain 

the prevailing character and setting of the local area and are: 

a) within town centres or within walking distance (250m or closer) of town 

centres; 

b) part of high quality developments in canal-side locations where the 

regeneration benefits of this type of development can be demonstrated; 

c) part of strategic housing developments where there is a need to provide a 

wider range of house types; or 

d) in locations that are well served by public transport and the development 

would secure the efficient use of land. 

 

Policy Context and Relationships 

Core Strategy Policies 
to be replaced 

H1: Housing Provision 
H2 Affordable Housing 

Key NPPF para. Links 61, 62, 63 

Key DPD Policy links DM10: New Residential Development 
DM12: Affordable Housing 
DM13: Development of Housing within Residential Gardens 
DM14: Housing with Care for Older People and People with 
Disabilities 
DM16: Housing Standards 

Evidence for Policy Housing and Economic Needs Assessment (2018) 

 

6.24 In addition to establishing an overall requirement and a requirement for affordable 

housing, NPPF also seeks to ensure an appropriate range in terms of size, type and 

tenure for specific groups as part of creating safe, accessible environments and 

promoting inclusion and community cohesion.   The Borough’s housing stock has a 

greater proportion of two bedroomed homes across the owner occupied, social 

rented and private rented sectors and fewer three and four bedroomed homes than 

the regional and national comparators62.   

 

6.25 In terms of property types, just over half of the stock comprises terraced properties, 

which is a significantly greater proportion then the regional and national comparators 

(about 25% and 30% respectively).  By contrast the proportion of semi-detached and 

detached properties is considerably lower63.  In addition within the terraced stock, 

nearly 60% of it is two bedroomed and these make up about 30% of the total stock 

                                                           
62

 Census 2011 (HENA table 56) 
63

 2011 Census 

Page 72



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

49 

 

whereas regionally and nationally, the proportions are much lower (about 12% and 

8% respectively)64.   

 

6.26 The NPPF recognises that specific groups, including people with disabilities and 

older people may have a need for a full range of housing to support their 

requirements.  In line with national and regional trends, the Borough is expected to 

see a notable increase in older persons during the plan period65.  Given higher levels 

of disability and health problems among the elderly, it is likely that there will be an 

increase demand for specialised forms of housing across a range of types to meet 

these needs. This can include general housing, accessible and adaptable housing, 

and a range of retirement and specialised housing for those with support or care 

needs.   

 

6.27 In order to contribute to accessible and inclusive communities Planning Practice 

Guidance requires the Council to consider the need for wheelchair user dwellings as 

part of future housing needs.  Policies can only refer to requirements M4(2) and/or 

M4(3) of the optional requirements in the Building Regulations and may not impose 

any additional information requirements.   

 

6.28 The mix of housing proposed is determined through the HENA study which 

recognises that the demand for different sizes of properties will vary across different 

tenures.  The policy recommendations are based on the modelled future demand for 

different sizes of homes in different tenures linked to the 2016 SNHP and the 

economic growth scenario which the policies of this plan seek to deliver. 

 

6.29 Adjustments to the outputs of the modelling recognise a range of issues which impact 

on the provision of certain types of housing.  In the affordable rented sector, these 

relate to the limited flexibility of one bedroom properties for households and a limited 

stock of four or more bedroomed properties.  The affordable home ownership sector 

is focussed on delivering two and three bedroomed properties for smaller family 

housing for younger households.   Within the market sector, the outputs are focussed 

on more three and four-plus bedroom dwellings.  This is consistent with the Council’s 

objectives of diversifying its housing stock. 

 

6.30 It is estimated that there will be a 32% increase in people aged 65 and over in the 

Borough by 203666. The HENA study has sought to identify potential levels of 

additional specialised housing for older people in the Borough in the plan period in 

terms of housing with support (which covers retirement/sheltered housing) and 

housing with care (enhanced sheltered housing and extra care housing). In addition 

to projected future requirements based on population projections, the assessment 

                                                           
64

 2011 Census, table CT0551 
65

 HENA study, table 47 
66

 HENA table 47 

Page 73



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

50 

 

recognises that the Borough has a higher level of disability than the national average. 

The tenure mix is also informed by the Index of Multiple Deprivation, with the HENA 

study showing that people with limiting long term health problems or a disability are 

more likely to live in social rented accommodation. Those entering specialised forms 

of housing are likely to release existing dwellings for others to use.   
 

6.31 In total the HENA study indicates a need for 833 dwellings with support or care for 

older persons up to 2036; 517 of which relates to housing with support and 316 

relates to housing with care. 284 of the 833 dwellings would be for rent and 549 

would be for leasehold/ownership. The requirements are shown in Table 6.1 below:  

 
Table 6.1 Older Persons’ dwelling requirements  

Type of housing Tenure  Projected requirement to 2036 

Housing with support Rented 106 

Leasehold 411 

Housing with care Rented 178 

Leasehold 138 

Sub total 833 
Source: HENA Study (table 51) 

 

6.32 The HENA also shows an indicative level of need for 435 care beds67 for older 

persons in the plan period. This need would be met through registered care and 

nursing provision which falls within Use Class C2 so does not form part of the overall 

dwelling requirement68.  

    

6.33 A draft Lancashire Housing with Care and Support Strategy69 seeks also to address 

the care and support needs of an ageing population and people with care needs. It 

seeks to move away from the traditional models of residential care and nursing 

homes towards more meeting people’s care and support needs in a way that 

promotes health, well-being and independence. It aims to have at least one extra 

care scheme for older adults in each district by 2025 and estimates a need for 123 

units of housing with care and support by 2025. There is currently no extra care 

scheme in Hyndburn. In view of the changing landscape of care provision developers 

who wish to pursue care and support provision would be advised to undertake their 

own assessment of need.   

  

6.34 The HENA study also identifies a clear need to increase the supply of accessible and 

adaptable dwellings (category M4(2)) and wheelchair user dwellings (category 

M4(3))70. M4(2) homes can be considered a “homes for life” and are suitable for any 

occupant whether or not they have a disability at the time of initial occupation. 

                                                           
67

 defined as residential settings where a number of older people live, usually in single rooms with access to 
personal care services that can include nursing.  This does not include registered care beds within C2 use class. 
68

 Currently (January 2019) provision of new C2 bedspaces can contribute towards overall dwelling provision as 
set out in the Housing Delivery Test 
69

 draft Housing with Care and Support Strategy 2018-2025, Lancashire County Council 2018 
70

 As defined in Part M of the Building Regulations 

Page 74



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

51 

 

Planning Practice Guidance is clear that policies for wheelchair accessible homes 

may only be applied to those dwellings where the local authority is responsible for 

allocating or nominating a person to live in that dwelling. The assessed need is for an 

additional 7 wheelchair user homes per annum in the plan period 2016-2036.   
 

6.35 It is necessary to consider whether the plan can make provision for delivery of all 

dwellings for older people, people with disabilities and wheelchair user homes in the 

plan period.  Key considerations are the overall level of affordable homes required 

given that a significant proportion of all dwelling requirements for older people are in 

the rented category and that policies for wheelchair accessible homes should only 

apply where the local authority has allocation or nomination rights.   Paragraph 6.16 

and 6.17 above conclude that a 20% requirement for affordable housing in relation to 

sites with 10 or more dwellings is appropriate in the local context.  This would give a 

maximum yield of 864 affordable units in the plan period (i.e. 20% of 4320) although 

not all sites will deliver affordable housing.   
 

6.36 A requirement of 284 rented dwellings for older people71 and 7 wheelchair user 

homes per annum (total 291) would amount to about one third of all affordable 

housing requirements. Therefore a requirement that 30% of the affordable housing 

be provided for older persons and accessible and adaptable housing (as identified in 

the previous SHMA72) is justified albeit that it is recognized that it will not deliver that 

quantity identified in the HENA study.  Furthermore, it is recognised that the needs of 

some people with disabilities and the elderly can be met through adaptations to the 

existing dwelling stock or moving between different dwelling types within existing 

stock, rather than solely through the provision of new dwellings.  Privately funded or 

subsidized73 adaptations to existing stock may go some way towards meeting such 

needs and ensuring people can stay in their own homes.  The Council also 

recognizes the role that bungalows (new dwellings and existing stock) can contribute 

to meeting the housing needs of elderly persons, people with disabilities and 

wheelchair users and will support the provision of this housing type within new 

development where it is feasible74. 

 

6.37 The Viability Study  included consideration of the impact of policy requirements for 

affordable housing (which includes affordable housing for older people)  and 

requirements to meet the Access Standards for accessible and adaptable homes 

(category M4(2))75 on typical development costs in the Borough in combination with 

other policy requirements of the plan.  The overall outcome is as reported in 6.16. 

                                                           
71

 As set out in paragraph 6.31 
72

 Strategic Housing Market Assessment and Housing Needs Study 2014 
73

 e.g. Disabled Facilities grants 
74

 The Council’s latest AMR (published September 2018) reported that 11% of new dwelling completions 
between 2012 and 2018 were bungalows  
75

 requirements are set out in policy DM16 of the Development Management DPD 

Page 75



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

52 

 

Whilst viability may be an issue in some areas, the 30% threshold remains an 

appropriate starting point for seeking to secure these particular types of housing. 
 

6.38 The Council recognises the important role that the private sector will have in meeting 

the housing needs of older people in the owner occupied sector and that this will be 

market led. 
 

6.39 New apartment developments in Hyndburn will only be supported in the appropriate 

locations set out in CS10 where they are well designed in terms of their appearance, 

size and setting. National minimum space standards have been adopted by the 

Council for all new housing developments (where viable)76, which includes the new 

build of (and conversion of existing buildings to) flats/apartments.  
 

Policy CS11: Gypsy and Traveller and Travelling Showpeople 
Provision 

 

1) The Council will make adequate provision for the needs of Gypsies and Travellers 

and Travelling Showpeople up to 2036 by: 

 

a) allocating sufficient sites in the Site Allocations DPD to meet the identified 

need for pitches for Gypsies and Travellers (both permanent and transit 

pitches);  

b) allocating sufficient sites in the Site Allocations DPD to meet any identified 

need for additional yards for travelling showpeople; and  

c) protecting existing permanent sites which are authorised for Gypsy and 

Traveller use; 

 

2) Proposals for new gypsy and traveller and travelling showpeople sites will be 

considered in line with Development Management Policy DM15 

Policy Context and Relationships 

Core Strategy Policies 
to be replaced 

H3: Gypsy and Traveller Provision 

Key NPPF para. links 61 and Planning Policy for Traveller Sites 

Key DPD Policy links DM15: Gypsy and Traveller sites 

Evidence for Policy Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment (2019) 

 

6.40 A number of established Gypsy and Traveller sites are located within the Borough 

and an assessment is currently being undertaken to identify the need for any further 

                                                           
76

 See Policy DM16 of the Development Management DPD 

Page 76

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/457420/Final_planning_and_travellers_policy.pdf


Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

53 

 

traveller accommodation in the plan period in accordance with national Planning 

Policy for Traveller Sites.  The Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment will 

be completed in 2019 and Policy CS11 will be updated for the Regulation 19 

Publication version of the plan to take account of the findings of the study. 

 

6.41 The Council will seek to identify sufficient sites to meet any identified need to 2036 in 

the Site Allocations DPD. It will also seek to protect existing sites from being lost to 

other uses by allocating them as existing sites in the Site Allocations DPD. 

Applications for new gypsy and traveller or travelling showpeople sites that are not 

allocated in the Local Plan will be assessed in accordance with the criteria set out in 

the adopted Development Management DPD policy DM15. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 77



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

54 

 

7.0 Protecting and enhancing the environment 

7.1 Policies in this chapter will help to achieve the following aims and objectives: 

 
Strategic Objective 3: to improve the quality of health of the residents of 

Hyndburn. 

 Creating an environment that will give people the opportunity to adopt a more 

active and healthy lifestyle that will improve health and increase life expectancy; 

 Increasing levels of participation in sport, leisure and physical activity by the 

protection and enhancement of existing sports and recreation facilities and 

through the development of Green Infrastructure that is accessible 

Strategic Objective 4: To create a valued urban and rural environment. 

 Protecting and enhancing the Borough’s existing natural, built and cultural 

heritage resource (including townscape heritage initiative historical shop front 

improvements); 

 Delivering a programme of improvements / visual appearance along access routes 

into Accrington town centre; 

 Developing green infrastructure by connecting and developing networks of 

footpaths, open space, parks, protected sites and watercourses; 

 Promoting a sustainable, stable and safe approach to all new and existing building 

development, infrastructure, energy use and carbon emissions and use of natural 

resources; 

 Achieving development that provides high standards of design, maintenance and 

security; and 

 Giving particular emphasis on achieving development that contributes to the local 

character and distinctiveness of the natural, built and cultural heritage and attracts 

greater leisure use and enjoyment.   

 

7.2 Hyndburn is located within a highly attractive natural environment, bounded to the 

north by Ribble Valley and the Forest of Bowland AONB and to the south by the West 

Pennine Moors.  The towns within Hyndburn benefit from having good quality open 

spaces including a significant legacy of formal Victorian parks and a network of 

waterways, canals and green corridors.  The natural and built environmental assets 

of the area should not only be protected and enhanced for their intrinsic value, but 

because of the role that they play in enhancing the lives of local residents, visitors 

and businesses.   

 

7.3 At a national level the environment sits alongside the economy and social objectives 

as one of the three key pillars that contribute towards the achievement of sustainable 

development.  As well as recognising the importance of mitigating and adapting to 

climate change, the Core Strategy should contribute towards the protection of the 

natural, built and historic environment.   

 

7.4 This section will set out the way in which the Core Strategy will protect and enhance 

the environmental quality of the Borough.  It recognises the intrinsic character and 

beauty of the countryside and the wider benefits associated from the natural 

Page 78



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

55 

 

environment and ecosystems.  The Borough’s landscape setting and environment 

contribute towards the image, identity and prosperity of the Borough and Pennine 

Lancashire and is a valuable resource for residents and visitors.   

 

7.5 Alongside the natural environment, the Borough also benefits from having a rich 

industrial and built heritage with ten conservation areas and over 100 listed buildings 

that connect modern day Hyndburn with its industrial past. The Core Strategy will 

present a framework for the development of a high quality urban environment that is 

well connected to the countryside, whilst at the same time affording protection to the 

built assets of the Borough.  Health, well-being and the quality of life experienced by 

people in Hyndburn will all be influenced by the quality of the urban and rural 

environment.   

 

7.6 The NPPF77 states that achieving sustainable development means contributing to 

‘protecting and enhancing our natural, built and historic environment; including 

making effective use of land, helping to improve biodiversity, using natural resources 

prudently, minimising waste and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate 

change, including moving to a low carbon economy’. Implementation of Local Plans 

and the application of policies in decision making should help to deliver this objective. 

 

7.7 In 2018, the Government published ‘A Green Future: Our 25 Year Plan to Improve 

the Environment’.  The plan identifies ten key ambitions: clean air; clean and plentiful 

water; thriving plants and wildlife; reducing the risks of harm from environmental 

hazards; using resources from nature more sustainably and efficiently; enhancing 

beauty, heritage and engagement with the natural environment; mitigating and 

adapting to climate change; minimising waste; managing exposure to chemicals; and 

enhancing biosecurity.  
 

7.8 Whilst there is no specific overarching environmental strategy at a more local level, 

Lancashire County Council has its own separately published strategies on matters of 

landscape, climate change, woodlands and flood Risk78. Hyndburn Council’s 

Corporate Strategy (2018-2023) also recognises the important role that the 

environment (both natural and built) has to play in the Borough, influencing resident’s 

quality of life, and the key part that the planning system has to play.  

 

Policy CS12: Sustainable Development and Climate Change 

1) All development must minimise negative impacts on the environment and help to 

mitigate against the likely effects of Climate Change on present and future 

generations.  This will be achieved by: 

a. Ensuring that new development is in sustainable locations, is accessible to 

                                                           
77

 paragraph 8c.   
78

 https://www.lancashire.gov.uk/council/strategies-policies-plans/environmental  

Page 79

https://www.lancashire.gov.uk/council/strategies-policies-plans/environmental


Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

56 

 

goods and services, can be accessed on foot and by bicycle and improve links 

with public transport networks; 

b. Ensuring that new development makes adequate provision for waste collection 

and recycling and encouraging the use of locally sourced, reclaimed, recycled 

or low environmental impact products in design and construction and provide 

facilities for effective waste management in the operation of development; 

c. Ensuring that new development is directed away from areas at high risk of 

flooding and incorporates appropriate mitigation against flooding in areas of 

lower risk; 

d. The incorporation of sustainable drainage systems and improving water 

efficiency standards by incorporating measures to recycle and conserve water 

resources; 

e. The inclusion of greenspace, landscaping and habitat related enhancements; 

f. Minimise energy consumption by taking advantage of natural energy through 

the orientation and design of development; 

g. Ensuring that contaminated land, land stability and other risks associated with 

coal mining and mineral extraction are considered and, where necessary, 

addressed through appropriate remediation and mitigation measures, and; 

h. Ensuring that potentially polluting industrial and waste development will not 

have an unacceptable adverse impact on the environment or neighbouring 

properties or businesses.    

Policy Context and Relationships 

Core Strategy Policies to 
be replaced 

Env4: Sustainable Development & Climate Change 

Key NPPF para. links 148-156 

Key DPD Policy links DM18: Protection and Enhancement of the Natural 

Environment 

DM20: Flood Risk Management and Water Resources 

DM24: Contaminated or unstable land and storage of 

hazardous substances 

DM25: Pollution Control 

DM26: Design Quality and Materials 

DM31: Waste management in all new development 

Evidence for Policy Strategic Flood Risk Assessment  

 

7.9 At a strategic level the Core Strategy will seek to ensure that the policy framework 

contributes towards reducing the impact of development on climate change through 

the delivery of sustainable patterns of development, as set out in Policy CS1: The 

Spatial Development Strategy.   

 

7.10 Climate change is a cross-cutting theme and there are a number of strategic 

objectives and policies within the Core Strategy that will help ensure that 

Page 80



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

57 

 

development within Hyndburn is sustainable and contributes towards reducing the 

harmful effects associated with Climate Change. Policy CS1: The Spatial 

Development Strategy prescribes a strategy that will deliver a sustainable pattern of 

development across the Borough for the period of the Core Strategy and beyond.   

 

7.11 The planning system should support the transition to a low carbon future in a 

changing climate and in doing so plan to avoid developments in areas where there 

may be increased risk of flooding or which would be vulnerable to the range of 

impacts arising from climate change.  New development should reflect best practice 

in terms of sustainable design and construction, minimises carbon emissions and is 

resilient to the effects of climate change.   

 

Sustainable Locations 
 

7.12 One of the key aims of the Core Strategy is to secure sustainable patterns of 

development in Hyndburn so that people live close to goods and services and there 

are opportunities to use sustainable means of transport.  Sites allocated in the Local 

Plan will be assessed against a range of criteria (agreed in the Site Assessment 

Methodology) to ensure that future development is in sustainable locations.   

 

7.13 The development of unallocated sites within the urban area for residential 

development will generally be supported in principle (under the assumption that they 

represent a sustainable location) provided they are well designed and will not give 

rise to unacceptable adverse impacts in accordance with the policies of the Local 

Plan.   
 

7.14 The towns and townships in Hyndburn are compact and have been described as 

good examples of sustainable development79.  Shops and employment sites are 

located close to residential areas and there is often a choice of public transport.  In 

Huncoat, where larger scale development is planned, it will also be necessary to 

ensure that new shops and services are provided in a manner that will meet future 

needs and improve proximity of residents to goods and services.   

 
Waste collection, recycling and sustainable construction 

 

7.15 New development must make adequate provision for the management of waste and 

materials for recycling by ensuring that these details are included as part of 

development proposals.  Policy DM 31 of the Development Management DPD sets 

out in more detail the approach that will be taken to managing waste and recycling in 

new developments.  

  

                                                           
79

 Accrington Area Action Plan.   

Page 81



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

58 

 

7.16 Where possible, developers will be encouraged to source materials locally and utilize 

reclaimed or recycled materials.  For example, former industrial sites often have large 

areas of concrete hardstanding that can be crushed and used in the redevelopment 

of the site.  Although it is not possible to use planning controls to insist on use of local 

products, it is nonetheless something that developers can be encouraged to do.  
 

Flooding and Sustainable Drainage 

 

7.17 One of the most significant impacts associated with climate change is increased risk 

of flooding and it is therefore important to ensure that development is directed away 

from areas at risk of flooding in line with national policy.  Where development is 

necessary in areas at risk it should incorporate measures to make it safe from 

flooding without increasing risks elsewhere, and all new development should manage 

surface water drainage in line with the advice provided by the Environment Agency 

and Lead Local Flood Authority.  Sites allocated for development in the Borough’s 

Local Plan will be assessed to ensure that they are in appropriate locations where 

they will not be at risk of flooding.   

 

7.18 In Hyndburn there are a variety of watercourses within or adjacent to urban areas 

that present a risk of flooding.  In urban areas these rivers are often contained within 

old culverts and the ability of these structures to cope with high water levels is the 

most common cause of flooding in Hyndburn.  This is often a result of under capacity 

in the system or a blockage caused by debris or partial collapse due to age.  During 

the period of the Core Strategy the Borough Council will work with Lancashire County 

Council, the Environment Agency and United Utilities to produce a Surface Water 

Management Plan (SWMP) that would seek to identify limitations in infrastructure 

and a means of addressing those limitations or improving infrastructure.  
 

7.19 In order to ensure that new development does not increase the risk of flooding it is 

important that it incorporates sustainable drainage systems unless there is clear 

evidence that this would be inappropriate.  Sustainable drainage systems should be 

designed in line with best practice and the advice from the Lead Local Flood 

Authority (Lancashire County Council) and should set out the means by which they 

will be managed.  This would normally be achieved through an appropriate legal 

agreement that would prescribe the maintenance provisions for the lifetime of the 

development.   
 

7.20 Policy DM20 of the Development Management DPD sets out in more detail the 

approach that should be taken when considering flood risk and surface water 

drainage.  Provision of greenspace, landscaping, habitat enhancements and the use 

of permeable hard surfaces within the development site all help to reduce pressure 

on existing drainage infrastructure.   

 

Minimising energy consumption 
 

Page 82



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

59 

 

7.21 The design, orientation and layout of all new developments must achieve effective 

passive solar gain and install and operate an appropriate solar renewable installation, 

unless these can be proved to be unsuitable or unviable.  This approach is supported 

by National Planning Policy Guidance and Policy DM26 of the Development 

Management DPD sets out more detail on the design of new development and the 

matters that will be taken into consideration.   

 

Contaminated Land and former Mineral Workings 

 

7.22 The Core Strategy seeks to support the development of under-utilised land and 

buildings in sustainable locations80, however, in Hyndburn there are a variety for 

former industrial sites that are contaminated and require remediation before being 

redeveloped or put into a new use.  The legacy of coal mining and historical industrial 

activities within Hyndburn also has the potential to give rise to environmental and 

public safety hazards and the remediation of these sites can provide long term 

environmental benefit.   

 

7.23 Whilst most past mining is generally benign in nature, potential public safety and 

stability problems can be triggered or uncovered by development activities.  Many 

previously developed sites exhibit contamination and potential risks often extend 

beyond the site boundaries. However, well planned developments that take into 

account risks and incorporate appropriate remediation and mitigation measures can 

help address this legacy to the benefit of local communities and in the overall 

interests of sustainability and public safety.  In order to help bring forward previously 

developed sites the Council has included a range of sites on Part 1 and proposed 

Part 2 of the Brownfield Register.   
 

7.24 Policy DM24 of the Development Management DPD sets out in more detail the 

approach that should be taken when managing planning applications on sites that 

are contaminated or have been affected by former mineral workings.   

 

Pollution Control 
 

7.25 One of the main purposes of the planning system is to manage the use of land in the 

public interest and in doing so to prevent incompatible land uses from being located 

next to each other and ensure that new development does not have an unacceptable 

impact on the environment or amenity.  Policy DM25 of the Development 

Management DPD sets out in more detail how this will be achieved.   

 

 

 

                                                           
80

 Consistent with National Planning Policy Framework, para 118 and 119.   

Page 83



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

60 

 

Policy CS13: Green Infrastructure 
 

1) Green Infrastructure resources will be protected, enhanced and extended, and by 

linking these resources, a multi-functional Green Infrastructure network will be 

created.  Where developments are within, or in close proximity to the Green 

Infrastructure network they will be expected to contribute towards its protection 

and enhancement.   

Policy Context and Relationships 

Core Strategy Policies 
to be replaced 

Env1: Green Infrastructure 

Key NPPF para. links 171 

Key DPD Policy links CS15: Natural Environment Enhancement 

DM18: Protection and Enhancement of the Natural Environment 

Evidence for Policy Open Space Audit (to be completed 2019) 

Lancashire Green Infrastructure Strategy (2009) 

 

7.26 Green Infrastructure can be defined as the multi-functional green space, both new 

and existing, rural and urban, within and between our towns and villages, which 

supports natural and ecological processes and is integral to the health and quality of 

life in sustainable communities81.  It is a network of environmental and community 

resources and multi-functional open spaces that includes formal parks, gardens, 

allotments, woodlands, green corridors, waterways and watercourses, rights of way, 

playing fields, street trees and open countryside.  It comprises all environmental 

resources including sites of ecological and geological value, and thus a green 

infrastructure approach also contributes towards sustainable resource management. 

 

7.27 Some of the significant resources contributing to the Green Infrastructure network of 

the Borough include the Leeds and Liverpool canal corridor, Hyndburn Greenway 

(part the National Cycle Network) and local linkages which need to be provided for 

improved accessibility, the Local Nature Reserves (LNR’s) at Foxhill Bank, 

Woodnook Vale and the Coppice.  Linkages and enhancements can also be made 

with the more formal provisions of parks, sports and recreational facilities such as 

Higham’s Playing Fields and Oakhill Park in Accrington, Wilson playing fields, 

Clayton-le-Moors and others serving more local needs, numerous playgrounds and 

youth facilities such as skate parks and multi-use games areas, together with cricket 

grounds and golf courses.  The key resources and opportunities for linkages and 

                                                           
81

 Consultation Paper on a new Planning Policy Statement: Planning for a Natural and Healthy Environment, 
CLG, March 2010. 

Page 84



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

61 

 

enhancements will be further identified in the Site Allocations DPD, with reference to 

audits and standards for green space provision82. 

 

7.28 Creating an attractive high quality environment in and around our towns and villages 

is critical if Hyndburn is to attract people and businesses into the area and retain 

those who already live here.  Encouraging people to access the countryside, walk 

and cycle is not only good for their health and well-being but it also helps the rural 

economy.  It will also assist in mitigating and adapting to the impacts of climate 

change.   
 

7.29 There are acknowledged economic and health benefits associated with closer 

integration of urban areas with rural areas and the development of networks that 

allow movement from one area into another.  The enhancement and protection of the 

countryside between, and around, towns is also essential if Hyndburn is to be seen 

as an attractive place to visit and to do business.  It is also important for its intrinsic 

landscape and ecological value.  Large areas of Pennine Lancashire are designated 

Green Belt, are within an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) or have 

landscape or ecological value.  Part of the Borough, including the village of Belthorn, 

falls within the West Pennine Moors.  This area is managed with a view to 

encouraging enjoyment of the countryside whilst at the same time promoting 

sustainable regeneration of the area and protecting and conserving its natural and 

cultural heritage.  Together these elements all form part of the sub-region’s green 

infrastructure and contribute towards the concept of Pennine Lancashire as a Green 

City.   
 

7.30 To maximise the benefits of green infrastructure it will be necessary to ensure that 

Hyndburn works with its neighbours to ensure that green infrastructure is not 

restricted by administrative boundaries and that it is developed and enhanced 

through the Local Plans of each authority, using the Lancashire Green Infrastructure 

Strategy as a basis for this.   

 

 

Policy CS14: Landscape Character 
 

The design of new development will be required to be well integrated into existing 

settlement patterns, appropriate to the landscape character type and designation 

within which it is situated and contribute positively to its conservation, enhancement 

or restoration or the creation of appropriate new features.   

Policy Context and Relationships 

                                                           
82

 Including an Open Space Audit carried out to fulfil the requirements of PPG17 and cross referring to the 

Accessible Natural Greenspace Standards (ANGSt) 

 

Page 85



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

62 

 

Core Strategy Policies 
to be replaced 

Env3: Landscape Character 

Key NPPF para. links 170 

Key DPD Policy links DM18: Protection and Enhancement of the Natural Environment 

Evidence for Policy National Character Area Profiles (Natural England) 

 

I stand on top of Accrington’s hill the Coppice, now with wooded slope. 

No chimneys mar the skyline No buildings grimed by smoke. 

Yes Hyndburn is now beautiful, as I always knew she would be, 

With greening slopes and purpling moors blessing Lancashire’s Hill Country. 

  

Yes, no matter where I wander, wherever I may roam 

My own dear Lancashire’s Hill Country will always call me home.   

 
Extract from “Lancashire Hill Country”.  Source:  Ex-Lancs on line.   

 

7.31 One of the most understated assets of the Borough is its attractive countryside 

bordering all the urban areas.  It provides a high quality setting for the urban areas 

with highly accessible opportunities for recreation, recently enhanced through the 

designation of Lancashire’s two largest Local Nature Reserves at Woodnook Vale 

and the Coppice.  The built up areas benefit from having high quality parks and a 

network of less formal open spaces.  

 

7.32 The towns of Accrington, Great Harwood, Rishton and Clayton-Le-Moors grew from 

the industrial revolution and give the area a strong urban character.  At a national 

level, Natural England has developed Landscape Character Profiles that seek to 

establish the key landscape characteristics for an area.  The built up areas of the 

Borough and land to the north is characterised within the Lancashire Valleys83 by 

Natural England whilst the upland area south of Accrington is within the Southern 

Pennines84.   
 

7.33 The Southern Pennines comprise a landscape of large scale sweeping moorlands, 

pastures enclosed by drystone walls and small settlements contained within narrow 

valleys.  Accrington sits in the shadow of Oswaldtwistle Moor which forms part of the 

West Pennine Moors Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) that supports an 

extensive mosaic of upland habitats and features including blanket bog, flushes and 

grasslands.  The development of the wind turbines on Oswaldtwistle Moor provides a 

                                                           
83

 Natural England, National Character Area Profile: 35 Lancashire Valleys 
84

 Natural England, National Character Area Profile: 36 Southern Pennines 

Page 86



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

63 

 

reminder of the role the landscape plays in a modern economy through the 

generation of sustainable energy.   
 

7.34 New development should be visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout 

and appropriate landscaping and is sympathetic to local character and history, 

including the surrounding built environment and landscape setting85.  The framework 

seeks to protect and enhance valued landscapes and recognise the intrinsic 

character and beauty of the countryside. 

 

7.35 Where proposals are likely to have a significant visual or landscape impact the 

applicant will be expected to submit a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment that 

assesses the impact of the proposed development and recommends means by which 

identified impacts can be mitigated.   

 

Policy CS15: Natural Environment Enhancement 
 

1) Opportunities for natural environment enhancement will be secured by ensuring 

that all development affecting ecological or geological resources: 

a. Protect those resources,  and; 

b. Minimises impacts on ecological resources and incorporate appropriate 

resource enhancement (net gain) and ensures that positive management 

measures are in place, and; 

c. Contribute towards an effective ecological network through expansion and re-

connection of environmental resources identified in the Council’s Nature 

Recovery Network86, particularly where such improvements would complement 

local regeneration priorities and improvements to health and well-being, and; 

d. Provides for the protection and enhancement of woodland, trees and 

hedgerows.   

 

2) The level of protection afforded to ecological and geological resources will be 

commensurate with their level of importance and vulnerability.  

Policy Context and Relationships 

Core Strategy Policies 
to be replaced 

Env2: Natural Environment Enhancement 

Key NPPF para. links 170, 174-177 

Key DPD Policy links CS13: Green Infrastructure 

                                                           
85

 NPPF paragraph 127. 
86

 The Nature Recovery Network will form a significant part of the Borough’s Green Infrastructure network and 
will be identified on the Council’s Policy Map. It will bring together known areas of habitat value such as Local 
Nature Reserves, woodlands, habitat designations etc. along with opportunities for enhancement through 
connections. This work will build upon the ecological networks produced by LERN. 

Page 87



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

64 

 

DM17: Trees, Woodland and Hedgerows 

DM18: Protection and Enhancement of the Natural Environment 

DM19: Protected Species 

Evidence for Policy  

 

7.36 The Core Strategy takes a strategic approach to the protection and enhancement of 

habitats and green infrastructure consistent with international and national policy.  

Oswaldtwistle Moor forms part of one of the largest Sites of Special Scientific Interest 

in North West England and the geological features at Harper Clough and Smalley 

Delph to the north of Rishton are also of national importance.  There are a number of 

Biological Heritage Sites across the Borough which have been identified by 

Lancashire’s Biological Heritage Sites Review Panel as being of regional importance.  

 

7.37 Recognising the importance of integrating town and country, the Borough has three 

Local Nature Reserves (LNR’s). Foxhill Bank is a hidden oasis nestled in a shallow 

valley in the heart of Oswaldtwistle where history and industry meet natural beauty.  

Woodnook Vale and the Coppice are the largest LNR’s in Lancashire and were 

designated in 2018, giving residents of Accrington ready access to the countryside.  

These areas comprise extensive areas of countryside, woodland and upland areas 

and provide a valuable recreational and ecological resource for local residents, 

schools and visitors.  
 

7.38 Although there are no European designated sites (Natura 2000) within the Borough, 

an appropriate assessment87 will be undertaken to ensure that the impacts arising 

from the implementation of the policies of the Core Strategy will not have a harmful 

effect on identified European sites in North West England. 
 

7.39 As well as designated areas, there is a wide variety of habitat types including some 

identified as priority habitats such as upland oak woodland at Priestly Clough, blanket 

bog and heathland at Oswaldtwistle Moor, and some small but significant areas such 

as reed beds at Platts Lodge in Accrington.  The Nature Recovery Network will 

identify locations where expansion or enhancement would be beneficial, including 

opportunities to introduce biodiversity value and linkages within the urban area. This 

will form a significant component of the overall wider Green Infrastructure Network 

set out under Policy CS13. 
 

7.40 Measures that enhance, expand and connect these resources will contribute towards 

the development of a robust ecological framework in a manner that addresses the 

priorities of the Lancashire Biodiversity Action Plan and issues of habitat 

                                                           
87

 A Habitats Regulations Appropriate Assessment is to be prepared alongside the Publication version of the plan 
at Regulation 19.   

Page 88



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

65 

 

fragmentation and species isolation.  The Council will be seeking to identify a Nature 

Recovery Network to help meet these aims. 
 

7.41 Trees woodlands and hedgerows also form an important part of Hyndburn’s 

landscape and ecological resource and make a vital contribution towards creating a 

sense of place, habitat linkages, mitigating climate change, and making an area more 

attractive providing recreational opportunities.  Policy DM17 of the Development 

Management DPD sets out the approach that is expected to be taken when 

development proposals affect trees, woodland and hedgerows. 

 

7.42 In the first instance it is important to protect natural resources and at a strategic level 

the Core Strategy does this by directing development away from important or 

sensitive sites.  For the most sensitive sites (including Sites of Special Scientific 

Interest, Special Areas of Conservation, and Special Protection Areas) it is not just 

the site boundary itself, but any associated impact risk zones88 that will be applied in 

this policy approach. 

 

7.43 Where development proposals are likely to affect natural resources, the level of 

protection afforded to those resources will be commensurate with their importance 

and their designation, the highest levels of protection being afforded to resources of 

international or national importance whilst the degree of importance afforded to 

resources of regional or local importance will depend on a variety of factors including 

their contribution towards the ecological network and their vulnerability.   

 

7.44 Policy DM18 of the Development Management DPD sets out in more detail the 

approach that will be taken when development proposals affect the natural 

environment.   
 

7.45 New development should be sited and designed to minimise impacts on natural 

resources, but where impacts arise it will be necessary for these to be appropriately 

mitigated, and for the mitigation to incorporate a level of net gain commensurate with 

the more detailed policy framework set out in the Development Management DPD.  

Mitigation proposals should be accompanied by appropriate mechanisms for the 

management of natural resources, these measures would normally be secured 

through a legal agreement.   
 

7.46 Policy DM19 of the Development Management DPD sets out in more details the 

approach that will be taken where development affects protected species or their 

habitat.   

 

                                                           
88

 A GIS tool developed by Natural England to make rapid initial assessment of the potential risks posed by 
development proposals 

Page 89



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

66 

 

Policy CS16: Renewable Energy 
 

1) In order to contribute towards an increase in the use and supply of renewable 

energy the development of renewable energy within areas of search will be 

supported provided that measures are taken to avoid, and where appropriate 

mitigate, negative impacts arising from the construction and operation of the 

development.   

 

2) Developers must engage with the community and local authority at an early stage 

prior to the formal submission of any proposals and large scale renewable energy 

developments shall make provision for direct community benefits over the period 

of the development.  At the end of the consented period or the cessation of energy 

generation, wind energy developments should be removed and the site 

satisfactorily restored.  

Policy Context and Relationships 

Core Strategy Policies to 
be replaced 

Env5: Renewable Energy 

Key NPPF para. links 154 

Key DPD Policy links DM30:  Wind Energy 

Evidence for Policy Exploring the Potential for Renewable Energy Development in 

Blackburn with Darwen & Hyndburn (2012) 

 

7.47 The Government’s objective of sustainable, reliable and affordable energy for all is 

developed in national policy on Climate Change which encourages the use of 

renewable and low carbon energy, including microgeneration, to supply new 

development.  Diversity in the provision of energy is considered fundamental and 

essential to maintain security of electricity supply.  Hyndburn Windfarm, on 

Oswaldtwistle Moor, represents a significant source of renewable energy, generating 

enough electricity to power over 50% of the households in Hyndburn89, and energy is 

also recovered through the combustion of landfill gas at Whinney Hill Landfill Site.   

 

7.48 In order to help increase the use and supply of renewable and low carbon energy the 

Local Plan will identify areas of search where the resource is present but where 

renewable energy development may be acceptable. Wind turbine development has 

the potential to give rise to a variety of environmental impacts as well benefits.  It is 

important that these are properly understood and assessed as part of development 

                                                           
89

 The Planning Statement submitted alongside planning application 11/09/0512 estimated that the development 
of 12 turbines would generate 72.2 million KWh of electricity, sufficient to meet the electricity requirements of the 
equivalent of 52.2% of households in Hyndburn when the application was prepared.   

Page 90



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

67 

 

proposals for renewable energy and Policy CS16 and DM30 of the Development 

Management DPD will ensure that the impacts are understood and mitigated where 

appropriate.   

 

7.49 Whilst it is recognised that renewable energy is required to help offset the impacts of 

Climate Change, the development of large windfarms will be visible from many parts 

of the Borough.  As well as ensuring the cumulative impacts of these developments 

are properly considered, the developers of all large scale renewable energy 

developments should ensure that an element of the scheme will be dedicated to the 

generation of financial support for local community projects over the lifetime of the 

scheme.  This will help compensate the community for the long term impact on one 

of the Borough’s most important environmental resources – the surrounding 

countryside and moorland.   
 

7.50 Policy DM30 of the Development Management DPD sets out in more detail the 

matters that should be taken into consideration when considering proposals for wind 

energy development in particular.  This policy also considers the approach that will 

be taken to proposals for wind energy development in the Green Belt, and the 

importance of restoring sites when renewable energy is no longer being generated or 

the development has reached the end of its consented period.  

 

Policy CS17: High Quality Design and Heritage 
 

Design 

 

1) The character and quality of Hyndburn’s urban and rural environments will be 

conserved and enhanced through high quality design consistent with the 

principles set out in other relevant policies of the Local Plan90 and more specific 

guidance documents91.  New Development must; 

i. function well and add to the overall quality of the area for the lifetime of the 

development; 

ii. be visually attractive, well laid out and must where necessary incorporate 

effective landscaping; 

iii. be sympathetic to local character and history; 

iv. establish or maintain a strong sense of place, and; 

v. create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible that promote health 

and well-being.   

 

Heritage 

                                                           
90

 Hyndburn Development Management DPD, Accrington Area  Action Plan, and Site Allocations DPD 
91

 Householder Design Guide and other Supplementary Planning Documents and Masterplans.   

Page 91



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

68 

 

 

2) The design of new development should preserve and enhance heritage assets in a 

manner proportionate to their significance, consistent with the principles set out in 

relevant policies of the Local Plan92 and other guidance93.   

3) Proposals that will result in substantial harm or less than substantial harm will be 

considered in a manner consistent with NPPF.   

4) The Council will take a positive approach to the conservation and enhancement of 

heritage in the Borough, taking into account: 

i. The need to ensure that buildings are put to a viable use, consistent with 

their conservation; 

ii. The wider social, cultural, economic and environmental benefits associated 

with conservation of the historic environment, and; 

iii. The need for new development to make a positive contribution to local 

character and distinctiveness. 

Policy Context and Relationships  

Core Strategy Policies to be replaced Env6: High Quality Design 

RA2: Historic Character and Identity 

Key NPPF para. links 124-132 

Key DPD Policy links DM22: Heritage Assets 

DM23: Demolition of Unlisted Buildings and 

Structures in Conservation Areas 

DM26: Design Quality and Materials 

Evidence for Policy  

 

7.51 The NPPF recognises that high quality design is a key aspect of sustainable 

development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps make 

development acceptable to communities.  The creation of high quality buildings and 

places is fundamental to what the planning and development process should achieve 

and the planning policy framework should clearly set out what is required from 

developers and architects.   

 

7.52 The design of major or significant developments should be an important 

consideration throughout the evolution and assessment of planning proposals and 

there should be early engagement between developers and the local authority on 

design.  In line with best practice, the Council operates a pre-application advice 

service to assist developers in the preparation of planning applications.  Proposals 

that will play a significant role in local place making will be expected to undertake a 

                                                           
92

 Hyndburn Development Management DPD, Accrington Area Action Plan 
93

 Relevant Masterplans, National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Policy Guidance 

Page 92



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

69 

 

formal "design review" which will be funded by the developer94.  Proposals that are 

poorly designed and fail to improve the character and quality of an area will not be 

supported.  Similarly, proposals to erode the design quality of approved schemes, for 

example through changes to planning conditions, will not be supported95.  Polices 

DM26 Design Quality and Materials and DM10 New Residential Development of the 

Development Management DPD set out the detailed criteria that should be satisfied 

for new development to make a positive contribution towards Hyndburn being a 

successful, sustainable and attractive place.   
 

7.53 Well-designed development can significantly assist the regeneration of an area, as 

evidenced by the West Accrington and Woodnook housing developments that have 

transformed areas once occupied by poor quality terraced houses in different ways.  

In Accrington town centre there have been a variety of schemes that, through their 

design have significantly improved the attractiveness of the area including Accrington 

Bus Station, the refurbishment and redevelopment of the Market Hall and the 

development of Tesco and the railway station.  The Tesco development in Accrington 

Town Centre has been used as an example of exemplary supermarket design96.  It is 

important that existing poorly designed buildings are not used as a reason to justify 

poor quality design in new development proposals.   
 

7.54 New development offers the opportunity to re-establish local pride in our towns 

through new landmark buildings and innovative designs.  Innovative high quality 

design will be promoted and welcomed in schemes involving landmark buildings or in 

prominent locations within the Borough.  There is great potential for new 

developments to improve the environmental quality, and quality of “place”, of these 

areas thereby improving their attractiveness and the quality of life for those who live 

and work there.  New development will also be expected to be designed in a way that 

reduces opportunities for crime, in line with the principles set out in Secure by 

Design. 

 

Heritage 

 

7.55 National planning policy asserts that heritage assets range in their value and 

significance, however all should be considered an irreplaceable resource, and should 

be conserved in a manner that is appropriate to their significance. In considering 

potential impacts on heritage assets of proposed new development, the Council will 

apply the policy framework set out in NPPF in relation to significance and harm.  
 

7.56 The Borough has a strong historic legacy of agricultural settlement followed by 

industrial growth which is at the heart of the area’s local character and identity and 

which contributes towards a strong sense of place.  Historic centres at Accrington, 

                                                           
94

 Further details set out in DM DPD Policy DM26: Design Quality and Materials 
95

 As set out in para 130 of National Planning Policy Framework.   
96

 Places Matter.   

Page 93



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

70 

 

Church, Clayton-le-Moors, Great Harwood and Oswaldtwistle; and rural settlements 

at Altham, Stanhill and Tottleworth are designated as Conservation Areas.   

 

7.57 There are 140 listed structures in Hyndburn including a Grade 1 listed manor house 

at Martholme in Great Harwood and 9 Grade II* properties.  The Borough is 

undertaking a programme of conservation area appraisals and management plans 

that will be used to ensure that the local heritage is recognised and protected.  These 

inform decisions on development proposals within or adjacent to conservation areas. 
 

7.58 The Borough’s only Scheduled Ancient Monument, Aspen Colliery and Coke Ovens, 

adjacent to the Leeds and Liverpool Canal near Church, is currently in a poor 

condition.  A conservation plan for the area has identified options and funding 

requirements97.  There is also a wealth of locally important buildings and structures 

that contribute to the value of the Borough’s cultural assets and warrant protection.  

The Council will work with other agencies and land owners to promote the protection 

and enhancement of historic buildings and features and will use the statutory powers 

it has available when appropriate.   
 

7.59 Protection, conservation and enhancement of the historic environment will support 

conservation led regeneration, exploiting the potential of the Pennine textile mill town 

heritage and traditional rural villages and market towns.   
 

7.60 As a means of seeking to enhance the built heritage of the Borough, new 

developments that involve nationally or locally important buildings will be expected to 

contribute towards their continued protection and enhancement and be designed to a 

high standard taking into consideration setting and context.  Although the level of 

protection afforded to heritage assets will be commensurate with their value, it is 

important to recognise that there are heritage assets within the Borough that are not 

designated but are of heritage value, for example the historic parkland at the 

Dunkenhalgh, Clayton-Le-Moors.  These will need to be assessed on a case by case 

basis.   
 

7.61 There is a distinctive and cohesive local townscape character across the Borough 

resulting from large scale but compact expansion of settlements during the 19th 

century; development of the Leeds and Liverpool Canal; and consistency of building 

types, detailing and use of local stone and Welsh slate.  However some older urban 

areas have suffered from economic decline, neglect and poor quality developments.  

Although loss of character and quality in buildings and public realm is evident in 

some areas and in historic centres, the presence of poor quality urban environments 

is not a reason to justify poor quality design for new developments.   

 

                                                           
97

 English Heritage.  Heritage at Risk Register 2009 North West.   

Page 94



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

71 

 

7.62 Sections 6 and 7 of the Development Management DPD includes a suite of policies 

that set out in more detail the approach that should be taken to good design and 

heritage: 

 Policy DM22 Heritage Assets 

 Policy DM23 Demolition of unlisted buildings and structures in Conservation 

Areas 

 Policy DM26 Design Quality and Materials 

 Policy DM27 The Control of Advertisements 

 Policy DM28 Shop Fronts and Security Shutters 

 Policy DM29 Environmental Amenity 

 Policy DM31 Waste Management in New Development 

 

Policy CS18: Environmental Amenity and Air Quality 
 

1) Proposals for new development will be permitted only if it is demonstrated that the 

material impacts arising by virtue of traffic, visual impact, noise, dust, emissions, 

pollution, odour, over-looking or loss of light, or other nuisances will not give rise 

to unacceptable adverse impacts or loss of local amenity and can be properly 

controlled in accordance with best practice and recognised standards.   

 

2) Proposals for new development that will generate high volumes of traffic will only 

be permitted if it is demonstrated that they will not have an unacceptable adverse 

impact on air quality.  Developments should identify opportunities to improve air 

quality or mitigate impacts through the design and management of the 

development or associated infrastructure.   

Policy Context and Relationships 

Core Strategy Policies to be replaced Env7: Environmental Amenity 

Key NPPF para. links 127 

Key DPD Policy links Policy DM29: Environmental Amenity 

Evidence for Policy Hyndburn annual Air Quality Report 

 

7.63 It is important that new residential and householder does should not have an 

unacceptable impact on the amenity or privacy of neighbouring development and 

should comply with the standards prescribed in the Council’s Householder Design 

Guide. 

 

7.64 There are many types of development that have the potential to cause nuisance or 

loss of amenity to their neighbours or result in some form of pollution.  There are 

locations that may be more sensitive to any pollution event, such as in close 

proximity to watercourses.  This policy seeks to ensure that the potential impacts 

arising from the development, or its operation, will not give rise to unacceptable 

adverse impacts on people or the environment.  Policy DM29 of the Development 

Page 95



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

72 

 

Management DPD complements this policy and provides more detail in relation to the 

approach that will be taken to assessing the acceptability of new residential 

development.   
 

7.65 In urban areas increasing concern is being expressed about the impact that 

increases in traffic are having on air quality, and in turn on the health of local 

residents.  Developments that have the potential to generate large numbers of 

vehicles should be supported by evidence that demonstrates how traffic will be 

managed and how any impacts will be mitigated, for example through traffic and 

travel management and green infrastructure provision, an approach that is advocated 

by the National Planning Policy Framework98.   
 

7.66 Although there are no Air Quality Management Areas (AQMA’s) in Hyndburn, air 

quality has previously been considered to be an issue in the vicinity of the “Hare and 

Hounds” junction at Clayton-Le-Moors.  New development that would result in a 

material increase in the number of vehicles that use that junction will be carefully 

considered to ensure that it would not result in the designation of an AQMA and that 

mitigation measures are included.   

  

 

Policy CS19: The Leeds and Liverpool Canal  
 

1) Development adjacent to, or in the vicinity of, the Leeds and Liverpool Canal will 

be expected to: 

a. Be of a high quality design that integrates the canal into the development 

proposal in a way that treats the waterway as an area of usable space;   

b. Integrate the waterway, towing path and canal environment into the public 

realm in terms of the design and management of the development; 

c. Improve access to, along and from the waterway and improve the 

environmental quality of the waterway corridor; 

d. Optimise views of water and generate natural surveillance of water space 

through the siting, configuration and orientation of buildings, recognising 

appropriate boundary treatment and access issues may differ between the 

towing path and offside of the canal, and; 

e. Improve the amenity of the canal.  Development that would have an adverse 

impact in the amenity of the canal by virtue of noise, odour or visual impact will 

not be supported. 

 

2) When off-site improvements to the canal are required these will be delivered by the 

developer through the use of “Grampian” conditions or planning obligations.   

                                                           
98

 National Planning Policy Framework, para 181.   

Page 96



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

73 

 

Policy Context and Relationships 

Core Strategy Policies 
to be replaced 

A4: The Leeds & Liverpool Canal in Church 

A6: The Leeds & Liverpool Canal in Clayton-le-Moors 

R3: The Leeds & Liverpool Canal in Rishton 

Key NPPF para. links  

Key DPD Policy links DM33: Sustainable Transport Infrastructure 

Evidence for Policy  

 

7.67 The Leeds and Liverpool Canal connects many of the industrial towns of Lancashire 

and Yorkshire to the port of Liverpool, allowing the products of the mills of the 

industrial revolution to exported around the world.  In Hyndburn the canal connects 

Rishton, Church and Clayton-Le-Moors and Hyndburn represents the half-way point, 

a location that is marked in Church.   

 

7.68 The canal provides a variety of economic, social and environmental benefits and in 

Hyndburn and Lancashire it links urban and rural communities with the wider 

landscape.  However, it is an under-utilised resource and if its potential is to be 

realised the under-used and derelict sites along its length must be redeveloped to a 

high standard and people encouraged to use the canal by ensuring it is well 

connected and related to new and existing development.  Changes in the role and 

function of canal-side land and buildings offers the opportunity for the design of new 

development or the re-use of buildings to recognise its waterside potential while 

reinstating the characteristics of local canal architecture and waterscape.   
 

7.69 It is important to recognise that new waterside developments can place extra 

liabilities and burdens on waterway infrastructure and also provides opportunity for 

this infrastructure to be improved.  When considering proposals for new development 

alongside the canal, the local authority will work with the Canals and Rivers Trust to 

ensure that the reasonable additional costs of new developments are met by the 

developer. 

 

7.70 The aim of this policy is to provide the clear design principles and expectations when 

considering development proposals alongside or in proximity to the canal.  National 

policy supports and recognises the importance of good design and in locations that 

are prominent or visible from well-used corridors this is particularly important.  

 

7.71 Development in canal-side locations must recognise the presence of the canal and 

integrate with the canal.  New development should not turn its back on the canal or 

result in poor quality frontages, for example garden fences backing onto the canal.  

With larger sites there are opportunities to introduce greenspace alongside the canal 

that can be used by people.   

 

Page 97



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

74 

 

8.0 Accessibility and Transport 

8.1 Policies in this chapter will help to achieve the following aims and objectives: 

 

Strategic Objective 3: to improve the quality of health of the residents of 

Hyndburn. 

 Developing safe residential areas and surroundings where people are at the heart 

of the design process.   

 

Strategic Objective 5: To provide easy access for all to good quality services 

and facilities 

 To work with neighbouring authorities, Lancashire County Council and Highways 

England to ensure that the M65 and A56 and their junctions have sufficient 

capacity to manage the growth planned across the sub-region and to allow 

businesses and people to connect effectively with neighbouring conurbations. 

 To ensure that new development will not have an unacceptable impact on 

highway safety and will not have a severe cumulative impact on the road network 

 Promoting more sustainable transport choices for people within the Borough by 

improving local transport networks and developing transport interchanges where 

appropriate in and around the town and local centres; 

 Providing new high quality health, education, leisure and cultural facilities in 

accessible locations; 

 Supporting the role of the market towns by directing shops and services to their 

centres and maintaining local township centres; and 

 Developing and keeping up to date an Infrastructure Delivery Plan to support 

planned growth in the Borough.  

 

8.2 At a strategic level Pennine Lancashire must be well connected to neighbouring 

areas to allow the efficient movement of goods and people in and out of the area.  As 

well as considering how this will be achieved, this section will also set out how safe 

and sustainable patterns of development will be delivered.   

 

8.3 Although stretches of the M65 motorway were opened in 1981, it was not until 1997 

that the motorway was completed.  Since that time the M65 has provided a vital 

arterial route for people and businesses in Pennine Lancashire, enabling them to 

access the M6 corridor to the west and the Greater Manchester motorway network 

via the A56.   
 

8.4 The importance of the motorway is underlined by the fact that traffic levels have been 

significantly greater than originally predicted and although some future capacity was 

planned by providing space for an additional third lane in places, there is increasing 

recognition that this is now required if the motorway is to continue to function 

efficiently and effectively.  Although works have been undertaken to improve some of 

the junctions along its length to increase capacity, J8 of M65 connects Pennine 

Lancashire with the Greater Manchester motorway network to the south via the A56 

and the improvement of this junction (albeit outside Hyndburn) is a priority.   

Page 98



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

75 

 

 

8.5 The reinstatement of the Todmorden Curve has enabled rail services between 

Manchester and Pennine Lancashire to resume, increasing accessibility in and out of 

the area.  However, rail services in and out of Pennine Lancashire remain 

constrained by the alignment of the routes and the quality of the rolling stock and 

further improvements will be necessary if rail services are to be optimised.   
 

8.6 Skilled people are more likely to relocate to areas that provide more convenient 

access to the major labour markets.  Poor connectivity is the main constraint to 

greater interaction between the economies of Pennine Lancashire and Greater 

Manchester.  Given the comparative economic strength of Manchester and its role as 

a centre for higher skills and paid employment, this is a serious weakness.  Transport 

connections between Pennine Lancashire and West Yorkshire are also severely 

constrained and the development of a new cross-Pennine motorway that connects 

into the M65 and allows businesses in Pennine Lancashire to connect with those in 

West Yorkshire could make a significant difference to the economic prosperity of the 

region.   
 

8.7 Generally speaking, there is a high level of accessibility within the urban areas of 

Hyndburn due to the compact form of the towns, the presence of radial routes into 

centres, the rail and bus network, the canal and the expanding pedestrian and cycle 

network.  This is particularly important as over 28% of households within Hyndburn 

have no access to a car, compared to around 23% in Lancashire and 26% 

nationally99.  By ensuring sites allocated in the local plan are carefully sited it is 

hoped this level of accessibility will continue.   
 

8.8 The development of sustainable transport and improvement of the strategic route 

network in Pennine Lancashire and Hyndburn will help support the following 

outcomes: 

 

 Competitiveness and Growth – By improving connectivity and ensuring 

that the places where people live are well connected to the places where 

they work by a choice of transport modes. 

 Climate Change – By seeking to reduce CO2 emissions through the 

development and promotion of more sustainable modes of travel and 

ensuring new development is in proximity to local services. 

 Equality of Opportunity – Ensuring that all sections of the community, 

particularly the most vulnerable, have access to education, employment, 

health and public services. 

 Health, Safety and Security – tackle the negative impacts of mobility by 

reducing accidents, improving personal security, promoting physical activity 

and improving air quality. 

                                                           
99

 Office for National Statistics, 2011 Census 

Page 99



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

76 

 

 Quality of Life and Natural Environment – Improved quality of life in our 

towns and respecting our high quality natural environment.  

 

Policy CS20: Connectivity and improvements to transport networks 
 

1) Proposals for the improvement of the rail network, the motorway and trunk road 

network in Hyndburn and neighbouring areas will be supported where these 

improvements are required to facilitate improvements in the capacity of the 

network necessary to facilitate the development of a healthy economy in the sub-

region.   

 

2) Proposals to improve connectivity of the towns in Hyndburn with neighbouring 

areas by road or rail will be supported provided the environmental and social 

impacts associated with the proposals are properly taken into consideration and 

mitigation measures put in place where necessary, and that they promote mobility 

and access for all.   

Policy Context and Relationships 

Core Strategy Policies to 
be replaced 

T1: Improving Connectivity 

T3: Motorway and Trunk Road Improvements 

Key NPPF para. links 102 

Key DPD Policy links DM32: Sustainable Transport, Traffic & Highway Safety 

DM33: Sustainable Transport Infrastructure 

Evidence for Policy  

 

8.9 There is clear evidence that a comprehensive and high-performing transport system 

is an important enabler of sustained economic prosperity100 and the stated economic 

objective within the National Planning Policy Framework is to help build a strong, 

responsive and competitive economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right 

types is available in the right places and the right time to support economic growth, 

innovation and improved productivity; and by identifying and coordinating the 

provision of infrastructure.   

 

8.10 The need for infrastructure also forms one of the foundations of the UK Business 

Strategy which recognises that well targeted investment can drive economic 

development, particularly when implemented as part of a wider programme of 

interventions to address the unique circumstances of each area.  Transport for the 

                                                           
100

 The Eddington Review of Transport 

Page 100



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

77 

 

North101 supports the Northern Powerhouse in recognising the need for strategic 

improvements to support transformational economic growth which in turn increases 

productivity, creates jobs and contributes towards the UK economy.  

  

8.11 The M65 corridor supports approximately 80% of Pennine Lancashire jobs within 

both the towns along its route and a number of modern, well connected employment 

sites.  The manufacturing sector is characterised by high value, high skilled jobs with 

higher than average earnings and the Strategic Economic Plan for Lancashire 

believes there is significant potential for economic growth over the period of the Core 

Strategy and beyond.  The Pennine Lancashire Growth and Prosperity Plan 2016-32 

also prioritises the need for improved connectivity and infrastructure to ensure that 

the area can support housing and employment growth and for residents and 

businesses to be well connected to neighbouring towns and cities, accruing the 

benefits of agglomeration.   
 

8.12 For this growth to take place, the area must not be constrained by the adequacy of 

the transport network and in particular the strategic highway network when there is 

no alternative.  The Pennine Lancashire economy depends on the presence of an 

effective motorway network to allow people and goods to move freely between areas.  

In the longer term the M65 will need to be widened to three lanes to accommodate 

potential growth in traffic.  When the motorway was initially constructed provision was 

made for widening at a later date.  This, and the signalisation/improvement of the 

M65 at key junctions should help ensure that it continues to operate effectively over 

the period of the Core Strategy.   
 

8.13 In recent years improvements have been undertaken to improve the capacity of J6 

and J7 of the M65 but evidence is indicating that J8 is also in need of improvement if 

it is to safely and effectively manage traffic generated from planned developments.  

Although J8 is in Burnley, the junction connects Pennine Lancashire with the Greater 

Manchester motorway network to the south via the A56, M66 and the M60/62.  There 

is no rail or alternative to road travel on this route and it is now severely over capacity 

at peak times, rendering it the most congested main route in Pennine Lancashire at 

peak times. It is clear that without improved transport links the productivity and 

wealth gap between Hyndburn and Pennine Lancashire, other partners of the City 

Region, the North West and the rest of the country will continue to widen.   
 

8.14 Rail connectivity across Pennine Lancashire is generally poor with long journey times 

to significant destinations, resulting in comparative isolation.  Although the 

reinstatement of the Todmorden Curve and the introduction of direct train services 

between Pennine Lancashire and Manchester represents a significant improvement, 

the alignment of the routes and the age of the rolling stock constrain the speed and 

                                                           
101

 Transport for the North, for more information see transportforthenorth.com   

Page 101



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

78 

 

attractiveness of the rail network and further improvements are required if the use of 

rail is to be optimised.   
 

8.15 A key element of the Core Strategy is the development of Huncoat Garden Village.  

Huncoat is in a highly accessible location in close proximity to the A56, M65 and the 

rail network and it is important that the level of growth planned at Huncoat can be 

accommodated by the strategic transport network.  Huncoat also benefits from 

having an operational railway station and the Council will work with Lancashire 

County Council, Network Rail and train operators to explore opportunities to increase 

the number of stopping trains as development takes place.   
 

8.16 The potential extension of Altham Business Park would also increase vehicular traffic 

on A6068, J8 of M65 and A56/M66, again emphasising the need to ensure that 

capacity does not constrain planned growth.  Addressing this issue is a fundamental 

priority in bringing about transformational change in the sub region and local 

authorities will work with Highways England and Lancashire County Council to 

ensure that the capacity of the strategic road network does not act as a barrier to 

growth and development.   
 

8.17 Urban areas within Hyndburn have traditionally been highly accessible and Policy 

CS1: The Spatial Development Strategy seeks to ensure that pattern continues.  The 

majority of new development will be located within the existing urban areas where 

people have ready access to local goods and services and developments will be 

expected to connect to, and improve, existing cycle, pedestrian and public transport 

routes.  Development within the centres should be proportionate to the role and scale 

of that centre to allow them to develop in a sustainable way.  Improvements to the 

highway network will be used to manage traffic effectively, relieve congestion and 

give priority to public transport where appropriate.   

 

Policy CS21: Sustainable and safe transport  
 

1) New development will be expected to be sustainable and safe, and to achieve this 

it should satisfy the following criteria: 

a. Development should be located in accessible locations where the need for 

travel will be minimised and that is accessible by a variety of modes of 

transport; 

b. Development should actively encourage sustainable travel; 

c. Development should incorporate sufficient off-street car-parking and encourage 

greater use of public transport, cycling and walking. Where off street parking is 

provided, facilities to enable electric vehicle charging should be make available; 

d. Development should ensure that the safety of highway users is properly taken 

into consideration and proposals for new residential development should be 

designed in accordance with the principles established in the Manual for 

Streets with the aim of reducing vehicle speeds to no more than 20mph and; 

e. Development should not have an unacceptable impact on the capacity of the 

Page 102



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

79 

 

highway network and where improvements are required these should be funded 

by the developer and secured through the use of appropriate legal agreements. 

 

2) Development that has an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or that has a 

severe residual cumulative impact on the road network, will not be supported. 

Policy Context and Relationships 

Core Strategy Policies to 
be replaced 

HC3: The Design of Residential Roads 

Key NPPF para. links 103 

Key DPD Policy links DM32: Sustainable Transport, Traffic & Highway Safety 

DM33: Sustainable Transport Infrastructure 

Evidence for Policy  

 

8.18 The Core Strategy seeks to ensure that development is sited in accessible locations 

that will reduce the need to travel and encourage the use of public transport, cycling 

and walking.  Accessibility is also one of the criteria that will be used when 

determining sites that will be allocated in the Site Allocations DPD.   

 

8.19 The National Planning Policy Framework expects the potential impacts of new 

development on transport networks to be properly addressed102 and where 

developments are likely to generate significant levels of traffic, proposals should be 

accompanied by evidence to demonstrate that it can be accommodated by the 

transport network and will be sustainable.  Developers will be required to undertake 

the appropriate Transport Assessments and prepare Travel Plans when submitting 

planning applications to demonstrate that new developments will not have an 

adverse impact on the highway network or highway safety.  Transport Assessments 

should be prepared in line with best practice and advice and Travel Plans should set 

out the mechanisms by which they will be implemented and monitored for the period 

of the development.   
 

8.20 The use of electric vehicles, whilst not a traditional sustainable form of travel, is a key 

way to help improve air quality and encourage more sustainability in the general 

movement of people and goods around the Borough. The NPPF refers to the need to 

ensure adequate provision of spaces for charging plug-in and other ultra-low 

emission vehicles is set out in policies103. The Council will expect that where off-

street parking is provided in commercial schemes that the need for plug-in facilities is 

taken into account. For residential schemes there will be a presumption that all 

                                                           
102

 Paragraph 102a 
103

 Paragraph 105e 

Page 103



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

80 

 

dwelling units with off-street parking should have a facility made available to ensure 

EV charging is possible. 
 

8.21 Development that is likely to have an unacceptable impact on highway safety should 

not be supported and new development should be designed to reduce the speed of 

vehicles to no more than 20mph in residential areas.  The number of fatalities and 

serious injuries to children in residential areas remains unacceptably high and can be 

reduced by improving highway safety and through the development of 

neighbourhoods designed to reduce the speed of vehicles.  Ideally, streets should be 

designed in a way that controls vehicle speeds naturally rather than having to rely on 

unsympathetic traffic calming measures.   
 

8.22 The Core Strategy also ensures that the needs of disabled people, as pedestrians, 

public transport users and motorists are taken into account in the implementation of 

planning policies and traffic management schemes and the design of individual 

developments.  The costs associated with accommodating new development 

proposals within the Borough will be met by the developer.  This will be achieved in 

consultation with the Highway Authority and through the use of “Grampian” style 

planning conditions and appropriate legal agreements.  Planning applications for 

major104 new developments should be accompanied by Transport Assessments and 

Travel Plans, consistent with Government Guidance.   
 

8.23 The requirements of this policy are developed in more detail by Policies DM32 and 

DM33 of the Development Management DPD.   

 

Policy CS22: Cycle and Footpath Networks 
 

1) Cycle, footpath and bridleway networks will be safeguarded and extended.  Where 

appropriate, contributions towards the improvement and maintenance of these 

networks will be sought from developers as a means of ensuring that new 

developments are accessible by a variety of means of transport, and improve 

access to the countryside.   

Policy Context and Relationships 

Core Strategy Policies to be replaced T2: Cycle and Footpath Networks 

Key NPPF para. links 104 

Key DPD Policy links DM33: Sustainable Transport Infrastructure 

Evidence for Policy  

                                                           
104

 Those defined by the Local Planning Authority as “major” applications.    

Page 104



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

81 

 

 

8.24 High quality, safe cycle and footpath networks are essential to reducing the number 

of short car journeys, reducing emissions and improving fitness.  Within the Borough 

approximately 70% of the journeys taken are by car and there is an opportunity to 

transfer some of these journeys to foot or bicycle.  In recent years the Borough has 

started to develop an excellent network of cycle ways, working with Lancashire 

County Council, SUSTRANS and Remade.  Part of National Cycle Route 6 runs 

within the Borough and the cycle network has linked into the towing path of the Leeds 

and Liverpool Canal.  Levels of car ownership within parts of the Borough are lower 

than average and connecting these areas to local centres via cycle routes provides 

an opportunity to improve accessibility whilst at the same time encouraging people to 

walk or cycle.   

 

8.25 Developments will be expected to link into existing cycle and pedestrian networks or 

enhance those networks, complementing the green infrastructure network.  As well 

as the Leeds and Liverpool Canal, there are also a number of disused railway lines 

within the Borough which have the potential for the development or improvement of 

cycle paths.  These linear routes provide improved access between the rural and 

urban areas of the Borough and will form part of the Green Infrastructure network for 

Hyndburn.  

 

 

Page 105



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

82 

 

9.0 Rural Issues (Green Belt and Countryside Area) 

9.1 The towns and townships of Hyndburn are set in attractive countryside with the West 

Pennine Moors to the south and west of Accrington and the rolling hills that extend 

into Ribble Valley to the north around Rishton and Great Harwood.  Approximately 

two thirds of the Borough’s rural area is designated Green Belt and this has helped to 

preserve the setting of Hyndburn’s towns and prevent them from merging into one 

another.  Recognising that the rural areas provide a valuable recreational resource 

for local residents and visitors, two local nature reserves have been designated 

immediately to the south and east of Accrington.   

 

9.2 The presence of attractive countryside immediately adjacent to the Borough’s urban 

areas represents an important recreational asset and the policies of the Core 

Strategy will seek to protect the rural areas from inappropriate development whilst at 

the same time promote access to the countryside and rural areas.  Limited 

development will be supported within Belthorn and Green Haworth that is 

proportionate to their scale and function.  The Leeds and Liverpool Canal connects 

town and country and there are numerous rights of way and cycle routes that can 

also be used to access and enjoy the Borough’s countryside. 

 

9.3 Policies in this chapter will help to achieve the following aims and objectives: 

 

Strategic Objective 4: To create a valued urban and rural environment 

 Protecting and enhancing the Borough’s existing natural, built and cultural 

heritage resource 

 

9.4 Section 7 of this document provides contextual information of the attractive 

countryside and rural areas that surround the built-up areas of the Borough. These 

areas have been protected from inappropriate development over the years by two 

different policy designations; ‘Green Belt’, a national policy designation aimed 

primarily at preserving openness and preventing coalescence of settlements; and 

‘Countryside Area’, a local designation aimed at maintaining rural character. All land 

located outside of the urban boundary is classified as one or the other. Protecting 

and maintaining the distinctiveness of these areas, and their rural character, is an 

important part of the plan-led system. Within the rural areas there are several small 

settlements and hamlets, along with numerous scattered residences and farmsteads. 

 

9.5 Paragraphs 77-79 of the NPPF provide national policy on rural housing provision. It 

states that local planning policies should respond to local circumstances and support 

housing developments that support local needs where they will enhance or maintain 

the vitality of rural communities. The NPPF also however seeks to restrict the 

development of new isolated homes in the countryside to specific circumstances set 

out in paragraph 79. Paragraphs 83-84 cover the rural economy, and similarly 

promote development that will meet local business and community needs only.  

 

Page 106



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

83 

 

9.6 Green Belt is a national policy designation designed to prevent urban sprawl by 

keeping land permanently open, and paragraphs 133-147 of the NPPF deal with 

protecting Green Belt land. The majority of the urban area in Hyndburn is surrounded 

by Green Belt, the general extent of which was established in the late 1970s/early 

1980s with 54% of the land area in the Borough (almost 4,000 hectares) designated. 
 

9.7 Since Green Belt was designated in Hyndburn it has not been subject of a review 

and given some of the important changes that have taken place in the Borough over 

that time, for example the development of the M65, a review has been undertaken as 

part of this Core Strategy.  The aim of this is to ensure that the boundaries of the 

Green Belt are appropriate and will endure beyond the plan period.  National 

planning policy confirms that, once established, Green Belt boundaries may only be 

altered where exceptional circumstances are fully evidenced and justified, through 

the preparation or updating of local plans.  

 

Policy CS23: Development in rural areas 
 

1) The Council will apply a general presumption against proposals for new 

development in rural areas105, unless in accordance with Policy CS1: The Spatial 

Development Strategy106. 

 

2) Development in rural areas will be limited to that supporting farm diversification 

and/or promoting leisure and recreational facilities where this can be 

demonstrated to retain rural and landscape character, and is in line with Policy 

CS1 and Development Management Policy DM34. 

 

3) Proposals for renewable energy within identified areas of search will be 

considered under Policy CS16: Renewable Energy.  
 

4) The Council will identify safeguarded land on the Policy Map that lie between the 

urban boundary and areas of Green Belt or countryside area. Safeguarded land is 

to be protected from development during the current plan period, but is identified 

as land to meet potential longer-term development needs beyond.  

Policy Context and Relationships 

Core Strategy Policies to be 
replaced 

RA1: Amount and distribution of development in rural 

areas 

Key NPPF para. links 77-79, 83-84, 133-142 

                                                           
105

 areas outside of the defined urban boundary on the Policy Map 
106

 Policy CS1 identifies the Growth Strategy for the Main and Small Villages. Belthorn and Green Haworth are to 
be identified as inset settlements on the Policy Map due to their scale and location relative to other settlements. 

Page 107



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

84 

 

Key DPD Policy links Policy CS1: The Spatial Development Strategy 

Policy CS16: Renewable Energy 

DM34: Development in the Green Belt and Countryside 

Area 

DM35: Farm Diversification and Local Food Networks 

DM36: Equestrian Development 

Evidence for Policy Green Belt Assessment (2018) 

 

9.8 The Council will define an urban boundary on the Policy Map which will define the 

‘rural areas’ for the purpose of this policy. Areas outside of the defined urban 

boundary will be considered as rural. Settlement boundaries for the Main Village of 

Belthorn and the Small Village of Green Haworth will be identified on the Policy Map 

but they will be considered inset settlements for the purposes of policy and the NPPF 

as the Green Belt or Countryside Area designation will wash over the settlement. As 

such only small scale development (Belthorn) or limited infilling (Green Haworth) in 

line with Policies CS1 and DM34 of the Development Management DPD would be 

permitted in these locations, in addition to the exceptions for development permitted 

in other locations in the rural areas.  

 

9.9 Policy CS1: The Spatial Development Strategy confirms amendments to the Green 

Belt will likely be necessary to accommodate strategic allocations (at Huncoat and 

along the M65 corridor for employment) to assist the delivery of brownfield sites 

currently located within the Green Belt, and to safeguard land for beyond the current 

plan period. Locations will be confirmed at Regulation 19 consultation stage. 

  

9.10 In the event that land is removed from the Green Belt, the urban boundary will be 

modified accordingly. The Council will be seeking additional suitable land to consider 

for longer-term development needs beyond the plan period. The NPPF is clear that, 

when looking at amending Green Belt boundaries in a Local Plan, local authorities 

should be able to demonstrate that they will not need to be altered again at the end 

of the plan period. Safeguarded land between the urban area and the Green Belt will 

be identified to meet long-term development needs stretching well beyond this plan 

period. This will ensure that the Green Belt in Hyndburn has permanence.  
 

9.11 Development proposed outside of the inset settlements will be restricted to ensure 

that rural and landscape character can be preserved. Exceptions where development 

will be permitted are set out in Policy DM34, and in addition proposals for renewable 

energy located in an identified area of search and subject to satisfying other relevant 

policies of the plan. 

 

Page 108



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

85 

 

10.0 The Local Plan Areas 
 

10.1 The Core Strategy identifies nine different Local Plan areas, reflecting the specific 

characteristics and challenges of the towns and settlements of Hyndburn. An 

overview map of these is set out in the Introduction, specifically under Hyndburn 

2036 – The Core Strategy.  

 

10.2 This section sets out a specific area based policy for each of the nine areas, setting 

out 

 each area’s proposed growth over the plan period 

 some contextual information on the key features of each area 

 how each area has evolved and developed until now; and  

 the future proposed development strategy and priorities 

 

10.3 The Local Plan Areas are in the most part aligned directly to individual or groups of 

ward boundaries. The exception to this is the Knuzden & Whitebirk area that bisects 

two Hyndburn ward boundaries (Rishton and St. Oswald’s). Table 10.1 sets out the 

key characteristics of each area. 

 

Local Plan area key characteristics 

 

Local Plan 
Area 

Electoral 
Wards 

Existing
107

 

population 

Existing 

homes
108

 

Key 
employment 
Areas 

Retail / 
commercial 
centres 

Accrington 
Central 

Barnfield, 
Central, 
Milnshaw, 
Peel,  
Spring Hill 

 24,782 10,705 Accrington 
Town Centre, 
Huncoat 
Business Park 

 

Accrington (Tier 1 
Strategic Town 
Centre); Whalley 
Road (Laneside) 
and Woodnook (Tier 
4 Neighbourhood 
Centres) 

Baxenden  Baxenden 3,966 
 

1,761 - Baxenden  
(Tier 4 
Neighbourhood 
Centres) 

Church Church  5,020 2,014 - Church (Blackburn 
Road) (Tier 4 
Neighbourhood 
Centre) 

Clayton le 
Moors and 
Altham 

Clayton le 
Moors, 
Altham 

9,715 4,419 Junction 7 
Business Park, 
Altham 
Business Park, 
Petre Road 
Business Park,  

Clayton le Moors 
(Tier 3 Local 
Centre), Whalley 
Road, Enfield (Tier 
4 Neighbourhood 
Centre) 

                                                           
107

 2016 MYE’s, total pop = 80,410 
108

 Hyndburn Ward Profiles (published 2017/18) 

Page 109



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

86 

 

Local Plan 
Area 

Electoral 
Wards 

Existing
107

 

population 

Existing 

homes
108

 

Key 
employment 
Areas 

Retail / 
commercial 
centres 

Moorfield 
Industrial Estate 

Great Harwood Netherton, 
Overton 

10,851 5,058 Heys Lane 
Business Park  

Great Harwood 
(Tier 2 Town 
Centre) 

Huncoat Huncoat 4,738 1,931 - 
 

Huncoat (Tier 3 
Local Centre) 

Rishton Rishton 
(excluding 
Whitebirk) 

6,354 
 

3,054 - Rishton (Tier 3 
Local Centre) 

Oswaldtwistle Immanuel, 
St. Andrew’s, 
and St. 
Oswald’s 
(excluding 
Knuzden) 

12,749 6,197 
 

Brookside 
Business Centre 

Oswaldtwistle (Tier 
2 Town Centre), 
West End (Tier 4 
Neighbourhood 
Centre, and 
Oswaldtwistle Mills 
(Other Commercial 
Location) 

Knuzden and 
Whitebirk 

Rishton 
(part), St 
Oswald’s 
(part) 

2,015 892 Frontier 
Business Park 

Peel Centre 
(Whitebirk) (Other 
Commercial 
Location)  

 

10.4 Growth figures presented in the Local Plan Area policies should be considered 

indicative at this stage. The Council will seek to identify sufficient sites within the 

specific Local Plan area in the Site Allocations DPD. Where sufficient, sustainable 

sites are not proven to be available or suitable following further consideration through 

the Site Allocations DPD then additional sites located close by in adjoining areas may 

be sought. 
 

10.5 The Council has prepared a Growth Option and Spatial Option justification paper 

setting out further reasoning for selection of the level and distribution of growth 

planned for both housing and employment. This will be published alongside the other 

consultation material. More specific delivery figures along with infrastructure 

requirements relevant to specific sites will be highlighted at the Regulation 19 

consultation stage. This will be possible pending conclusion of the Huncoat 

Masterplanning work and consideration of site availability (in the Site Allocations 

DPD) and responses to this consultation.  

 

10.6 These policies should be read alongside the strategic topic based policies set out in 

Sections 4-9 of the Core Strategy.  
 

Policy CS24: Accrington (Central) 
 

1) The Council will seek to identify land for delivery of up to 950 homes in Accrington 

(Central) over the plan period 2016-2036.  

Page 110



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

87 

 

 

2) Alongside new housing provision, the Council will continue to support 

regeneration and grant schemes that help improve the quality and use of the 

existing housing stock in areas of high vacancy and low demand.  
 

3) The role of Accrington Town Centre as the strategic retail and service hub for the 

Borough will be consolidated and enhanced through new investment and town 

centre management over the plan period. 

Policy Context: 

Core Strategy Policies 
to be replaced 

A1: Amount and Distribution of Housing in Accrington 

A2: Accrington Town Centre 

 

10.7 Accrington (Central) area is the largest populated of the nine Local Plan areas and 

forms the main nucleus of the Borough, comprising Accrington Town centre and its 

immediate surrounding area. 

 
10.8 The town developed historically at western edge of the Pennine moors, focussed 

around the Hyndburn Brook which was culverted at an early point in the expansion of 
the town.  The centre sits within a low basin as the surrounding areas rise up to 
heights of around 200m.   
 

10.9 Prior to the industrialisation of the town, spinning, weaving and coal mining formed 

the basis of the area’s activities.  The Central area is predominantly urban in nature, 

with a gridiron street pattern of terraced housing radiating outwards from the town 

centre which testify to the town’s rapid expansion during the industrial period.  These 

terraced houses were typically constructed around former mill complexes at 

Scaitcliffe, Spring Hill, Woodnook, Broad Oak, Milnshaw and Laneside some of which 

still remain in operation today and which acknowledge the town’s industrial heritage 

as a textile town and manufacturing town.  Many of them however, have now been 

redeveloped as the manufacturing base has declined and some are various 

alternative uses (e.g. around “Factory Bottoms”).  Due to the central location of this 

area accessibility by all modes of transport is generally high and this has been 

enhanced in recent years with improvements to the rail station and the development 

of a new bus station. 
 

10.10 The parish church of St James, built in 1763 prior to the industrial revolution and 

thought to have replaced a former chapel on the site, was an early focal point in the 

town.  It now sits within the town centre conservation area.  The town centre 

developed rapidly in the industrial era and has a legacy of Victorian buildings, some 

of which are included in the town centre conservation area. Notable buildings include 

the Carnegie Library, the Town Hall, the Market Hall and the Victorian Arcade. 
 

10.11 In the 20th Century, expansion of the town continued outwards and upwards with 

development of housing areas at Laneside, Sandy Lane and Fern Gore.  More 

modern manufacturing premises were built at the Huncoat industrial estate, which 

Page 111



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

88 

 

despite its name, is located in the Central Area.  This is now home to some large 

employers including Senator and Benson’s Beds.  Other large employers in the 

Central Area  include Caligen Foam at Broad Oak, BT Contact Centre at the Globe 

Works along with major retail outlets such as ASDA and TESCO. 
 

10.12 The Central area also provides some of the major services to the wider borough and 

beyond such as secondary and further education at the Accrington and Rossendale 

College, Accrington Academy and Mount Carmel High School.  Health services are 

provided at the Accrington and Victoria Hospital and the Oak House Medical Centre 

and there is a range of retail and other services within the Central Area including the 

strategic town centre and the Whalley Road and Woodnook Neighbourhood centres. 
 

10.13 Despite its dense urban grain, the Central Area is served by a well linked open space 

network. Assets include the Hyndburn Greenway which runs through Platts Lodge, a 

linear path forming part of the National Cycle Network and links to the Woodnook 

Vale Nature Reserve. Bullough Park, Oak Hill Park (which includes the Accrington 

Pals memorial) and Higham’s Playing Fields are also all important open spaces in 

the area and there are links to the Coppice and wider countryside to the east of the 

town. 

 
The development strategy for Accrington (Central) 

 

10.14 In identifying future sites for development, where possible, sites will be identified 

within the existing urban boundary of Accrington (Central) to meet the delivery of up 

to 950 homes. Where there are not sufficient suitable, available and achievable sites 

within the urban boundary, the Council will consider sites in the Countryside Area to 

the east of Accrington.  

 

10.15 The regeneration of older housing and employment areas to help support sustainable 

communities will be a priority for the Council over the plan period where grant funding 

or partnership working can be achieved. This will build upon work undertaken in 

recent years in both the Woodnook and Blackburn Road areas of Accrington (as well 

as elsewhere in the Borough such as Rishton) with improvement works and facelifts 

to properties in Woodnook the primary focus during 2019. 

 

10.16 Accrington (Central) area also incorporates the Strategic Town Centre in the 

Borough. Due to the particularly high population densities surrounding it, the local 

population’s accessibility to services is high in this area.  The Council will seek to 

locate new development in locations that can best serve to protect and enhance the 

vitality and viability of the town centre over the plan period.  The Accrington Area 

Action Plan provides more detailed Local Plan policies for the town centre area itself. 

 

 

Policy CS25: Baxenden 
 

Page 112



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

89 

 

1) The Council will seek to identify land for delivery of up to 140 homes in Baxenden 

over the plan period 2016-2036.  

 

2) Baxenden Neighbourhood Centre will be supported to continue its function 

providing basic, essential needs to local residents over the plan period.  

Policy Context: 

Core Strategy Policies to be replaced None 

 

10.17 Baxenden lies to the south-east of the Borough, rising to a height of over 200metres 

above sea level and extending up to the boundary with Rossendale Borough.  The 

main built up area is focussed along and adjacent to Manchester Road; a principal 

route linking Accrington with the adjacent area of Rossendale at Rising Bridge and 

beyond to the strategic road and motorways network giving access to the wider area. 

 

10.18 The name is thought to be derived from an old English name likely to mean “valley of 

the bakestones”.  Originally a farming community, the development of the area 

primarily took place during the industrial revolution.  The development of coal mining, 

quarrying, mills and print works in this era saw a considerable increase in population 

and associated urban development, focussed along and adjacent to Manchester 

Road.  At this time the “village” retained some degree of separation and was well 

served by a number of shops and community facilities which grew with the 

associated growth in population and industry.  The current road through the area was 

the last road built by Blind Jack Metcalf o’ Knaresborough and was completed in 

1791 with the old road becoming what is now known as Back Lane and Hollins Lane.  

It was one of the most challenging roads he built and he made a loss of £40 on a 

contract worth £3500109 
 

10.19 Baxenden expanded considerably in the post war period with the development of 

land to the east and west of Manchester Road, forming the Southwood Drive estate, 

the development of Whitecroft Farm, and areas around Newton Drive, Hollins Lane, 

Laund Clough, Haworth Avenue and Bamford Crescent.  Further expansion of the 

area is currently constrained by Green Belt and Countryside designations and the 

topography of the area.  Although the area retains its individual identity and 

community, physically its expansion has brought about coalescence with 

neighbouring Accrington.   
 

10.20 Baxenden is surrounded by open countryside to the east and west providing 

residents with significant accessible natural greenspace on their doorstep; the 

Hyndburn greenway and Woodnook Vale Local Nature Reserve (one of the largest in 

Lancashire) to the west, and more informal open countryside to the east rising 

                                                           
109

 Wikipaedia.   

Page 113

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/John_Metcalf_(civil_engineer)


Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

90 

 

towards the moorland fringes.  Today, Baxenden has a population of 4,072 residents 

who reside in 1,761 homes. 

 
The development strategy for Baxenden 

 

10.21 Whilst being the smallest of the Local Plan areas in both population and number of 

households, there are very limited services available locally to residents.  Allocation 

of sites for the provision of up to140 new homes over the plan period, together with 

planning decisions on other applications, will help to support the Neighbourhood 

Centre of Baxenden110 to maintain its function of providing essential needs to local 

residents, helping to reduce the need to travel.   

 

 

Policy CS26: Church 
 

1) The Council will seek to identify land for delivery of up to 200 homes in Church 

over the plan period 2016-2036.  
 

2) Opportunities to regenerate the Church Oswaldtwistle Gateway area will be 

pursued in line with the adopted or revised Church Oswaldtwistle Gateway SPD. 

 

3) Church (Blackburn Road) Neighbourhood Centre will be supported to continue its 

function providing basic, essential needs to local residents over the plan period.  

Policy Context: 

Core Strategy Policies to be replaced A4: The Leeds and Liverpool Canal in Church 

 

10.22 Church lies about a mile to the west of Accrington town centre. Though small in area, 

covering a single electoral ward, its characteristics vary considerably, in part a result 

of its long history. The settlement first developed in medieval times with sheep 

farming and home weaving prior to the growth of a mill based industrial economy in 

the 18th century. Church played a major role in technological developments of calico 

printing, bleaching, dyeing and chemicals into the early 19th century. The canal 

arrived at this time, followed by the turnpike road and railway, creating an important 

transport node. 

 

10.23 The canal was then central to growth during the 19th century with mills, warehouses 

and works built along its banks. Terraced housing close to works created a dense 

urban settlement bordered by the canal and an open rural aspect to the north. 

Decline in traditional industries, the proximity to a major chemical plant and clearance 

                                                           
110

 to be identified in the Site Allocations DPD 

Page 114



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

91 

 

for highway works at the Church Oswaldtwistle Gateway have resulted in vacancy 

and dereliction for some parts of Church. 
 

10.24 Today some significant employers remain in the area taking advantage of the close 

proximity to the M65, including: Express Gifts, Emerson and Renwick; and Blythes 

Chemicals. The presence of Blythes does however continue to form a major 

constraint to redevelopment in parts of Church. A Health and Safety Executive 

hazardous substances consent remains in place, and an associated consultation 

zone places strict limitations on the types of development permitted in the area. In 

the event that consent is revoked during the period of the Core Strategy, the Council 

will consider opportunities for widespread regeneration of the site through revision of 

the Supplementary Planning Document for the area, referred to as the Church 

Oswaldtwistle Gateway SPD (2006). 
 

The development strategy for Church 

 

10.25 The Council will seek to allocate sites to deliver up to 200 new homes over the plan 

period within the Church Local Plan area, regenerating locations adjacent to the 

Leeds Liverpool Canal where possible. 

 

10.26 Options for the potential expansion of the strategic employment hub located at 

Junction 7 of the M65 will be considered. Whilst existing employment locations lie 

north of the M65111, land put forward both north and south of the M65 will be 

considered as part of any expansion. If a southern extension is progressed this may 

border Church and further details will be provided under this area policy at the 

Publication Regulation 19 consultation. 

 

 

Policy CS27: Clayton-le-Moors and Altham 
 

1) The Council will seek to identify land for delivery of up to 350 homes in Clayton-le-

Moors (incl. Altham) over the plan period 2016-2036.  

 

2) The Council may support the expansion of the strategic employment hubs at 

Altham Business Park and Junction 7 Business Park as strategic employment 

allocations – to be confirmed at Regulation 19 consultation stage. 

 

3) Clayton-le-Moors Local Centre will be supported to continue its function providing 

basic, essential needs to local residents over the plan period.  

Policy Context: 

                                                           
111

 Junction 7 and Petre Road Business Parks 

Page 115



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

92 

 

Core Strategy Policies to 
be replaced 

A3: Development of Local Centres in Accrington 

A6: The Leeds and Liverpool Canal in Clayton-le-Moors 

 

10.27 Clayton-le-Moors lies just 2 miles north of Accrington centre.  Altham lies to the north 

east, Church to the south east, Rishton to the west and Great Harwood to the north-

west.  Clayton-Le-Moors and Altham together have a population of approximately 

10,200 residents who live in around 4,400 homes. Whilst in close proximity to 

Accrington, Clayton-le-Moors remains a distinct township, providing a sustainable 

mix of housing, major employment locations and leisure facilities112. 

 

10.28 The first reference to Clayton-le-Moors was in 1243 when the area was known as 

Clayton derived from the Old English words ‘clasy’ and ‘ton’ meaning a settlement on 

clay soil.  By 1284 it had become Clayton super Moras, meaning ‘high tract of barren 

land’ referring to the high ground between Accrington and Great Harwood.   
 

10.29 Like many townships in the North West, Clayton-le-Moors experienced a large 

growth period in the 1800’s thanks to the textile industry.  Calico printing dominated 

Clayton-le-Moors’ early industry, but soap was also made locally, principally the 

famous Dr Lovelace’s floating soap.  Mercer House, located in Mercer Park, is the 

former home of John Mercer who invented a process used to strengthen cotton 

thread known as “mercerisation” that is still used today.  The area has a strong 

industrial heritage and this is reflected by the large number of former mills and the 

presence of a conservation area in the centre of Clayton-le-Moors.   
 

10.30 The largest industrial site is the former GEC works that is located on Blackburn Road 

in close proximity to J7 of the M65 motorway, referred to as Junction 7 Business 

Park. Together with the adjacent Petre Road Business Park, this area represents a 

significant strategic employment hub in Hyndburn.   

 

10.31 The majority of residential properties within the neighbourhood are pre 1919 

terraced. There are also several new housing developments together with mixed 

business units.  The ‘top’ end of Clayton was known as Henfield or Enfield where 

mining was one of the main industries.  The ‘lower’ part towards Great Harwood was 

known as ‘Oakenshaw’ and there were a number of Mills developed along the bottom 

of the valley.   
 

10.32 The town’s main thoroughfare is Whalley Road, which still has canal workers 

cottages along its route and which connects Clayton-le-Moors with Great Harwood 

and Ribble Valley to the north, and Accrington to the south.  Congestion on Whalley 

Road during peak hours is a significant concern to the local community and the 

impacts of any planned growth on the highway network will be carefully assessed 

                                                           
112

 including the Wilsons Playing Fields, Mercer Park, and the Leeds and Liverpool Canal 

Page 116



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

93 

 

and managed. Further details will be available following further transport evidence 

base work to be undertaken prior to the Publication stage of the plan at Regulation 

19. 
 

10.33 The M65 crosses the Neighbourhood Plan area in an east-west direction providing 

ready access to Burnley and Pendle to the east and Blackburn/Preston/M6 corridor 

to the west.  Where Whalley Road crosses the M65 is often referred to as the Hare 

and Hounds Junction, and remains a particular congestion hotspot in the Borough 

despite some junction improvements works recently in relation to the Pennine Reach 

scheme.  

 

10.34 Altham lies to the east of Clayton, bordering with both Ribble Valley and Burnley. 

Whilst originally a small village, and still home to a very small resident population, it is 

now home to a very successful business park113 the largest single employment 

location in the Borough. Development at Altham first began in the 1980s, and it 

continues to expand today. Altham has good access to the motorway at Junction 8 of 

the M65, and forms part of a wider cluster of business parks in this location, including 

Time Technology Park (Ribble Valley) and Shuttleworth Mead Business Park 

(Burnley). 
 

10.35 Whinney Hill quarry and household waste site is also located within this area and is 

of strategic significance to Lancashire County Council being the largest operational 

household waste site in the county. The Minerals and Waste Local Plan provides the 

planning policy direction for the site. Hyndburn Council anticipates Whinney Hill to 

remain in operation for the large duration of this plan period. Its future role will be 

reviewed in future Core Strategy Reviews as a clearer timeframe for use of the site 

materialises. 

 

The development strategy for Clayton-Le-Moors and Altham 

 

10.36 The Council will seek to allocate land to deliver up to 350 new homes over the plan 

period within the Clayton-le-Moors (incl. Altham) Local Plan area.  The area of Green 

Belt between Clayton-le-Moors and Great Harwood is identified as a very narrow 

gap, and playing a particularly strong contribution to the purposes of Green Belt in 

the Green Belt Review (2018).  As the primary purpose of Green Belt in east 

Lancashire was to prevent settlements from merging, the Council will seek to 

maintain this gap over the plan period. 

 

10.37 Expansion of the strategic employment hubs around Junction 7 of the M65 and at 

Altham Business Park will be explored further prior to the Publication stage of the 

plan. Sites both north and south of Junction 7 have been put forward to be 

considered for employment development, with land to the south of Altham Business 

                                                           
113

 major employers include Coach House Antiques, Senator International, Simon Jersey, What More 

Page 117



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

94 

 

Park being put forward as well. Further details will be set out in the Site Allocations 

DPD of the specific sites being considered and information on initial site assessment 

work that has been undertaken to date.  

 

 

Policy CS28: Great Harwood 
 

1) The Council will seek to identify land for delivery of up to 460 homes in Great 

Harwood over the plan period 2016-2036.  

 

2) New development will be focused within the existing urban boundary. An ‘Area of 

Change’ identified to the east of the town centre will accommodate a significant 

part of the planned housing growth, alongside other supporting uses.  

 

3) Great Harwood Town Centre will continue to function as a historic market town 

providing key local services and specialist/local shopping facilities for the 

northern part of the Borough.  

Policy Context: 

Core Strategy Policies to 
be replaced 

GH1: Housing in Great Harwood 

GH2: Great Harwood Town Centre 

 

10.38 Great Harwood is located at the northern edge of the district of Hyndburn, bordering 

the Ribble Valley and set within the beautiful and dynamic scenery of the Pennine 

Moors.  Great Harwood is a historic market town which stands in open countryside, 

designated as Green Belt.  It is one of the few Pennine Lancashire towns that retains 

its historic market character and is an up and coming, prospering area.  The town 

has an industrial heritage and in many respects the growth of its industry closely 

parallels that of other areas of Hyndburn, particularly that of Oswaldtwistle.  Cotton 

weaving underpinned the town’s growth and the decline of that industry in the 20th 

century meant that there was a need to find new industries.  At one time, the town 

had 22 mills producing a variety of cotton based products and it was thought that 

there were more looms in the town than residents. 

 

10.39 Great Harwood town centre has a diverse range of shops and services including a 

library, Sure Start Centre and community and youth facilities with leisure facilities at 

Mercer Hall.  There are a number of independent retailers and the development of 

new supermarkets to the east of the town centre is likely to increase the 

attractiveness of the town and reduce the need for residents to travel further afield for 

their shopping.  Education provision in Great Harwood comprises of a number of 

primary schools although secondary education is only available in nearby Rishton 

and Accrington, not in the town itself.  
 

10.40 The town is no longer connected to the railway and is further from the M65 than other 

towns in the Hyndburn, making it less accessible to the M65 corridor to south.  

Page 118



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

95 

 

Accessibility has been improved by the Pennine Reach quality bus scheme that 

connects Great Harwood with Rishton, Blackburn, Clayton-Le-Moors and Accrington.  

Pennine Reach also connects with local bus services and the strategic employment 

site at Whitebirk.  The town is connected to the national cycle route via Rishton and it 

is proposed to connect the route to Padiham.  
 

10.41 The town has a population of around 11,800 and has a higher proportion of older 

people than other parts of the Borough.  The east of the town also exhibits a higher 

proportion of people in the under 16 age bands which may be attributed to the above 

average Black and Minority Ethnic population who have a larger household size.  

There are just over 5,000 existing homes in Great Harwood and the town benefits 

from having a wide variety of housing types and areas, with a large proportion of both 

terraced and detached properties.  Great Harwood also benefits from having some 

areas of large detached family homes.  Notwithstanding this, there are a number of 

areas within the town that experience high levels of deprivation and experience poor 

environmental quality.  
 

10.42 The majority of the employment areas outside the town centre are to the south and 

east.  There are a mixture of older mill premises along the former railway line and 

newer industrial units on land off Heys Lane on Alan Ramsbottom Way.  Although 

there are a number of larger manufacturing, waste and heavier industrial uses in 

Great Harwood, the town is better suited to B1 (Office) uses, lighter industrial 

development, starter units and small enterprises.  Although the Town Hall was 

recently converted to office starter units, there are comparatively few good quality 

office developments in the town.  Accessibility, particularly by heavy goods vehicles, 

is constrained by the adequacy of the existing highway network and it would not be 

desirable to direct heavy goods vehicles towards the town when better sites for more 

traditional employment uses exist.  Where proposals would involve the 

redevelopment of older mill premises consideration should be given to relocating 

those businesses that would be displaced. 
 

The development strategy for Great Harwood 

 

10.43 A lower relative level of growth is proposed in Great Harwood owing to its 

comparatively poor connections to the strategic road and rail network, the fact that it 

does not benefit from having a secondary school and the fact that the town is closely 

bounded by Green Belt.  

 

10.44 Sites will be allocated to help deliver up to 460 new homes over the plan period to 

2036, focused within the existing urban boundary of the town. A significant number of 

homes have already been granted planning permission at Lyndon Park (off Harwood 

Lane), which forms part of an ‘Area of Change’ for Great Harwood. Further sites will 

be identified through the Site Allocations DPD, alongside supporting uses such as 

small-scale employment and/or retail. The Council will seek to ensure that a 

development brief is prepared during the first five years of the Core Strategy to help 

avoid piecemeal development in the area. 

Page 119



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

96 

 

 

10.45 The Town Centre is identified as a Tier 2 centre in the retail hierarchy and plays an 

important role in supporting the town’s residents needs along with its wider rural 

hinterland. The Council will support its role as a key service centre for the north of the 

Borough through planning decisions. 

 

Policy CS29: Huncoat 
 

1) The Council will seek to identify land for delivery of between 1000 and 1500 homes 

in Huncoat over the plan period 2016-2036114. The majority of new development will 

be focused within the Huncoat Garden Village area as set out in Policy CS2. 

 

2) The Council will support improvements to service provision, through creation of a 

new Local Centre at Huncoat, and improvements to accessibility to the 

countryside, including to the Peel Park Local Nature Reserve115. 

Policy Context: 

Core Strategy Policies to 
be replaced 

A7: Housing in Huncoat 
A8: Strategic Employment Site at Huncoat 

A9: Whinney Hill Link Road 

Key DPD Policy links CS2: Huncoat Garden Village 

 

10.46 Huncoat is located on the eastern side of Accrington close to the Borough’s boundary 

with Burnley and in close proximity to the M65 and A56, on land that gradually slopes 

upwards to Great Hameldon (1,340ft).  Although the ward is named after the village 

of Huncoat, there are several residential areas on the edge of the ward boundary that 

cannot be considered part of the village but are nonetheless within the area of the 

ward.  These areas are in proximity to Peel and are close to Peel Park and along 

Burnley Road.   

 

10.47 The village can trace its origins to the survey of England produced by William the 

Conqueror contained within the Doomsday Book.  The name is of Anglo-Saxon origin 

where “Hun” or “Hunna” was a family name and “Cotte” is an Old English name for a 

shelter for small animals.  In medieval times Huncoat was the cross-roads for two 

packhorse trade routes but industrial revolution brought industry and jobs to the area 

which has seen steady growth since the start of the 19th Century.   
 

                                                           
114

 If the masterplan identifies more than 1,500 homes these would likely be delivered beyond the plan period of 
2036 
115

 the Peel Park Local Nature Reserve is one of the largest in Lancashire and a green infrastructure asset of 
strategic significance to the Borough 

Page 120



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

97 

 

10.48 The Leeds and Liverpool Canal reached Huncoat in 1801 and was completed in 

1816.  This was the longest canal in England and its completion heralded the 

development of new cotton mills and collieries along its length.  Huncoat Colliery was 

opened in 1885 when the first shaft was sunk to a depth of 850 feet.  Production at 

the colliery peaked in 1956 when 1,300 tons of coal were mined in one day.  The 

colliery closed in 1968 and it is estimated that there was over 1 million tons of coal 

remaining to be worked.   
 

10.49 Huncoat continued to grow into the 20th Century.  Between the two world wars the 

corridor alongside the railway line was heavily industrialised with collieries, coke 

works and brick yards.  Three collieries (Broadmeadows at Huncoat, Moorfield at 

Altham, and Whinney Hill), two coke works and Nori Brickworks were all linked 

together by a network of mineral lines connecting with the mainline railway both at 

Huncoat and Within Grove.  A viaduct on eight piers spanned Clough Brook and the 

lane to Holker House.   
 

10.50 Shortly after the Second World War the decision was taken to build a coal fired 

power station at Huncoat on land immediately south of the railway and east of the 

colliery.  However, the power station ceased generating electricity in 1984 and in 

1988 the cooling towers were demolished, most of the remaining buildings 

demolished two years later.  The site of the former power station was allocated in the 

Hyndburn Local Plan 1996 for employment uses and remains part of the strategic 

employment site that is identified in the existing Core Strategy and is being 

considered further in the Huncoat Garden Village masterplan.    
 

10.51 It is Huncoat’s location on major transportation routes that has shaped its past 

(Leeds and Liverpool Canal) and it is its location close to the M65 and A56(T) that 

remains so important today.  It also benefits from having a railway station (with 

services on the line recently being improved through completion of the Todmorden 

Curve).  Manchester and Preston City centres are a 30 minute drive away and there 

is ready access to the M6 corridor and motorway routes around Manchester and 

towards Leeds and Liverpool. 
 

10.52 The population of Huncoat is around 4,700.  In 1777 there were approximately 200 

people living in the settlement, a figure that had increased to 480 by the start of the 

18th Century.  The population steadily increased through the 19th Century, recorded 

as 980 in the 1881 census and 1500 in 1911.  Huncoat has a high proportion of 

people in the 30 to 60 age bands and low levels of younger and older people.  The 

Huncoat area has a high proportion of families with younger children households and 

a large number of people of working age in work.   
 

10.53 Peel Park and the Coppice, one of Accrington’s most prominent and well known land 

marks, are in the west of the ward.   
 

The development strategy for Huncoat 

 

Page 121



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

98 

 

10.54 Huncoat is the only part of the Borough containing sites within the existing urban 

area that provide opportunities for larger scale housing and/or employment 

development in an accessible location. Details of the proposed Huncoat Garden 

Village, a strategic priority for the Council, are set out in Policy CS2: Huncoat Garden 

Village. The Council will ensure that a new Local Centre, providing supporting 

services such as a new school, GP surgery, pharmacy and local food store, is 

provided as part of the development of Huncoat. This should address existing 

deficiencies in service provision in the area and cater for demand arising from new 

developments. 

 

10.55 In addition to the specific policy aspirations relating to the Huncoat Garden Village, 

the Council will also seek improvements to, and accessibility to, the recently 

designated Peel Park Local Nature Reserve, as well as to other parts of the 

countryside linked to the planned growth in the area116. 
 

10.56 Whilst the majority of new development will take place within the designated Housing 

Zone at Huncoat, the Huncoat Local Plan area covers a wider boundary, extending 

further south and west towards Accrington. Some additional development may 

therefore take place on sites outside of the currently designated Housing Zone. Sites 

to be allocated will be set out in the Site Allocations DPD. 

 

Policy CS30: Rishton 
 

1) The Council will seek to identify land for delivery of up to 490 homes in Rishton 

over the plan period 2016-2036.   

 

2) Regeneration of the Leeds and Liverpool Canal corridor in Rishton will be a 

priority to provide for a range of housing. All new housing developments should 

seek to enhance the environment and amenity of the Leeds and Liverpool Canal 

corridor through Rishton, to maximise its use as a key historic and leisure asset.  

 

3) Rishton Local Centre will continue to function as a local service centre providing 

the key range of services for the weekly needs of the town and its immediate rural 

hinterland.  

Policy Context: 

Core Strategy Policies to 
be replaced 

R1: Housing in Rishton 
R2: Rishton Local Centre 

R3: Leeds and Liverpool Canal in Rishton 

 

                                                           
116

 such as the Leeds and Liverpool Canal and Hambledon Hill 

Page 122



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

99 

 

10.57 Rishton is the largest ward in Hyndburn and its name means “village amid the 

rushes”.  The ward comprises two main urban areas separated by a corridor of 

Green Belt - the town of Rishton and the built-up area of east Blackburn known as 

Whitebirk (see Policy CS32).  The town of Rishton is located between Blackburn and 

Clayton-Le-Moors and stands in open countryside designated as Green Belt.  The 

Green Belt has played an important role in maintaining the separation of the town 

from neighbouring towns, helping to maintain the identity of Rishton. 

10.58 The town benefits from being well connected to local and strategic transport 

networks.  There is ready access to the M65 and the town has a railway station.  Its 

proximity to the M65 means that the strategic employment sites in Blackburn, 

Whitebirk and Clayton-Le-Moors are within easy reach.   

 

10.59 In 1850 Rishton consisted of about thirty cottages grouped along an 18th Century 

turnpike road, and a number of scattered hamlets and farmhouses.  At that time, 

industry was based on stone quarrying, coal mining and handloom weaving117.  

However, the town witnessed rapid growth in the later half of the 19th Century, fuelled 

by the development of the power loom.   
 

10.60 The growth of the town was originally based on the development of the Lancashire 

textile industry and the presence of the Leeds and Liverpool Canal and railway.  By 

1860, the original houses of Rishton “town” had disappeared and had been replaced 

by terraced housing built on a grid system to plans laid down by the Lord of the 

Manor, Henry Petre.  Rishton has continued to develop and now has a diverse range 

of housing types ranging from small terraced properties to larger, modern, family 

homes.  The distinctive canalside environment with mills clustered together next to 

open rural areas is changing as demand for these traditional industrial uses and 

buildings declines.  However, this change provides opportunities for new uses, 

particularly alongside the canal.  Although there is likely to be a mix of housing and 

employment development, the balance is likely to shift towards housing with job 

opportunities in nearby major business parks at Whitebirk and Clayton-le-Moors. 
 

10.61 Rishton benefits from a variety of good access points into the adjoining countryside 

where there is a well-developed network of public rights of way and the Leeds and 

Liverpool Canal.  Cutwood Park is located on the west side of the town.  It is a high 

quality park that has been awarded Green Flag status for a number of years and is 

adjacent to Rishton Reservoir.  The canal loops around the town and is an important 

heritage and environmental asset that links well with Green Infrastructure networks.   
 

10.62 The ward has a population of just over seven thousand people (7,086) and just under 

three thousand households, the majority of which are in the town.  The 1901 census 

indicated that 7,301 people lived in Rishton, the population remaining largely 

unchanged over the last 100 years.  The ward has a reasonable split of age bands, 

                                                           
117

 Industrial Heritage – A Guide to the Industrial Archaeology of Rishton, K. Broderick and M Rothwell, 1981.  

Page 123



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

100 

 

generally reflecting the pattern across the Borough.  However, there are a higher 

proportion of people aged between 40 and 44 and approaching 60 years old, 

indicating that there will be a higher demand for accommodation for elderly people 

over the period of the Plan.   
 

10.63 Although Rishton is comparatively small, there are three primary schools (St Peters 

and Pauls CE, St Charles RC and Rishton Methodist School) and one secondary 

school (Norden High School and Sports College).  There are no secondary schools in 

Great Harwood or Clayton-Le-Moors and for this reason Norden High School attracts 

pupils from a comparatively wide catchment.  The town also has a Cricket Club for 

which a number of well-known players have played, including Viv Richards and 

Duncan Fletcher.   

 

 The development strategy for Rishton 
 

10.64 Rishton is a town located close to key strategic transport assets, including the M65 

motorway (easy access to two separate junctions) and its own train station. It also 

lies between two strategic employment hubs at both Whitebirk and Junction 7. For a 

relatively small town it has a reasonably well served range of shops and services 

within the Local Centre, primary schools and a secondary school offering, and a 

number of distinctive leisure offerings including Rishton Reservoir (home to the East 

Lancashire Sailing Club) and the Leeds and Liverpool Canal which unusually runs 

straight through the middle of the town. 

 

10.65 The town is surrounded by countryside which is designated Green Belt. The Council 

will seek to allocate land to deliver up to 490 new homes over the plan period to 

2036, through a combination of regenerating brownfield sites within the urban area 

(particularly along the canal corridor), and targeted Green Belt release where 

necessary and exceptional circumstances can be demonstrated.  Specific sites to be 

allocated to meet the requirement will be identified in the Site Allocations DPD. 
 

10.66 The scale of development set out for Rishton is proportionately higher than most 

other parts of the Borough. The total number of households in Rishton will grow by 

around 18% between 2016 and 2036118. The Council believes that this growth is 

justified based on the sustainable transport links (train station and Pennine Reach 

quality bus route), its school provision, and proximity to major employment locations. 

Higher levels of growth provide the added benefit of helping to support and sustain 

the Local Centre to address the issues of poor comparison retailing offer and poor 

environmental quality which the Hyndburn Retail Study (2016) identified as current 

weaknesses of the centre. The findings of the Sustainability Appraisal will be used to 

help refine the strategy for the Publication stage of the plan. 

                                                           
118

 compared to an increase in households of between 5% and 9% for all other Local Plan areas, except Huncoat 
which will see between a 50-100% increase depending upon the final growth figure selected 

Page 124



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

101 

 

 

10.67 Regeneration of the canal corridor and enhancement of the waterway as a key 

leisure asset, connecting town to countryside, is something highlighted in the draft 

Rishton Canalside SPD (2015). Progress has already been made in development of 

some of the sites identified in the draft SPD. The Council will be seeking to continue 

progress in this aim over the plan period. 

 

Policy CS31: Oswaldtwistle 
 

1) The Council will seek to identify land in Oswaldtwistle, combined with land in 

Knuzden (see Policy CS32: Knuzden & Whitebirk), for delivery of up to 550 homes 

over the plan period 2016-2036.   

 

2) The Council will amend the Green Belt boundary to exclude previously developed 

land to the west of Brookside Business Centre for use for residential-led or 

suitable mixed use redevelopment where it can be comprehensively redeveloped. 

The Council will only support proposals that ensure re-development of the whole 

area being removed from Green Belt. 

 

3) Oswaldtwistle Town Centre will continue to function as an important service 

centre for the residents of the town and the wider rural hinterland. The tourist 

attraction of Oswaldtwistle Mills will be supported where it can help to support the 

vitality and viability of the town centre.  

Policy Context: 

Core Strategy Policies to be replaced A3: Development of Local Centres in Accrington 

A5: Brookside Business Centre 

 

10.68 Oswaldtwistle is located immediately south west of Accrington and is separated from 

the urban area of Blackburn by the Green Belt through which the M65 now passes.  

The town has a population of approximately 12,500 and, like many of the towns and 

townships of Hyndburn grew significantly during the industrial revolution.  In 2005 

Lancashire County Council published the Historic Town Assessment Report for 

Oswaldtwistle and Church, a project that was supported by Hyndburn Borough 

Council and English Heritage.  Much of the commentary on the history of 

Oswaldtwistle is taken from that document.   

 

10.69 There is only one prehistoric site record for Church and Oswaldtwistle and no 

Romano-British, post Roman or early medieval sites within the area, however, the 

name Oswaldtwistle is derived from “Oswald” (a reference to King Oswald of 

Northumbria who once passed through the area) and “twistle,” an old English word 

Page 125



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

102 

 

meaning where brooks meet.  There is no evidence of any settlement existing before 

the Norman invasion119.   
 

10.70 Oswaldtwistle is first mentioned in archives around 1208 when Adam de 

Oswaldthuisal witnessed a grant of land by Adam de Rishton.  Oswaldtwistle is 

thought to have been part of the forest or chase of Accrington, but was deforested in 

1225 and in 1296 it was a neighbouring Chapelry of Church.  By the early 14th 

Century, Oswaldtwistle was considered to be a manor and settlement was significant 

by the late 14th Century, the number of poll tax payers suggesting a population of 

around 50.  By the 16th Century there are thought to have been 37 houses in 

Oswaldtwistle, increasing to around 100 at the time of the hearth tax in 1666, 

suggesting a population between 400-500.  The increase in population is likely to 

have been a result of an increase in farm/cottage weaving economy based on wool. 
 

10.71 The textile industry continued to grow and the spinning and weaving of wool began to 

replace the sale of raw wool, a fulling mill developed in Oswaldtwistle by the 18th 

Century.  By the late 18th Century, the production of woollen goods had largely given 

way to cotton and the invention of the Spinning Jenny by James Hargreaves around 

1764 started mechanisation of the industry.  Robert Peel of Knuzden was also 

developing new techniques and developed a carding machine and calico printing.  By 

the late 18th Century, Oswaldtwistle was still little more that a few scattered hamlets 

such as Ippings, Moorside and Stanhill stretched along the road to Blackburn.   
 

10.72 It was the nineteenth century that witnessed the fastest growth.  In 1801, 

Oswaldtwistle had a population of 2,710, increasing to 14,192 by the 1901.  By 1825 

Oswaldtwistle had become a highly industrialised community with a rapid expansion 

of factory based calico printing and powered cotton spinning.  Linked to this growth 

was the need for new housing and the need for increased food production.  

Oswaldtwistle Moor was enclosed by an act of Parliament in 1774 and by the mid 

1820’s the urban form was being developed.  

 

10.73 In 1841 there were over 1000 weavers in Oswaldtwistle, and the settlement pattern 

was still largely along Union Road with additional clusters of housing at Foxhill Bank, 

Moscow Mills, Hippings, New Lane and Stanhill.  Ten years later new roads, such as 

Chapel Row and Mount Pleasant, had been built off the main road and by 1861 the 

area around Cross was being developed.  The greatest expansion took place during 

the1860s, which saw the building of George Street and Edward Street in the town 

centre and Railway Terrace, South Shore Street and Sadler Street to the south.   

 

                                                           
119

 Much of the history of Oswaldtwistle is taken from the Lancashire Historic Town Survey Programme and the 
Historic Town Assessment Report that was produced for Oswaldtwistle and Church in June 2005.  This was a 
joint piece of work undertaken by Lancashire County Council and Egerton Lea Consultancy with the support of 
English Heritage and Hyndburn Borough Council.   

Page 126



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

103 

 

10.74 Oswaldtwistle town centre retains much of its original linear street pattern with a 

considerable proportion of the buildings dating to the nineteenth century still extant. 

The main thoroughfare presents as a single, linear, traditional shopping street with 

numerous individual local shops and with a number of infill sites that have been 

redeveloped during the twentieth century.  Surrounding the main street, adjacent to 

the town centre, there are numerous different character areas dividing the town.  

These include a number of intact areas of nineteenth century terraced housing with 

others cleared for modern housing, industrial development or road construction.  A 

modern industrial estate, Brookside Industrial Estate, has been developed on the site 

of Brookside Mill and several streets of terraced housing.  Moscow Mill and adjacent 

sheds are now in use as a factory retail outlet, trading as Oswaldtwistle Mills.  The 

site covers approximately two hectares of land which includes buildings used for 

retail space and car parking.   

 

10.75 Considerable new residential development has occurred throughout the twentieth 

century, some on housing clearance land, but most on the edge of the settlement on 

previously undeveloped land.  More recently, housing development has taken place 

on former industrial sites, including demolished mills, mill lodges and railway land, 

including a sizable development for housing on the site of two large reservoirs 

adjacent to the railway.  Traditional nineteenth century industrial buildings are 

scattered throughout the defined survey area with the largest concentrations adjacent 

to the Leeds and Liverpool Canal between Cote Holme and Church Bank.  A number 

of nineteenth century industrial buildings and cotton mills are still in industrial use 

with some mills divided into smaller units.   
 

10.76 Modern day Oswaldtwistle is centred around comprises the central spine of Union 

Road, which remains the linear shopping centre. The residential areas of Stanhill and 

West End can be found to the west and northwest a significant area of green space 

around Foxhill Bank Local Nature Reserve and playing fields. 
 

10.77 The Oswaldtwistle Local Plan area also includes the Main Village of Belthorn and the 

Small Village of Green Haworth, both inset settlements in the Green Belt. 

 

 The development strategy for Oswaldtwistle 

 

10.78 The town is surrounded by countryside which is designated Green Belt. The Council 

will seek to allocate land to deliver up to 550 homes over the plan period to 2036, 

through a combination of identifying sites within the existing urban boundary, and 

Green Belt release on previously developed land at Brookside where exceptional 

circumstances can be demonstrated. Specific sites to be allocated to meet the 

requirement will be identified in the Site Allocations DPD. 

 

10.79 Land to the west of Brookside Business Centre has formerly been subject to 

proposals for re-development for a Sustainable Construction Centre under the 

adopted Core Strategy. This specific scheme has not come forward, nor will it now do 

so. The principle of Green Belt release at this location was agreed however, subject 

Page 127



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

104 

 

to development of an exceptional scheme of sub-regional importance that included 

provision for the establishment of a country park.  The Council will seek to ensure 

that redevelopment of this site is secured during the current plan period, retaining the 

ambition to establish a new community recreational facility in woodland adjoining the 

site. 

 

10.80 Oswaldtwistle Mills is a large mill complex outside the town centre (edge of centre 

location) which has been converted to a shopping village and garden centre 

attracting large numbers of visitors. The Council values the important tourism role 

that the complex plays and will support plans for enhancement or expansion subject 

to it continuing as a complementary shopping destination that will support the future 

vitality and viability of Oswaldtwistle town centre. 

 

Policy CS32: Knuzden & Whitebirk 
 

1) The Council will seek to identify land in Knuzden, combined with land in 

Oswaldtwistle (see Policy CS31: Oswaldtwistle), for delivery of up to 550 homes 

over the plan period 2016-2036.   

 

2) The Council will support the development of Whitebirk (Frontier Park) as a 

strategic employment hub and will consider options for expanding to meet the 

need for new employment land identified in Policy CS3: Employment Provision.  

 

3) The Council will support the Peel Centre (Whitebirk) as a predominantly bulky 

goods retailing destination in the Borough, to complement the role of Town 

Centres and Local Centres in Hyndburn and Blackburn with Darwen. Non-bulky 

retailing and/or supporting ancillary uses to the retail park and strategic 

employment hub will be permitted though these should not exceed 40% of the 

overall floorspace on the site.   

Policy Context: 

Core Strategy Policies to 
be replaced 

KW1: Strategic Regional Employment Site at Whitebirk 

 

10.81 Although located in Hyndburn Borough, Knuzden forms part of the eastern Blackburn 

urban area. Knuzden is also the smallest of the Local Plan areas, at only around 

2,000 residents. Residents of Knuzden are more likely to utilise shops, services and 

infrastructure in the adjoining neighbourhoods of Intack and Shadsworth (and 

Blackburn) than they are in Oswaldtwistle or Accrington. Nevertheless it is still 

considered to form an important part of the Borough and, along with the commercial 

centre of Whitebirk, comprises its own Local Plan Area in the Core Strategy. 

 

10.82 To the east and the south of Knuzden the residential areas are bounded closely by 

Green Belt (with the exception of the former Area of Special Restraint south of Mount 

Page 128



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

105 

 

Saint James). The M65 motorway serves as a significant visual barrier, further 

separating Knuzden from Oswaldtwistle and Accrington. 

 

10.83 Whitebirk to the north is well located for motorway connections, immediately adjacent 

to Junction 6 of the M65. It forms part of a larger employment area that crosses the 

Hyndburn/Blackburn administrative boundary. Frontier Park (now under construction) 

is the new employment site at Whitebirk. The site is now under construction having 

been allocated as a strategic employment site of sub-regional importance120 for many 

years. Whitebirk is also home to the Peel Centre (an out of centre Retail Park) and 

the Leeds and Liverpool Canal. 

 

The development strategy for Knuzden and Whitebirk 
 

10.84 The previous Core Strategy allocated land to the north of Blackburn Road at 

Whitebirk as a strategic regional employment site. This is now under construction 

and will be retained for such use. Options for the potential expansion of the strategic 

employment hub at Whitebirk (around Junction 6) will be considered further prior to 

the Publication version of the plan. This would involve the release of Green Belt land, 

and proposals for any further development at Whitebirk would be expected to 

contribute towards the improvement of the canal towpath between Whitebirk and 

Rishton. 

 

10.85 Land for housing will be sought in combination with Oswaldtwistle to provide for up to 

550 new homes. Land formerly safeguarded as an Area of Special Restraint south of 

Mount Saint James has the potential to contribute to this target and help reduce any 

requirement for Green Belt release in the area. 
 

10.86 The Peel Centre will be supported to retain its status as a predominantly bulky goods 

retailing destination in the Borough. Whilst the Council will support some non-bulky 

goods retailing on the site (evidenced by the granting of various planning permissions 

in recent years) shoppers should be drawn to the site for different reasons than they 

would be drawn to town centres. Out of centre retail destinations should complement 

the Town Centres and Local Centres in both Boroughs of Hyndburn and Blackburn. 

To this end, no more than 40% of the total floorspace on the site should be for the 

sale of non-bulky retailing goods, or alternative non-retail ancillary supporting uses. 

This will ensure that the site complements (not competes with) the higher order 

centres of Accrington and Blackburn in particular. 
 

 

                                                           
120

 Identified in the Strategic Economic Plan for Lancashire and other sub-regional economic strategies 

Page 129



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

106 

 

 

11.0 Implementation and Monitoring 

11.1 It is important that the Council is able to monitor the effectiveness of its Local Plan 

once adopted (in line with the plan-monitor-manage approach). The Core Strategy 

Review will therefore contain key indicators at the Publication stage of the plan. This 

will enable measurement of progress of the implementation of policies which will be 

reported on an annual basis through the Council’s Authority Monitoring Report. 

 

11.2 In addition to annual reporting through the AMR, the Council will undertake a full 

review of the plan every 5 years in line with national planning policy guidance. The 

review will involve consideration of changes to local circumstances and national 

policy and conclude either: 
 

 that policies do not need updating, the Council will publish its reasoning behind 

this conclusion; or 

 that one or more policies do need updating, the Council will then update its 

Local Development Scheme to set out a timetable for revision. 

 

 

.

Page 130



Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review (Regulation 18 consultation) – February 2019 

107 

 

 

Appendix A: Glossary 

The Council intends to publish a full Glossary in the Publication version of the Plan. By way 

of example, some of the terms currently being considered to be included are listed below. 

 
 

Affordable Housing 

Brownfield land 

Community infrastructure 

Duty to Cooperate 

Existing employment sites 

Housing for the elderly  

Housing trajectory 

Huncoat Garden Village 

Long term vacant properties 

Masterplan 

Policy map 

Regeneration Areas 

Rural Areas 

Safeguarded land 

Settlement Hierarchy 

Strategic Employment Hubs 

Urban boundary 

 

 

Page 131



 

108 

 

Appendix B: Core Strategy (2012) & Core Strategy Review 

policy mapping 

Adopted Core Strategy policy 2012  Proposed policy replacement(s) 

BD1: The Balanced Development Strategy Policy CS1: The Spatial Development Strategy 

E1: Future Employment Provision Policy CS3: Employment Provision 

E2: Protection, Modernisation and 

Development of Employment Sites 

Policy CS4: Protection, Modernisation and Development 

of Employment Sites 

ED1: New and improved education Policy CS1: The Spatial Development Strategy 

Policy CS7: Provision of Community Facilities 

H1: Housing Provision Policy CS9: Housing Provision (including affordable 

housing) 

Policy CS10: Suitable Range of Housing 

H2: Affordable Housing Policy CS9: Housing Provision (including affordable 

housing) 

Policy CS10: Suitable Range of Housing 

H3: Gypsy and Traveller Provision Policy CS11: Gypsy and Traveller and Travelling 

Showpeople Provision 

HC1: Green Space and facilities for 

Walking/Cycling 

Policy CS6: Open Space and Local Green Space 

Provision 

HC2: Leisure, Health and Culture Policy CS7: Provision of Community Facilities 

HC3: The Design of Residential Roads Policy CS21: Sustainable and safe transport 

HC4: Community Benefits/Planning 

Obligations 

Policy CS8: Community Benefits/Planning Obligations 

Env1: Green Infrastructure Policy CS13: Green Infrastructure 

Env2: Natural Environment Enhancement Policy CS15: Natural Environment Enhancement 

Env3: Landscape Character Policy CS14: Landscape Character 

Env4: Sustainable Development and 

Climate Change 

Policy CS12: Sustainable Development and Climate 

Change 

Env5: Renewable Energy Policy CS16: Renewable Energy 

Env6: High Quality Design Policy CS17: High Quality Design 

Env7: Environmental Amenity Policy CS18: Environmental Amenity 

T1: Improving Connectivity Policy CS20: Connectivity and improvements to transport 

networks 

T2: Cycle and Footpath Networks Policy CS22: Cycle and Footpath Networks 

T3: Motorway and Trunk Road 

Improvements 

Policy CS20: Connectivity and improvements to transport 

networks 

A1: Amount and Distribution of Housing in Policy CS24: Accrington (Central) 

Page 132



 

109 

 

Adopted Core Strategy policy 2012  Proposed policy replacement(s) 

Accrington 

A2: Accrington Town Centre Policy CS5: Centre Hierarchy, Strategy and Retail 

Provision 

Policy CS24: Accrington (Central) 

A3: Development of Local Centres in 

Accrington 

Policy CS5: Centre Hierarchy, Strategy and Retail 

Provision 

Policy CS27: Clayton-le-Moors  

Policy CS31: Oswaldtwistle 

A4: The Leeds and Liverpool Canal in 

Church 

Policy CS19: The Leeds and Liverpool Canal 

Policy CS26: Church 

A5: Brookside Business Centre Policy CS31: Oswaldtwistle 

A6: The Leeds and Liverpool Canal in 

Clayton-le-Moors 

Policy CS19: The Leeds and Liverpool Canal 

Policy CS27: Clayton-le-Moors  

A7: Housing in Huncoat Policy CS2: Huncoat Garden Village 

Policy CS29: Huncoat 

A8: Strategic Employment Site in Huncoat Policy CS2: Huncoat Garden Village 

Policy CS29: Huncoat 

A9: Whinney Hill Link Road Policy CS2: Huncoat Garden Village 

Policy CS29: Huncoat 

GH1: Housing in Great Harwood Policy CS28: Great Harwood 

GH2: Great Harwood Town Centre Policy CS5: Centre Hierarchy, Strategy and Retail 

Provision 

Policy CS28: Great Harwood 

R1: Housing in Rishton Policy CS30: Rishton 

R2: Rishton Local Centre Policy CS5: Centre Hierarchy, Strategy and Retail 

Provision 

Policy CS30: Rishton 

R3: The Leeds and Liverpool Canal in 

Rishton 

Policy CS19: The Leeds and Liverpool Canal 

Policy CS30: Rishton 

KW1: Strategic Regional Employment Site 

at Whitebirk 

Policy CS32: Knuzden & Whitebirk 

RA1: Amount and Distribution of Housing in 

Rural Areas 

Policy CS23: Development in rural areas 

RA2: Historic Character and Identity Policy CS17: High Quality Design and Heritage 

RA3: Protection and development of Altham 

Business Park 

Policy CS4: Protection, Modernisation and Development 

of Employment Sites 

 

  

Page 133



 

110 

 

Appendix C: DM DPD and Core Strategy Review policy 

mapping 

Adopted DM DPD policy Proposed strategic ‘parent’ policy 

GC1: Presumption in favour of sustainable 

development 

Policy CS1: The Spatial Development Strategy 

GC2: Infrastructure, Planning Obligations & 

CIL 

Policy CS1: The Spatial Development Strategy 

Policy CS8: Community Benefits/Planning Obligations 

GC3: Planning Enforcement N/A 

DM1: Employment Development Policy CS3: Employment Provision 

Policy CS4: Protection, Modernisation and Development 

of Employment Sites 

DM2: Employment Strategies N/A 

DM3: Development of main town centre 

uses 

Policy CS5: Centre Hierarchy, Strategy and Retail 

Provision 

DM4: Retail Frontages Policy CS5: Centre Hierarchy, Strategy and Retail 

Provision 

DM5: Hot Food Takeaways N/A 

DM6: Delivering Schools and Early Learning Policy CS7: Provision of Community Facilities 

DM7: Cultural and Community Facilities Policy CS7: Provision of Community Facilities 

DM8: Public Houses N/A 

DM9: Telecommunications N/A 

DM10: New Residential Development Policy CS9: Housing Provision (including affordable 

housing) 

Policy CS10: Suitable Range of Housing 

DM11: Open Space Provision in New 

Residential Development 

Policy CS6: Open Space and Local Green Space 

Provision 

DM12: Affordable Housing Policy CS9: Housing Provision (including affordable 

housing) 

Policy CS10: Suitable Range of Housing 

DM13: Development of Housing within 

Residential Gardens 

Policy CS9: Housing Provision (including affordable 

housing) 

Policy CS10: Suitable Range of Housing 

DM14: Housing with Care for Older People 

and People with Disabilities 

Policy CS10: Suitable Range of Housing 

DM15: Gypsy and Traveller Sites Policy CS11: Gypsy and Traveller and Travelling 

Showpeople Provision 

DM16: Housing Standards Policy CS10: Suitable Range of Housing 

DM17: Trees, Woodland and Hedgerows Policy CS15: Natural Environment Enhancement 

Page 134



 

111 

 

Adopted DM DPD policy Proposed strategic ‘parent’ policy 

DM18: Protection and Enhancement of the 

Natural Environment 

Policy CS12: Sustainable Development and Climate 

Change 

Policy CS13: Green Infrastructure 

Policy CS14: Landscape Character 

Policy CS15: Natural Environment Enhancement 

DM19: Protected Species Policy CS15: Natural Environment Enhancement 

DM20: Flood Risk Management and Water 

Resources 

Policy CS12: Sustainable Development and Climate 

Change 

DM21: Protection of Open Spaces Policy CS6: Open Space and Local Green Space 

Provision 

DM22: Heritage Assets Policy CS17: High Quality Design and Heritage 

DM23: Demolition of Unlisted Buildings and 

Structures in Conservation Areas 

Policy CS17: High Quality Design and Heritage 

DM24: Contaminated or Unstable land & 

storage of hazardous substances 

Policy CS12: Sustainable Development and Climate 

Change 

DM25: Pollution Control Policy CS12: Sustainable Development and Climate 

Change 

DM26: Design Quality and Materials Policy CS12: Sustainable Development and Climate 

Change 

Policy CS17: High Quality Design and Heritage 

DM27: The Control of Advertisements N/A 

DM28: Shop Fronts and Security Shutters N/A 

DM29: Environmental Amenity Policy CS18: Environmental Amenity and Air Quality 

DM30: Wind Energy Policy CS16: Renewable Energy 

DM31: Waste management in all new 

development 

Policy CS12: Sustainable Development and Climate 

Change 

DM32: Sustainable Transport, Traffic and 

Highway Safety 

Policy CS20: Connectivity and improvements to transport 

networks 

Policy CS21: Sustainable and safe transport 

DM33: Sustainable Transport Infrastructure Policy CS19: The Leeds and Liverpool Canal 

Policy CS20: Connectivity and improvements to transport 

networks 

Policy CS21: Sustainable and safe transport 

Policy CS22: Cycle and Footpath Networks 

DM34: Development in the Green Belt and 

Countryside Area 

Policy CS1: The Spatial Development Strategy 

Policy CS23: Development in rural areas 

DM35: Farm Diversification & Local Food 

Networks 

Policy CS23: Development in rural areas 

DM36: Equestrian Development Policy CS23: Development in rural areas 

Page 135



 

112 

 

 

Page 136



 
 

Hyndburn Local Plan: Core Strategy 
Review  
 
Growth Option and Spatial Option Justification 
Paper 
 
 

January 2019 
 

  

Page 137



 
Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review  
Growth Option and Spatial Option Justification Paper – January 2019 2 

 

Contents 

 
1. Introduction................................................................................................ 3 

2. Housing Growth Options ........................................................................... 5 

Summary of Housing Growth Options considered........................................ 5 

Sustainability Appraisal findings ................................................................... 6 

Relevant housing strategies / Council policy ambitions ................................ 7 

Relevant evidence base findings .................................................................. 9 

Consultation responses (Regulation 18(1) consultation) ............................ 10 

Flexibility and delivery ................................................................................ 11 

Conclusion on Preferred Housing Growth Option....................................... 12 

3. Employment Growth Options................................................................... 16 

Summary of Employment Growth Options considered ............................... 16 

Sustainability Appraisal findings ................................................................. 17 

Relevant economic strategies / Council policy ambitions ........................... 18 

Relevant evidence base findings ................................................................ 20 

Consultation responses (Regulation 18(1) consultation) ............................ 21 

Flexibility and delivery ................................................................................ 22 

Conclusion on Preferred Employment Growth Option ................................ 23 

Alignment of housing and economic growth scenarios and the Huncoat 
Garden Village............................................................................................ 25 

4. Preferred Spatial Option .......................................................................... 26 

Summary of Spatial Options considered .................................................... 26 

Sustainability Appraisal findings ................................................................. 27 

Relevant strategies / Council policy ambitions ........................................... 28 

Relevant evidence base findings ................................................................ 29 

Consultation responses (Regulation 18(1) consultation) ............................ 30 

Flexibility and delivery ................................................................................ 30 

Conclusion on Preferred Spatial Option ..................................................... 31 

5. Summary / Conclusions .......................................................................... 37 

 

Appendix A: Hyndburn Council Housing Scenario Model .............................. 38 

 

Page 138



 
Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review  
Growth Option and Spatial Option Justification Paper – January 2019 3 

 

1. Introduction 
 

1.1. The Council is reviewing its Core Strategy, adopted in 2012. Part of the 
review is considering the overall strategy for development in the 
Borough to 2036. This involves consideration of suitable ‘Growth 
Options’ for the Borough (for both housing and employment), as well as 
‘Spatial Options’ for the distribution of the selected level of growth. 
 

1.2. In February 2018 the Council consulted on a number of different 
options through a public consultation undertaken in accordance with 
Regulation 18 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
(England) Regulations 2012. The options presented were: 

 
Housing Growth Options: 

 Option 1: CLG Consultation method (60 dwellings per annum); 

 Option 2: Low housing growth (175 dwellings per annum); 

 Option 3: Medium housing growth (246 dwellings per annum); 

 Option 4: High housing growth (317 dwellings per annum). 
 

Employment Growth Options: 

 Option 1: Low employment growth (0.2ha of land per annum); 

 Option 2: Medium employment growth (1.0ha of land per annum); 

 Option 3: High employment growth (3.1ha of land per annum). 
 

Spatial Options: 

 Option 1: Core Strategy led growth – continue the growth strategy 
set in the adopted Core Strategy via Policy H1 and strategic 
allocations; 

 Option 2: Garden Village led growth – concentration of more 
significant growth in the Huncoat area, taking full advantage of the 
recent designation of the area as a Housing Zone by the 
Government; 

 Option 3: Transport Corridor led growth – focus the distribution of 
growth around key strategic transport routes such as the East 
Lancashire railway line, the M65, A56 and Pennine Reach (Quality 
Bus Route) transport corridors; 

 Option 4: Market Focus led growth – focus development in the 
areas most desirable to developers and landowners (higher value 
market areas); and 

 Option 5: Land Availability led growth – focus development in areas 
where land is already known to be available for housing and 
employment development. 

 
1.3. This paper provides a summary of each of the Housing Growth 

Options, Employment Growth Options, and Spatial Options. It then 
considers five key matters in justifying selection of the preferred option 
for each being taken forward in the Core Strategy Review Regulation 
18(2) consultation (planned for February 2019): 
 

Page 139



 
Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review  
Growth Option and Spatial Option Justification Paper – January 2019 4 

 

1. How the proposed options perform against Sustainability Appraisal 
and Strategic Environmental Assessment (a separate report was 
published alongside the Regulation 18 consultation material in 
2018 providing the detailed assessment of this); 

2. How the proposed options accord with relevant strategies (local, 
regional and national) and Council ambitions; 

3. How the proposed options fit with relevant aspects of the Local 
Plan evidence base; 

4. Consultation responses received during the Regulation 18 
consultation in 2018; and 

5. Whether the options are flexible enough to deal with changing 
circumstances over the Plan period, and can be implemented. 

 
 

Page 140



 
Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review  
Growth Option and Spatial Option Justification Paper – January 2019 5 

 

2. Housing Growth Options 
 
Summary of Housing Growth Options considered 

 
2.1. Table 1 provides a summary of the four Housing Growth Options that 

were the subject of the Regulation 18(1) consultation process and 
Sustainability Appraisal in 2018. Table 1 also provides some key 
positives and negatives of each option. 

 
Table 1: Summary of the Housing Growth Options published in the Regulation 18(1) 
consultation February – April 2018 

Housing 
Growth Option 

1. CLG 
consultation 
method 

2. Low 
housing 
growth 

3. Medium 
housing 
growth 

4. High 
housing 
growth 

Approx. level 
of growth 

 ~1,200 

dwellings (60dpa) 
 

 

 ~3,500 

dwellings 
(175dpa) 
 

 

 ~4,920 

dwellings 
(246dpa) 
 

 

 ~6,340 

dwellings 
(317dpa) 
 

Impact on 
population of 
Hyndburn 

 Projections 
which show a 
likely decrease 
in population of 
around 1,600 by 
2033

1
 

 Projected 
population 
growth of 
around 3,000 
by 2033 

 

 Projected 
population 
growth of 
around 7,500 
by 2033 

 

 Projected 
population 
growth of 
around 9,000 
by 2033 

Positives (+) 
Negatives (-) 

 Growth could be 
met within 
existing 
commitments 

 No further 
significant land 
releases sought 

 
- Minimum level 

of provision 
- Only allows for 

recent trends to 
continue  

- Net out 
migration 
continues 

- Virtually no 
opportunity for 
economic 
growth 

- Virtually no 
opportunity to 
re-balance 
housing stock  

 Growth could 
largely be 
contained 
within the 
urban area 
(minimal 
Green Belt 
implications) 

 
- Net migration 

continues 
(i.e. 
population 
growth is 
‘natural 
change’ only) 

- Low levels of 
affordable 
housing 
provision 

- Opportunity 
to re-balance 
the housing 
stock is 
limited 

+ Net migration 
into the 
Borough 

+ Opportunity to 
re-balance the 
housing stock 
within the 
Borough 

 
 
- Some sites 

outside of the 
urban area 
(including 
Green Belt) 
are likely to be 
required 

 
 

 Significant net 
migration into 
Hyndburn; 

 Greater levels 
of affordable 
housing to be 
provided 

 Opportunity 
for 
transformation
al growth 

 
- Potential 

significant 
impact on 
some parts of 
the Green Belt 

- Impacts on 
infrastructure 
(highways / 
schools) to be 
mitigated 

                                                        
1
 Based on ONS SNPP forecast of decline of 800 between 2014-2024 

Page 141



 
Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review  
Growth Option and Spatial Option Justification Paper – January 2019 6 

 

SHMA 
Scenario

2
 

 Not considered 
in SHMA 

 Scenario G 
(Constant 
Jobs) 

 Scenario E 
(Baseline 
Experian Jobs 
Growth) 

 Scenario F 
(Adjusted 
Experian Jobs 
Growth) 

 
 
Sustainability Appraisal findings 
 

2.2. A detailed Sustainability Appraisal (SA) of the four Housing Growth 
Options was undertaken by Land Use Consultants (LUC). The final SA 
report was published alongside the Local Plan Regulation 18 
consultation material in February 2018. Table 4.1 of the report (on p36) 
summarized the findings of the SA process against each of the 
Housing Growth Options, identifying the positive and negative effects 
anticipated against each of the 20 different SA objectives.  
 

2.3. Table 2 below ‘scores’ the SA findings: where positive effects are 
identified in Table 4.1 of the SA final report a positive score is given in 
Table 2 below (with relatively higher scores being given to more 
significant positive effects). Where negative effects are identified in 
Table 4.1 of the SA final report a negative score is given in Table 2 
below (again with relatively lower scores being given where more 
significant negative effects are identified).  
 

2.4. Table 2 therefore provides an overall relative sustainability assessment 
of each of the four Housing Growth Options when considered equally 
against all 20 SA objectives.  
 

2.5. However, it is important to consider that sustainable development is 
about finding a balance of economic, social and environmental benefits 
of development. Of the 20 SA objectives set out in Table 2, half of them 
(10) primarily relate to the environment, around a third (6) relate to 
social objectives, with the remaining few (4) relating to economic 
objectives.  
 

2.6. If we consider weighting the scores so that equal weight is given to 
each of the three components of sustainability, we find a different 
outcome in terms of the overall scores. This is summarized by the 
‘Overall Weighted Total’ at the bottom of Table 2. 
 

2.7. When considering the SA findings in balance between economic, social 
and environmental benefits, Option 3 (Medium Growth) appears to be 
the most beneficial to fulfil the full remit of SA objectives. Option 1 
(CLG Consultation Method) is second best, followed equally by Options 
2 and 4 (Low Growth and High Growth respectively).  
 

                                                        
2
 The SHMA modelled a number of different scenarios of housing growth for Hyndburn. For more 

detailed information refer to the relevant scenario in the latest SHMA report. The CLG consultation 
method is not considered in the SHMA as it was issued after the publication of the SHMA. 

Page 142



 
Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review  
Growth Option and Spatial Option Justification Paper – January 2019 7 

 

 
Table 2: Sustainability Appraisal ‘score’ taken from Table 4.1 of the SA Final Report 

SA OBJECTIVE GROWTH OPTIONS: HOUSING 

1: CLG 
consultation 

method  

2:  
Low 

growth 

3: 
Medium 
growth  

4:  
High 

growth  

1: Employment 0 0 0 0 

2: Economy -1 0 1 5 

3: Education 1 1 5 5 

4: Health 0 0 0 0 

5: Crime 0 0 0 0 

6: Poverty 1 1 5 5 

7: Access to facilities 0 0 0 0 

8: Transport 1 0 0 0 

9: Housing 1 1 5 5 

10: Centre Vitality & Viability 1 1 0 0 

11: Historic Environment 0 0 -3 -3 

12: Waste 1 -1 1 -5 

13: Resources 0 -1 1 -5 

14: Climate Change 5 3 0 0 

15: Flooding 0 -1 1 -5 

16: Biodiversity & Geodiversity 0 0 -3 -3 

17: Landscape 5 0 -3 -3 

18: Water 0 -1 1 1 

19: Pollution 5 3 0 0 

20: Soil 5 1 1 -5 

Total 1.3 0.4 0.6 -0.4 

Overall Weighted Total 
(‘Economic’ objectives 1, 2, 8 and 
10 left as is) 
(‘Social’ objectives 3-7 and 9 
multiplied by 0.66) 
(Environmental objectives 11-20 
multiplied by 0.4) 

0.6 0.3 0.7 0.3 

 
2.8. Of course, scoring the SA is only one way of attempting to differentiate 

at a strategic level between the development options, and specific 
qualitative matters highlighted in the SA under each are particularly 
relevant. These are discussed further in the Conclusion on Preferred 
Housing Growth Option. For specific details and commentary on the 
specific findings set out in Table 2, the SA report itself produced by 
LUC should be consulted. 

 
Relevant housing strategies / Council policy ambitions 
 

2.9. Appendix 1 of the SA report provides a full list of plans, strategies and 
programmes relevant to plan making in Hyndburn. The strategies of 

Page 143

https://www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/download-package/local-plan-consultation-feb18-sustainability-appraisal/


 
Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review  
Growth Option and Spatial Option Justification Paper – January 2019 8 

 

specific relevance to considering the issue of housing growth in 
Hyndburn, and the key points, are summarized below: 

 
Pennine Lancs. Housing Strategy 2009-2029 (Pennine Lancs. Local 
Housing Authorities, 2009) 
 

2.10. The strategy presents the long-term vision for the future of the housing 
market in the sub-region, including Hyndburn. Its three key objectives 
are: 

 

 To ensure a sufficient quantity, high quality, and appropriate type 
of housing to meet the economic aspirations and social needs of 
Pennine Lancashire; 

 To develop sustainable neighborhoods that can retain successful 
households and offer opportunities to inward movers and 
investors; and 

 To meet the housing, health and support needs of residents and 
vulnerable people, promoting better services, more choice, 
accessible and integrated fully into local communities 

 
2.11. The key implications for the Hyndburn Local Plan are therefore to 

improve the supply and quality of housing, and to ensure that this is 
balanced with appropriate economic growth (the strategy refers to a 
‘Market Progression Model’ in particular in this regard to ensure that 
balanced growth takes place). 
 
Hyndburn Corporate Strategy 2018-2023 (Hyndburn Borough Council, 
2018) 
 

2.12. The Council published its new Corporate Strategy in 2018 (a strategy 
for Growth, Efficiency and Quality). It sets out a clear vision for driving 
growth and prosperity in Hyndburn over the next 5 years. In relation to 
housing ambitions specifically, the strategy seeks to: 
 

 Delivery strong housing growth and improved housing choice 
across the Borough; 

 Deliver a year on year increase in the number of housing 
completions; and 

 To work with the Homes and Communities Agency, Lancashire 
County Council, Infrastructure providers, local residents and other 
stakeholders to complete the Masterplan for the Huncoat Housing 
Zone 

 
2.13. The key implications for the Hyndburn Local Plan are therefore to 

ensure that adequate growth is planned for (to improve housing choice, 
and deliver increased completions), and to ensure that the outputs of 
the Huncoat Masterplan work are properly reflected in the development 
plan for the Borough. 
 

Page 144



 
Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review  
Growth Option and Spatial Option Justification Paper – January 2019 9 

 

Relevant evidence base findings 
 

2.14. Since publication of the Regulation 18(1) consultation material in early 
2018, some significant changes to assessing housing need in plan 
making have taken place. The revised NPPF, published July 2018, 
confirms that ‘to determine the minimum number of homes needed, 
strategic policies should be informed by a local housing need 
assessment, conducted using the standard method in national planning 
guidance’ (NPPF, para. 60). 
 

2.15. In July 2018 the Council jointly commissioned (alongside Blackburn 
with Darwen Council) GL Hearn to undertake a Housing and Economic 
Needs Assessment (HENA) for the joint housing market area in 
accordance with the revised NPPF and associated Planning Practice 
Guidance. The HENA study was completed in November 2018 and, in 
terms of housing, looked at the following key matters: 

 Demographic Growth and Housing Need 

 Housing Market Signals 

 Future employment and the link to housing 

 Affordable housing need 

 Private Rented Sector 

 Housing technical standards and older persons needs 

 Housing mix 
 

2.16. The key findings of the HENA relevant to determining an appropriate 
quantum of housing development to plan for in Hyndburn are as 
follows: 

 The projected housing need under the various demographic based 
scenarios (based on population and household projections only) 
range from 25-35 dwellings per annum; 

 The projected housing need under the Governments standard 
method for calculating housing need, which includes adjustments 
for affordability, is 31 dwellings per annum. This may rise to 60 
dwellings per annum following the current Government 
consultation on changes to the standard method; 

 Evidence on housing market signals in the area does not support 
a further uplift on the demographic needs; 

 Projected housing need under the ‘economic baseline’ scenario is 
85 dwellings per annum; 

 Projected housing need under the ‘economic growth’ scenario is 
216 dwellings per annum; and 

 Since 2010/11, average net delivery of new market homes has 
been 108 dwellings per annum. 

 
2.17. The HENA also considered the housing needs of specific parts of the 

community (types of housing). Key findings include: 

 The estimated annual level of affordable housing need in 
Hyndburn is 79 dwellings per annum if the existing backlog is to 
be cleared over a 20 year period; 

Page 145



 
Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review  
Growth Option and Spatial Option Justification Paper – January 2019 10 

 

 The projected need for specialist housing for older people 
(includes housing with support, housing with care, and care beds) 
is around 63 dwellings per annum 

 Potential need for registered residential care housing (i.e. 
institutional population rather than the household population) is 14 
bed spaces per annum; and 

 Estimated need for wheelchair user homes is 7 dwellings per 
annum 

 
2.18. In addition to the HENA study, the Council published its latest Authority 

Monitoring Report (AMR) in September 2018 and 5 Year Housing Land 
Supply (5YHLS) Statement in October 2018. These provide an up to 
date picture on past delivery of new housing (completions) and 
planning permissions granted (as at 31st March 2018), important 
context for the consideration of the future provision of housing in the 
Borough.  
 

2.19. In terms of completions, key findings from the AMR and 5YHLS 
include: 

 Net new housing completions (new build) have averaged 125 
dwellings per year over the last 5 years; 

 A comprehensive programme of returning long term vacant (LTV) 
properties back into use has also created an average of an 
additional 121 dwellings per year over the last 5 years for 
occupation; 

 An average of 19 affordable homes per annum have been 
provided over the last 5 years; 

 Extant planning permissions for a total of 976 dwellings; 

 Extant planning permission for affordable housing totals 58 units 
on two sites in Great Harwood and Huncoat. 

 
2.20. Turning to the development pipeline, the Council has set out in its 

5YHLS statement that it has land available for the next five years 
(2018-2023) totaling 1,147 dwellings, or an average of a potential 229 
dwellings per annum. This comprises sites already granted planning 
permission, allocated sites considered deliverable over this time period, 
and a small allowance of windfalls. 
 

2.21. The findings of the new HENA study (economic growth scenario of 216 
per annum), the historical formation of new dwellings over the past 5 
years (average of 246 per annum combining net new builds and LTV 
properties back into use) and the forward looking 5 year supply 
(average of 229 new dwellings per annum) are all important context for 
consideration of a suitable preferred Housing Growth Option to take 
forward in the Core Strategy.   
 
Consultation responses (Regulation 18(1) consultation) 
 

Page 146

https://www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/download-package/hyndburn-amr-201516/
https://www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/download-package/hyndburn-amr-201516/
https://www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/download-package/5-year-housing-land-supply-2017-2022/
https://www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/download-package/5-year-housing-land-supply-2017-2022/


 
Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review  
Growth Option and Spatial Option Justification Paper – January 2019 11 

 

2.22. A report on the method and outcomes of the public consultation 
exercise held in early 2018 was considered at the Council’s Cabinet 
meeting of 18th July 2018. 
 

2.23. Whilst the number of individual responses received was low, a 
summary of the responses to the Housing Growth Options was 
provided, set out in Table 3 below: 
 
Table 3: Summary of Reg18(1) responses to Housing Growth Options 

SA OBJECTIVE GROWTH OPTIONS: HOUSING 

1: CLG 
consultation 

method  

2:  
Low 

growth 

3: 
Medium 
growth  

4:  
High 

growth  

Reponses from drop-in sessions 4 3 9 4 

Responses from formal reps 0 0 5 5 

Total responses 4 3 14 9 

 
2.24. Of those who expressed a preference, the medium housing growth 

option was the preferred choice with around 50% of the total responses 
made. The high growth option was second with around 30% of 
responses.  
 
Flexibility and delivery 
 

2.25. In terms of flexibility, paragraph 11a of the revised NPPF states that in 
general ‘plans should positively seek opportunities to meet the 
development needs of their area, and be sufficiently flexible to adapt to 
rapid change’. Paragraph 81d states that planning policies in particular 
should ‘be flexible enough to accommodate needs not anticipated in 
the plan’, for example to respond to changing economic circumstances. 
 

2.26. In terms of the four housing growth options presented in Table 1, the 
Council considers that the lower housing figure of 60dpa (the CLG 
consultation method), as set out in the recently published HENA, would 
not provide the ‘flexibility’ required in terms of the NPPF. The method 
is, to a large degree, based upon past demographic trends which, in 
Hyndburn, have demonstrated net out-migration, something that the 
Council is seeking to arrest and reverse.  
 

2.27. When viewed in the context of historical completion rates in the 
Borough, extant planning commitments, and the policy ambitions of the 
area set out in local and regional strategies (all summarized above) 
Option 1 is deemed inappropriate to pursue as a preferred growth 
option. It is not considered to provide any flexibility in terms of 
attempting to reverse out migration, re-balance the housing market, 
provide affordable housing, respond to changing economic 
circumstances or help to significantly boost the supply of new homes.  
 

2.28. Furthermore, under Option 1 there are already extant planning 
commitments in place for new dwellings far in excess of the figure 

Page 147

https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=2304&Ver=4
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=2304&Ver=4


 
Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review  
Growth Option and Spatial Option Justification Paper – January 2019 12 

 

required for the entire plan period to 2036. The Council would therefore 
have no need to either allocate any further land, or progress any 
development in the Government approved Housing Zone at Huncoat. It 
would therefore not provide sufficient housing of the types that people 
need (as set out in the HENA). 
 

2.29. In terms of deliverability, paragraph 16b) of the revised NPPF states 
that plans should ‘be prepared positively, in a way that is aspirational 
but deliverable’.  
 

2.30. The Council has set out its growth ambitions clearly in its recently 
published Corporate Strategy (2018-23).  The strategy is considered 
aspirational for the area, and to contribute to both regional and national 
growth agendas. Evidence on past completions, which have occurred 
at a time of relative policy constraint (due to the age of the allocations 
element of the Local Plan – 1996), and market demand from research 
and consultation with delivery partners, suggests that delivery rates far 
higher than those set out under Option 1 are realistic. 
 

2.31. Therefore, on the basis of both flexibility and deliverability, Option 1 is 
ruled out from being taken forward as the Preferred Housing Growth 
Option. Further discussion on an appropriate growth figure relevant to 
the remaining options is set out in the Conclusion on Preferred Housing 
Growth Option below. 

 
Conclusion on Preferred Housing Growth Option 
 

2.32. Paragraph 35 of the NPPF states that, to be ‘justified’, and therefore 
pass the Government’s test of soundness at Examination in Public, 
Local Planning Authorities must set out in their Local Plans ‘an 
appropriate strategy taking into account the reasonable alternatives, 
and based on proportionate evidence’. Importantly, it no longer has to 
be demonstrated that the strategy taken forward is the most 
appropriate. 
 

2.33. For the reasons set out under Flexibility and delivery above, Option 1 is 
ruled out as a preferred option to take forward for Hyndburn. To assist 
in selecting and justifying an appropriate option to take forward, Table 
4 shows a relative assessment of each of the four housing options 
against the five key considerations discussed in this report, identifying 
positive (green), mixed (amber) or negative (red) measures. E.g. under 
‘strategies/policy ambitions’ the color assessment refers to conformity 
or areas of conflict. Under ‘consultation responses’ it will relate to the 
level of support identified. 
 
Table 4: Relative assessment measure of Housing Growth Options 

Consideration 
Housing Growth Option 

1: CLG 
method 

2: Low 
growth 

3: Medium 
growth 

4: High 
growth 

Page 148



 
Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review  
Growth Option and Spatial Option Justification Paper – January 2019 13 

 

SA Findings     

Strategies/policy ambitions     

Evidence base     

Consultation responses     

Flexibility & deliverability     

 
2.34. Table 4 clearly identifies Option 3 (Medium Housing Growth) as the 

most positive overall when taking into account all considerations.  
 
2.35. Whilst the specific figure will have changed since the Regulation 18(1) 

consultation stage3, the medium growth option was based on the 
following key principles: 

 strong housing growth to help return the demographic position in 
the Borough to one of net in-migration; 

 re-balancing the housing market (including providing more 
affordable homes); and 

 releasing some green belt land where necessary (if insufficient 
land was available in the urban area). 

 
2.36. In terms of qualitative issues raised in the SA report under Option 3, 

any potential negative effects are summarized below. In many cases 
the negative effects are identified in conjunction with positive effects. 
Importantly none of the SA objectives identify ‘significant negative 
effects’ only under Option 3: 

 SA Objective 4: Health – population increases will put significant 
pressure on existing services and facilities;  

 SA Objective 7: Access to facilities – likely dispersal of high levels 
of growth outside the urban areas means that access to 
services/facilities will likely not be possible other than by private 
car; 

 SA Objective 8: Transport – additional demands will be placed on 
the existing transport infrastructure; 

 SA Objective 10: Centre vitality and viability – population growth 
may encourage pressure for out-of-town retail development that 
would not maintain or enhance town centres; 

 SA Objective 11: Historic Environment – greater development may 
have adverse effects on the fabric or setting of heritage assets in 
urban areas an on buried archaeology in greenfield locations; 

 SA Objective 12: Waste – increased population will increase 
pressures on the Borough’s waste collection and waste 
management systems; 

                                                        
3 in light of revised ONS household projections, NPPF and the recently published HENA 

Page 149



 
Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review  
Growth Option and Spatial Option Justification Paper – January 2019 14 

 

 SA Objective 13: Resources – likely requirement for greenfield 
sites means that increased risk of potential sterilization of mineral 
resources; 

 SA Objective 14: Climate Change  and SA Objective 19: Pollution 
– increases in noise and light pollution and air pollutants from 
vehicles is likely 

 SA Objective 15: Flooding – new residential development will 
inevitably lead to a reduction in permeable surfaces; 

 SA Objective 16: Biodiversity – potential to affect the biodiversity 
and geodiversity through habitat damage/loss, fragmentation, 
disturbance to species, air pollution, increased recreation pressure 
and other impacts 

 SA Objective 17: Landscape – potential to significantly impact 
upon landscape character through development on greenfield 
land; 

 SA Objective 18: Water – increase in population will exacerbate 
problems regarding water abstraction and water pollution 

 SA Objective 20: Soils – some greenfield sites outside of the 
urban area are likely to be required 

 
2.37. The Council considers that the issues raised above around impacts on 

the environment and infrastructure can be addressed and mitigated 
through a combination of the site selection process (set out in the Site 
Assessment Methodology for the Site Allocations DPD), the 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan which will be prepared alongside the Core 
Strategy, and at a planning application stage through more detailed 
assessments/studies that are required through the Council’s adopted 
Development Management DPD policies.  
 

2.38. In summary therefore, as there is no clear reason to discount Option 3 
(Medium Housing Growth Option) on the basis of the SA process and 
findings, it is considered to be an appropriate preferred Housing 
Growth Option principle to be taken forward in the Core Strategy 
Review.  
 

2.39. Publication of the HENA study provides further clarity on taking forward 
a specific housing requirement figure in the Core Strategy. The findings 
of the HENA in relation to economic growth are discussed further in 
Section 3 of this paper. Essentially however, it concludes that an 
appropriate level of housing for Hyndburn to support the economic 
growth scenario equates to 216 dwellings per annum.  

 
2.40. From the outset, the HENA study is clear that is does not specifically 

set the housing target for local authorities but provides the evidence to 
inform its starting position. The HENA provides an assessment of the 
need for housing and employment land requirements, making no 
judgements regarding future policy decisions which the Councils may 
take. Wider plan-making should also take into account factors such as 
the supply of land for new development, Green Belt, local infrastructure 

Page 150



 
Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review  
Growth Option and Spatial Option Justification Paper – January 2019 15 

 

capacity and environmental constraints as well as policies to promote 
further development. 
 

2.41. Many of these issues will be resolved further through 2019 as more 
detailed assessments of site availability are completed, infrastructure 
capacity is investigated through an Infrastructure Delivery Plan, and the 
final preferred option from the Huncoat Masterplan work emerges. At 
this stage therefore, 216 dwellings per annum is considered to reflect 
an appropriately ambitious but pragmatic figure to take forward in the 
Local Plan. 

 
2.42. There remains continuing uncertainty around the precise quantum of 

development likely at Huncoat, with options being considered under the 
masterplan work ranging from a total of 1,000 up to 2,000 dwellings. 
The Council considers that, should the minimum level of development 
of around 1,000 homes come forward at Huncoat (on the existing 
strategic housing and employment allocations), this falls broadly in line 
with the existing Core Strategy. Should the outcome of the 
Masterplanning exercise recommend a higher quantum of residential 
development however then the impact of this will need to be 
considered further at the Regulation 19 Local Plan Publication stage.  
 

2.43. As part of the masterplan work, GVA has advised on market and 
deliverability factors. Maximum anticipated delivery rates of around 
75dpa would be expected at Huncoat under its existing ‘Housing Zone’ 
status, and up to 100dpa if granted formal Garden Village status. 
Practically therefore, a higher quantum of overall development at 
Huncoat would only translate to an additional maximum of around 
25dpa delivery during the 15 year plan period. The remaining additional 
housing anticipated at Huncoat would be delivered beyond the existing 
plan period. In these circumstances housing provision elsewhere in the 
Borough (i.e. allocations sought in the other Local Plan areas) would 
be marginally reduced to maintain an overall requirement of 216 
dwellings across the Borough.  
 

2.44. The Council will draft policies to this effect in its Regulation 18(2) 
consultation material as it considers this approach adequately reflects 
the principles set out under the Medium Housing Growth Option, in the 
updated economic context. 
 

 

Page 151



 
Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review  
Growth Option and Spatial Option Justification Paper – January 2019 16 

 

3. Employment Growth Options 
 

Summary of Employment Growth Options considered 
 

3.1. Table 5 provides a summary of the three Employment Growth Options 
that were the subject of the Regulation 18(1) consultation process and 
Sustainability Appraisal in 2018. Table 5 also provides some key 
positives and negatives of each option. 
 

Table 5: Summary of Employment Growth Options published in the Regulation 18(1) 
consultation February – April 2018 

Employment 
Growth Option 

1. Low  growth 2. Medium Growth 3. High Growth  

Approx. level of 
growth

4
: 

 

 ~4.4 hectares 

(ha) of land  
(~0.2ha per annum) 

 

 ~19.1 hectares of 

land  
(~1.0ha per annum) 

 up to 62.0 

hectares of land  
(~3.1ha per annum) 

Impact on jobs:  No/low job growth 
– stabilising job 
losses; 

 Considerable job 
growth; 

 Significant job 
growth  

Positives (+) 
Negatives (-) 

+ Growth could be 
contained within 
the urban area 

 
- Zero net jobs 

growth 
anticipated 

- No new inward 
investment on 
employment land 

 Considerable job 
growth  

 Increased 
opportunities for 
inward investment 
and supporting 
expansion of 
existing 
businesses 

 
- Sites outside of 

the urban area 
may be required 

 Significant job 
growth likely with 
greater opportunity 
for 
transformational 
growth 

 Full support for 
existing 
businesses 
(expansion) and 
inward investment 

 
- Sites outside of the 

urban area would 
be required 
(including Green 
Belt) 

ELS Scenario
5
  ‘Labour Supply’ 

scenario  
 ‘Labour Demand 

(adjusted)’ 
scenario 

 ‘Past take-up’
6
 

 
 
 
 

                                                        
4
 Levels of employment growth are net land requirements in hectares (ha). Figures are based on the 

modelling undertaken in the Employment Land Study (ELS) 2016, specifically Tables 7.21 and 7.23 
(allowing for losses and choice and flexibility). 
5
 The Employment Land Study (ELS) modelled a number of different scenarios of employment growth 

for Hyndburn. For more detailed information refer to Chapter 7 of the ELS 2016 
6
 Paragraph 9.11 of the ELS 2016 suggests there is a strong case for Hyndburn to plan for either past 

take-up, or a blended policy approach.  This option broadly equates to a level of growth planned for in 
the adopted Core Strategy. 

Page 152



 
Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review  
Growth Option and Spatial Option Justification Paper – January 2019 17 

 

Sustainability Appraisal findings 
 

3.2. A detailed Sustainability Appraisal (SA) of the three Employment 
Growth Options was undertaken by LUC. The final SA report was 
published alongside the Local Plan Regulation 18 consultation material 
in February 2018. Table 5.1 of the report (on p41) summarized the 
findings of the SA process against each of the Employment Growth 
Options, identifying the positive and negative effects anticipated 
against each of the 20 different SA objectives. 
 

3.3. Table 6 below provides basic scores and weighted scores of the SA 
findings in line with the same method set out and discussed under the 
Housing Growth Options (paragraphs 2.3 – 2.6 of this report and Table 
2). 

 
3.4. All three options come out with a positive sustainability score overall 

when a weighted scoring approach is applied. When considering the 
SA findings in balance between economic, social and environmental 
benefits, Option 1 (Low Growth) appears to be the most sustainable 
option, followed by Option 2 (Medium Growth) and Option 3 (High 
Growth). 

 
Table 6: Sustainability Appraisal ‘score’ taken from Table 5.1 of the SA Final Report 

 SA Objective GROWTH OPTIONS: EMPLOYMENT 

1: Low 
Growth 

2: Medium 
Growth  

3: High 
Growth  

1: Employment 1 5 5 

2: Economy 0 1 5 

3: Education 0 1 1 

4: Health 0 0 0 

5: Crime 0 0 0 

6: Poverty 1 3 3 

7: Access to facilities 1 0 0 

8: Transport 1 0 0 

9: Housing 0 0 0 

10: Centre Vitality & Viability 1 0 0 

11: Historic Environment 0 -3 -3 

12: Waste 0 -1 -1 

13: Resources 0 -1 -5 

14: Climate Change 5 3 0 

15: Flooding 0 -1 -1 

16: Biodiversity & Geodiversity 0 -3 -3 

17: Landscape 5 0 -3 

18: Water 0 -1 -1 

19: Pollution 5 3 0 

20: Soil 5 0 -5 

Total 1.3 0.3 -0.4 

Page 153



 
Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review  
Growth Option and Spatial Option Justification Paper – January 2019 18 

 

Overall Weighted Total 
(‘Economic’ objectives 1, 2, 8 and 
10 left as is) 
(‘Social’ objectives 3-7 and 9 
multiplied by 0.66) 
(Environmental objectives 11-20 
multiplied by 0.4) 

0.6 0.4 0.2 

 
3.5. As set out in 2.8, scoring the SA is only one way of attempting to 

differentiate at a strategic level between the development options, and 
specific qualitative matters highlighted in the SA under each are 
particularly relevant. These are discussed further in the Conclusion on 
Preferred Employment Growth Option. For specific details and 
commentary on the findings set out in Table 6, the SA report itself 
should be consulted. 
 
Relevant economic strategies / Council policy ambitions 
 

3.6. Appendix 1 of the SA report provides a full list of plans, strategies and 
programmes relevant to plan making in Hyndburn. The key strategies 
relevant to matters of employment land, and considering employment 
growth, are summarized below. 
 
Lancashire Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) 2015-25, and the 
Lancashire Growth Deal 2015-21 (Lancashire Enterprise Partnership, 
2014) 
 

3.7. The overarching purpose of the SEP is to re-establish Lancashire as an 
economic powerhouse and a national center of excellence in advanced 
manufacturing by maximimising its clear competitive strengths and 
capabilities in the aerospace, automotive, energy and health science 
related sectors. 
 

3.8. The Growth Deal sets out six key priorities to help realise these aims: 
 

 Sector development and growth; 

 Innovation excellence; 

 Skills for growth; 

 Business growth and enterprise; 

 Realising local growth potential; and 

 The renewal of Blackpool. 
 

3.9. The implications of both the SEP and Growth Deal for the Hyndburn 
Local Plan should be the promotion of economic growth and inward 
investment in the Borough. Realizing this ambition will be about 
creating the right conditions for both existing business and investor 
growth, and unlocking new development and employment 
opportunities. 
 

Page 154

https://www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/download-package/local-plan-consultation-feb18-sustainability-appraisal/


 
Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review  
Growth Option and Spatial Option Justification Paper – January 2019 19 

 

Pennine Lancashire Growth and Prosperity Plan 2016-2032 (Pennine 
Lancashire, 2016) 
 

3.10. The strategic aim of the Growth and Prosperity Plan is to sustain 
growth and productivity in the area above national rates, significantly 
reducing the productivity gap between outputs in the Pennine Lancs. 
economy and the national average. 
 

3.11. Four strategic objectives are set out: 
 

 Strategic Objective 1: Population, Labour Supply and Housing 
Growth – to grow, retain and attract a skilled working age 
population resident in Pennine Lancs. facilitated by a major house 
building programme to significantly improve the quantity, quality 
and range of the housing offer; 

 Strategic Objective 2: Productivity, Employment Growth and 
Innovation – to significantly improve the productivity of the existing 
Pennine Lancs. business base, particularly in advanced 
manufacturing, and to attract and grow businesses in higher value 
sectors (particularly digital, professional and financial services and 
logistics); 

 Strategic Objective 3: Education, Skills and Workforce 
Participation – to improve educational attainment and remove 
barriers to workforce participation; and 

 Strategic Objective 4: Connectivity and Infrastructure – major 
investment in infrastructure to support housing and employment 
growth for residents and businesses to be well connected. 
 

3.12. The implication of the Growth and Prosperity Plan for the Hyndburn 
Local Plan should again therefore be the promotion of economic 
growth and inward investment in the Borough.  
 
Hyndburn Corporate Strategy 2018-2023 (Hyndburn Borough Council, 
2018) 
 

3.13. The Council published its new Corporate Strategy in 2018 (a strategy 
for Growth, Efficiency and Quality). It sets out a clear vision for driving 
growth and prosperity in Hyndburn over the next 5 years.  
 

3.14. In relation to employment ambitions specifically, the strategy seeks to: 
 

 Create greater opportunities for all to access improved 
employment opportunities; 

 To strengthen Hyndburn’s economy through employment growth;  

 To work with the Homes and Communities Agency, Lancashire 
County Council, Infrastructure providers, local residents and other 
stakeholders to complete the Masterplan for the Huncoat Housing 
Zone; and 

Page 155



 
Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review  
Growth Option and Spatial Option Justification Paper – January 2019 20 

 

 To lobby for improved transport links to provide local people with 
better access to good job opportunities 

 
3.15. The key implications for the Hyndburn Local Plan are therefore to 

ensure that adequate growth is planned for to meet these ambitions, 
along with relevant infrastructure improvements, and to ensure that the 
outputs of the Huncoat Masterplan work are properly reflected in the 
development plan for the Borough. 
 
Relevant evidence base findings 
 

3.16. The publication of the Council’s Regulation 18(1) consultation material 
on employment growth options in early 2018 was based upon the 
findings from the Council’s Employment Land Study (ELS) published in 
early 2016. The ELS looked at the quantitative need for new 
employment land, along with qualitative assessments of existing sites.  
 

3.17. As set out in Relevant evidence base findings in the Housing Growth 
Options discussion, the Council has recently completed a new study 
jointly with Blackburn with Darwen Council, referred to as a Housing 
and Economic Needs Assessment (HENA). In terms of employment 
matters, the HENA looked at the following key matters: 
 

3.18. The key findings of the study relevant to determining an appropriate 
quantum of employment development to plan for in Hyndburn are as 
follows: 
 

 The economic growth scenario, taking into account local and 
regional strategies, the Hyndburn Business Survey, and 
knowledge of local pipeline projects and commitments, projects a 
net growth of 2,331 jobs to 2036; 

 This equates to total floorspace requirements of around 
237,000sqm by 2036: this can be broken down into 7,000sqm B1 
(office/light industrial), 89,000sqm B2 (general industrial), and 
141,000sqm B8 (distribution and logistics); 

 When floorspace is converted to land hectares (ha), the 
requirement is for a total of 58.7ha of land; 

 The HENA also concludes that a further land requirement to 
account for future losses will need to be added. The previous 
Employment Land Study (2016) provides analysis and evidence 
on this, recommending around 10ha of land over the plan period 
to be an appropriate flexibility factor to apply for future losses. 

 
3.19. Whilst the quantitative forecasting elements of the 2016 ELS are now 

superseded by the HENA study, the qualitative review of sites7 in that 
study is still considered relevant to considering the land supply/demand 
balance. A total of 72 sites were assessed by Turley, covering around 

                                                        
7
 Hyndburn Borough Council Employment Land Study (2016), p102-107 

Page 156



 
Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review  
Growth Option and Spatial Option Justification Paper – January 2019 21 

 

192ha of land. The key findings of the ELS relevant to matters of 
existing stock and land supply were as follows: 

 108ha (56%) of land assessed as being of ‘good’ quality – these 
are sites in sustainable locations that perform well in market terms 
that should be protected and retained for future employment use; 

 46ha (24%) of land assessed as being of ‘average’ quality – serve 
a particular business need but which are of a lower quality to the 
Borough’s stock of ‘good’ employment sites. Alternative uses may 
be appropriate, sites should be monitored and released where 
there is clear evidence that the site is no longer suitable for 
ongoing employment use; and 

 38ha (20%) of land assessed as being of ‘poor’ quality – no longer 
suited to modern day employment uses, high levels of vacancy, in 
many cases may be better suited for alternative uses. 

 
3.20. In addition to the HENA and ELS studies, the Council published its 

latest Authority Monitoring Report (AMR) in September 2018. In terms 
of the economy and employment, there are a range of indicators set 
out in the report including: 
 

 Changes in the employment rate over time in Hyndburn, 
compared to regional and national levels; 

 The take-up of employment floorspace (and land) over the last 5 
years, which has averaged around 3,200sqm net new B Use 
Class floorspace per year (after losses are taken into account); 

 Extant planning permissions showing the pipeline of new 
employment floorspace, over 118,000sqm of new B Use Class 
floorspace in total (around 75% on the Whitebirk Strategic site); 
and 

 Specific progress on development of the strategic employment 
sites allocated in the Core Strategy. 

 
3.21. The findings of the new HENA study, the qualitative assessments of 

existing employment sites sets out in the 2015 ELS, and the historical 
land/floorspace take and extant commitments are all important context 
for consideration of a suitable preferred Employment Growth Option to 
take forward in the Core Strategy. 
 
Consultation responses (Regulation 18(1) consultation) 
 

3.22. A report on the method and outcomes of the public consultation 
exercise held in early 2018 was considered at the Council’s Cabinet 
meeting of 18th July 2018. 

 
3.23. Whilst the number of individual responses received was low, a 

summary of the responses to the Employment Growth Options was 
provided, set out in Table 7 below: 
 
Table 7: Summary of Reg18(1) responses to Employment Growth Options 

Page 157

https://www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/download-package/hyndburn-amr-201516/
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=2304&Ver=4
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=2304&Ver=4


 
Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review  
Growth Option and Spatial Option Justification Paper – January 2019 22 

 

SA OBJECTIVE GROWTH OPTIONS: EMPLOYMENT 

1: Low 
Growth 

2: Medium 
Growth 

3: High 
Growth  

Reponses from drop-in sessions 3 10 5 

Responses from formal reps 0 3 4 

Total responses 3 13 9 

 
3.24. Of those who expressed a preference, the medium employment growth 

option was the preferred choice with around 50% of the total responses 
made. The high growth option was second with around 35% of 
responses. 
 
Flexibility and delivery 
 

3.25. In terms of flexibility, paragraph 11a of the revised NPPF states that in 
general ‘plans should positively seek opportunities to meet the 
development needs of their area, and be sufficiently flexible to adapt to 
rapid change’. Paragraph 81d states that planning policies in particular 
should ‘be flexible enough to accommodate needs not anticipated in 
the plan’, for example to respond to changing economic circumstances. 
 

3.26. In terms of the three employment growth options presented in Table 5, 
Options 1 and 2 provide a relatively low level of land for businesses to 
expand within the district. Indeed under both scenarios, the existing 
commitments at Whitebirk (which is currently developing at great pace) 
and elsewhere within the Borough would already more than meet the 
needs over the whole plan period.  
 

3.27. To provide further opportunities for existing businesses to expand, 
promote inward investment, and provide the flexibility advocated in the 
NPPF, only Option 3 would satisfy this objective. Whilst a higher level 
of growth may not necessarily materialize over a plan period if 
economic conditions deteriorate, planning for a higher level of growth 
naturally provides the flexibility promoted in the NPPF. In addition, 
provision of an allowance for the replacement of potential future losses 
of poorer quality employment sites is considered key factor in satisfying 
the requirement for flexibility. 

 
3.28. In terms of deliverability, paragraph 16b) of the revised NPPF states 

that plans should ‘be prepared positively, in a way that is aspirational 
but deliverable’.  
 

3.29. The Council has set out its growth ambitions clearly in its recently 
published Corporate Strategy (2018-23).  The strategy is considered 
aspirational for the area, and to contribute to both regional and national 
growth agendas. Evidence on past completions, and market demand 
from research and consultation with delivery partners, suggests that 
delivery rates akin to those presented under Option 3 are realistic. 
Indeed, the option itself is predicated on ‘past take up rates’ of 

Page 158



 
Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review  
Growth Option and Spatial Option Justification Paper – January 2019 23 

 

employment land, and therefore is by default considered to be 
realistically deliverable going forward. 
 

3.30. Therefore, on the basis of both flexibility and deliverability, Options 1 
and 2 should be ruled out from being taken forward as the Preferred 
Employment Growth Option. Further discussion on an appropriate 
growth figure is however set out in the Conclusion on Preferred 
Employment Growth Option below. 
 
Conclusion on Preferred Employment Growth Option 

 
3.31. Paragraph 35 of the NPPF states that, to be ‘justified’, and therefore 

pass the Government’s test of soundness at Examination in Public, 
Local Planning Authorities must set out in their Local Plans ‘an 
appropriate strategy taking into account the reasonable alternatives, 
and based on proportionate evidence’. Importantly, it no longer has to 
be demonstrated that the strategy taken forward is the most 
appropriate. 
 

3.32. For the reasons set out under Flexibility and delivery above, Options 1 
and 2 are both ruled out as a preferred option principle to take forward 
for Hyndburn. Table 8 however provides an overview of the relative 
assessment of each of the three employment options against the five 
key considerations discussed in this report in line with the method set 
out in 2.33. Green shading represents positive outcomes or conformity, 
amber mixed, and red negative. 
 
Table 8: Relative assessment measure of Employment Growth Options 

Consideration Employment Growth Option 

1: Low 
Growth 

2: Medium 
Growth 

3: High 
growth 

SA Findings    

Strategies/policy ambitions    

Evidence base    

Consultation responses    

Flexibility & deliverability    

 
3.33. Table 8 clearly identifies Option 3 (High Employment Growth) as the 

most positive overall when taking into account all considerations. 
 

3.34. Again, as set out in the Conclusion on Preferred Housing Growth 
Option, the specific figure that relates to a ‘high growth’ option for 
employment will have changed since the Regulation 18(1) consultation 
stage. However, the option was based on the following key principles: 
 

Page 159



 
Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review  
Growth Option and Spatial Option Justification Paper – January 2019 24 

 

 Providing opportunities for significant job growth in the Borough; 

 Offering support for existing businesses to expand, and 
encouraging inward investment; and 

 Releasing some green belt land where necessary (if insufficient 
land was available in the urban area). 

 
3.35. In terms of qualitative issues raised in the SA report under Option 3, 

any potential negative effects are summarized below. In many cases 
the negative effects are identified in conjunction with positive effects: 
 

 SA Objective 4: Health –opportunities to walk and cycle are more 
limited, also higher levels of development increase the risk of 
adverse effects on existing open spaces should these be 
developed as employment land;  

 SA Objective 6: Poverty – employment land (outside the existing 
urban area) may not be as easily accessible by sustainable 
transport thereby limiting opportunities for some people to gain 
employment in the Borough; 

 SA Objective 7: Access to facilities – likely dispersal of high levels 
of growth outside the urban areas means that access to 
services/facilities will likely not be possible other than by private 
car; 

 SA Objective 8: Transport – additional demands will be placed on 
the existing transport infrastructure. Congestion and emissions will 
also increase; 

 SA Objective 10: Centre vitality and viability – there may be 
pressure for out-of-town retail developments to support the 
delivery of large scale employment developments which would not 
maintain or enhance the vitality or viability of town and retail 
centres in Hyndburn; 

 SA Objective 11: Historic Environment – greater development may 
have adverse effects on the fabric or setting of heritage assets in 
urban areas an on buried archaeology in greenfield locations; 

 SA Objective 12: Waste – new employment will inevitably increase 
pressures on the Borough’s waste collection and waste 
management systems; 

 SA Objective 13: Resources – likely requirement for greenfield 
sites means that increased risk of potential sterilization of mineral 
resources; 

 SA Objective 14: Climate Change  and SA Objective 19: Pollution 
– increases in greenhouse gas emissions, noise and light pollution 
and air pollutants from vehicles is likely 

 SA Objective 15: Flooding – new residential development will 
inevitably lead to a reduction in permeable surfaces; 

 SA Objective 16: Biodiversity – potential to affect the biodiversity 
and geodiversity through habitat damage/loss, fragmentation, 
disturbance to species, air pollution, increased recreation pressure 
and other impacts 

Page 160



 
Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review  
Growth Option and Spatial Option Justification Paper – January 2019 25 

 

 SA Objective 17: Landscape – potential to significantly impact 
upon landscape character through development on greenfield 
land; 

 SA Objective 18: Water – increase in population will lead to a 
greater chance of problems regarding water abstraction and water 
pollution 

 SA Objective 20: Soils – increased development on greenfield 
land 

 
3.36. Of the negative effects listed above, only SO Objective 13 (Resources) 

and SO Objective 20 (Soil) are identified as having potential significant 
negative effects in the SA, with no corresponding positive effects 
identified to balance them out.  
 

3.37. All the specific issues raised are noted. The Council will address these 
and mitigate impacts through a combination of the site selection 
process (set out in the Site Assessment Methodology for the Site 
Allocations DPD), the Infrastructure Delivery Plan which will be 
prepared alongside the Core Strategy, and at a planning application 
stage through more detailed assessments/studies that are required 
through the Council’s adopted Development Management DPD 
policies. 
 

3.38. In summary therefore, there is no clear reason to discount Option 3 
(High Employment Growth) on the basis of the SA process and 
findings. A high employment growth scenario is considered to be an 
appropriate preferred Employment Growth Option principle to be taken 
forward in the Core Strategy Review. As set out in 3.18, the HENA 
concludes that, based on the most up to date evidence, a High 
Employment Growth scenario figure based on past take-up rates 
equates to 58.7ha of employment land 2016-36, equivalent to an 
average of 2.95ha per annum. A further 10ha of employment land 
will be allocated to allow for potential future losses and flexibility. 
 
 
Alignment of housing and economic growth scenarios and the 
Huncoat Garden Village  
 

3.39. Whilst the preferred options arising from this paper are for the medium 
Housing Growth Option, and high Employment Growth Option, the 
HENA study has considered these aspects together. The level of 
housing required to support the planned economic growth is therefore 
considered to be aligned appropriately. Essentially, the HENA has 
modelled the level of population growth that would be needed (and 
therefore households and dwellings) to ensure that the resident labour 
supply within Hyndburn broadly increases in accordance with the 
forecast increase in jobs.  

 
 

Page 161



 
Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review  
Growth Option and Spatial Option Justification Paper – January 2019 26 

 

4. Preferred Spatial Option 
 

Summary of Spatial Options considered 
 
4.1. Paragraph 1.2 of this report provides a summary of the key principle 

behind each of the Spatial Options considered. The Regulation 18(1) 
consultation material provided a combination of text, tables and maps 
illustrating the potential impact on each Local Plan area under each 
Spatial Option and combination of Growth Option scenarios. The key 
perceived strengths, opportunities, weaknesses and threats were also 
presented.  
 

4.2. Tables 9 and 10 provide a summary of the anticipated proportion of 
development for each Local Plan area under each of the Spatial Option 
scenarios. The figures were highlighted as indicative only, and 
designed to show the relative impacts of applying the different 
development principles under each Spatial Option. The actual scale of 
development was highlighted as relating to both the Spatial Option and 
Housing and Employment Growth Option selected 

 
Table 9: HOUSING – Indicative distribution of housing growth (% of total planned growth) under 
each Spatial Option 

Local Plan Area 

 Spatial Option 

1.  
Core 

Strategy 

2.  
Garden 
Village 

3.  
Transport 
Corridor 

4.  
Market 
Focus 

5. 
Land 

Availability 

A
c
c
ri
n
g
to

n
 

Central 

7
5
%

 o
f 

to
ta

l 

23% 

7
9
%

 o
f 

to
ta

l 

19% 

7
3
%

 o
f 

to
ta

l 

15% 

7
0
%

 o
f 

to
ta

l 

8% 

8
2
%

 o
f 

to
ta

l 

30% 

Baxenden 4% 3% 4% 10% 3% 

Church 4% 3% 18% 2% 8% 

Clayton le Moors 10% 8% 8% 5% 5% 

Huncoat 18% 33% 18% 20% 13% 

Oswaldtwistle 16% 13% 10% 25% 23% 

Great Harwood 15% 13% 7% 20% 13% 

Rishton 10% 8% 20% 10% 5% 

 
 

Table 10: EMPLOYMENT – Indicative distribution of employment growth (% of total planned 
growth) under each Spatial Option 

Local Plan Area 

Spatial Option 

1.  
Core 

Strategy 

2.  
Garden 
Village 

3. 
Transport 
Corridor 

4.  
Market 
Focus 

5.  
Land 

Availability
8
 

A
c
c
ri
n
g

to
n

 

Central 4% 5% - - - 

Baxenden - - 5% - - 

Church 5% 6% 5% - - 

                                                        
8
 May not add up to exactly 100% under Spatial Option 5 due to rounding 

Page 162



 
Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review  
Growth Option and Spatial Option Justification Paper – January 2019 27 

 

Clayton le Moors 6% 7% 20% 12% 21% 

Huncoat 35% 20% 20% 12% 40% 

Oswaldtwistle 3% 4% - - - 

Great Harwood 6% 6% - 6% 2% 

Rishton 2% 2% 5% - - 

Employment sites  

Whitebirk 30% 30% 30% 35% 31% 

Altham 9% 20% 15% 35% 7% 

 
Sustainability Appraisal findings 
 

4.3. A detailed Sustainability Appraisal (SA) of the five Spatial Options was 
undertaken by Land Use Consultants (LUC). The final SA report was 
published alongside the Local Plan Regulation 18 consultation material 
in February 2018. Table 6.1 of the report (on p46) summarized the 
findings of the SA process against each of the Spatial Options, 
identifying the positive and negative effects anticipated against each of 
the 20 different SA objectives. 
 

4.4. Table 11 below provides basic scores and weighted scores of the SA 
findings in line with the same method set out and discussed under the 
Housing Growth Options (paragraphs 2.3 – 2.6 of this report and Table 
2). Table 11 therefore provides an overall relative sustainability 
assessment of each of the five Spatial Options when considered 
equally against all 20 SA objectives. Due to Hyndburn covering a 
relatively small geographical area, and with the main settlements being 
so easily accessible and interconnected, in practice it is perhaps harder 
to distinguish clear sustainability benefits between the Spatial Options 
presented, as it is for the various Growth Options presented. 
 

4.5. Four of the five options come out with a positive sustainability score 
overall when a weighted scoring approach is applied. When 
considering the SA findings in balance between economic, social and 
environmental benefits, Option 5 (Land Availability led approach) 
appears to be the most sustainable option, followed by Option 1 (Core 
Strategy led approach). Options 2 (Garden Village led approach) and 3 
(Transport Corridor led approach) are ranked similarly, whilst Option 5 
(Market Focus led approach) scores significantly worse overall and the 
only negative overall weighted score. 

 
  Table 11: Sustainability Appraisal ‘score’ taken from Table 6.1 of the SA Final Report 

 SA OBJECTIVE SPATIAL OPTIONS 

1: 
Core 

Strategy 

2: 
Garden 
Village 

3: 
Transport 
Corridors 

4: 
Market 
Focus 

5: 
Land 

Availability 

1: Employment 0 3 3 3 3 

Page 163



 
Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review  
Growth Option and Spatial Option Justification Paper – January 2019 28 

 

2: Economy 1 5 5 1 5 

3: Education 0 0 0 0 1 

4: Health 3 0 0 -3 3 

5: Crime 0 0 0 0 0 

6: Poverty 5 5 5 5 5 

7: Access to facilities 3 0 0 -3 3 

8: Transport 3 0 0 -3 3 

9: Housing 5 5 5 5 5 

10: Centre Vitality & Viability 3 0 0 -3 3 

11: Historic Environment -5 -5 -5 -1 -5 

12: Waste 0 0 0 0 0 

13: Resources 0 0 0 0 0 

14: Climate Change 3 0 0 -3 3 

15: Flooding -1 -1 -5 -1 -5 

16: Biodiversity & Geodiversity -5 -5 -1 -5 -5 

17: Landscape -1 -1 -5 -5 -1 

18: Water -1 -1 -1 -1 -1 

19: Pollution 0 0 0 -3 0 

20: Soil 5 5 5 5 5 

Total 0.9 0.5 0.3 -0.6 1.1 

Overall Weighted Total 
(‘Economic’ objectives 1, 2, 8 
and 10 left as is) 
(‘Social’ objectives 3-7 and 9 
multiplied by 0.66) 
(Environmental objectives 11-20 
multiplied by 0.4) 

0.8 0.6 0.5 -0.2 1.1 

 
4.6. As set out in 2.8, scoring the SA is only one way of attempting to 

differentiate at a strategic level between the development options, and 
specific qualitative matters highlighted in the SA under each are 
particularly relevant. These are discussed further in the Conclusion on 
Preferred Spatial Option. For specific details and commentary on the 
findings set out in Table 9, the SA report itself should be consulted. 
 
 
Relevant strategies / Council policy ambitions 
 

4.7. Appendix 1 of the SA report provides a full list of plans, strategies and 
programmes relevant to plan making in Hyndburn.  
 

4.8. Whilst a number of strategies relevant to considering the Housing and 
Employment Growth Options have been set out earlier in this report, 
not many specifically reflect issues around the location or distribution of 
development, and therefore impact upon the choice of Spatial Option 
for the Borough. The Specific points that are covered in these 
strategies are however summarized below. 

 

Page 164

https://www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/download-package/local-plan-consultation-feb18-sustainability-appraisal/


 
Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review  
Growth Option and Spatial Option Justification Paper – January 2019 29 

 

Pennine Lancashire Growth and Prosperity Plan 2016-2032 (Pennine 
Lancashire, 2016) 
 

4.9. The Growth and Prosperity Plan highlights the following housing sites 
in Hyndburn as ‘strategic’ in the context of Pennine Lancashire:  

 Lyndon Playing Fields, Great Harwood (~200 units) - now under 
construction;  

 Clayton Triangle, Clayton-le-Moors (~200 units); and 

 Huncoat, Accrington (~800 units on the existing strategic 
allocations) 
 

4.10. The Growth and Prosperity Plan also highlights employment sites of 
strategic significance in Pennine Lancashire. In Hyndburn these 
include: 

 Whitebirk (Frontier Park) at J6 of the M65 – now under construction 

 Junction 7 Business Park at J7 of the M65; and 

 Huncoat (strategic allocation set out in the adopted Core Strategy) 
at J8 of the M65. 

 
East Lancashire Highways and Transport Masterplan (LCC and BwD 
Council, 2014) and East Lancashire Strategic Cycle Network 
Investment Plan (LCC, 2014) 

 
4.11. The East Lancashire Transport Masterplan and Strategic Cycle 

Network Investment Plan seek to deliver good, reliable connections for 
people, goods and services across East Lancashire, and to facilitate 
modal choice of transport. Specific projects relevant to Hyndburn 
include: 

 Pennine Reach quality bus route – work completed in 2017 

 Whinney Hill Link Road (Huncoat); and 

 East Lancashire Strategic Cycle Network improvements between 
Accrington and Rossendale, and along the Huncoat Greenway. 

 
Hyndburn Corporate Strategy 2018-2023 (Hyndburn Borough Council, 
2018) 
 

4.12. The Council’s new Corporate Strategy (2018-2023) identifies a number 
of key regeneration priorities on brownfield sites in the Borough, 
including Clayton Triangle and Woodnook Vale (Accrington). These 
include plans for both new build and refurbishment of existing stock. 
 

4.13. The Corporate Strategy also highlights the key role that housing growth 
at Huncoat, in the Government’s designated Housing Zone, should 
play in the future rebalancing of the housing market in the Borough. 
 
 
Relevant evidence base findings 
 

Page 165



 
Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review  
Growth Option and Spatial Option Justification Paper – January 2019 30 

 

4.14. There is currently no specific evidence base document that alone is 
relevant to considering the spatial distribution of growth. Elements of 
numerous studies (such as the Hyndburn Retail Study, Strategic 
Housing Land Availability Assessment, Employment land Study, and 
Green Belt Assessment along with Highways Masterplans etc.) are 
appropriate to consider in relation to issues around spatial distribution. 
 
 
Consultation responses (Regulation 18(1) consultation) 
 

4.15. A report on the method and outcomes of the public consultation 
exercise held in early 2018 was considered at the Council’s Cabinet 
meeting of 18th July 2018. 
 

4.16. Whilst the number of individual responses received was low, a 
summary of the responses to the Spatial Options was provided to 
Cabinet, this is set out in Table 12 below. It is clear from the data set 
out in Table 12 that no clear overall preferred Spatial Option arises 
from the consultation responses. 
 

Table 12: Summary of Reg18(1) responses to Spatial Options (where specific preferences 
were stated) 

SA OBJECTIVE Spatial Options 

1: 
Core 

Strategy 

2: 
Garden 
Village 

3: 
Transport 
Corridor 

4: 
Market 
Focus 

5: 
Land 

Availability 

Reponses from drop-in sessions 5 4 2 0 5 

Responses from formal reps 3 2 2 6 2 

Total responses 8 6 4 6 7 

 
 
Flexibility and delivery 

 
4.17. Paragraphs 11a and 81d of the revised NPPF refer to the need for 

plans to be sufficiently flexible in their approach.  
 

4.18. In terms of selecting a preferred Spatial Option to take forward in the 
Core Strategy Review and Site Allocations DPD, relevant factors to 
consider when thinking about flexibility are: 

 The identification of broad locations for development (in line with 
para 23, NPPF),identified through provision of a key diagram; 

 Being able to provide an adequate mix of small and large sites in the 
Site Allocations DPD, ensuring there is not an over-reliance on 
strategic allocations; 

 Avoiding being overly prescriptive/specific about quantum of 
development by settlement; and 

 Considering identification of safeguarded land for beyond the plan 
period. 

 

Page 166

https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=2304&Ver=4
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=2304&Ver=4


 
Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review  
Growth Option and Spatial Option Justification Paper – January 2019 31 

 

4.19. In terms of deliverability, paragraph 16b of the revised NPPF states 
that plans should ‘be prepared positively, in a way that is aspirational 
but deliverable’. 
 

4.20. In terms of the five spatial options presented at Regulation 18(1) stage, 
indicative proportions of development were provided for each (set out 
in Tables 9 and 10 of this report). To ensure sufficient flexibility in the 
plan, and to ensure the preferred Spatial Option is deliverable, the 
Council will seek to avoid being overly prescriptive in the quantum of 
development by Local Plan area in the final adopted Core Strategy. 
Instead, an approach that ensures a response to land availability and 
viability issues, ensuring that the plan is deliverable, will be one to be 
taken forward. 
 

4.21. Some thoughts on issues relevant to each Spatial Option that may 
have an impact on flexibility and deliverability though include: 
 

 Option 1: Core Strategy led approach – predicated on a balanced 
development strategy, therefore would provide a good mix of sites 
for housing. Questions remain over deliverability of employment 
uses at scale at Huncoat; 

 Option 2: Garden Village led approach – significant housing focus 
at Huncoat to be supported by Masterplan and delivery strategy. 
Employment uses shifted more to Altham considered more 
deliverable from a market perspective. Risk of overreliance on 
strategic sites however; 

 Option 3: Transport Corridor led approach – Significant shift of 
development from Great Harwood to Rishton. Though less 
attractive to the market, still considered deliverable, and 
development site options are available;  

 Option 4: Market Focus led approach – an approach fully led by 
the market would have no anticipated delivery issues, however it 
would be unlikely to provide a sufficiently balanced range of site 
types and sizes to ensure sufficient flexibility over the plan period; 

 Option 5: Land Availability led approach – this would see the 
greatest focus of development in Accrington of all the options 
(over 80% of the housing and 60% the employment) therefore 
least flexible in terms of range of sites and locations. Accrington 
typically has the more significant viability issues as well. 

 
Conclusion on Preferred Spatial Option 
 

4.22. Paragraph 35 of the NPPF states that, to be ‘justified’, and therefore 
pass the Government’s test of soundness at Examination in Public, 
Local Planning Authorities must set out in their Local Plans ‘an 
appropriate strategy taking into account the reasonable alternatives, 
and based on proportionate evidence’. Importantly, it no longer has to 
be demonstrated that the strategy taken forward is the most 
appropriate. 

Page 167



 
Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review  
Growth Option and Spatial Option Justification Paper – January 2019 32 

 

 
4.23. Table 13 provides an overview of the relative assessment of each of 

the five Spatial Options against the five key considerations discussed in 
this report, in line with the method set out in 2.33. Green shading 
represents positive outcomes or conformity, amber mixed, and red 
negative. Grey refers to no specific assessment against that measure. 

 
Table 13: Relative assessment measure of Spatial Options 

Consideration Spatial Option 

1: 
Core 

Strategy 

2: 
Garden 
Village 

3: 
Transport 
Corridor 

4: 
Market 
Focus 

5: 
Land 
Avail. 

SA Findings      

Strategies/policy 
ambitions 

     

Evidence base      

Consultation 
responses 

     

Flexibility & 
deliverability 

     

 
4.24. Whilst there are clear differences in some of the considerations, when it 

comes to ‘flexibility and deliverability’, it is hard to assess relative 
advantages/disadvantages between the different Spatial Options. This 
will in effect be resolved through the Site Allocations DPD process as 
Site Assessments take place. 
 

4.25. As summarized in Table 13, the SA identified the ‘Land Availability’ led 
approach as one of the most sustainable approaches overall when 
assessed against the 20 different SA objectives. Whilst the Council 
recognizes merit in taking into account land that is known to be 
available, it does not consider this to be an appropriate overarching 
development strategy. Plan making, and the future development of the 
Borough should be driven by policy ambitions, as opposed to just 
where land is known to be available. In any case, since the Regulation 
18(1) consultation took place, more additional land has been identified 
as having potential for allocation through the Call for Sites exercise. 
This means that the specific distribution by settlement set out under 
this option may have changed. 
 

4.26. Following the SA process, the other principles judged to be sustainable 
overall were to follow the existing Core Strategy approach (in effect a 
balanced development strategy across the major settlements), a 
Garden Village approach, focusing a significant element of the 
Accrington housing allocation in one location to ensure infrastructure 
improvements and Masterplanning can take place, and a Transport 
Corridor approach ensuring that development is focused to the more 
accessible settlements in general. 

Page 168



 
Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review  
Growth Option and Spatial Option Justification Paper – January 2019 33 

 

 
4.27. Taking into account the strategies and policy ambitions of the area, the 

Council considers that the preferred Spatial Option to take forward 
should therefore be one that combines all the principles set out in 4.26 
 

4.28. As stated in 4.20, the Council is not seeking to be overly prescriptive in 
the quantum of development by Local Plan area in the final adopted 
Core Strategy. However, the summary below and Figures 1 and 2 
provide an indication of how the different principles have influenced the 
decision on the distribution of development to be taken forward in the 
Core Strategy Regulation 18(2) consultation: 
 

 Core Strategy approach – housing is distributed broadly in 
accordance with the existing population base. Employment is 
focused around the strategic sites at Whitebirk and Huncoat, along 
with minor expansion at Altham; 

 Garden Village approach – an adjustment is made to reflect the 
strategic role of Huncoat for housing under the Garden Village 
concept. A Garden Village would shift focus away from 
employment to a greater housing role in that area.  

 Transport Corridor approach – adjustments to housing proportions 
by some settlements are made in accordance with their proximity 
and accessibility to key transport corridors (railway line and 
strategic road network equal priority, then Pennine Reach). For 
employment, the strategic road network is first priority over public 
transport. 

 Land Availability led approach – the final adjustments will take into 
account ‘land availability’. For housing, the Council has created a 
Housing Scenario Model9, details of which are set out in Appendix 
A. Outputs from the site assessment process in tandem with 
preparation of the Site Allocations DPD, will help gain a clearer 
picture on land availability. The Housing Scenario Model can then 
be used to ensure that the final distribution of allocations (to be 
confirmed at the Publication stage in 2020) balances policy 
aspirations with minimizing impact on Green Belt / Countryside 
Area around the Borough.  

 
4.29. Following the principles set out above, the final Preferred Spatial 

Option will therefore be a new Spatial Development Strategy for the 
Borough10, incorporating a new Garden Village at Huncoat, and 
strategic employment allocations along the M65 corridor. The strategy 
reflects the aspirations for growth and transformational change in the 
Borough over the plan period. The Garden Village is supported by 
Government following its designated Housing Zone status. Alongside 
the emerging masterplan for Huncoat, the Council has commissioned a 

                                                        
9
 The Housing Scenario Model is designed to help ensure that the maximum use of available land is 

made in selecting a preferred option, and for helping to demonstrate the impact of different distributions 
and quantum of development 
10

 This will replace the existing Policy BD1: The Balanced Development Strategy set out in the adopted 
Core Strategy 

Page 169



 
Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review  
Growth Option and Spatial Option Justification Paper – January 2019 34 

 

delivery strategy that will ensure that the final scheme taken forward is 
achievable in line with NPPF. 
 

4.30. The Council currently has a pool of sites from which it will select its 
preferred ones for allocation at Regulation 19 stage of the Local Plan 
(scheduled for early 2020). These are due to go through the agreed 
Site Assessment Methodology as part of the preparation of the Site 
Allocations DPD. Whilst the land known to be available from the ‘long 
list of sites’ that the Council is currently considering will diminish, the 
general principles for the Spatial Development Strategy are set out 
above and the Council does not intend to change at this stage.  
 

Page 170



 
Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review  
Growth Option and Spatial Option Justification Paper – January 2019 35 

 

Figure 1: Indicative proportions of housing development under the Council’s emerging preferred spatial option for growth   

 P
age 171



 
Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review  
Growth Option and Spatial Option Justification Paper – January 2019 36 

 

Figure 2: Indicative proportions of employment development under the Council’s emerging preferred spatial option for growth 
 

 
 

P
age 172



 
Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review  
Growth Option and Spatial Option Justification Paper – January 2019 37 

 

5. Summary / Conclusions 
 
5.1. The Council has set out the reasoning in this paper for selection of its 

preferred Growth Option for both housing and employment in the new 
Local Plan, and its preferred Spatial Option which will set the broad 
distribution of growth in the Borough.  
 

5.2. In summary the preferred Growth Options are: 
 

 Housing Growth Option – plan for at least 216 dwellings per 
annum between 2016 and 2036; 

 Employment Growth Option – plan for up to 68.7ha of land for 
employment uses between 2016 and 2036. This includes land to 
support the economic growth scenario, and provides an element 
of flexibility to allow for future losses of existing employment land; 

 
5.3. The Growth Option figures set out do not take into account completions 

since 2016, or existing planning commitments. These will be taken into 
account in the Site Allocations DPD and any decisions on the amount 
of land to allocate will equate to residual figures. Sites will be selected 
from the ‘long list of sites’ to be presented in the Site Allocations DPD 
work. 
 

5.4. In summary, the preferred Spatial Option is: 
 

 Spatial Option Distribution – a new Spatial Development 
Strategy for the Borough, incorporating a strategic Garden Village 
at Huncoat, with remaining housing growth focused in a balanced 
manner around key transport corridors, and any strategic 
employment allocations focused along the M65 corridor.  

 
5.5. These will be taken forward in draft Core Strategy policies to be 

presented in the Regulation 18(2) Local Plan public consultation 
scheduled for early 2019. The draft policies will also be subject to 
further Sustainability Appraisal work. 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 173



 
Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review  
Growth Option and Spatial Option Justification Paper – January 2019 38 

 

Appendix A: Hyndburn Council Housing Scenario Model 
 

To help understand the implications of the different Growth Options and Spatial 

Options being considered by the Council during preparation of the Local Plan a 

spreadsheet model has been created. This is referred to as the Hyndburn Housing 

Scenario Model. The model demonstrates the shortfall or surplus of housing land by 

area, depending upon a given housing requirement and distribution of development 

across the Borough. 

 

An example of the scenario to be included in the Regulation 18(2) consultation 

material (justified in this paper), is presented overleaf. It provides the following 

information on each Local Plan area (ward) in the Borough: 

 

 Housing Requirement 

o Total Housing Requirement (2016-36) 

o Current number of dwellings 

 New Dwellings to date (2016-2018) 

o Net completions  

o Net long term vacant properties brought back into use  

 Land Supply (2018-2036) relating to planning permissions 

o Net planning permissions already granted likely to come forward 

o Windfalls – dwelling units likely to come forward on unallocated sites 

o Losses – existing dwelling units likely to be lost from residential use 

 The Land Supply relating to potential site allocations 

o Within the existing urban area 

o Within the Countryside area 

o Within Green Belt 

 

The outputs from the Housing Scenario Model will be used to develop policies in both 

the Core Strategy Review and the Site Allocations DPD. The fields relating to land 

supply from potential site allocations remain incomplete at this stage, pending site 

assessments and outcomes of the Regulation 18(2) consultation process in early 

2019. 

 

The Housing Scenario Model will be updated once more detailed information is 

available on land availability and suitability and will be used to help produce the 

Council’s Publication version of its Local Plan in 2020. 

 
 
 

Page 174



 
Hyndburn Local Plan – Core Strategy Review  
Growth Option and Spatial Option Justification Paper – January 2019 39 

 

Hyndburn Council Housing Scenario Model – example housing/supply balance of the Preferred Spatial Option @ 216 dwellings per annum. NOTE: at this 

stage the full land supply position is unknown; only the total figures for sites within the urban area are entered below to indicate the best possible scenario, 
although some of these may prove to be undeliverable or unavailable following site assessments and public consultation at Regulation 18(2) stage. 
 

 
 

P
age 175



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Hyndburn 2036: 

The Local Plan  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Site Allocations Development Plan 

Document (DPD) 

 

Regulation 18(2) Consultation Draft: February 2019 

 

  

Page 177



 

 

The Site Allocations DPD: Executive Summary 

The Council has prepared a Core Strategy Review DPD consultation draft document which 

sets out proposed growth for housing and employment in the Borough to 2036. This 

separate consultation draft paper provides details on how the Council is considering suitable 

sites to be allocated to meet the planned growth set out in the Core Strategy. Sufficient 

suitable, available and achievable sites will need to be identified to ensure that the growth 

ambitions of the area are fulfilled. 

At this stage the Site Allocations DPD is only considering land allocations for development in 

the Borough. At a later stage however the Site Allocations DPD will also clarify other areas 

relevant to the spatial planning of the area, confirming boundaries of protective designations 

such as Green Belt and Countryside Area, along with the green infrastructure network. 

Further details as to how to get involved with viewing and commenting on the Hyndburn 

2036 Local Plan are contained within this document. This is a key time for the Borough, so 

please do get involved and help contribute to the debate. By getting involved now, you can 

help to shape the future development of Hyndburn to ensure that Hyndburn in 2036 is the 

best that it can be. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 178



 

 

Table of Contents 
 

1.0 Introduction ...................................................................... 1 

2.0 Assessment of Sites ........................................................ 3 

3.0 Outcomes of Assessment ............................................... 6 

4.0 Current Consultation – how to get involved ................. 9 

5.0 What happens next? ...................................................... 10 

 

Appendix 1:Site Assessment Methodology & Framework 11 

Appendix 2:Sites Screened out at Stage 2 ......................... 34 

Appendix 3 Overview maps of Stage 3 sites ...................... 38 

 

 

                                                                                                                                                   

Page 179



Hyndburn Local Plan: Site Allocations DPD (Regulation 18 consultation) - February 2019 

1 

1.0 Introduction 

 
1.1 The Site Allocations DPD (SA DPD) is a key part of the Local Plan for Hyndburn which 

will guide development to the most appropriate locations in the Borough.  A key role of 

the SA DPD is to allocate sites which will make a significant contribution to meeting the 

future development requirements of the Borough up to 2036. 

 

1.2 The amount of land and number of sites which will be allocated will be determined by 

wider decisions to be taken, such as the overall strategy for development in the 

Borough, the levels of housing and employment growth and how this will be distributed 

across the Borough.  These wider decisions are being developed through the Core 

Strategy Review and consultation on the Regulation 18(2) version of the Core Strategy 

is taking place at the same time as this document.     

 

1.3 Previous consultation (referred to as Regulation 18(1) consultation) undertaken in 

early 2018 sought views on the scope of the SA DPD to ensure it covered all relevant 

matters and to determine a methodology for assessing sites that may be possible 

candidates for allocation. A draft methodology was presented which would be used to 

assess all sites in a consistent manner in relation to a number of factors relating to 

availability, suitability and achievability. A number of comments were made at the 

consultation stage, which have been taken into account in determining the final Site 

Assessment Methodology and Framework.   

 

1.4 The focus of this consultation is to present outcomes of the site assessment exercise 

undertaken so far and seek feedback from interested parties who may have views and 

further information about sites which may have potential for allocation/designation.  

Further details of the assessment are included at Section 2.0 below. 

 

1.5 It is important to make clear that no decisions have been taken about which sites will 

be allocated for development or protected from development at this stage for the 

reasons set out in 1.2 above. This will largely be determined at the next stage of the 

plan making process, known as Regulation 19 when a “preferred option” is presented 

for consultation. There will be a formal opportunity at Regulation 19 stage to make 

comments on the plan before it is submitted for independent examination.   

 

1.6 The Regulation 18(1) consultation also identified several topics that that the SA DPD 

will cover.   For clarification, these are shown in table 1 below along with the relevant 

stage at which  they will be consulted on:   

 

Table 1: Site Allocation DPD topics 

Topic  Consultation stage Comments  

Review of urban 
boundary/changes to 
Green Belt  

Regulation 19 This will be determined to some 
extent by the spatial strategy, 
quantity and distribution of 
development sites. 

Identification of 
safeguarded sites  

Regulation 19  

Strategic allocations Regulation 18(2) Some of these included in the Core 

Page 180



Hyndburn Local Plan: Site Allocations DPD (Regulation 18 consultation) - February 2019 

2 

and Regulation 19 Strategy Regulation 18(2) version 
e.g. Huncoat Garden Village, 
Strategic employment sites. Precise 
boundaries to be identified at 
Regulation 19. 

Potential housing and 
employment land 
allocations  

Regulation 18(2) 
and Regulation 19 

Potential sites included in this 
Regulation 18(2) consultation.  
Further consultation on sites to be 
taken forward as part of Preferred 
Option at Regulation 19 

Gypsy and Traveller 
sites 

Regulation 19  

Retail hierarchy, 
shopping centre 
boundaries and primary 
and secondary retail 
frontages 

Actual boundaries to 
be shown at 
Regulation 19 

Retail hierarchy set out in the Core 
Strategy Regulation 18(2) version.  
Actual boundaries to be included at 
Regulation 19. 

Sites for new 
infrastructure (e.g. 
schools, highways, 
cycle/footpath/highway 
network) 

Regulation 19  

Green infrastructure 
network 

Regulation 19  

Local green space, local 
landscapes, habitats 

Regulation 19  

Areas of search for wind 
energy 

Regulation 19  

 

 

Page 181



Hyndburn Local Plan: Site Allocations DPD (Regulation 18 consultation) - February 2019 

3 

2.0 Assessment of Sites  
 

2.1 The assessment of sites has been undertaken in accordance with the Site Assessment 

Methodology and Framework as amended following Regulation 18(1) consultation.  

The revised Site Assessment Methodology and Framework (SAM&F) is reproduced at 

Appendix 1 for ease of reference. The following paragraphs set out the outcomes of 

the four stages of the assessment. 

 

 

Stage 1: Site Identification 

 

2.2 A total of 230 sites were considered for assessment.  These were compiled from the 

various sources identified in the methodology including: 

 the “Call for Sites” exercise undertaken by the Council between 2016 and 

2018.  This enabled landowners, developers and other interested parties to put 

forward sites for consideration in the plan making process;   

 the planning policy evidence base which informs the plan making process 

including the Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) 2016, 

the Employment Land Study (2016), 2016 Retail Study, Green Belt 

Assessment 2018; 

 undeveloped sites allocated for development in the former Hyndburn Local 

Plan 1996; 

 sites in the Council’s ownership which may be considered as suitable for 

potential development; 

 other sites identified by the Council outside its ownership. 

 

 A single site may have come from one or more of these sources. 

 

 

Stage 2: Site Screening 

 

2.3 Initial screening was undertaken to remove sites which were unrealistic for 

consideration for allocation in accordance with the size, locational and availability 

factors identified in the SAM&F.  These were sites: 

 below 0.15ha; 

 located within an area of recognised importance for conservation and 

environmental importance or national constraint; 

 not directly connected to the existing urban area; 

 proposed for housing and located in flood zone 3a; or 

 which already had full planning permission.  

 

2.4 Of the total of 230 sites from stage 1, 51 were screened out at stage 2.  They are listed 

at Appendix 2 with the reasons for their screening out.  The remaining 179 sites were 

taken forward to stage 3.    

 

 

 

Page 182



Hyndburn Local Plan: Site Allocations DPD (Regulation 18 consultation) - February 2019 

4 

Stage 3: Detailed Appraisal 

 

2.5 In total 179 sites were considered for more detailed appraisal in two separate phases 

as follows: 

 Phase 1 sites (115 individual sites) – include all sites within the existing urban 

boundary, within the Huncoat Housing Zone boundary, or on previously 

developed land outside of the existing urban boundary. 

 Phase 2 sites (64 individual sites) – all other sites outside of the existing 

urban boundary on greenfield land 

 

Note: The references to ‘Phase 1’ and ‘Phase 2’ sites above and elsewhere in this 

document do not relate to potential development phases (should specific sites be 

taken forward to allocation). They simply relate to the order in which appraisals have 

taken place, recognising the sequential preference for brownfield and/or urban sites 

first. 

 

2.6 The detailed appraisal methodology covered a range of suitability, availability and 

achievability factors to determine whether or not sites would be appropriate for 

allocation.  Suitability factors sought to determine whether environmental, accessibility, 

infrastructure, policy matters and other constraints might hinder development of the 

sites.  Availability factors were focussed on ownership issues to determine whether 

there were any legal or ownership issues which might preclude development.  

Achievability issues will determine whether there is a realistic prospect of the site being 

developed in the plan period and covered factors such as viability, deliverability etc.  

The detailed criteria for each factor are shown in the SAM&F at Appendix 1.   

 

2.7 In order to undertake the individual site assessments, information was sought where 

possible prior to this consultation from statutory consultees, agencies and public 

bodies with specific responsibilities as relevant to the criteria.  Other sources of data 

included: the Council’s own information systems; input of professional officers; publicly 

available data and information provided through the Call for Sites exercise.   A 

response was recorded for each criteria (as shown in the SAM&F) according to a 

simple traffic light system: 

 

 Significant negative outcome identified. In some instances this may 
render a site completely inappropriate for allocation (e.g. availability). In 
most cases however it highlights an issue requiring significant mitigation 
and so development of the site is still feasible, but less appropriate.  

 Negative outcomes are identified but these can be expected to be 
mitigated partially or in full relatively easily. 
 

 No negative outcomes identified or negative impacts can be very easily 
mitigated in full. 
 

 Assessment not relevant or assessment not yet undertaken 
 

 

2.8 As set out above a red outcome against any criteria does not always mean that 

development of a site is wholly inappropriate.  Instead it might indicate matters which 

Page 183



Hyndburn Local Plan: Site Allocations DPD (Regulation 18 consultation) - February 2019 

5 

need to be given further detailed attention or that site score less favourably than sites 

with orange and green outcomes against those criteria. Appendix 1 details the specific 

assessment method for each criterion.    

 

2.9 To date, not all criteria have been appraised as some are reliant upon site visits to be 

made. At this stage assessment is a desktop based exercise only. Site visits will be 

made at the next stage of work. The assessments highlight where further investigation 

is needed to determine the extent to which the site is affected by certain issues. The 

initial assessment may result in the outcome being recorded as orange at this stage 

but subsequent detailed investigation may result in the outcome changing either 

favourably or unfavourably in respect to a specific criterion. 

 

 

Stage 4: Assessment of Sustainability   

 

2.10 The Assessment of Sustainability has been undertaken independently by Land Use 

Consultants who are undertaking the sustainability appraisal of the plan.  This will be 

made available during the consultation period and will be a key consideration in 

moving forward to the next stage of the plan making process.  

 

Page 184



Hyndburn Local Plan: Site Allocations DPD (Regulation 18 consultation) - February 2019 

6 

3.0 Outcomes of Assessment  
 

3.1 The sites are presented grouped by geographical areas that align with the Local Plan 

Areas identified in the Core Strategy Review. These are illustrated on the diagram 

below. Overview maps of sites in each of the Local Plan Areas are set out at Appendix 

3 and show the location of the assessed sites within each Local Plan Area and the 

relevant site reference number.  The individual detailed site assessment reports are 

published separately, grouped by Local Plan Area. 

 

  

Page 185



Hyndburn Local Plan: Site Allocations DPD (Regulation 18 consultation) - February 2019 

7 

 

3.2 Of the 179 sites that were assessed, over half in total were within the current urban 

boundary (these are generally sites that were in the phase 1 of the assessment).  The 

majority of sites that are outside the urban boundary are sites which were directly 

connected to the urban boundary; those sites which were not had already been 

screened out at stage 2 of the assessment (see section 2.4 above). No decision has 

been taken yet to alter the urban boundary but it will be reviewed as part of the plan 

making process. However it cannot be assumed that it will be amended in any specific 

location.  The number of sites in each local plan area as related to the current urban 

boundary is shown in Table 2 below: 

 

Table 2: Number of sites assessed in Local Plan areas 

Local Plan Area  Number of sites assessed 

Within current 
urban boundary 

Outside current 
urban boundary 

Total 

Accrington Central 27 3 30 

Baxenden  2 3 5 

Church 8 2 10 

Clayton le Moors (incl. 
Altham) 

13 18 31 

Great Harwood 13 17 30 

Huncoat 11 7 18 

Knuzden & Whitebirk 4 12 16 

Oswaldtwistle (excl. 
Knuzden)  

16 10 26 

Rishton (excl. Whitebirk) 7 6 13 

Total 101 78 179 

 

3.3 The vast majority (over three quarters) of sites were proposed for housing use.  In 

most cases this was the only use proposed but in some it is one within a range of uses 

proposed. Table 3 below shows the number of sites in relation to the types of 

proposed uses in the different Local Plan areas:  

 

Table 3: Number of sites assessed in Local Plan areas and proposed uses 

Local Plan Area   No. of sites: proposed use 

housing employment  retail mixed total 
only 
use 

in 
range 

only 
use 

in 
range 

only 
use 

in 
range 

only 
use 

in 
range 

- 

Accrington 
Central 

25 29 
 

0 2 1 3 0 3 30 

Baxenden  5 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 

Church 8 8 2 2 0 0 0 0 10 

Clayton le Moors 
(incl. Altham) 

18 21 6 10 0 2 3 6 31 

Great Harwood 22 27 2 5 1 4  0 30 

Huncoat 11 14  3 0 2 4 5 18 

Knuzden & 
Whitebirk 

10 11 4 5 0 1 1 2 16 

Oswaldtwistle 
(excl. Knuzden)  

18 25 0 6 0 2 0 3 26 

Rishton (excl. 9 13 0 4 0 4 0 4 13 

Page 186



Hyndburn Local Plan: Site Allocations DPD (Regulation 18 consultation) - February 2019 

8 

Whitebirk) 

Total 126 153 14 37 2 18 8 23 179 

 

3.4 The assessment work undertaken so far highlights areas that will need further 

investigation before formal allocation can take place. It has also highlighted where 

there are constraints which would rule a site out of further consideration e.g. where 

land ownership or viability are constraints that would prevent a site from being 

delivered even where in other respects the assessment indicates it can be developed.  

In addition the principles of overall quantities and distribution of development which are 

being developed through the parallel process of the Core Strategy will determine that 

some sites are unacceptable in locational terms or that there is a surplus of sites in a 

particular area. Thus the list of 179 sites is likely to be reduced considerably as the 

plan-making process progresses.  

 

3.5 In light of the above, it is important to stress that no decisions have been taken at this 

stage about which sites will be taken forward for allocation and their inclusion at this 

stage should not be taken as an indication that any site is appropriate for development 

or that it will come forward as an allocation or that it would receive planning permission 

for development. 

 

 

Page 187



Hyndburn Local Plan: Site Allocations DPD (Regulation 18 consultation) - February 2019 

9 

4.0 Current consultation – how to get involved and comment 

 

4.1 This consultation is seeking feedback and input on the assessment work which has 

been undertaken to date that will help the Council in preparing the next stage of the 

plan, the “preferred option”.  By way of recap, this will be the stage at which specific 

sites will be shown for allocation that will contribute to meeting the future development 

requirements for the Borough. 

 

4.2 We would welcome your comments and feedback in relation to the following key 

matters.  

 

Question 1 Do you have any further information/clarification on any of the 
sites over and above that which is published that would enable 
the Council to assess them more fully? 
 

Question 2 Which of the sites assessed so far do you think would best meet 
the future development requirements in the Borough/your area? 
 

 

4.3 In addition, this consultation presents a final opportunity to submit any further sites for 

consideration which have not been suggested to date.  Any sites should be submitted 

for consideration by completing a Call for Sites form and returning it to the Council for 

consideration.  By providing the information requested on the form you will enable the 

Council to undertake the fullest assessment. 

 

4.4 Any comments or responses to the consultation must be made in writing (i.e. by email, 

online or by post) to be accepted. These must be received by the Council no later 

than 5pm on Monday 8th April 2019. 

 

4.5 You can submit comments in the following ways: 

 Using the comments forms provided at www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/localplan, or 

available in hard copy format at all library locations across the Borough and at 

Scaitcliffe House in Accrington; 

 Emailing comments through to planningpolicy@hyndburnbc.gov.uk; or 

 Writing to the Council at the following address: Hyndburn Borough Council, Plans 

and Environment, Scaitcliffe House, Ormerod Street, Accrington, BB5 0PF. 

 

4.6 Please ensure that any comments that you do make clearly state the paragraph 

number of this document that it relates to or the Site Reference number if it is in 

relation to one of the 179 sites. The Council is keen to receive feedback on sites that 

are supported, and not just those that are objected to. To ensure that the correct 

information is captured please use the comments forms supplied by the Council 

wherever possible. 

 

 

Page 188

https://www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/download-package/call-for-sites/
http://www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/localplan
mailto:planningpolicy@hyndburnbc.gov.uk


Hyndburn Local Plan: Site Allocations DPD (Regulation 18 consultation) - February 2019 

10 

5.0 What happens next? 

 
5.1 The outcomes of the consultation will be considered by the Council in developing the 

next stage of the Site Allocations DPD along with the outcomes of the Sustainability 

Appraisal, assessment of any outstanding criteria, and any further evidence base work 

of relevance that is published during 2019.  This will culminate in Regulation 19, the 

Preferred Option stage, when a plan will be prepared which shows the sites that are 

being proposed for allocation.  Further formal consultation will take place at that stage 

in accordance with the requirements for preparing plans. 

 

5.2 In preparing the Regulation 19 (Preferred Option Plan) the outcomes of this 

consultation will be considered in the light of the amount of development land which is 

needed and its spatial distribution; matters being determined as part of the review of 

the Core Strategy progresses.  Account will also be taken of the level and spatial 

distribution of existing sites with planning permission which will also contribute to 

overall requirements.   

 

5.3 At this stage, it is not known how much land will be allocated and there is a possibility 

that the assessment of sites may identify more land than would be needed to meet 

identified requirements.  Therefore favourable outcomes in relation to the site 

assessment methodology should not be taken to mean that a site will automatically be 

allocated for development or that planning permission would be forthcoming for a 

particular site. 

 

 

 

Page 189



Hyndburn Local Plan: Site Allocations DPD (Regulation 18 consultation) - February 2019 

11 

Appendix 1:  Site Assessment Methodology and Framework 

 

The site assessment methodology was amended following feedback from Regulation 18(1) 

consultation undertaken 2018. These amendments were approved at Cabinet on 18/8/2018.  

Further revisions were made to the wording of some of the assessment factors following 

further feedback from consultees during the actual site assessment phase of the work prior 

to Regulation 18(2) consultation. The resulting amended site assessment methodology and 

framework are reproduced below for reference: 

 

3.0 Site Assessment: Proposed Methodology 

3.1 This part of the report proposes a draft methodology for assessing individual sites 

that are put forward for allocation for development in the new Local Plan. The Site 

Allocations DPD will also include sites for protection from development (e.g. Green 

Belt, Open Space etc.), and a review of established boundaries in some 

circumstances. Where relevant at this stage, the process by which these will be 

undertaken is also covered below. 

Site Allocations 

3.2 Four key stages of work have been identified that form the proposed Site 

Assessment Methodology (SAM) for the Hyndburn Site Allocations DPD. These are 

summarised as: 

 

 Stage 1: Site Identification 

 Stage 2: Site Screening  

 Stage 3: Detailed Appraisal of sites 

 Stage 4: Assessment of Sustainability (undertaken independently) 

 

3.3 Each of the stages is discussed in more detail below. Following this Figure 1 provides 

an overview of the process in flowchart form. 

 

 Stage 1: Site Identification 

3.4 The help ensure that the Council meets the requirements of the NPPF the Site 

Allocations DPD is required to allocate sufficient sites to promote development and 

the flexible use of land to meet the full objectively assessed needs for new homes in 

the Borough. Adequate sites for employment, retail and community uses are also 

required. 

 

3.5 The Council will gather and identify sites from a wide range of sources to feed into 

the Site Assessment Methodology and ensure that the very best portfolio of sites is 

reflected in the final Site Allocations DPD. Stage 1 will gather sites from the following 

sources: 

 

 The ‘Call for Sites’ that has been on-going since 2015 and will be closed in 2018 

Page 190



Hyndburn Local Plan: Site Allocations DPD (Regulation 18 consultation) - February 2019 

12 

 Planning Policy Evidence Base  

o 2016 Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) - sites in 

categories 1, 2 and 3 

o 2016 Employment Land Study (ELS) - sites recommended for release 

o 2016 Retail Study – opportunity site  

o Green Belt Review (to be completed early 2018) – all sites which play a low 

or moderate contribution to Green Belt purposes may be considered 

 Review of 1996 Local Plan allocations 

 Council Officer recommendations 

 Sites in Hyndburn ownership 

 Sites arising from targeted Land Registry enquiries 

 

3.6 Alongside this consultation paper the Council will publish the current pool of sites. A 

final ‘Call for Sites’ will take place in conjunction with the consultation on this scoping 

and site assessment methodology report to ensure that as comprehensive a list as 

possible is taken forward to Stage 2. 

 

3.7 Once a comprehensive pool of sites has been collected, the Council will move onto 

the subsequent stages 2-4 that will look at how suitable, sustainable and deliverable 

each of the sites are. 

 

 Stage 2 – Site Screening 

3.8 Before sites are assessed in detail initial site screening will be undertaken which will 

remove sites which are considered unrealistic for consideration for allocation.  This is 

in compliance with the Planning Practice Guidance on Local Plan preparation which 

makes clear that Local Authorities are required to assess and compare ‘reasonable 

alternatives’1 for development sites at an early stage in the plan making process.  

 

3.9 Specific factors that will be used to screen out unrealistic sites, and help produce a 

short-list of candidate sites include: 

 Size – sites below a minimum size threshold of 0.15ha (typically able to 

accommodate at least 5 dwellings) will be removed from further consideration in 

the allocations process. Whilst sites smaller than this will not necessarily prevent 

development from coming forward on them, if they do so they will be considered 

to constitute ‘windfall’ sites in the local context, for which a specific allowance will 

be made in calculating the overall need for allocations in the Borough. The 

Council believes that the size threshold proposed represents a suitable 

compromise between ensuring that allocated development opportunities are 

maximised in the new Local Plan2, whilst recognising the limited resources 

available in plan making. 

                                                           
 

1
 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/strategic-environmental-assessment-and-sustainability-appraisal  

2
 Acknowledging the Government’s intentions to ensure a larger number of small sites are brought forward 

through Local Plans 

Page 191

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/strategic-environmental-assessment-and-sustainability-appraisal


Hyndburn Local Plan: Site Allocations DPD (Regulation 18 consultation) - February 2019 

13 

 Location – a number of locational factors are considered to present serious 

constraints to development. Sites will be removed that fall within these 

categories. These include sites that are: 

o Located within an area of recognised importance for conservation and 

environmental importance or national constraint3 (i.e. Sites of Special 

Scientific Interest, Ancient Woodland, Biological Heritage Site, Local 

Nature Reserve and Scheduled Ancient Monuments). 

o Not directly connected to the existing urban area (and the intervening land 

is an unrealistic development parcel) will also be removed in order to 

prevent inappropriate sporadic development beyond the existing built up 

areas. 

o Proposed for housing development and located in flood zone 3a (Rep_ID 

441). 

o If part of a site falls within one of these categories then the Council will 

consider whether the proportion of the site affected can be removed and 

whether the remaining net developable area exceeds the minimum size 

threshold of 0.15ha (or capable of supporting 5 or more dwellings). 

 Availability – sites that already have full planning permission will be removed as 

it will be assumed that should permission lapse then permission would be 

granted again. Where applications only have outline consent, or are pending, 

these will be carried forward to Stage 2b for their potential for allocation. 

 

3.10 Sites screened-out at this stage will be added to a list of rejected sites setting out the 

reason(s) for their screening. This list will be made publicly available alongside the 

Council’s consultation documents for comment at the second stage of consultation to 

be undertaken at the Regulation 18 stage. 

 

 Stage 3 – Detailed Appraisal 

3.11 Once a short-list of candidate sites is produced from Stage 2, a detailed technical 

appraisal of each candidate site will be undertaken as proposed below.  

 

3.12 It is proposed that the suitability, availability and achievability of all sites is 

assessed to ascertain whether they are appropriate for allocations.  These three 

criteria are used in assessing the availability of land for economic and housing 

development as stated in government guidance4 and have been used in the SHLAA.  

The SHLAA was undertaken at a strategic level in order to provide evidence for the 

preparation of the plan and there will be some duplication of information already 

gathered on sites assessed in the latest SHLAA.  However the site assessment 

methodology will build on that information to provide a more detailed assessment to 

identify which sites are most appropriate for allocation and development.   

 

                                                           
 

3
 Paragraph 17 of the NPPF refers to the need for allocations for development to ‘prefer land of lesser 

environmental value’ 
4
 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-land-availability-assessment 

 

Page 192

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-land-availability-assessment


Hyndburn Local Plan: Site Allocations DPD (Regulation 18 consultation) - February 2019 

14 

3.13 A proposed site assessment methodology framework (see Appendix A) sets out the 

individual factors to be considered under suitability, availability and achievability. 

Each factor is listed, along with detail on how the factor will be assessed, the source 

of information, and any relevant consultees to seek specific comments from. The 

framework will be used to enable sites to be assessed consistently and for 

comparisons to be made between sites. The full assessments will be made publically 

available to ensure transparency in the plan making process.   

 

3.14 The suitability of sites considers a number of factors which will need to be taken into 

account. These have been grouped into four key types of factor affecting 

development and impacts of the development itself.  Full details are provided in 

Appendix A but in summary these cover the following matters: 

 

A. Environmental factors 

 Efficient use of land (A.1) 

 Current condition of site (A.2) 

 Topography (A.3) 

 Flood risk (fluvial) (A.4) 

 Flood risk (other) (A.5) 

 Contaminated land (A.6) 

 Soil Quality (A.7) 

 Visual impact/landscape character (A.8) 

 Landscape character (A.9) 

 Heritage assets (A.10) 

 Ecological networks (A.11) 

 Trees / woodlands / hedgerows (A.12) 

 Priority species / habitats (A.13) 

 Air quality (A.14) 

 Amenity issues Noise/Odour) (A.15) 

 

B. Accessibility factors 

 Accessibility by cycling/walking (B.1) 

 Accessibility by public transport: bus (B.2) 

 Accessibility by public transport: train (B.3) 

 Accessibility to the strategic road network (B.4) 

 Accessibility to major employment area (B.5) 

 Accessibility to town/district centre (B.6) 

 Accessibility to primary school (B.7) 

 Accessibility to doctors surgery (B.8) 

 Accessibility to natural greenspace (B.9) 

 Accessibility to existing sports/play facilities (B.10) 

 

C. Infrastructure factors 

 Highways access (C.1) 

 Highways capacity (C.2) 

 Utilities/services (C.3) 

Page 193



Hyndburn Local Plan: Site Allocations DPD (Regulation 18 consultation) - February 2019 

15 

 Drainage (C.4) 

 Open space / green infrastructure network (C.5) 

 Schools infrastructure (C.6) 

 

D. Other policy factors/constraints 

 Coal / mineral workings (D.1) 

 Landfill gas (D.2) 

 Hazardous installations (D.3) 

 Overhead lines (D.4) 

 Network Rail (D.5) 

 Green Belt contribution (D.6) 

 Merging of settlements (D.7) 

 Surrounding land uses (D.8) 

 Existing employment site (D.9) 

 Minerals and Waste allocation (D.10) 

 Minerals and Waste safeguarding are (D.11) 

 Regeneration (D.12) 

 

3.15 Where adverse impacts are identified in relation to any of the suitability criteria, it is 

important to identify whether any form of mitigation can be identified and 

implemented to overcome the impacts.  This will identify whether a site can become 

more suitable for development but an important factor is whether the mitigation 

measures would impact on the viability of the site; a factor which is considered further 

below (under achievability). Commentary will be provided where appropriate in 

response to any of the suitability assessments. 

 

3.16 The assessment of availability of a site seeks to determine whether there are any 

legal or ownership problems that would hinder development.  This will be determined 

in accordance with the following matters:  

 

 ownership (single or multiple) (E.1); 

 willingness of the owner(s) to develop (E.2); 

 developer interest (E.3); 

 ownership constraints (E.4); and 

 past record of delivery of planning permissions where relevant (E.5). 

 

3.17 The assessment of achievability of sites seeks to determine whether there is a 

realistic prospect that the site will be developed for the purposes proposed in the plan 

period.  This will be determined according to the following factors: 

 

 Planning status/history (F.1); 

 The Council’s strategic viability assessment (F.2); 

 Deliverability (likely timescale of development) (F.3); 

 Availability of public funding (F.4); 

 Market demand (F.5); and 

 Level of supply in the local area (F.6) 

Page 194



Hyndburn Local Plan: Site Allocations DPD (Regulation 18 consultation) - February 2019 

16 

At this stage it is proposed to use the Council’s strategic viability assessment only as 

an indicator of viability (the Economic Viability Study published (2016). Sites that are 

taken further in the process may be subject to a more detailed scheme specific 

residual valuation method of viability assessment. This would include the normal 

requirements of the development (e.g. provision of access, open space and 

affordable housing where appropriate, and the need to mitigate any adverse impacts 

of the proposed development). 

3.18 It is important to note that the assessment of sites will invariably involve a degree of 

professional and subjective judgment as not all matters can be quantified to a precise 

degree. Therefore it is proposed that the outcomes for each factor at the second 

stage of screening are recorded using a simple colour coded system with supporting 

notes where relevant. The proposed colour coding system is as follows: 

 

 Red – significant negative outcome, development of site could be 

inappropriate when assessed under this factor, significant mitigation and cost 

implication involved. 

 Orange – negative outcomes identified, but these can be expected to be 

mitigated partially or in full relatively easily. 

 Green – no negative outcome identified or any negative impacts can be easily 

mitigated in full. 

 Grey – assessment not relevant for the site 

  

3.19 The outcomes for some factors may present a “showstopper” to development e.g. if 

there are adverse impacts arising from the development of the site which cannot be 

mitigated or which would render it unviable, whilst in relation to all other factors, the 

development of the site be suitable, available and achievable.  These matters will be 

taken into account when assessing individual sites overall in relation to the three 

categories. To be taken forward for further consideration for allocation, the outcomes 

in terms of all three categories should be generally favourable.  The sites with the 

most favourable outcomes are those which will be taken forward for consideration 

alongside the outcomes of the assessment of sustainability.   

 

3.20 Information to undertake the assessments will be taken from a variety of sources and 

are indicated in the proposed site assessment methodology framework at Appendix 

A.  These include: widely available secondary data sources published by a variety of 

agencies and public bodies; the Council’s own information systems; data provided in 

various evidence base documents including through the Call for Sites exercise (open 

since 2015); and the Hyndburn SHLAA (2016).  Site visits may also be undertaken by 

officers and further information will also be sought from those who have submitted 

sites to enable full consideration to be given to them.  

 

 Stage 4 – Assessment of Sustainability 

3.21 Sustainability Appraisal (SA) is a systematic process which is undertaken during the 

process of plan making.  The purpose is to promote sustainable development by 

assessing how each of the proposals of the emerging plan, when judged against 

reasonable alternatives, contributes to relevant environmental and sustainability 

Page 195



Hyndburn Local Plan: Site Allocations DPD (Regulation 18 consultation) - February 2019 

17 

objectives.  As well as assessing contribution to sustainable development the 

process will also be a means of identifying and mitigating any adverse impacts that 

may arise from the plan. The Council has appointed LUC to independently undertake 

the SA of the Site Allocations DPD. 

 

3.22 The SA scoping report (stage A) has been produced as a draft for consultation with 

the relevant bodies. When finalised it will be published alongside these consultation 

documents. It will set out the framework, including objectives and criteria relevant to 

the Hyndburn context, against which the policies and proposals of the emerging 

plans, including site options, will be appraised. The findings for each policy and site 

will be presented as an appendix to the SA Report when it is produced in full.  This is 

a recognised way in which the likely environmental and sustainability effects of the 

plan and its reasonable alternatives can be identified, assessed and compared. 

 

3.23 There will be a degree of overlap between the SA criteria and those referred to in the 

Council’s SAM. To help identify this, the relevant SA objective (where seen to be 

linked) is highlighted in the framework set out in Appendix A. However, it is important 

to point out that both the SA and SAM have their own specific purposes, therefore 

there is much information in both that is unique. For this reason it is important that 

they are assessed and published separately, and in any case the SA process should 

be independently undertaken to ensure it can objectively shape the plan as options 

are developed and refined.  

 

 Overall Outcomes  

3.24 The outcomes of stages 3 and 4 will be considered together to identify which sites 

are most suitable for allocation.  This will need to be considered further in the light of 

the amount of development land which is needed and its spatial distribution; matters 

to be determined as the review of the Core Strategy progresses and a preferred 

option emerges. In addition, account will also be taken of the level and spatial 

distribution of existing commitments which will contribute to overall requirements.  At 

this stage, it is not known how much land will be allocated and there is a possibility 

that the assessment of sites may identify more land than would be needed to meet 

identified requirements.  Therefore favourable outcomes in relation to the site 

assessment methodology should not be taken to mean that a site will automatically 

be allocated for development or that planning permission would be forthcoming for a 

particular site. 

 

3.25 Other factors to consider following completion of the SAM on the candidate sites will 

be broader policy impacts. For example, these could include whether the site is a key 

growth site (e.g. located in the Government’s Housing Zone at Huncoat), or whether 

the site is a specific regeneration priority for the Council. 

 

Page 196



Hyndburn Local Plan: Site Allocations DPD (Regulation 18 consultation) - February 2019 

18 

PROPOSED SITE ASSESSMENT METHODOLOGY (SAM) FRAMEWORK 

STAGE 1: SITE IDENTIFICATION 

1.1 Site Reference:  

1.2 Site Address/Location:  

1.3 Site Area (gross) (ha) (ref 2.1 below):  

1.4 Site Area (net developable area) (ref. 2.5 below):   

1.5 Proposed use:  

1.6 Indicative Capacity of the site (based on 1.4 above) :  

1.7 Source of site identification  SHLAA / ELR / Call for Sites / Green Belt Review etc. 

 

STAGE 2: SITE SCREENING 

Ref. Assessment 
Factor 

Purpose of assessment Source of 
info 

Consultees Assessment Method Action SA Objective/ 
sub-objective 

2.1 Site Area (gross) 
(ha) 

Is the site over 0.15ha or 
capable of supporting 5 or 
more dwellings? 

GGP 
(Council GIS 
system) 

- Yes/No? If no, site will be 
excluded 

- 

2.2 Location: 
conservation/ 
environment 

Is the site within, or would 
have direct impact on, 
any area of recognised 
importance or 
conservation and 
environmental important 
or national constraint 
(SSSI, Ancient Woodland, 
BHS, LNR, SAM)? 

GGP 
(Council GIS 
system) 

Natural England, 
Historic England, 
Local Nature 
Partnership 

Yes (all) / Yes (in part) / No? If yes (all or in part) 
exclude the relevant 
proportion of the site 
affected (whole or part) 
If not affected, in whole 
or part, continue to 2.3 

11.1 and 16.1 

2.3 Location: urban 
area 

Is the site well related to 
the urban area? 

GGP 
(Council GIS 
system) 

- Site is within or adjacent to 
urban boundary? 

If yes, continue to 2.4 - 

Site separate from urban 
boundary <100m? 

If yes, continue to 2.4 but 
consider in conjunction 

- 

P
age 197



Hyndburn Local Plan: Site Allocations DPD (Regulation 18 consultation) - February 2019 

19 

with outcomes of Green 
Belt Review (where 
relevant) 

Site separate from urban 
boundary >100m? 

If yes, site will be 
excluded 

- 

2.4 Planning status Does the site already 
have full planning 
permission for 
development? 

HBC 
Planning 
Register 

- Yes (all) / Yes (in part) / No? If no, continue to 2.5  
If yes (all or in part) 
exclude the relevant 
proportion of the site 
affected 

- 

2.5 Flood risk 
(sequential test) 
 

Does the site (or part of 
the site) fall within Flood 
Zone 3a and is proposed 
for housing?  
 
(included following 
Rep_ID 441) 

Environment 
Agency 
Flood Map 
for Planning 
 
SFRA 

- Yes (all) / Yes (in part) / No? If yes exclude the 
relevant proportion of the 
site affected (whole or 
part) , if not affected 
continue to 2.6 

15.2 

2.6 Site Area (net 
developable area) 
(ha) 

Is the remaining area of 
the site over 0.15ha or 
capable of supporting 5 or 
more dwellings 

GGP 
(Council GIS 
system) 

- Yes/No If no, site will be 
excluded 

- 

 

STAGE 3: DETAILED APPRAISAL 

Ref. Assessment 
Factor 

Purpose of assessment Source of 
info 

Consultees Assessment Method Action SA Objective 
/sub-objective 

3A - SUITABILITY – ENVIRONMENTAL FACTORS 

3A.1 Efficient use of 
land 

Can the site be considered as 
previously developed land? 

Contaminated 
land data and 
site visit / 
visual survey  

- Entire site (or >50%) is classed as 
previously developed land 

 20.2 

Entire site (or >50%) of the site is 
classed as greenfield land 

 P
age 198



Hyndburn Local Plan: Site Allocations DPD (Regulation 18 consultation) - February 2019 

20 

STAGE 3: DETAILED APPRAISAL 

Ref. Assessment 
Factor 

Purpose of assessment Source of 
info 

Consultees Assessment Method Action SA Objective 
/sub-objective 

3A.2 Current 
condition of 
site 

What is the current occupancy 
status and building status on 
the site 

Site visit / 
visual survey 

- Site is currently undeveloped or 
cleared 

 20.1 

Site has buildings on currently 
derelict/ unoccupied land 

 

Site currently developed and 
occupied (no evidence provided as to 
when site will be made available) 

 

3A.3 Topography Are there topographical 
constraints on the site? 

Initial desktop 
survey - Site 
visit / visual 
survey if 
required 

HBC Engineer Site topography flat to slight gradients 
 

 - 

Site topography sloping gradients 
with possible embankments 

 

Site topography extreme / steep 
slopes 

 

3A.4 Flood Risk 
(fluvial) 

Is the development for a use 
considered appropriate in 
relation to the flood zone in 
which it is located, as defined 
in the Flood Risk Vulnerability 
Classification  

Environment 
Agency Flood 
Map for 
Planning 

Environment 
Agency 

Yes, development is appropriate 
 

 15.1 

Possibly, however the sequential 
and/or exception test is required to 
determine 

 

No, development should not be 
permitted. 

 

3A.5 Flood Risk 
(other) 

Is the site in an area identified 
at risk of flooding from non-
fluvial sources (e.g. 
groundwater, surface water) 

SFRA Lead Local 
Flood Authority 

No, development is appropriate 
 

 15.1 

Yes, mitigation possible  
 

 

Yes, mitigation not possible 
 

 P
age 199



Hyndburn Local Plan: Site Allocations DPD (Regulation 18 consultation) - February 2019 

21 

STAGE 3: DETAILED APPRAISAL 

Ref. Assessment 
Factor 

Purpose of assessment Source of 
info 

Consultees Assessment Method Action SA Objective 
/sub-objective 

3A.6 Contaminated 
land 

Is the site potentially 
constrained by contamination 
and/or land instability, and if so 
to what extent? 
 
(Rep_ID 487) 

GGP (Council 
GIS system). 
Coal 
Authority 
Data 

HBC 
Contaminated 
Land Officer, 
Environment 
Agency, Coal 
Authority 

No, or; Yes – contamination and 
instability known and remediation 
requirements viable 

 20.1 

Yes – details of contamination, 
instability and/or remediation 
requirements unknown  

 

Yes, remediation requirements 
assumed unviable 

 

3A.7 Soil quality Would development of the site 
result in the loss of agricultural 
land of high quality?  

GGP (Council 
GIS system) 

- No – site located in urban area or 
ungraded agricultural land 

 20.2 

No – site located in Grade 4 or 5 
agricultural land 

 

Yes – site located in Grade 3 
agricultural land 

 

3A.8 Visual impact/ 
landscape 
character 

How visible is the site in the 
landscape from public vantage 
points (roads, railways, public 
RoW etc.)? 

Site visit / 
visual survey 

- Not visible / site well screened 
 

 17.1 

Visible in distant views / some degree 
of screening 

 

Highly visible, no screening 
 

 

3A.9 Landscape 
Character 

Is the development compatible 
with the landscape character 
type in which it sits? 

Site visit / 
visual survey;  
LCC LCA & 
South 
Pennines 
LCA (where 
appropriate);  
LCC  

Natural England Yes, relevant landscape strategy 
would supoort development 

 17.1 

Yes however relevant landscape 
strategy would restrict form/type of 
development 

 P
age 200



Hyndburn Local Plan: Site Allocations DPD (Regulation 18 consultation) - February 2019 

22 

STAGE 3: DETAILED APPRAISAL 

Ref. Assessment 
Factor 

Purpose of assessment Source of 
info 

Consultees Assessment Method Action SA Objective 
/sub-objective 

Landscape 
and Heritage 
SPG;  
National 
Character 
Area Profiles 

No, relevant landscape strategy 
would not support development of site 

 

3A.10 Heritage 
Assets 

What impact would 
development of the site be 
likely to have on the 
significance of heritage assets, 
setting or wider historic 
environment? (edits arising 
from Rep_ID 412) 

HBC 
Conservation 
Officer 
 
Historic 
Environment 
and Site 
Allocations in 
Local Plans 
(for assessing 
potential for 
mitigation) 

HBC 
Conservation 
Officer, Historic 
England 

Site offers potential to enhance (or 
better reveal) the significance of a 
heritage asset, or it is not located in 
or adjacent to any heritage assets or 
their setting 

 11 

Site development may harm the 
significance of a heritage asset 
however mitigation will be possible  

 

Site development will harm the 
significance of a heritage asset and 
mitigation not possible  

 

3A.11 Ecological 
networks 

Would development of the site 
be likely to result in any 
adverse impacts for an 
identified ecological network? 

GGP (Council 
GIS system) 

LERN No, site not located in or adjacent to 
an identified network 

 16 

Intersects identified ‘Corridor’ area 
 

 

Intersects ‘Core Area’ or ‘Stepping 
Stone’ – mitigation required 
 

 

3A.12 Trees / 
woodlands / 
hedgerows 

Would development of the site 
be likely to result in significant 
trees/woodlands or hedgerows 
being lost or adversely 
affected? 

GGP (Council 
GIS system),  
Site visit / 
visual survey 

HBC Trees/ 
Woodlands 
Officer 

No, or minimal, coverage on site 
and/or development could easily 
retain provision on site with no 
adverse impacts 

 16 

Yes, however adequate mitigation 
could take place  

 

P
age 201



Hyndburn Local Plan: Site Allocations DPD (Regulation 18 consultation) - February 2019 

23 

STAGE 3: DETAILED APPRAISAL 

Ref. Assessment 
Factor 

Purpose of assessment Source of 
info 

Consultees Assessment Method Action SA Objective 
/sub-objective 

Yes but adequate mitigation not 
possible (e.g. extensive TPOs on 
site/close by) 

 

3A.13 Priority 
species/ 
habitats 

Would development of the site 
be likely to impact on priority 
habitats or species? 

Habitat 
Surveys, 
Magic Maps 
(Defra), 
LERN Record 
database 

LERN, 
Lancashire 
Wildlife Trust, 
HBC Ecologist 

No, site not located in or adjacent to 
priority habitat/species 

 16 

Yes however adequate mitigation 
could take place 

 

Yes but adequate mitigation not 
possible 

 

3A.14 Air Quality 
 

Is the site affected by poor air 
quality (either identified through 
local monitoring, the National 
Atmospheric Emissions 
Inventory LSOA data, or 
AQMA)? 

HBC 
Monitoring 

HBC Air Quality 
Officer, 
Environment 
Agency 

No 
 

 19 

Yes however adequate mitigation 
would allow development 

 

Yes but adequate mitigation not 
possible 

 

3A.15 Amenity issues 
(Noise/Odour) 

Is the site potentially 
constrained by an amenity 
related issue such as 
noise/odour from other nearby 
uses 

- HBC 
Environmental 
Health 

No 
 

 19 

Yes, however adequate mitigation 
could take place 

 

Yes but adequate mitigation not 
possible 

 

3B - SUITABILITY – ACCESSIBILITY FACTORS 

3B.1 Accessibility by 
Cycling/ 
Walking 

Does the site provide an 
opportunity to enhance the 
cycle, footpath or bridleway 
network in the Borough? 

GGP (Council 
GIS system) 

- Development located on existing 
network - recreational route goes 
through site or is within 400m 
(<400m) of site 

 8.3 

P
age 202



Hyndburn Local Plan: Site Allocations DPD (Regulation 18 consultation) - February 2019 

24 

STAGE 3: DETAILED APPRAISAL 

Ref. Assessment 
Factor 

Purpose of assessment Source of 
info 

Consultees Assessment Method Action SA Objective 
/sub-objective 

Development could provide 
opportunities to improve connectivity 
of existing network - recreational 
route is within 400m-800m of site 

 

Site unrelated to existing networks – 
site >800m from recreational route 

 

3B.2 Accessibility by 
Public 
Transport: bus 

Does the site provide easy 
access on foot to public 
transport: bus stop with regular 
service (defined as minimum of 
every 15 minutes during the 
day, Monday to Saturday) 

LCC MARIO - Yes, within 400m (5 min) of regular 
service 

 8.3 

Yes, between 400m & 800m (5-10 
mins) of regular service or within 
400m but services are less than 
regular. 

 

No, greater than 800m (>10mins) or 
between 400 an 800m but services 
are less than regular 

 

3B.3 Accessibility by 
Public 
Transport: train 

Does the site provide easy 
access on foot to public 
transport: train station 

GGP (Council 
GIS system) 

- Yes, site is within 800m of Accrington 
rail station 

 8.3 

Yes, site is within 800m of other train 
station 

 

No, >800m from any train station  
 

 

3B.4 Accessibility to 
the strategic 
road network 

Does the site have good links 
to the strategic road network 
(i.e. trunk roads and 
motorways)? 

GGP (Council 
GIS system) 

- <1km (by road) 
 

 - 

Between 1km and 3km (by road) 
 

 

>3km (by road) 
 

 P
age 203



Hyndburn Local Plan: Site Allocations DPD (Regulation 18 consultation) - February 2019 

25 

STAGE 3: DETAILED APPRAISAL 

Ref. Assessment 
Factor 

Purpose of assessment Source of 
info 

Consultees Assessment Method Action SA Objective 
/sub-objective 

3B.5 Accessibility to 
major 
employment 
area 

Does the site provide easy 
access on foot to a significant 
employment area (business 
parks or major industrial 
estates as set out in Core 
Strategy E2)? 

GGP (Council 
GIS system) 

- Yes, within 800m (10 min walk) 
 

 1.2 

Yes, between 800m and 1600m  (10-
20 min) 

 

No, greater than 1600m 
 

 

3B.6 Accessibility to 
town/district 
centre 

Does the site provide easy 
access on foot to a town centre 
or local centre ((defined as 
Accrington town centre and 
Great Harwood, Clayton le 
Moors, Oswaldtwistle and 
Rishton local centres)? 

GGP (Council 
GIS system) 

- Yes, within 800m (10 min walk) 
 

 10.3 

Yes, between 800m and 1600m  (10-
20 min) 

 

No, greater than 1600m 
 

 

3B.7 Accessibility to 
primary school 

Does the site provide easy 
access on foot to a primary 
school? 

GGP (Council 
GIS system) 

- Yes, within 800m (10 min walk) 
 

 8.1 

Yes, between 800m and 1600m  (10-
20 min) 

 

No, greater than 1600m  
 

 

3B.8 Accessibility to 
doctors surgery 

Does the site provide easy 
access on foot to a GP/doctors 
surgery, hospital or healthcare 
facility? 

GGP (Council 
GIS system) 

- Yes, within 800m (10 min walk) 
 

 4.2 

Yes, between 800m and 1600m  (10-
20 min) 

 

No, greater than 1600m 
 

 

3B.9 Accessibility to 
natural 

Does the site meet the 
accessible natural greenspace 

Open Space 
Audit (to be 

- Yes  
 

7.1 P
age 204



Hyndburn Local Plan: Site Allocations DPD (Regulation 18 consultation) - February 2019 

26 

STAGE 3: DETAILED APPRAISAL 

Ref. Assessment 
Factor 

Purpose of assessment Source of 
info 

Consultees Assessment Method Action SA Objective 
/sub-objective 

greenspace standards? 
 
(Rep_ID 490) 

completed) No, but can be mitigated with S106  
 

No, mitigation unlikely with S106 due 
to site size and/or local viability 

 

3B.10 Accessibility to 
existing 
sports/play 
facilities 

Does the site meet Fields in 
Trust accessibility thresholds 
for Outdoor Sports Facilities 
and Provision for Children and 
Young People? 
 
(Rep_ID 490) 

Open Space 
Audit (to be 
completed) 

- Yes  
 

7.1 

No, but can be mitigated with S106  
 

No, mitigation unlikely with S106 due 
to site size and/or local viability 

 

3C - SUITABILITY – INFRASTRUCTURE FACTORS 

3C.1 Highways 
Access 

Can adequate access be 
provided onto the site 

LCC 
Highways 

LCC Highways Safe/adequate access can be 
provided to the existing highway  

 - 

Safe/adequate access requires 3rd 
party land or additional investment 

 

Safe and adequate access not 
possible 

 

3C.2 Highways 
Capacity 

Is the capacity of the local road 
network constrained in the 
immediate vicinity or close by? 

Transport 
study (to be 
commissione
d) 

- No, or yes but minor 
 

  

Yes, but can be mitigated with S106 
 

 

Yes, significant improvements 
required unlikely to be delivered 

 

3C.3 Utilities/ 
services 

Availability of key 
utilities/services infrastructure 

Call for Sites Utilities 
providers, HBC 
Engineer 

Connecting services available 
 

 - 

Potential capacity constraints or new 
infrastructure required  

 

P
age 205



Hyndburn Local Plan: Site Allocations DPD (Regulation 18 consultation) - February 2019 

27 

STAGE 3: DETAILED APPRAISAL 

Ref. Assessment 
Factor 

Purpose of assessment Source of 
info 

Consultees Assessment Method Action SA Objective 
/sub-objective 

No realistic potential for connection to 
site 

 

3C.4 Drainage Are there any potential 
constraints/requirements 
relating to drainage on the site? 

SFRA Environment 
Agency 

No 
 

  

Yes but mitigation possible (e.g. 
culverted watercourse, SUDS feature) 

 

Yes, mitigation not possible/viable 
 

 

3C.5 Open Space / 
GI network 

Would development of the site 
be likely to result in the loss of 
designated open space or GI 
Network? 

GGP (Council 
GIS system) 

- No 
 

 16 

Yes, partial loss but off-site 
replacement or on site enhancement  
possible 

 

Yes, total loss and/or off-site 
replacement not possible 

 

3C.6 Schools 
Infrastructure 

Can education needs 
generated by the development 
be accommodated 

LCC LCC School 
Planning 

Yes, adequate places already in the 
area 

 3 

No, but contributions can be sought to 
mitigate infrastructure deficit 

 

No, mitigation not possible 
 

 

3D - SUITABILITY – OTHER POLICY FACTORS/CONSTRAINTS 

3D.1 Coal/Mineral 
workings 

Is the site influenced by former 
coal mining activities? 

GGP (Council 
GIS system) 

Coal Authority , 
 

The whole or majority of the site lies 
within a Coal Authority Low Risk Area  

 - 

The whole or majority of the site lies 
within a Coal Authority High Risk 
Area. 

 P
age 206



Hyndburn Local Plan: Site Allocations DPD (Regulation 18 consultation) - February 2019 

28 

STAGE 3: DETAILED APPRAISAL 

Ref. Assessment 
Factor 

Purpose of assessment Source of 
info 

Consultees Assessment Method Action SA Objective 
/sub-objective 

Further advice from Coal Authority 
indicates mitigation not possible or 
unviable (this will not be determined 
until later stage in assessment 
process) 

 

3D.2 Landfill gas Is the site potentially 
constrained by landfill gas? 

GGP (Council 
GIS system) 

HBC 
Environmental 
Health 

No 
 

 - 

Yes, located within former site or 
250m buffer zone of former landfill 
site and mitigation possible 

 

Yes, located on a former landfill site 
and mitigation not possible 

 

3D.3 Hazardous 
installations 

Is the site potentially 
constrained by high pressure 
gas pipelines or other 
hazardous installations? 

GGP (Council 
GIS system) 

HSE (Planning 
Advice Web 
App) 

No 
 

 - 

Yes, located within buffer zone, 
mitigation may be possible 

 

Yes, located directly on a hazardous 
installation or within buffer zone and 
mitigation may not be possible 

 

3D.4 Overhead lines Is the site constrained by 
overhead power lines 

GGP (Council 
GIS system) 

- No 
 

 - 

Yes, but mitigation possible through 
scheme design 

 

Yes, mitigation not possible 
 

 

3D.5 Network Rail Is the site constrained by 
Network Rail assets? 

GGP (Council 
GIS system) 

Network Rail No 
 

 - P
age 207



Hyndburn Local Plan: Site Allocations DPD (Regulation 18 consultation) - February 2019 

29 

STAGE 3: DETAILED APPRAISAL 

Ref. Assessment 
Factor 

Purpose of assessment Source of 
info 

Consultees Assessment Method Action SA Objective 
/sub-objective 

Site, in whole or in part, is within the 
buffer zone of Network Rail assets 

 

Further advice from Network Rail 
indicates that mitigation not possible 
(this will not be determined until a 
later stage in the assessment 
process). 

 

3D.6 Green Belt 
contribution 

Would development of the site 
result in the loss of Green Belt 
land? 

GGP (Council 
GIS system) 

- No 
 

  

Yes, loss of land that plays a 
weak/moderate contribution to Green 
Belt 

 

Yes, loss of land that plays a strong 
contribution to Green Belt 

 

3D.7 Merging of 
settlements 

Would development of the site 
contribute to the merging 
(coalescence) of settlements, 
visual or actual? 

Green Belt 
Assessment 

- No 
 

  

Yes but significant visual gap is 
retained ,or marginal impact only 

  

Yes, will significantly reduce the size 
and/or visual gap 

  

3D.8 Surrounding 
land uses 

Is the proposed development 
likely to be compatible with 
surrounding land uses? 

Site visit / 
visual survey 

- Yes 
 

 19 

No, however adequate mitigation 
likely to be possible 

 

No, mitigation not possible or would 
have limited impact 

 

3D.9 Existing 
employment 

Would the development lead to 
the loss of an identified existing 

GGP (Council 
GIS system) 

- No 
 

 2.1 

P
age 208



Hyndburn Local Plan: Site Allocations DPD (Regulation 18 consultation) - February 2019 

30 

STAGE 3: DETAILED APPRAISAL 

Ref. Assessment 
Factor 

Purpose of assessment Source of 
info 

Consultees Assessment Method Action SA Objective 
/sub-objective 

site employment site? Yes, rated poor or adequate quality 
 

 

Yes, rated good quality 
 

 

3D.10 Minerals and 
Waste 
Allocated Site 

Is the site allocated for any 
purpose in the Lancashire 
Minerals and Waste Plan? 

LCC LCC M&W Team No 
 

  

Yes but development may be 
mitigated to make compatible with 
allocation 

 

Yes, development incompatible with 
allocation 

 

3D.11 Minerals & 
Waste 
Safeguarding 
Area 

Is the site located in the LCC 
Minerals and Waste 
Safeguarding Area 

LCC LCC M&W Team No 
 

  

Yes but consultee happy that 
proposal is acceptable 

 

Yes, consultee unhappy with proposal 
 

 

3D.12 Regeneration Would the site make a positive 
contribution to the Council’s 
regeneration objectives 

GGP (Council 
GIS system) 

- Yes, located in an area of  
regeneration or SPD 

  

No 
 

 

3E - AVAILABILITY 

3E.1 Ownership Is the number and identity of all 
freehold owners known? 

Call for Sites 
Land Registry  

Applicants/ 
Owners 

Yes – 1 owner 
 

 - 

Yes – 2 landowners 
 

 P
age 209



Hyndburn Local Plan: Site Allocations DPD (Regulation 18 consultation) - February 2019 

31 

STAGE 3: DETAILED APPRAISAL 

Ref. Assessment 
Factor 

Purpose of assessment Source of 
info 

Consultees Assessment Method Action SA Objective 
/sub-objective 

Yes – 3 or more landowners and/or 
unregistered land 

 

3E.2 Willingness to 
develop 

Have all relevant owners 
confirmed willingness to 
develop? 

Call for Sites 
Land Registry 

Applicants/ 
Owners 

Yes 
 

 - 

Yes, with conditions 
 

 

No, or one or more owners are 
unwilling 

 

3E.3 Developer 
interest 

Is the land owned by a 
developer known to undertake 
development, or has the owner 
provided evidence of developer 
interest in the site? 

Call for Sites 
Land Registry 

Applicants/ 
Owners 

Yes 
 

 - 

Part owned by developer, or claim 
made of developer interest but 
insufficient evidence provided 

 

No 
 

 

3E.4 Ownership 
constraints 

Are there any land ownership 
constraints that may restrict 
development of the site, e.g. 
ransom strip, restrictive 
covenants, leases etc. 

Call for Sites, 
Land Registry 

Applicants/ 
Owners 

No 
 

 - 

Yes but constraints may be mitigated 
 

 

Yes, and no clear evidence that 
constraints can be mitigated 

 

3E.5 Delivery record 
of planning 
permissions 

Where applicant/owner has 
received previous planning 
permissions, have these been 
completed? 

Planning 
Register 

- Yes 
 

 - 

In part 
 

 

No, permission has lapsed 
 

 

P
age 210



Hyndburn Local Plan: Site Allocations DPD (Regulation 18 consultation) - February 2019 

32 

STAGE 3: DETAILED APPRAISAL 

Ref. Assessment 
Factor 

Purpose of assessment Source of 
info 

Consultees Assessment Method Action SA Objective 
/sub-objective 

3F - ACHIEVABILITY 

3F.1 Planning 
status/ history 

What is the planning status 
and/or history of planning 
permissions on the site  
(over the last 15 years) 

Planning 
Register 

- Yes, initial planning permission 
currently active for the proposed use 

  

Planning permission for proposed use 
has been lapsed or granted on re-
application 

 

Permission for proposed use has 
never been granted or has been 
refused 

 

3F.2 Strategic 
viability 
assessment 

What conclusions does the 
Economic Viability Study make 
in relation to the proposed type 
and scale of development? 

Economic 
Viability 
Study 

Viability 
Consultants 

Proposed use is viable 
 

  

Marginal viability 
 

 

Significant viability challenges 
 

 

3F.3 Deliverability What is the likely timescale in 
which the site could be 
developed 

Call for Sites - First 5 years, or years 5-10 
 

  

Years 10-15 
 

 

Years 15+ - beyond the Plan 
timeframe 

 

3F.4 Public funding Is there sufficient public funding 
committed to overcome any 
infrastructure or on-site 
constraints, to make the 
proposed use viable? 

Infrastructure 
Providers, 
Homes 
England 

Infrastructure 
Providers, 
Homes England 

Yes 
 

  

Don’t know 
 

 

No 
 

 

P
age 211



Hyndburn Local Plan: Site Allocations DPD (Regulation 18 consultation) - February 2019 

33 

STAGE 3: DETAILED APPRAISAL 

Ref. Assessment 
Factor 

Purpose of assessment Source of 
info 

Consultees Assessment Method Action SA Objective 
/sub-objective 

3F.5 Market 
Demand 

What is the strength of market 
demand in the area for the 
proposed development 

SHLAA, ELS - Strong / very strong 
 

  

Moderate 
 

 

Weak / very weak 
 

 

3F.6 Level of supply 
in local area 

What is the supply of 
comparable sites in the local 
area, including others being 
considered in the Site 
Allocations DPD? 

Short list of 
sites 

- Shortage, in high demand 
 

  

Sufficient, enough sites to meet likely 
demand 

 

Abundant, too many sites to meet 
likely demand 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 212



Hyndburn Local Plan: Site Allocations DPD (Regulation 18 consultation) - February 2019 

34 

Appendix 2:  Sites Screened out at Stage 2 

Abbreviations used in source of site: 

CFS Call for Sites 

CS2012 Core Strategy 2012 

ELS Employment Land Study 2016 

HBC Hyndburn Borough Council 

LARP Land Assets Review Panel  

PP Planning Permission 

SHLAA Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment 2016 

 

Site 
ref 

Address Local Plan area Source Area  
(ha) 

Proposed use Reason site 
screened out 
(criterion in SAM) 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 

E
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 

R
e
ta

il 

36 Victoria Mill/ 
Woodnook Mill/ 
Lodge Mill/ Royal 
Mill, Victoria Street 

Accrington 
(Central) 

ELS poor 
quality site 

1.670 Yes Yes Yes Currently occupied 

31 Victoria works, 
Victoria Street 

Accrington 
(Central) 

ELS poor 
quality site 

0.228 Yes Yes No Currently occupied 

40 Argyle St Works, 
Argyle St 

Accrington 
(Central) 

ELS poor 
quality site 

0.711 No No No Currently occupied 

189 Woodland off 
Manchester Road 

Accrington 
(Central) 

LARP 3.424 No No No HBC owned - Open 
Space 

190 Land at Reservoir, 
Hyndburn Road 

Accrington 
(Central) 

LARP 2.619 No No No HBC owned - Open 
Space 

112 Ribblesdale Avenue Accrington 
(Central) 

HBC 2.753 No No No proposed open space 

149 Dill Hall Play Area, 
off Meadoway 

Church SHLAA Cat 3 0.274 Yes No No Open space 

132 Martholme Grange, 
Burnley Road, 
Altham 

Clayton-le-
Moors (incl 
Altham) 

SHLAA 0.557 Yes No No Site separate from 
urban boundary (2.3) 

176 land to east of 
Altham Lane 

Clayton-le-
Moors (incl 
Altham) 

CS2012 3.388 No Yes No Site has full planning 
permission for 
development (2.4) 

179 land at Lancaster 
Avenue 

Clayton-le-
Moors (incl 
Altham) 

LARP 0.637 Yes No No HBC owned - Open 
Space 

227 land off Warwick 
Avenue 

Clayton-le-
Moors (incl 
Altham) 

LARP 1.114 Yes No No HBC owned - Open 
Space 

9 Junction 7 Business 
Park 

Clayton-le-
Moors (incl 
Altham) 

CFS & 
SHLAA 
removed site 

18.171 Yes No No New owners 

Page 213



Hyndburn Local Plan: Site Allocations DPD (Regulation 18 consultation) - February 2019 

35 

Site 
ref 

Address Local Plan area Source Area  
(ha) 

Proposed use Reason site 
screened out 
(criterion in SAM) 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 

E
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 

R
e
ta

il 

54 Former foundry site, 
Hey Street 

Great Harwood CFS 0.100 No No Yes Site less than 0.15ha 
(2.1) 

191 Beech Street Great Harwood HBC - Parks 0.082 Yes No No Site less than 0.15ha 
(2.1) 

62 Land northeast of 
Allsprings Drive 

Great Harwood CFS & 
SHLAA 
removed site 

5.739 Yes No No Location in relation to 
conservation/ 
environment (2.2) 

61 Allsprings Hall and 
Land Tan House 
Lane 

Great Harwood CFS & 
SHLAA 
removed site 

2.464 Yes No No Location in relation to 
conservation/ 
environment (2.2) 

89 land at junction of 
Lee Lane and 
Wilpshire Road 

Great Harwood CFS 9.940 Yes No No Location in relation to 
conservation/ 
environment (2.2) 

1 Lyndon Playing 
Fields 

Great Harwood CFS, PP 2.527 No No No Site has full planning 
permission for 
development (2.4) 

51 Lands bounded by 
Salisbury St, Park 
Rd and Balfour 
Street 

Great Harwood CFS, SHLAA 2.375 Yes No No Site has full planning 
permission for 
development (2.4) 

115 Lyndon Playing 
Fields 

Great Harwood SHLAA, PP 7.039 Yes No No Site has full planning 
permission for 
development (2.4) 

128 land at junction of 
Water Street and 
Windsor Road 

Great Harwood SHLAA 0.364 Yes No No Site has full planning 
permission for 
development (2.4) 

130 Waverledge 
Business Park, 
Waverledge Road 

Great Harwood SHLAA 1.278 Yes No No Site has full planning 
permission for 
development (2.4) 

114 Land north of 
Harwood New Road 

Great Harwood SHLAA 1.064 Yes No No Open Space 

141 Land at Edge End  Great Harwood SHLAA cat 3 0.848 Yes No No Open Space 

17 Land at Dean 
Clough Reservoir, 
Shawcliffe Lane 

Great Harwood CFS 202.848 No No No Site screened out 
('Other' use) 

200 land off South Street 
(Burley Road) 

Huncoat HBC - Parks 0.130 Yes No No Site less than 0.15ha 
(2.1) 

7 Land south of Deer 
Park, Huncoat 

Huncoat CFS 1.417 Yes No No Site has full planning 
permission for 
development (2.4) 

122 land at Yorkshire 
Street 

Huncoat SHLAA 0.277 Yes No No Site has full planning 
permission for 
development (2.4) 

214 Hibberts Farm 
Broadfield 

Oswaldtwistle SHLAA 
removed site 

0.288 Yes No No Site separate from 
urban boundary (2.3) 

Page 214



Hyndburn Local Plan: Site Allocations DPD (Regulation 18 consultation) - February 2019 

36 

Site 
ref 

Address Local Plan area Source Area  
(ha) 

Proposed use Reason site 
screened out 
(criterion in SAM) 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 

E
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 

R
e
ta

il 

4 Moorgate, Bedlam, 
Accrington 

Oswaldtwistle 
(incl Knuzden) 

CFS 0.091 Yes Yes No  (2.1) 

18 Land to the rear of 
110 Fielding Lane 

Oswaldtwistle 
(incl Knuzden) 

CFS 0.068 Yes No No Site screened out 
(2.1) 

23 73 White Ash Lane, 
Oswaldtwistle 

Oswaldtwistle 
(incl Knuzden) 

CFS 0.095 Yes No No Site screened out 
(2.1) 

181 Land at Cocker 
Cobbs 

Oswaldtwistle 
(incl Knuzden) 

LARP 15.784 No No No Site screened out 
(2.2) 

184 Land at Miller Fold Oswaldtwistle 
(incl Knuzden) 

LARP 15.172 No No No Site screened out 
(2.2) 

28 4 Elton Road, 
Belthorn 

Oswaldtwistle 
(incl Knuzden) 

CFS; SHLAA 0.484 Yes No Yes Site separate from 
urban boundary (2.3) 

109 land at Biggins 
Farm, Moorgate, 
Green Haworth 

Oswaldtwistle 
(incl Knuzden) 

CFS 0.842 Yes No No Site separate from 
urban boundary (2.3) 

124 Land to the east of 
Rhoden Road 

Oswaldtwistle 
(incl Knuzden) 

SHLAA 0.549 Yes No No Site has full planning 
permission for 
development (2.4) 

182 Land off Stonebridge 
Lane  

Oswaldtwistle 
(incl Knuzden) 

LARP 0.567 No No No Site screened out 
(HBC owned - Open 
Sp) 

185 Land at White Ash 
Brook  

Oswaldtwistle 
(incl Knuzden) 

LARP 0.260 No No No Site screened out 
(HBC owned - Open 
Sp) 

186 Harvey Street Oswaldtwistle 
(incl Knuzden) 

LARP 1.233 No No No Site screened out 
(HBC owned - Open 
Sp) 

187 Land at Thwaites 
Road and Lower 
White Ash 

Oswaldtwistle 
(incl Knuzden) 

LARP 2.497 No No No Site screened out 
(HBC owned - Open 
Sp) 

188 Union Road/Clayton 
Street 

Oswaldtwistle 
(incl Knuzden) 

LARP 0.199 No No No Site screened out 
(HBC owned - Open 
Sp) 

113 Tinker Brook 
riverside path 

Oswaldtwistle 
(incl Knuzden) 

HBC 0.000 No No No Site screened out 
('Other' use) 

86 Warcock Green 
Farm, Knuzden 

Oswaldtwistle 
(incl Knuzden) 

CFS 3.919 No No No Site screened out 
(proposed OS) 

215 Fern Mill and adj. 
land,Haslingden Old 
Road 

Oswaldtwistle 
incl. Knuzden 

SHLAA 
removed site 

2.941 Yes No No Site separate from 
urban boundary (2.3) 

67 Spring St Garages, 
Brook St/Spring St, 
Rishton 

Rishton ELS poor 
quality 

0.132 No No No Site less than 0.15ha 
(2.1) 

193 land at Chapel 
Street (the Ladybird 
Garden) 

Rishton HBC - Parks 0.089 Yes No No Site less than 0.15ha 
(2.1) 

Page 215



Hyndburn Local Plan: Site Allocations DPD (Regulation 18 consultation) - February 2019 

37 

Site 
ref 

Address Local Plan area Source Area  
(ha) 

Proposed use Reason site 
screened out 
(criterion in SAM) 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 

E
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 

R
e
ta

il 

39 Bridgefield Mills, 
Springfield South, 
Rishton 

Rishton ELS poor 
quality, 
SHLAA 

1.023 Yes No No Site has full planning 
permission for 
development (2.4) 

126 Wheatfield Mill, 
Parker Street 

Rishton SHLAA 0.900 Yes No No Site has full planning 
permission for 
development (2.4) 

127 Parker Street Rishton SHLAA 1.199 Yes No No Site has full planning 
permission for 
development (2.4) 

168 Strategic Regional 
Employment site at 
Whitebirk 

Rishton CS2012 14.416 No Yes No Site screened out 
(Strategic allocation) 

 

 

Page 216



Hyndburn Local Plan: Site Allocations DPD (Regulation 18 consultation) - February 2019 

38 

Appendix 3:  Overview maps of Stage 3 sites 

The following maps provide an overview of the 179 sites that have reached Stage 3. These 

plans can be used to locate sites in each of the 9 Local Plan Areas. A detailed site boundary 

is contained within the relevant Site Assessment Report for each site. Site Assessment 

Reports are published separately grouped by Local Plan Area. 

The overview maps highlight ‘Phase 1’ sites and ‘Phase 2’ sites. For clarity, these terms do 

not relate to potential development phasing (should the sites be selected for allocation), but 

the order in which site assessment have taken place. 

 Phase 1 sites – include all sites within the existing urban boundary, within the 

Huncoat Housing Zone boundary, or on previously developed land outside of the 

existing urban boundary. 

 Phase 2 sites – all other sites outside of the existing urban boundary on greenfield 

land 

The maps do not identify any policy constraints as the purpose of the maps is simply to 

assist in identifying the location of sites that the Council is considering at Stage 3 of the Site 

Assessment Methodology. All information on constraints such as Green Belt, flood risk etc. 

is contained within the individual site assessment reports or is set out in separate evidence 

base documents that support the Local Plan. 

 

Page 217



Hyndburn Local Plan: Site Allocations DPD (Regulation 18 consultation) - February 2019 

39 

Accrington (Central) Local Plan Area – potential development sites 

Important notes:  

(1) Not all sites shown on the 

map will be required - only the 

most suitable, available and 

deliverable sites will be 

selected for allocation from 

those presented here.  

(2) References in the key to 

‘Phase 1 sites’ and ‘Phase 2 

sites’ does not refer to the 

likely delivery of sites that end 

up being selected, they only 

refer to the order in which site 

appraisals have been 

undertaken.  

(3) For information on site 

constraints (e.g. flood risk, 

Green Belt etc.) please refer 

to individual Site Assessment 

Reports 

P
age 218



Hyndburn Local Plan: Site Allocations DPD (Regulation 18 consultation) - February 2019 

40 

Baxenden Local Plan Area sites – potential development sites 

 

Important notes:  

(4) Not all sites shown on the 

map will be required - only the 

most suitable, available and 

deliverable sites will be 

selected for allocation from 

those presented here.  

(5) References in the key to 

‘Phase 1 sites’ and ‘Phase 2 

sites’ does not refer to the 

likely delivery of sites that end 

up being selected, they only 

refer to the order in which site 

appraisals have been 

undertaken.  

(6) For information on site 

constraints (e.g. flood risk, 

Green Belt etc.) please refer 

to individual Site Assessment 

Reports 

Important notes:  

(1) Not all sites shown on the map will 

be required - only the most 

suitable, available and deliverable 

sites will be selected for allocation 

from those presented here.  

(2) References in the key to ‘Phase 1 

sites’ and ‘Phase 2 sites’ does not 

refer to the likely delivery of sites 

that end up being selected, they 

only refer to the order in which site 

appraisals have been undertaken.  

(3) For information on site constraints 

(e.g. flood risk, Green Belt etc.) 

please refer to individual Site 

Assessment Reports 

Page 219



Hyndburn Local Plan: Site Allocations DPD (Regulation 18 consultation) - February 2019 

41 

Church Local Plan Area sites – potential development sites 

 

Important notes:  

(1) Not all sites shown on the 

map will be required - only the 

most suitable, available and 

deliverable sites will be 

selected for allocation from 

those presented here.  

(2) References in the key to 

‘Phase 1 sites’ and ‘Phase 2 

sites’ does not refer to the 

likely delivery of sites that end 

up being selected, they only 

refer to the order in which site 

appraisals have been 

undertaken.  

(3) For information on site 

constraints (e.g. flood risk, 

Green Belt etc.) please refer 

to individual Site Assessment 

Reports 

Page 220



Hyndburn Local Plan: Site Allocations DPD (Regulation 18 consultation) - February 2019 

42 

Clayton-le-Moors and Altham Local Plan Area – potential development sites 

 

Important notes:  

(1) Not all sites shown on the 

map will be required - only the 

most suitable, available and 

deliverable sites will be 

selected for allocation from 

those presented here.  

(2) References in the key to 

‘Phase 1 sites’ and ‘Phase 2 

sites’ does not refer to the 

likely delivery of sites that end 

up being selected, they only 

refer to the order in which site 

appraisals have been 

undertaken.  

(3) For information on site 

constraints (e.g. flood risk, 

Green Belt etc.) please refer 

to individual Site Assessment 

Reports 

P
age 221



Hyndburn Local Plan: Site Allocations DPD (Regulation 18 consultation) - February 2019 

43 

Great Harwood Local Plan Area sites – potential development sites 

 

Important notes:  

(1) Not all sites shown on the map 

will be required - only the most 

suitable, available and 

deliverable sites will be selected 

for allocation from those 

presented here.  

(2) References in the key to ‘Phase 

1 sites’ and ‘Phase 2 sites’ does 

not refer to the likely delivery of 

sites that end up being selected, 

they only refer to the order in 

which site appraisals have been 

undertaken.  

(3) For information on site 

constraints (e.g. flood risk, 

Green Belt etc.) please refer to 

individual Site Assessment 

Reports 

P
age 222



Hyndburn Local Plan: Site Allocations DPD (Regulation 18 consultation) - February 2019 

44 

Huncoat Local Plan Area sites – potential development sites 

 

Important notes:  

(1) Not all sites shown on the map 

will be required - only the most 

suitable, available and 

deliverable sites will be selected 

for allocation from those 

presented here.  

(2) References in the key to ‘Phase 

1 sites’ and ‘Phase 2 sites’ does 

not refer to the likely delivery of 

sites that end up being selected, 

they only refer to the order in 

which site appraisals have been 

undertaken.  

(3) For information on site 

constraints (e.g. flood risk, 

Green Belt etc.) please refer to 

individual Site Assessment 

Reports 

Page 223



Hyndburn Local Plan: Site Allocations DPD (Regulation 18 consultation) - February 2019 

45 

Knuzden & Whitebirk Local Plan Area sites – potential development sites 

 

Important notes:  

(1) Not all sites shown on the map will 

be required - only the most 

suitable, available and deliverable 

sites will be selected for allocation 

from those presented here.  

(2) References in the key to ‘Phase 1 

sites’ and ‘Phase 2 sites’ does not 

refer to the likely delivery of sites 

that end up being selected, they 

only refer to the order in which site 

appraisals have been undertaken.  

(3) For information on site constraints 

(e.g. flood risk, Green Belt etc.) 

please refer to individual Site 

Assessment Reports 

Page 224



Hyndburn Local Plan: Site Allocations DPD (Regulation 18 consultation) - February 2019 

46 

Rishton Local Plan Area sites – potential development sites 

 

Important notes:  

(1) Not all sites shown on the map 

will be required - only the most 

suitable, available and 

deliverable sites will be selected 

for allocation from those 

presented here.  

(2) References in the key to ‘Phase 

1 sites’ and ‘Phase 2 sites’ does 

not refer to the likely delivery of 

sites that end up being selected, 

they only refer to the order in 

which site appraisals have been 

undertaken.  

(3) For information on site 

constraints (e.g. flood risk, 

Green Belt etc.) please refer to 

individual Site Assessment 

Reports 

P
age 225



Hyndburn Local Plan: Site Allocations DPD (Regulation 18 consultation) - February 2019 

47 

Oswaldtwistle Local Plan Area sites – potential development sites 

 

Important notes:  

(1) Not all sites shown on the map will be required - only the 

most suitable, available and deliverable sites will be selected 

for allocation from those presented here.  

(2) References in the key to ‘Phase 1 sites’ and ‘Phase 2 sites’ 

does not refer to the likely delivery of sites that end up being 

selected, they only refer to the order in which site appraisals 

have been undertaken.  

(3) For information on site constraints (e.g. flood risk, Green Belt 

etc.) please refer to individual Site Assessment Reports 

P
age 226



1 of 4 

 

 

Hyndburn Borough Council 
 
 Customer First Analysis 
 

 
What is it for? 
 
Our corporate values include putting the customer first, providing opportunities for bright futures and 
narrowing inequality across the Borough. 
 
From 1 April 2011, a new legal duty applies to all public authorities.  It covers these protected 
characteristics: 
 

 age; 

 disability; 

 gender reassignment; 

 pregnancy and maternity; 

 race; 

 religion or belief; 

 gender; 

 sexual orientation; and, for some aspects, 

 marriage and civil partnerships. 
 
The duty means that – as previously - we should analyse the effect of existing and new policies and 
practices on equality.  It does not specify how we should do this.  However, legal cases on the 
meaning of the previous general equality duties make it clear that we must carry out the analysis 
before making the relevant policy decision, and include consideration as to whether we can reduce 
any detrimental impact.   
 
The framework overleaf – our Customer First Analysis - is suggested when making a written record of 
the analysis.  This replaces Equality Impact Assessments. 
 
The Analysis should be proportionate to the policy decision being taken.  In some cases the written 
record will be a quick set of bullet points or notes under each heading, to deal with any questions 
which are relevant (or briefly explain why if they aren’t).  Others will need to be much more detailed.  A 
meaningful Analysis will help the Council make the best decision or formulate a policy which best 
meets our customers’ needs. 
 
Please return completed Customer First Analyses to Shaheen Amaan in Human Resources.  Shaheen 
can guide you through the process if this would be helpful. 
 
If you have any suggestions for improving this process, please let me know. 
 
 
 
Kirsten Burnett 
Head of HR 

Page 227



2 of 4 

Customer First Analysis 
 

1. Purpose 
 

 What are you trying to achieve with the policy / service / function? 
The Core Strategy Review and Site Allocations DPD form part of the new Local Plan for 
Hyndburn. They will set the strategic planning policies against which planning applications for 
new development will be considered, and identify sites required to meet the proposed growth in 
the Core Strategy.  

 

 Who defines and manages it? 
Hyndburn Borough Council, through the Planning Service, including both the Plans and 
Environment and Development Management functions. 
 

 Who do you intend to benefit from it and how? 
Existing and future residents of the Borough will benefit through the provision of new homes 
and jobs, higher quality developments, and sustainable long-term planning of the growth of the 
Borough. Developers will also gain greater upfront certainty on the type and location of 
development that the Council will support. 

 

 What could prevent people from getting the most out of the policy / service / function? 
Inadequate consultation – the accompanying Council Report sets out the detailed consultation 
that has taken place to date along with proposed future consultation. 

 

 How will you get your customers involved in the analysis and how will you tell people about it? 
The Core Strategy Review and Site Allocations DPD have been consulted on in accordance 
with the relevant regulations and the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement. 

 
 
2. Evidence 
 

 How will you know if the policy delivers its intended outcome / benefits? 
The Core Strategy Review will include a section on monitoring and implementation at a later 
stage of its development. This will ensure the outcomes of the policies are as intended. 

 

 How satisfied are your customers and how do you know? 
The local community and organisations have been involved with the production of the Local 
Plan in earlier stages. Where justified and appropriate, this version of the document 
incorporates representations received from the community and organisations in previous 
stages.  

 

 What existing data do you have on the people that use the service and the wider population? 
The Local Plan as a whole is supported by an extensive evidence base which takes into 
account the socio-economic profile of the Borough. 
 

 What other information would it be useful to have?  How could you get this? 
N/A 

 

 Are you breaking down data by equality groups where relevant (such as by gender, age, 
disability, ethnicity, sexual orientation, marital status, religion and belief, pregnancy and 
maternity)? 

Page 228



3 of 4 

This has been considered where it is relevant to issues of spatial planning and design in the 
preparation of the Local Plan documents and evidence base (e.g. housing needs assessment 
evidence). 
 

 Are you using partners, stakeholders, and councillors to get information and feedback? 
These groups have all been involved in the formulation of the Local Plan documents in earlier 
consultation stages and preparation of these documents. 

 
 
3. Impact 
 

 Are some people benefiting more – or less - than others?  If so, why might this be? 
There is no evidence of this to date. The statutory consultation phase of the Local Plan in 2018 
has been undertaken in line with the Council’s ‘Statement of Community Involvement’ which 
includes measures are taken to ensure that hard to reach groups are engaged. A sustainability 
appraisal has also been undertaken, and has been updated through the process, which 
assesses the impact of the proposed policies and potential land allocations on a range of 
social, economic and environmental matters.  

 
 
4. Actions 
 

 If the evidence suggests that the policy / service / function benefits a particular group – or 
disadvantages another - is there a justifiable reason for this and if so, what is it? 
N/A 
 

 Is it discriminatory in any way? 
Not aware of this, every effort will be made to publicise relevant consultations on planning 
policy as it develops in line with the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement at the 
appropriate time 

 

 Is there a possible impact in relationships or perceptions between different parts of the 
community? 
No evidence to this effect 
 

 What measures can you put in place to reduce disadvantages? 
Ensure that the future consultations on planning policy and guidance are open to all. The 
Council’s agreed Statement of Community Involvement will be followed wherever practical to 
ensure this objective is achieved. 
 

 Do you need to consult further? 
Yes, the Council will undertake further consultation in 2020 before submitting to the Planning 
Inspector who will appoint an examiner to examine the Local Plan. If he/she recommends 
‘Main Modifications’ (changes that materially affect the policies) in order to make the plan 
sound then further consultation would take place on those. 

 

 Have you identified any potential improvements to customer service? 
No 

 

 Who should you tell about the outcomes of this analysis? 
This can be made available alongside the adopted plans 
 

 Have you built the actions into your Business Plan with a clear timescale? 

Page 229



4 of 4 

N/A 
 

 When will this assessment need to be repeated? 
Next report to Council 
 

 
Don’t forget to return your written record to HR. 

 

Page 230



REPORT TO: Full Council 

DATE: 21 February 2019 

PORTFOLIO: Cllr Joyce Plummer: Resources 

REPORT AUTHOR: Joe McIntyre, Deputy Chief Executive, 
Resources 

TITLE OF REPORT: National Non Domestic Rates Retail Discount 
Scheme 

EXEMPT REPORT:  No  

  

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of 
publication: 

 

  
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 This report presents the proposed National Non Domestic Rates Retail 

Discount Scheme for 2019-20 and 2020-21. 
 
2. Recommendations  
 
2.1    It is recommended that Council approves the National Non Domestic Rates 

Discount Scheme in order for the Council to meets its obligations as laid out in 
the Budget on 29th October 2018. 

 
3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 
 

3.1 The National Non Domestic Rates Retail Discount Scheme is a temporary 
scheme announced by the Government in its Budget on 29th October 2018.  
This is a Government funded, two-year scheme available nationally and 
delivered in accordance with the Council’s Discretionary Relief powers under 
Section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988.  The Retail Discount 
Scheme will be available to eligible ratepayers from 1 April 2019 to 31 March 
2021. 

 
3.2 The Retail Discount Scheme is designed to support the local retail economy 

by providing businesses with a rateable value of less than £51,000 with a 
discount of one third after other reliefs have been applied.  The relief is fully 
funded by Government subsidy and the Council intends to take a proactive 
approach by automatically applying the relief to qualifying accounts and 
having an opt-out/refusal option with provisions in place for those businesses 
over the EU State Aid de minimis thresholds.  This approach will support our 
local economy as well as reduce the administrative burden for the Council. 

 

Page 231

Agenda Item 6.



 
3.3 As outlined in Government guidance issued by MHCLG, eligible businesses 

will be occupied properties being used wholly or mainly as shops, restaurants, 
cafes and drinking establishments.  Section 2 of the Retail Discount Scheme 
attached at Appendix 1 outlines in detail which types of businesses will and 
will not be eligible for the discount.  While Government guidance has been 
followed in this respect, there remains an option for the Council to include any 
other type of businesses not listed but which otherwise meets the relevant 
criteria. 

 
3.4 Implementing the scheme requires system adaptations as the calculation of a 

one third discount has not been required previously – this is a national 
scheme and system providers are working with local authorities on an 
implementation plan.  It is expected that this process will be delivered in time 
for the new financial year in April 2019. 

 
3.5 Initial estimations indicate that more than 200 businesses may benefit from 

this discount worth over £512k in total as the discount is calculated after other 
reliefs such as mandatory charitable relief, small business rates relief and 
transitional relief. 

 
3.6 Once approved, the Retail Discount Scheme will be added as a temporary 

amendment to the Council’s National Non Domestic Rates Relief Scheme 
published in October 2018. 

 
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 The Retail Discount Scheme as outlined by MHCLG and the attached scheme 

at Appendix 1 can be provided to local retailers at no additional cost to the 
Council as discounts provided under the scheme are subsidised by 
Government.  Councils can chose not to implement the policy, however the 
scheme does support the Council’s efforts to regenerate the high street and 
given the benefit to local retailers it is recommended that this discount is 
implemented.  Having written and published guidance allows for a consistent 
and fair application of the discount scheme. 

 

5. Consultations 
 
5.1 No formal consultation has taken place with the public on this scheme.  The 

scheme is temporary, is of limited scope and is based on Government 
guidelines.  Discretionary relief remains available to other ratepayers on a 
case by case basis under the Council’s substantive discretionary powers and 
as such any potential expansion of this scheme is not considered necessary 
at this stage. 

 

 
 
6. Implications 
 

Financial implications The collection of local taxes remains a 

Page 232



(including any future financial 
commitments for the Council) 
 

priority for the Benefits, Revenues and 
Customer Contact service and having 
relevant and up to date policies provides 
the necessary framework for officers.  
While there is no direct financial 
obligation for the Council as a result of 
this discount scheme, having a 
published scheme provides guidance 
and transparency for local ratepayers. 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

The administration of business rates is 
done within legislative frameworks and 
guidance.  Any and all legal and human 
rights implications have been considered 
and balanced against the rights of the 
individual and the obligations placed on 
the authority for the collection and 
administration of local taxes.  The 
protection of vulnerable groups and 
individuals has been considered 
extensively as have the rights of our 
residents and customers.  Legal 
implications and human rights have been 
considered at each stage and the policy 
intentions within this report are 
considered proportionate and justifiable 
when balanced against the rights of the 
individual. 

Assessment of risk 
 

Having up to date guidance reinforces 
the department’s mandate to collect 
taxes on behalf of the Council and 
provides necessary transparency for rate 
payers – both of which lessens the risk 
of accusations of maladministration. 

Equality and diversity 
implications 
A Customer First Analysis should 
be completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached 
as an appendix to the report.  

The Council is subject to the public 
sector equality duty introduced by the 
Equality Act 2010. When making a 
decision in respect of the 
recommendations in this report Council 
must have regard to the need to: 

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, 
harassment and victimisation; and 

 advance equality of opportunity 
between those who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and those 
who don’t; and 

 foster good relations between those 
who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and those who don’t. 

Page 233

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407


For these purposes the relevant 
protected characteristics are: age, 
disability, gender reassignment, 
pregnancy and maternity, race, religion 
or belief, sex and sexual orientation. To 
assist Council in this regard a Customer 
First Analysis has been carried out and 
is presented with this report at Appendix 
2. Council is advised to consider the 
Customer First Analysis and associated 
obligations in respect of the public sector 
equality duty when making a decision in 
respect of the recommendations 
contained in this report.  

 
 

 
 
 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
7.1 Business Rates – Retail Discount Guidance – November 2018 
 
 
8. Freedom of Information 
 
8.1 The report does not contain exempt information under the Local Government 

Act 1972.  Schedule 12A and all information can be disclosed under the 
Freedom of Information Act 2000. 

 
 
 Appendices 

1. NNDR Retail Discount Scheme 

2. CFA 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 234



 
 

Non Domestic Rates  
Retail Discount Scheme 

April 2019 
 

1. Introduction  

1.1 The Government announced in the Budget on 29th October 2018 that it will 

provide a Business Rates Retail Discount Scheme for occupied retail 

premises with a rateable value of less than £51,000 in each of the years 

2019/20 and 2020/21. 

1.2 The value of the discount is one third of the bill, and must be applied after 

mandatory reliefs and other discretionary reliefs funded by section 31 grants 

have been applied.  Other locally applied discounts under section 47 of the 

Local Government Finance Act 1988 must be applied after the Retail 

Discount. 

 
1.3 The Retail Discount will be provided to eligible ratepayers in their 2019/20 and 

2020/21 bills at the beginning of that year. 

 
1.4 Retail Discount awards are made under section 47 of the Local Government 

Finance Act 1988 as amended. 

 
1.5 The proposed Retail Discount Scheme is based on guidance issued by the 

Government in November 2018 and provision with Section 43 of the LGFA 

1988, will determine the test of occupation. 

 

2. Eligibility 

2.1 Properties that will benefit from the Retail Discount scheme will be occupied, 

being used as shops, restaurants, cafes and drinking establishments.   

 

Page 235



2.2 We consider shops, restaurants, cafes and drinking establishments to be 

hereditaments that are being used for the sale of goods to visiting members of 

the public such as: 

 
a) Shops (such as: florists, bakers, butchers, grocers, greengrocers, 

jewellers, stationers, off licences, chemists, newsagents, hardware stores, 

supermarkets etc.); 

b) Charity shops; 

c) Opticians; 

d) Post Offices; 

e) Furnishing Shops/display rooms (such as carpet shops, double-glazing, 

garage doors); 

f) Car/caravan show rooms; 

g) Second hand car showrooms or lots; 

h) Markets; 

i) Petrol stations; 

j) Garden centres; 

k) Art Galleries (where art is for sale/hire) 

 
2.3 Hereditaments that are being used for the provision of the following services 

to visiting members of the public: 

 
a) Hair and beauty services (such as hairdressers, nail bars, beauty salons, 

tanning shops etc.); 

b) Shoe repair/key cutting; 

c) Travel Agents; 

d) Ticket offices i.e. for theatres; 

e) Dry cleaners; 

f) Launderettes; 

g) PC/TV/Domestic appliance repair; 

h) Funeral directors; 

Page 236



i) Photo processing; 

j) Tool hire; 

k) Car hire. 

 
2.4 Hereditaments that are being used for the sale of food and/or drink to visiting 

members of the public: 

 
a) Restaurants; 

b) Takeaways; 

c) Sandwich shops; 

d) Coffee shops; 

e) Pubs; 

f) Bars. 

 
2.5 The above lists are not exhaustive and the Council will consider 

representations from individual businesses that believe they have similar 
characteristics to those listed above but who have not been included to date. 

 
2.6 Eligibility for Retail Discount Scheme is a test on use rather than occupation.  

Therefore, hereditaments which are occupied but not wholly or mainly used 
for the qualifying purposes will not qualify for this discount.   

 
2.7 Premises occupied for mixed use will be considered with qualification being 

determined by the main use of the property. 
 
2.8 Hyndburn Borough Council will not consider a Retail Discount Scheme award 

for hereditaments being used for the provision of the following services: 
 

a) Financial services (e.g. banks, building societies, cash points, bureaux de 

change, payday lenders, betting shops, pawn brokers); 

b) Medical services (e.g. vets, dentists, doctors, osteopaths, chiropractors); 

c) Professional Services (e.g. solicitors, accountants, insurance 

agents/financial advisors, tutors); 

d) Post Office sorting offices;  

e) Other services (e.g. estate agents, letting agents, employment agencies). 

Page 237



f) Other assembly or leisure uses beyond those listed in 2.3 and 2.4 above 

(e.g. cinemas, theatres, museums, nightclubs and music venues, gyms) 

 
2.9 In addition, the Retail Discount Scheme will not be available for premises that 

are not reasonably accessible to the public. 
 
2.10 The relief will be applied on a daily basis.  A new hereditament created as a 

result of a split or merger during the financial year, or where there is a change 
of use, will be considered afresh for relief on that day. 

 

3. Amount and Duration of Relief 

 
3.1 The total amount of government-funded discount available for each property 

for 2019/20 and 2020/21 under this scheme is one third of the bill, after 
mandatory reliefs and other discretionary reliefs funded by grants provided 
under section 31 of the Local Government Act 2003. 

 
3.2 There is no discount available under this scheme for properties with a 

rateable value of £51,000 or more. 
 
3.3 Any discount awarded under the Council’s discretionary powers under section 

47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 and not funded by the 
government will be applied after the Retail Discount. 

 
3.4 Any further reductions will be made at the discretion of Hyndburn Borough 

Council outside this scheme and in line with our National Non Domestic Rates 
Discretionary Rates Relief Scheme. 

 
3.5 The eligibility for the discount and the discount itself will be assessed and 

calculated on a daily basis by dividing the daily charge by 3 after the 
application of any mandatory relief and any other discretionary reliefs 
excluding those where Hyndburn Borough Council has used its discretionary 
relief powers introduced in the Localism Act 2011 and not funded by a grant 
under section 31 of the Local Government Act 2003.  

 
3.6 Ratepayers who occupy more than one property will be entitled to the Retail 

Discount for each of their eligible properties, subject to State Aid de minimis 
limits. 

 
 
4. State Aid 

4.1    State Aid law is the means by which the European Union regulates state 
funded support to businesses. Providing discretionary relief to ratepayers is 
likely to amount to State Aid. However Retail Relief will be State Aid compliant 

Page 238



where it is provided in accordance with the De Minimis Regulations 
(1407/2013)1 

 
4.2 The De Minimis Regulations allow an undertaking to receive up to €200,000 

of De Minimis aid in a three year period (consisting of the current financial 
year and the two previous financial years).  Small business are unlikely to be 
impacted by these rules, however large national chains face the potential that 
the cumulative impact of receiving a Retail Discount for each of their stores 
may exceed the de minimis.  In these circumstances these businesses will 
need to decline the offer of rate relief.  Appropriate explanations and forms will 
accompany the bills sent to premises to allow businesses to decline the relief 
if they assess they might transgress the State Aid rules. 

 

5. Scheme Review 
 
5.1 The discount scheme will be reviewed annually or in line with any changes 

made by Government in order to ensure that eligibility remains within 
Government guidance and relevant legislation. 

 

6. Data Protection 
 
6.1 Details of our data privacy policy can be found at 

www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/privacy-notice 
 

7. Equality and Diversity 
 
7.1 The Council remains committed to its obligations under the Public Sector 

Equality Duty and a ‘Customer First Analysis’ has been provided with this 
scheme. 

8. Appeals and complaints 
 
8.1  Retail Relief decisions will be made by the Council’s Revenues Manager. 
 
8.2  While there is no formal right of appeal against Retail Discount decisions, 

applicants may request their application is reconsidered. All requests for 
reconsideration should be made within one calendar month of the original 
decision notice being issued. The application will be reconsidered by the 
Head of Benefits, Revenues and Customer Contact. 

 
8.3 All applications for reconsideration must be made in writing or by email and 

outline the reasons for the reconsideration request. The outcome of the 
reconsideration will be final. The applicant will be notified in writing detailing 
the decision made and the reasons for the decision. 

 
8.4 All complaints made directly to the authority will be handled in line with the 

Council’s complaints policy available at www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/complaints  
                                                      
1
 http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2013:352:0001:0008:EN:PDF  

Page 239

http://www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/privacy-notice
http://www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/complaints
http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2013:352:0001:0008:EN:PDF


Appendix 2 
 

 

Hyndburn Borough Council 
 
 Customer First Analysis 
 

 
What is it for? 
 
Our corporate values include putting the customer first, providing opportunities for bright futures and 
narrowing inequality across the Borough. 
 
From 1 April 2011, a new legal duty applies to all public authorities.  It covers these protected 
characteristics: 
 

 age; 

 disability; 

 gender reassignment; 

 pregnancy and maternity; 

 race; 

 religion or belief; 

 gender; 

 sexual orientation; and, for some aspects, 

 marriage and civil partnerships. 
 
The duty means that – as previously - we should analyse the effect of existing and new policies and 
practices on equality.  It does not specify how we should do this.  However, legal cases on the 
meaning of the previous general equality duties make it clear that we must carry out the analysis 
before making the relevant policy decision, and include consideration as to whether we can 
reduce any detrimental impact.   
 
The framework overleaf – our Customer First Analysis - is suggested when making a written record of 
the analysis.  This replaces Equality Impact Assessments. 
 
The Analysis should be proportionate to the policy decision being taken.  In some cases the written 
record will be a quick set of bullet points or notes under each heading, to deal with any questions 
which are relevant (or briefly explain why if they aren’t).  Others will need to be much more detailed.  
A meaningful Analysis will help the Council make the best decision or formulate a policy which best 
meets our customers’ needs. 
 
Please return completed Customer First Analyses to Human Resources.  I can guide you through the 
process if this would be helpful. 
 
If you have any suggestions for improving this process, please let me know. 
 
 
 
Kirsten Burnett 
Head of HR 

Page 240



Customer First Analysis 
 

1. Purpose 
 

 What are you trying to achieve with the policy / service / function? 
 
This analysis covers the National Non domestic Rates Retail Discount Scheme for 2019-20 and 2020-
21.  The scheme provides guidance to local businesses which may be eligible to a discount of one 
third of their business rates under a discount scheme announced by the Government in its budget on 
29

th
 October 2018.  The scheme is delivered locally by billing authorities. 

 

 Who defines and manages it? 
 
The discount scheme is based on eligibility guidance provided by the Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government in November 2018.  Hyndburn’s scheme is managed by the 
Benefits, Revenues and Customer Contact department under its remit to administer and collection 
business rates on behalf of the Council and preceptors. 
 

 Who do you intend to benefit from it and how? 
 
It is intended that local retail businesses will benefit from the discount scheme and that in turn will 
generate benefit for the local high street and local residents and visitors to the area. 
 

 What could prevent people from getting the most out of the policy / service / function? 
 
The scheme is clear on eligibility and the Council will be applying the discount proactively in order to 
prevent any business not applying through lack of awareness.   
 

 How will you get your customers involved in the analysis and how will you tell people about it? 
 
The scheme has followed Government guidelines and as such customer involvement is not 
considered necessary at this stage.  Customers will be informed via normal communication methods 
and the schemes will be available online as well as in hard copy. 
 
2. Evidence 
 

 How will you know if the policy delivers its intended outcome / benefits?] 
 
Eligible businesses will benefit from a lower business rates bill which may support high street 
regeneration efforts. 
 

 How satisfied are your customers and how do you know? 
 
In relation to this scheme, it is not possible to say.  The Council conducted a consultation in 2017 on 
National Non Domestic Rates Revaluation Relief which was designed along similar eligibility criteria.  
Overall, there was support for small and medium sized businesses which are broadly the intended 
recipients of this discount scheme.   
 

 What existing data do you have on the people that use the service and the wider population? 
 
We hold relevant data on our Business Rates customers which allows us to identify eligible 
businesses and make awards. 
 

 What other information would it be useful to have?  How could you get this? 
 

None at this stage. 
 

 Are you breaking down data by equality groups where relevant (such as by gender, age, 
disability, ethnicity, sexual orientation, marital status, religion and belief, pregnancy and 
maternity)? 

Page 241



 
Not relevant to this scheme. 
 

 Are you using partners, stakeholders, and councillors to get information and feedback? 
 
Not relevant to this scheme. 
 
3. Impact 
 

 Are some people benefiting more – or less - than others?  If so, why might this be? 
 
Businesses with a rateable value of less than £51,000 are eligible for this discount and so may benefit 
from a third off their net business rates liability.  It is the intention of the scheme, published in 
guidance by Government that smaller retail premises should be included and that larger retail units 
and all industrial premises be excluded.   
 
4. Actions 
 

 If the evidence suggests that the policy / service / function benefits a particular group – or 
disadvantages another - is there a justifiable reason for this and if so, what is it? 

 
It is considered that smaller high street retailers are in greater need of this discount than larger 
retailers and industrial businesses.   
 

 Is it discriminatory in any way? 
 
No – the only defining criteria is the size of the retail hereditament and the type of business, none of 
which are based on any protected characteristics of the businesses or the customers. 
 

 Is there a possible impact in relationships or perceptions between different parts of the 
community? 

 
The discount is available to a broad range of retail businesses throughout Hyndburn. 
 

 What measures can you put in place to reduce disadvantages? 
 
n/a 
 

 Do you need to consult further? 
 
Not at this stage. 
 

 Have you identified any potential improvements to customer service? 
 
The discount will be administered proactively with an opt-out declaration for those who may not be 
eligible or who wish to refuse the discount.  It is intended that this will provide immediate financial 
support to eligible businesses, eliminate any application delays and provide the discount to retailers 
who may be unaware of the new scheme and would therefore miss out by not applying.   
 

 Who should you tell about the outcomes of this analysis? 
 
This analysis forms part of the submission of the Retail Discount Scheme to Council. 
 

 Have you built the actions into your Business Plan with a clear timescale? 
n/a 
 

 When will this assessment need to be repeated? 
 
With any major changes to the scheme in the future. 

 

Page 242



Name:_Rachael Walker Signed: _________________________ 
 
Service Area:__Benefits, Revenues and Customer Contact _ 
Dated:___December 2018________________________ 

 
If applicable, please attach copy of – or website link to - the cabinet report for reference. 

 
 

Don’t forget to return your written record to HR 
 
 
 

Page 243



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 4 
 

 

REPORT TO :  COUNCIL 
DATE :  21st February 2019 
REPORT OF :  Councillor Joyce Plummer 

Portfolio Holder Resources 
PREPARED BY :  Joe McIntyre  

Deputy Chief Executive  
 

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 

2019/20 TO 2021/22 
 

February 2019 Update 
 

1. Purpose of Report 

 

The report informs the Cabinet of the 3-year projections of income and 
spending for the Council ahead of formulating its 2019/20 Revenue and 
Capital Budgets. 

2. Recommendations  
 

The Cabinet approves the report and the accompanying Medium Term 
Financial Strategy (MTFS). 
 

3. Summary 
 

The Medium Term Financial Strategy is attached to this report. 
 

Page 245

Agenda Item 7.



Page 2 of 4 
 

4. Detail 
 

See the attached report on the Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

5. Reasons for Recommendations 

 

The Cabinet requires an update on its medium term financial outlook 
ahead of setting the Budget for 2019/20 and determining the level of 
Council Tax for the new financial year.  This report also ensures those 
decisions are taken with a view to the overall position of the Council 
going forward and are not limited to a narrow one year perspective. 

 

6. Alternative Options considered & Reasons for 

Rejection 
 

Not applicable  

7. Implications 
 

Issue Comments 

Financial (inc mainstreaming) As outlined in the report 

Legal (including Human Rights 
Act requirements) 

Not applicable  

Assessment of Risk The Report contributes to the effective risk 
management of the Council by contributing to the 
overall financial context in which the Council takes 
budgetary and other operational decisions. 

 
The MTFS is revised on a regular basis to ensure it 
remains current and that changes in the financial 
outlook of the Council over the Medium Term are 
communicated to Members and appropriate action 
taken. 

Equality : Customer First 
Analysis 

Not applicable as this report is for information only. 

Key Decision No 

 

Page 246



Page 3 of 4 
 

8. Consultations 
Service Managers and their key staff are consulted during the early work 
on the compilation of the MTFS.  CMT and Senior Councillors are 
regularly engaged in formulating forward views and policy objectives 
and these are taken into consideration when formulating the MTFS.   
Also, this report will be presented to the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee during February 2019 when both Councillors and members 
of the public are invited to attend and make comments on the report.  
All input is considered before the report is finalised and sent to Council. 

9. Links to Corporate Priorities 
 

Priority Comments 

Corp Governance and Community 
Leadership 

 
 
 

The Medium Term 
Financial Strategy covers 
all aspects of these 
objectives. 

Community Safety 
Housing and the Environment 

Economy and Employment 

Culture and Leisure 
Other priorities with partners: 
Health and Social Care 
Education and Lifelong Learning 

 

10. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

 List of Background Papers 

    Medium Term Financial Strategy 2019/20 to 2021/22 

Cabinet 10th October 2018 

11. Freedom of Information 
 

The report does not contain any exempt information under the Local 
Government Act 1972; Schedule 12a and all information can be 
disclosed under the Freedom of Information Act 2000. 

Page 247

https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/documents/b5089/Supplemental%20Agenda%2010th-Oct-2018%2015.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=9


Page 4 of 4 
 

12. Equality Impact Assessment 
 

There are no specific measures within the report that require an Equality 
Impact Assessment.  Individual proposals stemming from the budgetary 
process will be Equality Impact Assessed as required over the coming 
months. 

Page 248



Page 1 of 58 
 

 
 
 

HYNDBURN BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

MEDIUM TERM 

 

FINANCIAL STRATEGY 

 

February 2019 

 
 

Page 249



Page 2 of 58 
 

INTRODUCTION 
1. This document sets out, for the next three years,  

 

 the way in which the Council goes about its financial planning 

processes, especially in relation to the corporate budget 

planning cycle, which is subject to the Budget and Policy 

Framework Procedure Rules, 

 

 an updated action plan for the process and arrangements for 

reporting on progress to date in formulating and updating 

future years’ budgets. Specifically, this report updates the 

Medium Term Financial Strategy presented to Cabinet in 

October 2018. 

 

2. Appendix 1 sets out the background to the current budget 

predictions in figures to give an idea of commitments, funding and 

potential Council Tax levels.  It indicates that for 2019/20 the 

Council’s Total Income forecast will be down from £11,236,000 in 

2018/19 to £10,955,000 a net decrease of £281,000.  The reduction is 

due to the loss of £500,000 of Government Grant compared to the 

previous year and not supplementing our income from reserves as 

we did in 2018/19.  This loss of income is offset by expected 

increased Business Rates, additional Council Tax and some other 

minor changes. Costs are expected to rise by £570,000 and this 

produces an overall net saving position for the year of £851,000. 

Page 250



Page 3 of 58 
 

3. The forecast for the next 2 years is dominated by the uncertainty 

around the Government’s Fair Funding Review.  The Review is due to 

be completed during 2019 and be implemented for the new financial 

year 2020/21.  Its likely impact will be to substantially reduce the 

funding of District Councils such as Hyndburn, via limiting the amount 

of Business Rates raised locally that they can retain.  At present, 

there is no data on which to base any forecasts of the likely 

reductions the Council faces from these changes.  It is hoped details 

will emerge in the late Summer or early Autumn, though it is entirely 

possible, the first credible figures we will receive will be when the 

Government announces the preliminary local government settlement 

in December 2019.   

4. For forecasting purposes within the MTFS we have assumed within 

the Standard Model, the Fair Funding Review cuts our retained 

business rates income by £1m in 2020/21 and a further £500,000 in 

2021/22.  The Pessimistic Model assumes a reduction of £1.5m in 

2020/21 with a second year reduction of £750,000 in 2021/22.  The 

Optimistic Model assumes only a £300,000 reduction in 2020/21 and 

a £250,000 further reduction in 2021/22. The impact on the Councils 

funding is significant with the minimum impact over the 2 years in 

excess of £1/2m and the outer estimate exceeding £2.25m.  Some of 

the loss in this funding could be offset by local economic growth. 

5. In 2020/21, the Council faces a major loss of funding from the 

Government as Revenue Support Grant is expected to end for 

Hyndburn in that year.  This will see the Council lose £1.5m of 

funding from the Government, the largest ever single year decrease 

Page 251



Page 4 of 58 
 

the Council has ever faced.  Some of the decrease will be ameliorated 

by anticipated further growth in Business Rates of £1.5m less an 

anticipated £1m reduction due to the Fair Funding Review and 

£207,000 of predicted Council Tax income growth.  

6.  This reduces the loss of revenue to the Council in 2020/21 to just 

under £746,000 compared to the previous year of 2019/20.  Cost 

pressures in 2020/21 stemming from expected further reductions in 

Government support for Housing Benefit and the impact of wage 

inflation and cost increases on the goods and services the Council 

purchases, are anticipated to rise by £520,000.  These cost increases 

are expected to be offset by a forecast £500,000 reduction in 

payments connected to the Lancashire Pension Fund.  This produces 

the need to generate a further £765,000 of saving in 2020/21. 

7. The forecast for 2021/22 shows an easing on the financial pressures 

faced by the Council.  With the ending of Government support to the 

Council occurring in the previous year, there is no further reduction 

in this source of funding and the Council’s revenue is now dependent 

on Business Rates and Council Tax and these are both expected to 

grow in 2021/22 despite anticipated further reductions in Business 

Rate figures under Fair Funding compared to the previous year and 

give positive growth in overall revenues of over £318,000.  

Inflationary costs and likely changes around Local Authority Land 

Searches at a national level will see costs rise by a forecast £570,000, 

slightly outstripping our growth in income and leaving the Council 

needing to find around 2.5% in savings in that year to Balance its 

Budget. 

Page 252



Page 5 of 58 
 

8. Two further scenarios are provided in the following appendices to 

outline the potential range of values over the coming period, the first 

at Appendix 2 indicates the outer level of what the Council could face 

in a pessimistic future, while Appendix 3 shows an optimistic forecast 

based on many things going in the Council’s favour over the next 3 

years. 

9. There is significant divergence in the financial predictions for the 3 

years between the Pessimistic and Optimistic Models.  The 

divergence between the Pessimistic and Optimistic Models in terms 

of annual savings that need to be identified is almost £2.5m in 

2020/21 before reducing to £1.4m in 2021/22.  The cumulative 

difference exceeds £3.9m over the three years.  The wide range in 

the cumulative impact between the difference scenarios underlines 

the degree of uncertainty in making accurate forecasts around the 

impact of local government funding from 2020/21, the growth in 

local revenues, the future rate of inflation and pay settlements and 

pressures on Revenue and Capital spending.  Given the level of 

uncertainty it will be necessary for the Council to hold strong 

reserves over this period and hold off making any major 

commitments on expenditure until after the Fair Funding Review 

announces its decision on the future amounts the Council can expect 

to receive from 2020/21 onwards. 

10. The Pessimistic Scenario shows, in addition to a reduction of 

£100,000 in 2020/21 and 2021/22 on the Collection Fund Surplus, a 

major reduction in Business Rate income for the Council and Council 

Tax revenues flat lining over the 3 years.  This would see income 

Page 253



Page 6 of 58 
 

levels reduced by almost £1.6m between 2019/20 and 2020/21 and 

further reducing in 2021/22 by another £166,000.  The fall in Business 

Rate income is attributable to a difficult Government settlement for 

the Council stemming from the Fair Funding Review.  The Pessimistic 

Scenario assumes the Government’s new funding methodology will 

transfer away from the Council up to £1.5m of the Business Rates it is 

currently allowed to retain in 2020/21 and a further £750,000 the 

following year.  Council Tax income is not expected to change 

between 2020/21 and 2021/22 in the Pessimistic Scenario and the 

lack of growth in numbers of properties and no increase to the 

amounts charged to individual households loses the Council £207,000 

in 2020/21 and £422,000 in 2021/22. 

11. As well as the sharp decline in income over this period the Council 

could face increased costs in 2020/21 and 2021/22 from higher 

inflation, the need to contribute resources from its Revenue Budget 

to fund Capital expenditure and reduced savings on its payment to 

Lancashire Pension Fund. 

12. The Optimistic Scenario sees increased revenues in the 2nd and 3rd 

years of the MTFS.  The Optimistic model assumes the changes 

imposed on the Council from the Fair Funding Review are relatively 

modest at £300,000 in 2020/21 and £250,000 in 2021/22 and that 

growth from the local economy outstrips them.  Revenue increases 

from Council Tax from both a growth in house numbers and a rise in 

the amount payable as well as a larger Collection Fund Surplus.    The 

Optimistic Model also assumes that the changes to Land Search 

Service occur in such a way that it has a neutral impact on the 

Page 254



Page 7 of 58 
 

Council’s Budget and that the reduction in payments to the 

Lancashire Pension Fund are towards the top end of the forecasts 

around what could be expected.  Combining these factors produces a 

scenario in which the Council’s revenues would actually exceed its 

expected expenditure in 2020/21 by almost £338,000 and 2021/22 

almost £110,000. 

13. Both scenarios are meant to show the outer limits of what might 

occur and what the Council would face in these circumstances. The 

reality is that the Council is very unlikely to suffer from all bad news 

or all good news over the next 3 years and its fortunes will therefore 

lie somewhere between the two scenarios. 

14. The figures in Appendix 1 therefore remain our current best estimate 

of the likely financial position over the next 3 years.  If the 2020/21 

Local Government Settlement is adversely significantly different from 

the forecast in Appendix 1, the Council is unlikely to have sufficient 

time to implement a savings plan to balance its Budget in that year, 

as it could be required to achieve up to £1.4m of extra savings at 

short notice.  In these circumstances, the Council would need to draw 

upon its Reserves to balance its 2020/21 financial position, while it 

introduced an emergency savings programme to ensure it could 

balance the 2021/22 Budget. 

OBJECTIVES 

15. The objectives of the Medium Term Financial Strategy are:  

 

Page 255



Page 8 of 58 
 

 to be the financial expression of the Corporate Plan; it is a 

financial strategy's role to provide the resources to deliver 

this plan, and in turn, the Corporate Plan and service plans 

need to be consistent with the Financial Plan, 

 

 to ensure that commitments do not exceed forecasted 

anticipated resources over the period and for each year,  

 

 that expenditure is increasingly focused on those areas 

which the Council has determined are its priority areas,  

 

 that the level of Council Tax is planned in line with what the 

Council and the community as a whole regard as being 

acceptable, albeit within the context of guidelines from 

Central Government,  

 

 to review the effectiveness of delivery of additional 

resources into priority areas, to ensure that the objectives 

set for these target areas are actually being achieved,  

 

 to ensure that the Council remains in a strong financial 

position as measured by the size of balances and reserves 

(consistent with the Chief Financial Officer’s 

recommendations), 

 

 to improve value for money assessments in all services by 

delivering increased efficiency savings, 

Page 256



Page 9 of 58 
 

 

All of which must ensure compliance with the Council’s Budget and 

Policy Framework Procedure Rules. 

 

ELEMENTS OF THE MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL 

STRATEGY 
16. The key elements of the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 

are:- 

 

 

Forecasting 

Resources 

  

The Medium Term Financial Strategy 

needs to be underpinned by sound 

forecasting mechanisms for the likely 

resources available to the Authority 

over a three year period. The Cabinet 

receives reports on the achievement of 

the financial plan with future 

projections for the following three 

years at regular intervals. 

 

Budget Monitoring & 

Forecasting 

Commitments 

  

Budget monitoring reports and forecast 

commitments are reported to Cabinet, 

and are developed as the year 

progresses, as indeed are ways of 

balancing resources with any new 

commitment if potentially outside the 

Page 257



Page 10 of 58 
 

financial plan.  

 

Corporate strategic 

direction & priorities 

of the Council 

 

  

In the context of the Medium Term 

Financial Strategy (MTFS) the Council 

has a clear hierarchy of strategy 

documents (see chart below) headed 

by the Corporate Strategy which sets 

out the vision and high level priorities 

for the Council.  The Corporate 

Strategy drives the MTFS with details of 

committed events and their budget 

implications. These commitments are 

reflected in accordance with the 

Budget and Policy Framework Rules 

and consequently in Services’ Business 

Plans. This hierarchy of plans gives 

clear direction on the Council's 

priorities and actions.  

 

It is for the Cabinet, subject to overall decision by the Council, to 

recommend precisely which areas are their priorities to receive 

additional investment and which will receive less in the light of such 

priorities. This process reaches its natural conclusion in the Annual 

Budget Report.  

 

Page 258



Page 11 of 58 
 

 

17. Strategy Hierarchy:- 

 

Service planning to support overall strategy 

18. The Corporate Strategy, together with Service Business Plans, 

provides a service planning structure that translates the priorities and 

aims of the overall strategy into measurable actions at the point of 

service delivery.  

19. The Medium Term Financial Strategy, as it impacts on individual 

services’ budgets, is reflected in service plans so that proper planning 

can take place in line with available resources. The preparation of 

service plans is also required in parallel with future years' budget 

plans since realistic levels of savings have to be determined for 

services in line with any overall shortfall in corporate funding.  

Medium 

Term 

Financial 

Strategy 

Capital 

Programm

e 

Business 

Plans 

Revenue 

Budgets 

Other  

Corporate 

Strategies 

 

 

Corporate 

Strategy 

Page 259



Page 12 of 58 
 

20. The Government’s agenda since 2010 of substantially reducing public 

expenditure has added further pressures on Hyndburn to reduce its 

costs.  The impact of these changes can be seen at Appendix 1 and 

requires the Council to continue to make savings over the lifetime of 

the MTFS. 

Integrated Resource Planning with Service 

Plans 

21. Growth items in future years (both revenue and capital schemes as 

applicable) and areas for savings, need to be identified in the Service 

Plans and Financial Plans should be developed consistently so that 

the impact of one on the other is fully appreciated, subject of course 

to Service Plans remaining within the limits allowed in the agreed 

Medium Term Financial Strategy. This precludes bids for extra 

resources arising during the course of the year for implementation in 

that year unless other funding can be identified. Developments are 

planned in accordance with a timetable well ahead of the year of 

implementation. They form part of an agreed strategy and need to be 

consistent with the priorities identified within the plan. Individual 

bids for resources, taken in isolation from the overall planning 

process, should therefore not occur. 

Background Information 

22. The MTFS covers the period from 2019/20 to 2021/22.  It is set 

against a background of continuing global financial volatility 

stemming from the worldwide Recession that began as a result of the 

Page 260



Page 13 of 58 
 

banking crisis in 2007/8.  There are some indications that parts of the 

globe have recovered and are achieving sustainable positive 

economic growth but also contra indications of growing political and 

economic turbulence which could threaten another global financial 

crisis.   

23. The financial recovery in both the US and the UK remains fragile and 

there remains a concern of a long period of stagnation before any 

meaningful real economic recovery is achieved.  The uncertainty 

surrounding the UK economy has been further heightened by the 

Referendum vote to leave the EU. 

24. Though the financial cliff edge Greece has faced over the last 10 years 

seems to have receded slightly in recent months, there remains 

continuing concern that Greece may not be able to meet its financial 

commitments and may not be able to continue with the Euro as its 

currency.  If Greece defaults on its debts or exits the Euro there is 

concern this may lead to other Governments defaulting on their 

debts or leaving the Euro, all of which could create a long period of 

sustained economic uncertainty and a potential sharp downturn in 

European economies and potentially triggering a decline in the global 

economy.   

25. The continuing unrest in Catalonia centred around  independence 

from Spain has the potential to not only undermine the stability of 

Spain but to have implications for the political and financial strength 

of the European Union, thereby adding to the volatility in global 

economic markets and contributing to the circumstances which 

would create another recession. 

Page 261



Page 14 of 58 
 

26. Elsewhere, China and other nations are continuing to show strong 

relative growth compared to the West but with some indications the 

level of growth is slowing compared to recent years. There is also a 

continuing backdrop of increasing concern over currency rates and 

the potential escalation of these tensions into increased 

protectionism of national economies and the danger of trade wars 

emerging, which will further inhibit global recovery.  The election of 

Donald Trump in the USA with a commitment to bringing jobs back 

into the USA from offshore and ending major free trade talks and 

agreements may add further to the volatility of the world economy. 

27. The continuation of conflicts in Ukraine, Iraq and Syria, mass 

migration into Europe from Africa, the Middle East and other conflict 

zones, democracy protests in Iran, the Volkswagen emission scandal, 

heightened tensions in the Pacific between China and some of its 

neighbours over territorial claims, the fluctuating tensions between 

North and South Korea and recent volatility in the Chinese Stock 

Market are all contributing to nervousness over the potential extent 

of any sustained world-wide economic recovery.  These concerns 

have been added to over the last 12 months due to the financial and 

political crisis in Venezuela and Argentina’s need for a substantial 

bailout by the IMF given its economic problems and the level of debt 

it faces.   

28. The large drop in oil prices over the last 5 years also causes some 

economists to express concerns over the future of worldwide 

economic growth and while the latest attempt by OPEC to cut output 

and force prices up appears to be enjoying some success, the 

Page 262



Page 15 of 58 
 

sustainability of limiting output is questioned by many 

commentators. 

 

29. Against this backdrop Britain has emerged from Recession and has 

relatively good levels of growth compared with other major Western 

economies over the last 10 years.  Employment continues to grow 

and is at new record levels, the pound has recovered against most 

major world currencies, wage demands remain reasonable and 

inflationary pressure appears to continue to be weak by historical 

standards.  The recovery has however been achieved on the back of 

major reductions in public spending and a commitment that this may 

need to continue for at least a further 18 months or more. 

 

30. The Brexit vote has also created a further large degree of uncertainty 

around Britain’s ability to grow its economy going forward and this 

has been accentuated by the General Election Result in 2017, which 

left the Country with a minority Government and a period of difficult 

negotiations with the European Union and within Parliament over its 

exit from the EU and the terms of any future trade deals with it and 

the rest of the world. 

 

31. Local Government and particularly District Councils have faced 

significant reduction in Government funding as a consequence of the 

global financial pressures and the Local Government Settlement 

announced in late December 2017 confirms the on-going reduction in 

Page 263



Page 16 of 58 
 

funding from Central Government to Local Government is continuing, 

with District Councils again suffering the most from these reductions. 

 

32. The Government in the wake of the General Election of June 2017 

has continued to indicate that it will continue with the previous 

funding of local government up to the end of 2019/20.  This will see 

Hyndburn’s Revenue Support Grant reduced by £500,000 in 2019/20 

compared to the funding the Council received in 2018/19 from this 

source.  This is a 25% reduction in Government funding to the Council 

compared to the previous year.  

 

33. In line with previous Government announcements we expect that 

2019/20 will be the last year that Hyndburn will receive Revenue 

Support Grant and therefore the Medium Term Financial Strategy 

shows no further funding of this type after 2019/20.  The Council will 

therefore lose the final part of the original £7.1m funding from 

Government it was receiving in 2010/11 with the removal of the 

£1.5m in funding in 2020/21 compared to 2019/20.1 

 

34. For 2020/21 and beyond the Government has indicated its 

preference to embark on a major review of local government finance.  

                                                           
1
 Hyndburn Council have indicated they will enter into a Business Rate Pooling arrangement with some other 

Lancashire Councils in 2019/20.  If this goes ahead, technically the Council will lose its RSG in 2019/20, a year 

earlier than currently forecast.  However, the Government’s Pooling Scheme effectively replaces the lost RSG 

due for 2019/20 via additional Business Rate Income, so the overall financial impact is neutral.  To ensure 

consistency of reporting between financial years, RSG is still shown as a separate amount, even though if the 

Pooling Arrangement is implemented, technically this money would come from Business Rates rather than 

from the Government as a Grant! 

Page 264



Page 17 of 58 
 

Previously our MTFS had imagined the final loss of Revenue Support 

Grant would be the end of the major upheavals in our finances 

stemming from the World-Wide Recession and we would at least 

enter into a period of stability once we reached the point in which 

the Government could no longer reduce our funding, as we had none 

left to remove.  However, a major review of local government finance 

could lead to a new redistribution model which might transfer away 

more of our resources via the Tariff methodology or some new 

mechanism the Government introduces.  The timing of the 

implementation of the review could also be critical to the Council’s 

finances over the next few years.  Currently the system allows 

Council’s the benefit of economic growth between periods of reset2.  

If the new system of funding is introduced in 2020/21 the Council 

would expect to see significant growth in its business rates going 

forward due to local economic growth.  If the new model of funding 

was delayed a year, it is likely the new reset would substantially eat 

into the growth we expect in 2020/21 and this additional income 

would be lost to the Council in 2021/22 if the reset occurred in that 

year. 

35. The Medium Term Financial Strategy assumes that the Council is able 

to deliver its 2018/19 Budget as planned.  The Cabinet has requested 

that the Corporate Management Team continue to look to improve 

the position during 2018/19 to ensure value for money is being 

delivered across all services and further savings are made. The 
                                                           
2
 The reset is a tool used by Government to determine the baseline of business rates revenue for a given 

period.  Once set any growth in business rates over the forthcoming period substantially goes to the local 

council.  The reset which occurs every number of years, effectively wipes out the previous growth figures and 

sets a new baseline. 

Page 265



Page 18 of 58 
 

Council currently predicts that it will achieve a surplus on its Budget 

for 2018/19.  The General Fund Balance stands at £2.5m at the end of 

March 2018.  This level of Reserve would normally be viewed as 

providing strong cover against the potential liabilities the Council 

faces.  However, with:- 

 large reductions in Central Government support for the next 

few years continuing and the prospect of a major review of 

local government finances,  

 Cost inflation continuing while overall revenues decline,  

 the need to incur upfront costs to secure long term savings,  

 the potential political and economic instability stemming 

from Brexit 

the level of Reserves at £2.5m can be viewed as just above the 

minimum level of provision in the much more volatile financial 

climate which we now face. 

36. The format of the Medium Term Financial Strategy considers the 

current estimated resources available for 2018/19 and builds upon 

anticipated changes to income and costs over the following 3 years.  

At this stage, the Medium Term Financial Strategy considers the 

broad strategic impact of known changes.  As always, it is possible for 

new events to affect the budget position and these will be considered 

in future revisions to the Medium Term Financial Strategy.  It is 

anticipated that the next update to the Medium Term Financial 

Strategy will occur in October 2019, immediately ahead of the 

Council commencing the process of setting its Budget for 2020/21. 

Page 266



Page 19 of 58 
 

37. Despite the difficulties over the last 8 financial years caused by 

further reductions in our funding from Government, the Council has 

continued to maintain its finances and provide value for money 

services.  Balances stand in excess of £2.5m and we have generated 

significant savings in each of the last 13 financial years and expect to 

manage our finances during 2018/19 to once more achieve an 

underspend.  It is likely that any savings this year will be used to fund 

the achievement of future savings, capital spend and further 

investment. 

Financial Analysis 2019/20 to 2021/22 

38. This report at Appendices 1, 2 and 3 sets out the numerical values of 

the combined impact of the different financial assumptions for the 

next 3 years.  Detailed commentary on the assumptions and their 

financial value is provided below.  The report looks at the strategic 

shift in a number of the largest areas of the Council’s Budget, before 

examining those changes which are a more persistent element within 

our financial forecasts. 

Resources 

39. From April 2011 the Council faced major changes in how it is funded 

as a result of Central Government decisions taken to reduce overall 

public sector spending in light of the worldwide recession and 

pressure to reduce the national deficit.  These changes include:- 

 The ending of the system of direct government funding to 

local government based on need; 

Page 267



Page 20 of 58 
 

 The introduction of a new system centred around how 

much revenue is collected locally as business rates, adjusted 

via a series of tariffs and top-ups; 

 The transfer of the risk of non-collection of business rates 

and the cash flow impact away from HM Treasury to local 

government; 

 The ending of the national universal system for Council Tax 

benefit and its replacement by locally determined schemes 

with an accompanying 10% reduction in funding at a 

national level in the first year and subject to further grant 

reductions in subsequent years. 

40. These changes have a high potential to significantly reduce the core 

funding of the Council in future years.  The changes also create a 

much greater risk of volatility between years as business rate 

collection is much more prone to fluctuate than the previous system 

of government grants and Council Tax Support levels may vary 

significantly depending on the state of the economy and the number 

of claimants. 

41. These changes effectively signal a period of decline in the overall 

resources available to the Council over the period of the Medium 

Term Financial Strategy.  More detail on the nature of the changes 

and their impact is provided below. 

42. From 2020/21 the Government has said it will introduce a new 

system of local government finance and this will further add to the 

complexity of forecasting our overall financial position.  As yet there 

Page 268



Page 21 of 58 
 

are no indications of how the new system will work or how the 

amount of funding the Council receives will change.  Useful details 

are not expected until the late Summer or Autumn of 2019.  Until 

that point, it is necessary to make broad assumptions over the level 

of our key revenue streams in addition to the loss of Revenue 

Support Grant after 2019/20. 

Government Grant 

43. The Local Government Settlement for 2016/17 further altered the 

funding allocations for the Council compared to previous years.  In 

2015/16 Hyndburn Council was receiving Revenue Support Grant, 

Efficiency Support Grant and Council Tax Freeze Grant, as well as 

Homelessness Prevention Grant, Housing Benefit Administration 

Grant and New Homes Bonus.  From 2016/17, the Government has 

merged Efficiency Support Grant and Council Tax Freeze Grant into 

Revenue Support Grant so that the individual amounts can no longer 

be identified and reduced the overall funding by £722,000 or 16% in 

2016/17 and this level of reduction has been rolled into the 2017/18 

and 2018/19 settlement as a baseline, ahead of further reductions 

being made.   

44. On the Revenue side of our Budget alone the total reduction in 

funding between 2015/16 and 2019/20 was £2.5m with a further 

£1.5m expected to be ended at the commencement of the  2020/21 

financial year.  This is shown in Table 1 below. 

Page 269



Page 22 of 58 
 

Overall Change 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 Variance Percentage 

Change

HBC Revenue

Revenue Support Grant 2,312,430£           3,159,264£           2,446,543£           1,998,484£           1,498,991£           813,439-£               

Efficiency Support Grant 1,272,186£           1,272,186-£           

Council Tax Greeze Grant Part 1 78,146£                 78,146-£                 

Housing Benefit Admin Grant 605,143£               386,958£               351,860£               312,201£               274,531£               330,612-£               

Homelessness Prevention 35,339£                 35,423£                 35,483£                 35,540£                 35,750£                 411£                       

HBC Government Support Revenue Total 4,303,244£           3,581,645£           2,833,886£           2,346,225£           1,809,272£           2,493,972-£           57.96%

HBC Capital

Efficiency Support Grant Part 2 223,435£               223,435-£               

Coucnil Tax Freeze Grant Part 2 106,814£               106,814-£               

Coucnil Tax Freeze Grant 2015/16 53,171£                 53,171-£                 

New Homes Bonus Main Grant 451,787£               639,204£               546,634£               321,587£               220,495£               231,292-£               

New Homes Bonus Additional Grant 10,564£                 10,564-£                 

HBC Government Support Capital Total 845,771£               639,204£               546,634£               321,587£               220,495£               625,276-£               73.93%

HBC Total Government Support Change 5,149,015£           4,220,849£           3,380,520£           2,667,812£           2,029,767£           3,119,248-£           60.58%

Table 1  Change in Government Support 2018/19 

 

 

45. The overall loss in Government funding over the period is however 

greater as our previous practice has been not to use all Government 

funding for Revenue purposes with some elements of Efficiency 

Support Grant, Council Tax Freeze Grant and all of New Homes Bonus 

being used to support the Capital Programme3.   

46. Funding of the money we used to finance Capital Spend is down 

£625,000 or 73%.  The impact of Capital Funding within the MTFS is 

dealt with later in the report.  When the impact of the funding on 

Revenue and Capital are combined the analysis shows the Council has 

lost almost £3.1m of resources from the Government between 

2015/16 and 2019/20, which is 60% of the funds the Government had 

previously made available.   

                                                           
3
 This was done to remove the dependency on Government Funds that were considered to be time limited and 

avoid building into the Revenue Budget additional spending which would subsequently be removed and 

thereby create further funding pressures once withdrawn by the Government.  Using these “extra” funds from 

the Government for Capital purposes allowed us to finance key capital projects. 

Page 270



Page 23 of 58 
 

47. The latest local government financial settlement figures indicate the 

lowering of Revenue Support Grant to the Council by £500,000 from 

£2m in 2018/19 to £1.5m in 2019/20 and the continuation of the 

policy that will see this funding completely removed by 2020/21.  

Table 2 below shows the Council has lost £3.16m of Government 

Grant since 2016/17.  Overall the Council has lost £7.1m in 

Government Grant since 2010/11. 

Table 2 Change in Revenue Support Grant  2016/17 to 2019/20 

Year Revenue Support 

Grant

Change Percentage 

Change

Cumulative 

Change

Culumative 

Percentage 

Change

2016/17  £        3,159,264.00 

2017/18 2,446,543.00£        £           712,721.00 23%  £           712,721.00 22.56%

2018/19  £        1,998,484.00  £           448,059.00 18%  £        1,160,780.00 36.74%

2019/20 1,498,991.00£        £           499,493.00 25%  £        1,660,273.00 52.55%

2020/21  £                             -    £        1,498,991.00 100%  £        3,159,264.00 100.00%  

48. This reductions from Government has been significant since 2016/17 

at over £713,000 in 2017/18 and £448,000 in 2018/19, with a drop of 

£500,000 in 2019/20 and a final drop in 2020/21 almost equal to the 

full value of all the 3 years prior reductions. 

 

49. The total reduction in core Government funding for our Revenue 

Budget since 2010/11 is shown in the diagram below.  This shows a 

drop from just over £7m in 2010/11 to zero by 2020/21.   

 

Table 3 Reduction In Government Funding to Hyndburn Council 2010/11 to 

2020/21 

Page 271



Page 24 of 58 
 

 

 

 

 

50. For the purposes of the MTFS the ending of Government Funding at 

the end of 2019/20 remains the most significant financial change  

over the next 3 years, but the potential losses from changes under 

the Fair Funding Review also have the potential to impact at least as 

dramatically.   

Business Rates 

51. In addition to the substantial alterations to local government funding 

by the withdrawal of Revenue Support Grant the Government 

introduced major changes to Council funding from April 2013, which 

ended the previous system of business rates collected locally but 

pooled nationally and redistributed by the Government via an 

assessment of “need”.   

52. The new system from April 2013 attempts to allow Councils to retain 

the business rates raised locally.  However, the implementation of 

the new system significantly altered the original aspiration of local 

business rates retained locally and the current system sees the vast 

majority of business rates transferred away from Hyndburn.  This is 

due to Government rules which firstly top-sliced 50% of locally 

collected business rates into a Central Government pot to support a 

Page 272



Page 25 of 58 
 

variety of Government policies across Local Government.  A further 

10% of the monies collected are transferred to Lancashire County 

Council and the Fire and Rescue Authority, leaving Hyndburn with 

only 40% of the locally raised business rates.  The 40% remaining is 

then further reduced under the rules introduced by the Government 

to further redistribute funds between local Councils.  In a system 

called “Top-Ups and Tariffs” the Government determined amounts to 

be deducted from “Tariff” Councils to help fund Councils which did 

not have sufficient funding in their view to meet their expenditure 

needs. 

53. As a consequence, Hyndburn which raises around £20m in Business 

Rates each year is only allowed to retain about £4.0m (20%) from this 

source of funding.4   

54. The Government has indicated that it wished to move to a system of 

100% of Business Rates going directly to Local Government, 

expanding upon an earlier decision to earmark 50% of Business Rate 

income to be retained by local government.  However, after that 

announcement, the Government made almost no progress towards 

its implementation as various difficulties in devising and introducing 

such a scheme emerged.  It has however announced a Pilot scheme 

to transfer 75% of business rates in some areas.  Hyndburn along 

with a number of other Lancashire Authorities have submitted a bid 

to be a Pilot Council for 75% Business Rate Retention for 2019/20. 

                                                           
4
 This figure is on a like for like basis with previous years and ignores the impact of the adjustment to Business 

Rates for Revenue Support Grant as a consequence of Pooling. 

Page 273



Page 26 of 58 
 

55. Since the June 2017 General Election, the Government has 

concentrated more of its announcements around a Fair Funding 

Review of Local Government Finance that it intends to have active for 

the 2020/21 financial year.   

56. Any such review is likely to be fraught with difficulties and there have 

been many unsuccessful attempts over the last few decades to 

reform local government finance all of which have failed and this 

latest attempt must be considered as likely to be delayed or 

abandoned as it is to be implemented by 2020/21.   

57. This therefore creates significant uncertainty for the Council around 

its Medium Term Financial Strategy in its second year of 2020/21.  

The Council already faced the strong prospect that it would lose all of 

its remaining Revenue Support Grant in 2020/21 from the statements 

previously made by Government and it now faces the additional risk 

that another of its sources of income could be threatened if the Fair 

Funding Review redistributes existing resources in a different manner 

to that done currently.   

58. There is no clear basis on which to currently estimate the level of 

change the Council will face from the Fair Funding Review.  If the 

Government attempts to address the often-highlighted severe 

underfunding of Adult and Children’s Social Care by only 

redistributing funds between councils and not making any new 

money available, District Councils will face a huge reduction in their 

available resources of possibly 20% or more (and this still might not 

plug the gap in Counties and Unitary Authority finances) and this is 

the approximate  figure we have modelled in our Pessimistic Scenario 

Page 274



Page 27 of 58 
 

below.  If the Government uses a mixed funding bag of switching 

resources from District Council and new money it is possible the 

reduction faced by District Councils would ease to around 15% and 

this is the approximate figure, we have used in our Standard Model 

within the MTFS.  Some commenters have indicated that a 15% 

reduction in resources available to District Councils is not sustainable 

and this would force many such councils to the brink of insolvency 

and therefore the reduction the Government could impose can not 

be so severe and that it is unlikely that anything more than a 5% 

reduction will be imposed.  This is therefore the figure used in the 

Optimistic Scenario.  However at this stage, there is no way of 

assessing what the actual change will be and it is likely we will only 

see the actual figures late in the year before setting the 2020/21 

Budget and so the assumptions used are more illustrative than 

scientific at this stage and while we will need to plan on the basis of 

the Standard Model until we receive real information, we will also 

need to develop financial flexibility to be able to respond to the 

potential major swings in funding that could occur either way. 

59. The current system is designed to encourage local Councils to benefit 

from economic growth in its local area and therefore currently 

Hyndburn can benefit from local economic growth that increases 

business rates within its borders.  The growth is split 50:50 with the 

Government, unless the Council enters into a Pooling arrangement 

for business rates with other Councils in which case it can retain up to 

100% of the growth locally, though at this stage very few councils 

have been granted the opportunity to retain 100% of business rate 

Page 275



Page 28 of 58 
 

growth.5  If this practice of allowing councils to benefit from business 

rate growth continues after the Fair Funding Review, the Council 

could benefit substantially from increased business rate income in 

2020/21 and beyond due to the expansion of local investment in the 

area.  

60. The current system while providing a vehicle for local Councils to 

potentially benefit from growth in the local economy also has 

transferred the financial risk of declining business rates to local 

Councils and a local Council that was seeing local business premises 

close or move away from their local area would suffer declines in 

revenues.  As well as closures, local councils are also facing the 

financial consequences of large-scale business rating appeals, where 

businesses claim their properties have been valued too highly for 

business rating taxation purposes and they require a re-assessment 

leading to a lowering of the amount of tax they have to pay.  

Successful appeals lead to both a lowering of the amount of business 

rates we can collect locally going forward and therefore to a lower 

amount of resources for the Council to spend and for the need to 

recompense businesses for previous “over charged” years reducing 

further the sums that can be deployed to finance local public 

services. 

61. The current estimate for 2019/20 of Business Rates income for the 

Council is £4,082,000.  This is up from £3,964,000 in 2018/19 but 

largely reflects the increase in the chargeable amount to be paid due 

                                                           
5
 The downside to Pooling arrangements are that outside of a Pool, the Government guarantees every local 

council a minimum of 92.5% of their baseline funding, once a Pool is formed this guarantee is ended and 

Councils run the risk of being financially worse off if their business rates income plunges. 

Page 276



Page 29 of 58 
 

to inflation rather than any substantial growth in the local economy.  

This would seem to indicate that despite a number of companies 

expanding in the local area the value of successful appeals and 

business closures is offsetting this growth, leaving the Council with no 

practical benefit from the additional investment that is currently 

taking place. 

62. The assumption over the following two years within the MTFS is that 

Hyndburn does start to benefit from economic growth and there is an 

assumption that the local economy will expand and this will produce 

growth of around £1.5m in Business Rates income to the Council in 

2020/21 and a further £500,000 in 2021/22 along with a general 

inflation increase of 2% in each of these years.  The speed of 

developments will be crucial in achieving this level of increase and 

this will need to be carefully monitored over the next 3 years to 

ensure the income is arriving as forecast. 

63. While for financial forecasting purposes it is assumed that Business 

Rate income to the Council will increase over the period between 

2019/20 and 2021/22, it is possible that it could move in either 

direction, positively for the Council if local businesses continue to 

grow and appeals on business rates are largely unsuccessful.  Or 

negatively, if the local or national economy weakens or appeals on 

business rate values are largely successful. This is covered in detail 

later in the report on the section on the various financial scenarios 

the Council faces.   

64. The negative impact from a declining economy is currently viewed as 

less likely to occur given the signs of local business expansion and 

Page 277



Page 30 of 58 
 

investment, as well as the United Kingdom’s recovery from the 

Recession.  However, world markets remain volatile and there are a 

small but significant number of warnings in the financial press of the 

dangers of another major contraction in the global economy. 

65. The dominant threat to Business Rate Income is from the 

Government’s Fair Funding Review.  This Review is examining how 

funds are distributed between local councils from all the money 

available.  It is due to report at some point over the Summer or 

Autumn of 2019, ahead of the announcement of the financial 

settlement for Councils in December 2019 for the following financial 

year 2020/21.  It is also expected that this Review will map out future 

levels of funding for local government over a number of years.  With 

the core amount of funding for local authorities unlikely to change, it 

is expected that to meet the funding crisis in Adult and Children’s 

Social Care, there will be a significant redistribution of funds from 

District Councils to those responsible for Social Care.  Given these 

circumstances it is anticipated the Government’s Fair Funding Review 

will look to reduce the amounts Councils such as Hyndburn retain by 

a substantial amount.   

66. As indicated earlier in the report the Standard Model assumption is a 

loss of up to £1m in 2020/21 followed by a further reduction in 

2021/22 of £500,000.  In the Pessimistic Scenario we have assumed a 

£1.5m loss in 2020/21 followed by a further reduction of £750,000 in 

2021/22.  The Optimistic Scenario assumes a reduction in the first 

year of £300,000 followed by a further £250,000 in 2021/22. 

Page 278



Page 31 of 58 
 

Council Tax 

67. With the significant decline of Government Grant from 2010/11, 

Council Tax became the largest single contribution to the Council’s 

Revenue by the middle of the decade.  The Council is rightly proud of 

its record as a Council that thinks very carefully over increasing the 

burden on local people’s spending power through tax increases and 

has over the last 20 years kept its average Council Tax increases 

below the rate of inflation.  Hyndburn is only one of 7 councils to 

have this distinction and the only one north of Watford to do so.  This 

is a remarkable achievement given that in Hyndburn’s case it will 

have not been able to replace the lost income from above inflation 

rises from significant growth in housing numbers and will have to 

delivered more efficiencies instead to maintain its Balanced Budget 

position. 

68. Now faced with the loss of all of its funding from Government over 

2019/20 and 2020/21, the Council needs to look to increases in 

Council Tax to partly fill the gap.  The Medium Term Forecast 

therefore assumes the Council will take advantage of the 

Government’s major shift in policy on Council Tax increases.  

Previously the Government attempted to ensure Council Tax was not 

raised at all and provided additional funds to Councils who set 0% 

increases.  Now the Government has signalled it expects Councils to 

raise Council Tax by 3% and it adjusts its forecasts of public spending 

on this basis. 

69. The MTFS therefore assumes an overall growth of around £207,000 

in 2019/20 compared to the previous year from a combination of an  

Page 279



Page 32 of 58 
 

increase in Council Tax, housing growth, the introduction of an Empty 

Property Tax Premium of 200% and improved collection rates.  In 

each of the following years Council Tax Revenue is forecast to grow 

by 4% from a combination of an increase in the standard charge and 

expansion of the numbers of properties subject to the tax.  Most of 

the growth  in Council Tax Revenue in 2019/20 is committed to assist 

the Council address the financial issues caused by Lancashire County 

Council’s withdrawal of funding for Recycling in 2018/19, which 

caused Hyndburn to lose over £820,000 of income to support its 

work.   

70. It is not expected that Council Tax income will decline over the 

coming period, but the Pessimistic Scenario reflects no increase in 

the overall value of taxation raised from this source in 2020/21 and 

2021/22.  If the household charge for Council Tax does not increase in 

2020/21 and 2021/22, the Council loses around £150,000 per year in 

income it could generate.  Due to the cumulative effect, this reduces 

potential income in 2021/22 by over £300,000.  This lack of growth in 

the largest area of Revenue the Council currently has, places the 

Council under additional financial strain going forward. 

71. The Optimistic Scenario shows a more buoyant second and third year 

in terms of Council Tax income with a £53,000 of extra income 

stemming from developments etc. in 2020/21 and a further increase 

in Council Tax of £111,000 in 2021/22.  This would reflect above 

average growth in the local housing market and potentially the early 

dividends from the proposed development at Huncoat starting to 

impact on the Council’s finances. 

Page 280



Page 33 of 58 
 

72. The Collection Fund Surplus is anticipated to be in line with previous 

predictions at around £200,000 per year.  The Pessimistic Scenario 

sees that level of surplus funds halved while the Optimistic Scenario 

increases the surplus by £50,000. 

 

Expected Loss of Income 

73. As part of its proposed reforms to the national Benefits System the 

previous Coalition Government announced plans to consolidate most 

benefit payments into a single system called Universal Credit.  As part 

of this process Housing Benefit which is administered by local 

authorities will end, as least for those of working age and as such the 

Government is substantially reducing the amount it pays local 

councils to undertake this work and the subsidy paid to reimburse 

council’s for benefit paid out is also declining.  The Government 

announced an original timetable in which it envisaged that all 

working age Housing Benefit Claims will cease by the start of the 

financial year 2018/19.  This deadline has now been moved back 

again and therefore the MFTS adjusts the loss of this income over the 

next three years to £120,000 per year.  The Pessimistic Scenario 

recognised the potential for both the administration and benefit 

elements loss of income to the Council to increase by £80,000 per 

year in 2020/21 and 2021/22. 

Page 281



Page 34 of 58 
 

Changes in Costs 

Salaries Costs 

74. As an individual line across all budget areas the cost of employing 

staff at over £10m is the largest expense faced by the Council.  

Upward pressures on this budget stemming from pay awards should 

remain low compared to historic norms. Since 2010 wage increases 

have been limited to 1% or below, but the 2018/19 wage settlement 

for local government employees encompassed a 2 year deal at 2% for 

most employees with additional increases above 2% for those staff 

on the lowest wage bands.  Upward pressure beyond the 2% level 

over the next few years is not expected as the economy still remains 

in recovery mode and the Government continues to exert significant 

pressure to contain public sector wage settlements at or below the 

2% mark.  With inflation remaining around 2% to 3% annually and 

continuing fears over job security and redundancies and an excess of 

supply of labour despite record numbers in employment it is unlikely 

industrial action will force higher increases than those we have seen 

over the last few years.  The MTFS therefore uses a 2% increase in 

Salary and Pension costs for each of the three years and it is assumed 

that this level of rise will cost around £270,000 per year 

 

75. It is possible that wage settlements will be higher if the economy 

shows stronger signs of recovery and this scenario is covered in the 

Pessimistic model.  This assumes that increases after the current 2-

year deal runs out in 2019/20 are 3% rather than 2%.  Given that 

resource levels are likely to shrink over the period, wage increases 

Page 282



Page 35 of 58 
 

add to the overall pressures to make savings and may lead to the 

need to make more redundancies than the Council would have done 

if wages had remained at the predicted level. 

 

76. There is no uplift in payroll costs expected to occur due to the 

introduction of the Living Wage.  Currently the Council is paying 

above the levels proposed and estimates indicate that it will only 

have a small impact on our overall wage bill in 2019/20 and it is 

assumed the small impact can be accommodated within existing 

budget projections at this time. 

 

Pension Costs 

77. A new Triennial Review of the Pension Funds was completed in 

2016/17 and implemented at the start of 2017/18. Pension costs are 

therefore not expected to increase over the period covered by the 

Triennial Review (up to April 2020) except in line with the small 

increase in the overall wages bill and therefore are considered 

negligible.   

78. Historically the Council has faced increased employer’s contributions 

when the new rates are announced by the Actuary.  However, the 

Council has taken a number of steps to stem the tide of increased 

costs over recent years including, stopping expensive redundancies 

and retirements and always ensuring a strong business case exists 

around any exit, paying contributions at a higher level than required 

by the Actuary and making one-off additional contributions into the 

Pension Fund whenever it could do so.  This has ensured the Council 

Page 283



Page 36 of 58 
 

has not incurred additional costs from the most recent Triennial 

Revaluations.   

79. It is now anticipated that the tackling of our long term pension deficit 

costs by this pro-active steps outlined above will finally remove the 

deficit the Council has faced in this area for over 20 years and that 

the next Triennial Revaluation exercise which is due to commence in 

April 2019 and be enacted in April 2020 will confirm that the 

Council’s investments in the Pension Fund now exceed the liabilities 

it faces and it has paid off all its outstanding liabilities.  If this is the 

case it is expected that the Council’s contribution can be reduced 

permanently by £500,000 per year from 2020/21.  The exact amount 

of the reduction will not be known until the Actuary completes their 

work in 2019 and reports to the Council in the Autumn of 2019 and 

so the value is subject to revision over the next 12 months.  The 

Pessimistic and Optimistic Scenarios allow for the current predicted 

amount to vary by a less favourable amount of £250,000 or a more 

favourable reduction of £300,000. 

80. The potential reduction of £500,000 to our core costs in a year in 

which we face a major reduction in Government funding is a major 

bonus to the Council and an important reward for taking tough 

decisions in previous years around redundancies and retirement 

packages and committing scarce resources to reduce liabilities.  The 

dividend from these decisions are a strategic shift in our cost base 

similar to that achieved by taking hard decisions around repaying 

debts and not borrowing to finance expenditure. 

 

Page 284



Page 37 of 58 
 

Supplies and Service Costs 

81. General inflation over the past 12 months has continued to 

fluctuate most recently peaking above 3%, before declining 

towards 2.0% and then showing signs of increasing once more. 

Within the last few years we have had negative inflation and 

the accurate forecast of future rates remains difficult to 

predict.  There are a variety of upward pressures across the 

globe driving inflation in one direction, while other pressures 

continue to contain and push it downward.  The fragility of the 

economic recovery in the major Western Economies, the 

Brexit Vote and the sharp drop in sterling and the growing 

power of the dollar all indicate a continuing period of 

instability. 

 

82. While inflation appears to be up slightly compared to the 

period before the Referendum, there still appears to be 

significant capacity in the market place to resist price increases 

and therefore the probability of large rises in inflation remains 

weak.   

 

83. Predicting the level of general inflation in the economy 

remains therefore a major challenge and one fraught with 

uncertainty.  The MTFS therefore assumes inflationary 

pressures of around £130,000 per year over the next 3 years, 

while recognising the potential for this figure to double in the 

Pessimistic Scenario.  Additional inflationary pressures around 

ICT costs of £50,000 are incorporated into the 2019/20 Budget 

Page 285



Page 38 of 58 
 

to reflect large increases in software license costs and the 

increasing cost of communication pricing across the Council.  It 

is also anticipated that the Government will continue to drive 

forward its proposed changes to Land Searches in connection 

with property sales and while it is difficult to fully estimate at 

this time it could cost the Council up to £50,000 in 2021/22 

from lost income and operational changes.  The Optimistic 

Scenario assumes the Government’s changes are not 

introduced in 2021/22 or that if they are introduced, they can 

be implemented in a manner that is cost neutral to the 

Council. 

 

Capital Costs 

84. The Council has over the last 11 years maintained a strong 

commitment not to borrow to finance Capital Expenditure.  In doing so, 

it has ensured that it has not added to the burden of its revenue budget 

by having to pay increased loan costs.  The intention within the MTFS is 

to maintain that commitment.  The Capital Programme will be funded 

from a mixture of carry forward receipts from the Housing Market 

Renewal Programme, the use of one-off grants from the Government, 

surpluses, external funding and existing Capital resources. 

85. The ending of direct Housing Market Renewal Programme (HMR) has led 

to a substantial reduction in the overall size of the Capital Programme.  

Residual HMR funds will be used over the next 36 months to complete 

work in this area and help finance other capital investment projects.   

Page 286



Page 39 of 58 
 

86. External Funds continue to be less in abundance and this will further 

restrict the amount of capital works we will be able to undertake. It 

should however remain possible to secure some external funds to 

deliver specific projects.   

87. The MTFS in February 2012 showed a need for the Council to begin to 

set aside a substantial amount (£750,000) from within its Revenue 

Budget in both 2013/14 and 2014/15 to fund a modest Capital 

Programme in these years.  However due to careful financial 

management of the Capital Programme and effective husbandry of other 

resources, it should be possible in this MTFS to delay the need to fund 

future Capital Programmes from revenue spend until after 2021/22 if 

expected capital receipts arrive over this period.   

88. The Strategy assumes a continuing commitment to limiting financial 

spend to a modest programme with only the highest priority capital 

projects receiving approval to proceed.  It also assumes we will continue 

to earmark time limited and one-off grants such as New Homes Bonus for 

Capital and we will also support the Capital Programme from any 

additional revenue, from surpluses on the Collection Fund or the Pooling 

of Business Rates etc. when these are available and don’t need to be 

used to underpin the Revenue Budget as well as any in-year savings that 

are generated and capital receipts. 

89. This will enable us to escape the need to borrow over the period of the 

MTFS and we will therefore not increase our debt burden over the next 

3 years. 

Page 287



Page 40 of 58 
 

90. The Capital Programme is always oversubscribed and the Council will 

continue to have to make tough choices over which projects to support 

in line with its key objectives.  It should however be able to fund its 

highest priority projects over the coming 3 years, without burdening 

future tax payers with an increased legacy of debt and interest 

payments.   

91. Current predictions indicate the Council only just has an excess of 

potential receipts over the next 3 years compared to a programme of 

expenditure of £1m per year and if the sale income from anticipated 

disposals is delayed or sales in the pipeline do not mature, decisions 

around curtailing capital expenditure or using some stop gap funding 

including short term borrowing may be necessary.  Recent indications 

from the Government that New Homes Bonus might be reduced or 

abolished may add to our difficulties in this area as it would remove a 

source of funding, we have previously used to assist in financing our 

capital expenditure. 

92. The Pessimistic Scenario deals with the impact of having to fund Capital 

Expenditure from Revenue by £250,000 in 2021/22.  This could occur if 

the Council is unable to limit its capital expenditure commitments to less 

than £1m or there is a drop in sales receipts or other funding we use for 

Capital Expenditure.  This scenario increases the saving pressures within 

the Pessimistic Scenario substantially. 

 

Page 288



Page 41 of 58 
 

Growth 

93. With the current intense pressure around generating savings, no 

allowance has been made for additional finance within the MTFS for 

growth.  Any such bids for new items of expenditure would need to be 

considered very carefully as they would add pressure to the savings 

target in any year that they are proposed and would lead to further 

reductions in expenditure in other areas of Council funding as this would 

be the only means to fund them. 

Reserves 

94. Over the last 13 years, the Council has been able to rebuild its Revenue 

Reserves.  This has seen the negative position of 2003/04 replaced by 

Balances at the 31st March 2018 of just over £2.5m.  This level of 

Reserve would normally be viewed as healthy given an overall spend of 

around £11.2m in 2018/19, coupled with a prediction this level of spend 

will decrease over the next few years.  However, the level of challenges 

faced by the Council would indicate that this level of Reserve may only 

be a minimum level of what is needed given the significant increase in 

costs and the reduction to its revenue funding that it faces.  It is 

therefore recommended that Reserves are maintained at a minimum of 

£2.0m or strengthened at this time to meet any major challenges which 

might occur over the next 3 years, which could not be dealt with via the 

normal budgetary process. 

95. The threats to the Council outside its normal budgetary pressures 

include,  

Page 289



Page 42 of 58 
 

 the proposal by the Government to conduct 

a Fair Funding Review and implement its 

findings in 2020/21, which might further 

substantially reduce the monies the Council 

currently expects to have at its disposal 

 the continuing economic uncertainty which 

may lead to the Government having to reduce 

public sector expenditure further or requiring 

Local Government sector to shoulder more of 

the burden 

 the impact of Brexit and any potential 

downturn in the economy that would impact on 

commercial, housing and land development and 

therefore supress fees the Council earns from 

providing services to the business community 

such as planning fees, land search fees etc. 

 the Government’s transfer of responsibility 

to local Councils for determining Council Tax 

Benefit and capping the amount it will 

reimburse in the future regardless of whether 

there is a surge in the numbers claiming 

 the continuing risk of challenges to planning 

decisions and the costs of defending these 

through the legal process 

Page 290



Page 43 of 58 
 

 the threat of substantial claims under 

employment law  

 the increased threat of industrial action 

during a period of public sector pay restraint and 

job losses 

 emergency spend pressures in-year, due to 

one-off items of capital or revenue spend 

 risks around the conclusion of the Housing 

Market Renewal Programme 

 the continuing trading difficulties 

experienced by Hyndburn Leisure and the 

financial pressures on partner organisations and 

the third sector in general 

 insurance claims for which cover is not in 

place, in particular claims relating to items 

formerly covered by Municipal Mutual Insurance 

which has gone into liquidation and historic 

employee health claims dating back to the 

1960s, 1970s and 1980s. 

 supplier failure during an elongated 

recession 

 environmental warranties on our land and 

guarantees provided to Hyndburn Homes over 

land transferred to them  

Page 291



Page 44 of 58 
 

 the threat that Central Government will pass 

fines from Europe directly to Councils if the UK 

fails to meet its targets on climate change and 

environmental improvements. 

 continuing reductions in our income from 

fees and charges as the economy continues to 

struggle 

 the need to meet the cost of land 

acquisitions under the Community Right to 

Purchase legislation. 

 Fines stemming from breaches around data 

protection under the new General Data 

Protection Regulations. 

 

Other Assumptions 

96. The MTFS assumes that the Council is able to present a balanced 

budget each year and operate within that budget and that it does not 

need to draw upon reserves or overspend within any financial year.   

97. It assumes that any draw down of reserves is either immediately 

replenished within the financial year or a top slice of funding from the 

next year’s budget is made to ensure they remain at the stated level. 

98. It assumes that service provision remains largely within the 

current confines and that no major initiatives are imposed upon the 

Council without suitable funding provision.  For instance, the MTFS does 

Page 292



Page 45 of 58 
 

not allow for the return to weekly refuse collection without the 

Government providing the necessary funds not only to manage the 

change process, but also to meet the additional on-going revenue costs.   

Equality Impact Assessment 

99. There are no specific proposals within the MTFS that would 

require the completion of an Equality Impact Assessment (EIA).  This 

document remains a high level strategic overview.  Individual EIAs will be 

completed for relevant policy developments, service alterations and 

saving plans as they occur, as a response to the overall financial plans of 

the Council. 

Scenarios  

100. As with the previous MTFS we have attempted to outline the 

potential range of scenarios around the Council’s Finances over the next 

few years, by varying some of the key assumptions.  In order to avoid a 

myriad of possible scenarios, we have presented in Appendix 2 and 

Appendix 3, two scenarios towards either extreme side of the MTFS 

forecast.  This allows the potential maximum and minimum range of 

savings required over the next 3 years to be broadly established.  Due to 

the potential unknown impact at this time of the Fair Funding Review, 

the range and accuracy of these forecasts is more limited than in 

previous years.  It is hoped that once the Fair Funding Review discloses 

the new financial settlement these forecasts can return to their previous 

degree of rigor.   

 

Page 293



Page 46 of 58 
 

101. The Pessimistic Scenario presented at Appendix 2 looks at the 

baseline assumptions for the MTFS and adjusts them for the following 

reasons.   

 

102. In terms of income the Pessimistic Scenario indicates that revenue 

could be down on Council Tax, Business Rates and the Collection Fund 

surplus in 2020/21 and 2021/22.   

 

103. The Pessimistic Scenario when compared to the Standard Model 

shows income down from £10.2m to £9.4m in 2020/21 and down from 

£10.5m in 2021/22 to £9.2m.  This is due to larger amounts of the 

Council’s Revenue being transferred away from it under the 

Government’s Fair Funding Review, a decrease in Council Tax Revenue 

due to a lack of growth and lower levels of surplus on the Collection 

Fund. 

 

104. There are no indications as yet of the likely revisions to local 

council funding from the Government’s Fair Funding Review and these 

are not likely to emerge until late Summer or Autumn 2019.  However, 

the Government has made it clear that extra money is not on offer and 

that the Funding Review will be about addressing the division of existing 

resources in a different manner between Councils.  There is therefore a 

general expectation that the Government’s Fair Funding Review will look 

to substantially transfer funds towards Adult and Children’s Social Care 

and that will see major reductions in funding for other parts of local 

Page 294



Page 47 of 58 
 

government which do not provide these services.  As the figures needed 

by Social Care Councils to balance their current Budget demands are so 

great and District expenditure relatively small compared to these 

demands there is a possibility that non Social Care Councils will face 

major reductions in their funding.   

105. To provide some figures in order to allow the magnitude of the 

possible changes that could impact on the Council, it has been assumed 

the Government reduces the amount the Council can retain from 

Business Rates by £1.5m in the first year 2020/21 and a further £750,000 

in 2021/22 

106. The Pessimistic Scenario also assumes that the Council is unable to 

grow its Council Tax Revenue over this period.  This would involve not 

increasing the amounts paid by households each year and no growth in 

the overall number of properties.  

107. Overall this would see the Council with £800,000 less resources in 

2020/21 than expected and a further reduction in revenues of £1.3m 

compared to the Standard Model in 2021/22.  This level of reduction 

would put the Council under severe financial pressure. 

108. The impact of funding from the Department of Work and Pensions 

in relation to Housing Benefit Grant is shown to be £80,000 more 

expensive in years 2 and 3, as the programme to implement Universal 

Credit accelerates and the Council loses higher amounts of both 

administration grant and repayment of benefits.  

109. In our Standard Model we have assumed a 2% pay award over 

each year of three years of the forecast.  The Pessimistic Scenario allows 

Page 295



Page 48 of 58 
 

for a 3% wage settlement in the second and third years within the 

forecast, recognising that upward pressure may build for an enhanced 

pay settlement after a large number of years of enforced pay restraint.  

This potentially adds £125,000 per year to our costs over these years.  

The potential for these types of pay awards has increased with the 

Government announcing larger pay rises for key public sector workers 

over the last 12 months and this now being used by both trade unions 

and employees as a new yardstick for all public sector pay. 

110. The threat however still remains that in an area which is seeing its 

income substantially decline and with no indications from the 

Government that it is willing to fund local government for public sector 

pay rises, wage settlements close to or exceeding the rate of inflation 

are likely to lead to redundancies. 

111. General inflation continues to be difficult to predict.  For the 

Pessimistic Scenario an assumption has been made that the costs of 

supplies and services rise to £260,000 in each of the next 2 years beyond 

2019/20.  Additional costs of £50,000 are also added here in 2021/22 to 

allow for a budget adjustment to Land Search Fees, as the Government 

proposes to end the current arrangements in this area, which will lead to 

a net cost rise in the provision of this service.  

112. The final factor considered in the Pessimistic Scenario is the need 

to finance part of the Capital Programme in 2021/22 from Revenue.  This 

assumes that the Council is unable to generate sufficient sales of its land 

and property over the next 3 years or that it spends significantly above 

the current forecast and therefore needs to set aside some of its 

Revenue in 2021/22 to fund its capital spend in that year. Current 

Page 296



Page 49 of 58 
 

estimates are that sufficient resources are available to fund capital 

expenditure through 2020/21.   A figure of £250,000 has been added to 

the Pessimistic Scenario in in 2021/22. 

113. The combined impact of all these potential changes are illustrated 

at Appendix 2 and show that the savings target for 2020/21 would rise 

by almost £1.4m to £2.1m compared to the Standard Forecast Model 

and to £1.3m from £261,000 in 2021/22. 

114. While it is viewed as unlikely, though possible, that all these 

factors would combine against the Council, the Pessimistic Scenario at 

Appendix 2 indicates the Council does face a number of potential 

challenges, which would require the Council to take a series of much 

tougher decisions around its spending plans and priorities.  

115. The level of savings required under the Pessimistic Scenario would 

put the Council’s finances under severe strain and it is likely it would 

need to use a considerable amount of its reserves while it attempted to 

reconfigure its operations so that it could achieve the cost reductions 

necessary to continue to set a long-term balanced budget, particularly as 

it is unlikely to receive the extent of the loss of Business Rates under the 

Fair Funding Review until too late in the Budgeting process to allow it to 

develop meaningful savings proposals of the magnitude required to 

balance the Budget in 2020/21. 

116. The Optimistic Scenario is presented at Appendix 3.  The major 

assumption here is that the Government’s Fair Funding Review allows 

the Council to retain more of its Business Rate income than it does under 

the Standard Forecast Model.  The Optimistic Model forecast assumes 

Page 297



Page 50 of 58 
 

the Fair Funding Review only reduces the Council’s Business Rate figure 

by £300,000 in 2020/21 and £250,000 in 2021/22 and not the £1m figure 

for 2020/21 used in the Standard Forecast Model for 2020/21 and 

£500,000 for 2021/22. 

117. The Optimistic Model also assumes the Council will be able to 

boost its Council Tax income from growth above the level already 

predicted in the Standard Model via further increases in the number of 

houses, reducing the number of people claiming Council Tax Support, 

increasing the yield from reducing empty properties, improving 

collection rates and raising council tax levels.  There is some indication 

that Developers are now returning to Hyndburn and planning 

applications are being discussed for new housing in a variety of 

locations.  Again, assuming a high level of performance in all these areas 

it would be possible to boost council tax income by around £53,000 by 

2020/21 compared to the Standard Model and by £111,000 in 2021/22 

and for the Collection Fund Surplus to rise by £50,000 in each year. 

118. These changes in Business Rates and Council Tax sees the Council 

able to fully replenish the loss of £1.5m in Government Grant in 2020/21 

and increase its Resources in 2021/22 compared to 2020/21 by over 

£600,000. 

119. Wage inflation and inflation in general supplies and services to the 

Council are expected to mirror the performance in the Standard Model 

over the 3 years with inflation only pushing up costs by 2% per year.  The 

Optimistic Model however does assume that the changes to Land Search 

Service and Fees is either delayed until after 2021/22 or that the Council 

finds a way to adapt to the changes in a cost neutral manner, by either 

Page 298



Page 51 of 58 
 

reducing costs or finding other sources of income in this area.  This 

would remove £50,000 of financial pressure in 2021/22. 

120. The Optimistic Scenario also assumes that the reduction in costs 

stemming from the repayment of the pension deficit is at the high end of 

the possible range of outcomes at £800,000 rather than the Standard 

Model prediction of £500,000.  This reduces the financial pressures in 

2020/21 by an additional £300,000. 

 

121. The Optimistic Scenario considerably eases the overall financial 

position of the Council such that it is able to generate a small surplus in 

2020/21 and 2021/22. 

 

122. As with the Pessimistic Scenario, the Optimistic Scenario painted 

here would be at the extreme end of the potential range of upside 

events that could occur to the Council’s financial position and is 

therefore viewed as unlikely to occur in its entirety.  

 

123. As stated earlier the most likely outcome the Council faces is the 

one shown in Appendix 1, with the risk of other overall positons 

diminishing as you move away from this central position.  The diagram 

below shows the potential range from the most optimistic to the most 

pessimistic put forward in this document. 

Page 299



Page 52 of 58 
 

 

 

 

124. The Overall best prediction of the savings required for the next 

three years are those presented at Appendix 1 of the report.  This 

requires £0.8m of savings to be generated in 2019/20 to balance the 

Council’s budget with further savings of £0.8m required in 2020/21 and 

£261,000 in 2021/22.  The Pessimistic and Optimistic Scenarios at 

Appendix 2 and Appendix 3 provide the most likely boundaries within 

which the savings target will fluctuate over the coming three years.  

There remains a potential for the savings target to fall outside these 

boundaries, though this is viewed as remote.   

125. It is likely that the Council will encounter a mix of fortunes over 

the coming three years with some income and expenditure moving in a 

positive manner while others move negatively.   

Page 300



Page 53 of 58 
 

Robustness of Forecast 

126. The robustness of the forecasts beyond 2019/20 is severely 

diminished due to the uncertainties around funding decisions stemming 

from the Government’s Fair Funding Review.  The potential range of 

outcomes for the Council is significant.  The Council could lose or gain 

significant funds from these changes and there is little current evidence 

on which to make appropriate forecasts and therefore the MTFS has 

made assumptions at hopefully either end of the spectrum of 

possibilities.   

127. The uncertainty stemming from these decisions will necessitate 

the Council taking a defensive position in managing its finances and 

having to lock more funds into Reserves to cope with any negative 

dramatic swings from the Government’s financial review. 

128. It is expected that the uncertainty around these forecasts will 

disappear in late 2019 when the Government announces the details of 

the Fair Funding Review and at that point it should be possible to update 

the Robustness Forecast to good or very good depending on the level of 

detail released and other factors remaining consistent with the current 

analysis. 

 

Overall Net Position 

129. The Council faces continuing pressure on its finances over the next 

3 years.  The reductions in the level of government grant for 2019/20 

and beyond are significant and the Council will need to take tough 

Page 301



Page 54 of 58 
 

decisions over service provision to maintain a balanced budget in these 

circumstances.   

130. Further the threat of a substantial reduction to the Business Rates 

it is allowed to retain locally, due to possible changes the Government 

could propose in its Fair Funding Review gives the potential for the 

Council to face severe financial pressure over the coming three years, 

which would equal if not exceed those faced since 2010/11. 

131. The key to the future financial wealth of the Council remains tied 

to the performance of the national economy and Central Government 

finances but a significant additional risk has been transferred to local 

government around the level of business rates generated and retained 

locally. 

132. The Council therefore needs to continue to manage its revenue 

costs aggressively over the next 3 years.  The single largest area of 

influence the Council can directly exert action over to improve its future 

financial position is around its Capital Programme.  If the Capital 

Programme can continue to be self-financing over the period this will 

substantially ease the cumulative financial pressures on the Council over 

the 3 years of the MTFS and into the future. 

133. The Council also needs to protect its Reserves and the flexibility it 

has in its current financial position until it is clear that it fully 

understands the outcome of the Government’s Fair Funding Review and 

it can plan ahead in a more stable environment.  

Page 302



Page 55 of 58 
 

 

Appendix 1 

Three Year Standard Model  
Medium Term Financial Strategy 

2019/20 to 2021/22  
 

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

Revenue Support Grant 1,534,000£           -£                        

Business Rates Funding 4,082,000£           4,663,640£           4,756,913£           

Council Tax Collection 5,139,000£           5,346,327£           5,561,244£           

Collection Fund Surplus 200,000£               200,000£               200,000£               

-£                        -£                        

Total Resources 10,955,000£         10,209,967£         10,518,157£         

Prior Year Spend 11,236,167£         10,955,000£         10,209,967£         

Adjustments to Prior Year

HB Admin & Subsidy 120,000£               120,000£               120,000£               

Waste Services Lost of Cost Share

Salaries & Pension Costs 270,000£               270,000£               270,000£               

General Supplies & Services 180,000£               130,000£               180,000£               

Revenue Contributions to Capital Spend -£                        -£                        

Pension Deficit Cost Reduction 500,000-£               

Growth Items

Estimated New Operating Costs 11,806,167£         10,975,000£         10,779,967£         

Costs Exceed Resources by 851,167£               765,033£               261,810£               

Percentage Savings to Balance Budget 7.58% 6.98% 2.56%

 

 

 

Page 303



Page 56 of 58 
 

Appendix 2 

Three Year Pessimistic Model 
Medium Term Financial Strategy 

2019/20 to 2021/22  
 

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

Revenue Support Grant 1,534,000£           -£                        

Business Rates Funding 4,082,000£           4,163,640£           3,996,913£           

Council Tax Collection 5,139,000£           5,139,716£           5,139,716£           

Collection Fund Surplus 200,000£               100,000£               100,000£               

-£                        -£                        

Total Resources 10,955,000£         9,403,356£           9,236,628£           

Prior Year Spend 11,236,167£         10,955,000£         9,403,356£           

Adjustments to Prior Year

HB Admin & Subsidy 120,000£               200,000£               200,000£               

Waste Services Lost of Cost Share

Salaries & Pension Costs 270,000£               395,000£               395,000£               

General Supplies & Services 180,000£               260,000£               310,000£               

Revenue Contributions to Capital Spend -£                        -£                        

Pension Deficit Cost Reduction 250,000-£               

Contribution to Capital Send 250,000£               

Growth Items

Estimated New Operating Costs 11,806,167£         11,560,000£         10,558,356£         

Costs Exceed Resources by 851,167£               2,156,644£           1,321,727£           

Percentage Savings to Balance Budget 7.58% 19.69% 14.06%

 

 

Page 304



Page 57 of 58 
 

Appendix 3 

Three Year Optimistic Model 
Medium Term Financial Strategy 

2019/20 to 2021/22  
 

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

Revenue Support Grant 1,534,000£           -£                        

Business Rates Funding 4,082,000£           5,363,640£           5,720,913£           

Council Tax Collection 5,139,000£           5,399,261£           5,671,913£           

Collection Fund Surplus 200,000£               250,000£               250,000£               

-£                        -£                        

Total Resources 10,955,000£         11,012,901£         11,642,826£         

Prior Year Spend 11,236,167£         10,955,000£         11,012,901£         

Adjustments to Prior Year

HB Admin & Subsidy 120,000£               120,000£               120,000£               

Waste Services Lost of Cost Share

Salaries & Pension Costs 270,000£               270,000£               270,000£               

General Supplies & Services 180,000£               130,000£               130,000£               

Revenue Contributions to Capital Spend -£                        -£                        

Pension Deficit Cost Reduction 800,000-£               

Growth Items

Estimated New Operating Costs 11,806,167£         10,675,000£         11,532,901£         

Costs Exceed Resources by 851,167£               337,901-£               109,925-£               

Percentage Savings to Balance Budget 7.58% -3.08% -1.00%

 

 

 

Page 305



This page is intentionally left blank



  
 

Page 1 of 15 

REPORT TO: COUNCIL 

DATE: 21 FEBRUARY 2019 

PORTFOLIO: Cllr Joyce Plummer - Resources 

REPORT AUTHOR: David Donlan – Head of Accountancy Services 

Amanda Martin – Principal Accountant 

TITLE OF REPORT: PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS AND TREASURY MANAGEMENT 
& INVESTMENT STRATEGY 2019/20 – 2021/22 
 
MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION POLICY STATEMENT 
2019/20. 
 
TREASURY MANAGEMENT POLICY STATEMENT 2019/20. 
 
TREASURY MANAGEMENT PRACTICES 2019/20 
 
CAPITAL STRATEGY 2019/20 

 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

No The report does not contain exempt information under 
the Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 12A and 
all information can be disclosed under the Freedom of 
Information Act 2000. 

  

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication:  

        
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 

 

1.1 To set out the Council’s policy and objectives with respect to treasury management, to explain 

how it will achieve its objectives and manage its activities; and to agree an investment strategy 

for 2019/20. 

  

   

2 RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cabinet are requested to recommend Council to: 

 

(i) adopt the prudential indicators and limits detailed in the report 

(ii) approve the treasury management strategy, and associated indicators, as set out in 

section 8 of the report 

(iii) approve the investment strategy as set out in section 13 of the report 

(iv) approve that the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) for year 2018/19 – Appendix 1 

(v) approve the Treasury Management Policy Statement 2018/19 – Appendix 2 

(vi) approve the Treasury Management Practices Statement 2018/19 – Appendix 3 

(vii) approve the Capital Strategy 2019/20 – Appendix 4                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     

 

3 

 

3.1 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS   

 

Treasury management is defined as: 

Page 307

Agenda Item 8.



  
 

Page 2 of 15 

 

The management of the Council’s investment and cash flows, its banking, money market and 

capital market transactions; 

 

The effective control of the risks associated with these activities; 

 

And the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks. 

 

3.2 

 

 

 

 

3.3 

 

 

 

 

 

3.4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Council is required to operate a balanced budget which means that cash raised during the 

year will meet cash expenditure. Part of treasury management is to ensure the cash flow is 

properly planned with cash available when needed. Surplus monies are invested in line with the 

Council’s low risk preferences. 

 

The second function of treasury management is funding the Council’s capital plans. The plans 

give a guide to the future borrowing need of the Council. The management of this longer term 

cash flow may involve arranging long or short term loans or using longer term cash flow 

surpluses. Occasionally outstanding debt may be restructured to reduce Council risk or meet 

cost objectives. 

 

The report has been prepared in line with the Treasury Management Code and Guidance (2017) 

written by The Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy (Cipfa). In the case of local 

authorities in England and Wales, the Code is significant under the provisions of the Local 

Government Act 2003. This requires local authorities ‘to have regard (a) to such guidance as 

the Secretary of State may issue, and (b) to such other guidance as the Secretary of State may 

by regulations specify’. The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) 

Regulations 2003 in paragraph 24 require local authorities to have regard to this guidance. 

Acceptance of this report fulfills those obligations. 

 

 

4 

 

THE PRUDENTIAL CODE AND PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 

 

4.1 The Prudential Code is a professional code that sets out the framework for self-regulation of 

capital spending and financing.   This allows councils to invest in capital projects without any 

limit as long as such investment is affordable, prudent and sustainable.   The Code was 

produced by Cipfa. 

 

4.2 The Code requires the Council to agree and monitor a minimum number of prudential indicators 

(including limits and statements).  They relate to affordability, prudence, capital expenditure, 

external debt and treasury management. 

 

4.3 

 

The indicators are purely for internal use and are not designed to be used as comparators 

between councils. 

 

5 

 

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND THE CAPITAL FINANCING REQUIREMENT 

 

5.1 There is currently no specific restriction by the Government on Local Authorities’ capital 

investment, subject to reserve powers.  The Government has withdrawn the use of Capital 

Grants for capital expenditure purposes since 1st April 2011 as part of its measures to reduce 

public sector expenditure.  Hyndburn Council’s future financial plans assume no reliance on any 

direct capital grants from Government; expenditure will be funded by external funding, section 

106 monies, capital receipts and contributions from revenue. 

  

5.2 The projections in these tables are based on current continuing operations and no assumptions 

have been included for availability of new external finance for capital schemes or assessment 

for major organisational restructure.   

Page 308



  
 

Page 3 of 15 

  

ESTIMATED CAPITAL EXPENDITURE  

  

2017/18 

Actual 

£000 

2018/19 

Revised 

Estimate 

£000 

 

2019/20 

Estimate 

£000 

 

2020/21 

Estimate 

£000 

 

2021/22 

Estimate 

£000 

General Fund 3,432 8,652 2,478 926 895 

  

The programme in 2019/20 and beyond is reducing due to the reduction in external funding 

and capital receipts which are available.  

5.3 The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) represents the Council’s outstanding capital 

expenditure which has not yet been paid for from either revenue or capital resources.  It is 

essentially a measure of the Council’s underlying need to borrow.  Any capital expenditure, 

which has not immediately been paid for, will increase the CFR. 

 

5.4 The movement in the CFR over the next three years is dependent on capital expenditure 

decisions. The CFR is currently reducing due to the payment of Minimum Revenue Provision 

(MRP), a statutory annual revenue charge, which broadly reduces the borrowing need. 

 

5.5 The limiting factors on the Councils ability to finance additional capital expenditure are: 

 

o Whether the revenue resource is available to support in full the implications of both 

resource and running costs. 

o Use of Government reserve powers.   

 

5.6 The Council’s expectations for the CFR in the next three years are shown in the table below.  

The table also shows the expected external debt for each year. 

 

5.7 A key risk for these indicators is that the level of government support and other funding 

sources may change. 

 

5.8 If and when borrowing is used to finance the Authority’s additional spend, the full cost of the 

borrowing will be included within the revenue budget and forecasts. 

 

  

2017/18 

Actual 

£000 

2018/19 

Revised 

Estimate 

£000 

 

2019/20 

Estimate 

£000 

 

2020/21 

Estimate 

£000 

 

2021/22 

Estimate 

£000 

Capital Financing 

Requirement 

     

CFR – General Fund 9,968 9,477 9,128 8,967 8,600 

 

External Debt 

     

Borrowing 9,595 9,595 9,595 9,595 9,595 

Other Long Term Liabilities 337 201 252 446 420 

Total Debt 31st March 9,932 9,796 9,847 10,041 10,015 

 

 

 Borrowing outstanding as at year-end 2017/18 and 2018/19 is based on, respectively, the 

Page 309



  
 

Page 4 of 15 

Council’s actual /revised estimated gross borrowing.  The borrowing amount is also within the 

Operational Boundary (as defined below). 

 

Other long-term liabilities relate to finance leases.   

 

6 

 

MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION 

  

6.1 

 

 

 

6.2 

 

 

 

 

 

6.3 

 

 

6.4 

 

 

 

6.5 

Local Authorities are required each year to set aside an amount within their accounts to meet 

the cost of borrowings. This is historically known as the minimum revenue provision (for 

capital). 

 

The MRP system was revised in March 2008 by regulation, which provides a duty on local 

authorities to make a prudent provision in respect of their debt levels rather than following a 

nationally set amount. In the statutory guidance issued by the Department for Communities 

& Local Government (DCLG), authorities were asked to prepare an Annual Minimum Revenue 

Provision (MRP) policy for approval by the Council. The four options are set out in (Appendix 1). 

 

For year 2018/19, the Council’s Budget has provided for MRP to be calculated on the regulatory 

basis (option 1).  This will continue for 2019/20 for all current outstanding borrowing. 

 

If and when the Council reconsiders the options (3) or (4), estimated life periods will be 

determined on a basis which most reasonably reflects the anticipated period of benefit that 

arises from the expenditure. 

 

The Council reserves the right to determine useful life periods and prudent MRP in exceptional 

circumstances where the recommendations of the DCLG guidance would not be appropriate. 

 

7 AFFORDABILITY PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 

 

7.1 Within the prudential code framework, the Council is required to assess the affordability of the 

capital investment plans. These provide an indication of the impact of capital investment plans 

on the Councils overall finances. 

 

7.2 Actual and Estimates of the ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream 

This indicator identifies the ratio of financing costs as a percentage of the net revenue budget. 

 

 

Ratio of Financing Costs to net revenue stream 

 

  

2017/18 

Actual 

£000 

2018/19 

Revised 

Estimate 

£000 

 

2019/20 

Estimate 

£000 

 

2020/21 

Estimate 

£000 

 

2021/22 

Estimate 

£000 

General Fund 4% 4% 4% 4% 4% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

8 TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 2019/20 – 2022/22 

 

Page 310



  
 

Page 5 of 15 

8.1 The importance of treasury management has increased as a result of the freedoms provided by 

the Prudential Code.  Treasury Management covers the borrowing and investment activities and 

the effective management of associated risks;   and the activities are strictly regulated by 

statutory requirements and a professional code of practice (CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury 

Management in public services, as revised or supplemented by CIPFA from time to time).    

 

8.2 This strategy covers the: 

 

 current treasury position; 

 expected movement in interest rates; 

 Council’s borrowing and debt strategy; 

 Treasury Management indicators; 

 Debt re-scheduling;    and the 

 Council’s investment strategy.  

 

 

 

8.3 Current Treasury Position 

  

  2017/18 

Actual 

£000 

2018/19 

Estimate 

£000 

2019/20 

Estimate 

£000 

2020/21 

Estimate 

£000 

2021/22 

Estimate 

£000 

External Debt 

Debt at 1st April 

Other long-term liabilities 

 

 

9,595 

337 

 

 

9,595 

201 

 

9,595 

252 

 

9,595 

446 

 

9,595 

420 

 

Actual Gross Debt at 31st March 

 

9,932 

 

9,796 

 

9,847 

 

10,041 

 

10,015 

The Capital Financing 

Requirement 

 

9,968 

 

9,447 

 

9,128 

 

8,967 

 

8,600 

 

Under / (Over) Borrowing 

 

36 

 

(349) 

 

(719) 

 

(1,074) 

 

(1,415) 

 

 
8.3.1 The current position of the treasury function, and its expected change in the future, 

introduces risk to the Council from an adverse movement in interest rates.  The Prudential 

Code is constructed on the basis of affordability, part of which is related to borrowing costs 

and investment returns. 

 
8.3.2 
 

 
 

 
 
 
8.3.3 

 

Within the prudential indicators there are a number of key indicators to ensure that the 

Council operates its activities within well-defined limits.  In general the requirement is that 

CFR exceeds gross debt. However in 2018/19 and future years it is possible that the gross 

debt will exceed CFR.  This will be due to the annual payment of Minimum Revenue Provision. 

The remaining debt would attract excessive premiums if it were prematurely repaid.  

 

The requirement to have CFR exceed gross debt centers around providing an assurance that 

borrowing is not taking place for revenue purposes.  However, as the Council is not borrowing 

any additional funds at this time, this is not an issue. 

 

 

 

8.4 

 
8.4.1 

Expected movement in interest rates 

 

The Council appointed Link Asset Services as treasury advisor to the Council and part of their 

Page 311



  
 

Page 6 of 15 

service is to assist the Council to formulate a view on interest rates.  The following table gives 

Link’s view of the movement in interest rates. 

 

 Qtr 1 

2019 

Qtr 2 

2019 

Qtr 3 

2019 

Qtr 4 

2019 

Qtr 1 

2020 

Qtr 2 

2020 

Qtr 3 

2020 

Qtr 4 

2020 

Qtr 1 

2021 

Qtr 2 

2021 

Qtr 3 

2021 

Base 

Rate 

 
0.75% 

 
1.00% 

 
1.00% 

 
1.00% 

 
1.25% 

 
1.25% 

 
1.25% 

 
1.50% 

 
1.50% 

 
1.75% 

 
1.75% 

5 yr 

PWLB 

 
2.10% 

 
2.20% 

 
2.20% 

 
2.30% 

 
2.30% 

 
2.40% 

 
2.50% 

 
2.50% 

 
2.60% 

 
2.60% 

 
2.70% 

10 yr 

PWLB 

 
2.50% 

 
2.60% 

 
2.60% 

 
2.70% 

 
2.80% 

 
2.90% 

 
2.90% 

 
3.00% 

 
3.00% 

 
3.10% 

 
3.10% 

25 yr  

PWLB 

 
2.90% 

 
3.00% 

 
3.10% 

 
3.10% 

 
3.20% 

 
3.30% 

 
3.30% 

 
3.40% 

 
3.40% 

 
3.50% 

 
3.50% 

50 yr 

PLWB 

 

2.70% 

 

2.80% 

 

2.90% 

 

2.90% 

 

3.00% 

 

3.10% 

 

3.10% 

 

3.20% 

 

3.20% 

 

3.30% 

 

3.30% 

 
8.4.2 

 

Link has also provided comprehensive economic forecasts which are available for inspection if 

required. 

 

8.5 Borrowing and Debt Strategy  2019/20 – 2021/22 

 
8.5.1 The Prudential Code and the uncertainty over future interest rates increases the risks 

associated with the treasury strategy.  As a result the Council needs to take a cautious 

approach to its treasury strategy. 

 
8.5.2 Borrowing interest rates have been volatile so far in 2018/19 and have increased modestly 

since the summer.  The policy of avoiding new borrowing by running down spare cash balances 

has served well over the last few years. However, this needs to be carefully reviewed to avoid 

incurring higher borrowing costs in the future when the authority may not be able to avoid new 

borrowing to finance capital expenditure and/or the refinancing of maturing debt. 

 
8.5.3 
 

The borrowing strategy for 2019/20 should be set to take short dated borrowings at any time in 

the financial year.  Short term borrowing is expected to be cheaper than long term borrowing 

and will therefore be attractive throughout the financial year compared to simply taking long 

term fixed rate borrowing.   

 
8.5.4 The borrowing strategy will be to borrow on fixed rate terms rather than variable. 

 

 

9 EXTERNAL DEBT OVERALL LIMITS 

 

9.1 There are two Prudential Indicators which control the overall level of borrowing.  These are: 

 

o The authorised limit 

o The operational boundary 

 

9.2 The authorised limit represents the Councils total borrowing limit, covering short and long term 

debt.  It is the maximum level of borrowing which the authority is expected to experience at 

any point within the year, inclusive of headroom for unexpected movements.  This is the 

statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local Government Act 2003 and needs to 

be set by Members and later (if necessary) revised by Members. 

 

9.3 The operational boundary is the anticipated level of external debt during the course of the 

year.  This indicator is primarily an internal monitoring tool that provides a warning of the 

potential breach of the Authorised Limit for External Debt;   and it also informs whether the 

Page 312



  
 

Page 7 of 15 

plans regarding capital expenditure are on target and whether cash flows are proceeding as 

planned. 

 

Authorised limit for external debt 

2018/19 

Revised 

Estimate 

£000 

 

2019/20 

Estimate 

£000 

 

2020/21 

Estimate 

£000 

 

2021/22 

Estimate 

£000 

Borrowing 35,000 35,000 35,000 35,000 

Other long term liabilities 0 0 0 0 

Total 35,000 35,000 35,000 35,000 

 

Operational boundary for external debt 

    

Borrowing 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 

Other long term liabilities 0 0 0 0 

Total 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 

 
9.4 

 

 

The Authorised Limit includes the borrowing requirement for unexpected cash movements, 

which is permitted under the Code.  Examples of unexpected cash movements include service 

delivery failure, or possible clawback of government monies. 

 
10 EXTERNAL v INTERNAL BORROWING 

 
  

2017/18 

Actual 

2018/19 

Probable 

outturn 

 

2019/20 

Estimate 

 

2020/21 

Estimate 

 

2021/22 

Estimate 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Actual external Debt 9,932 9,796 9,847 10,041 10,015 

Cash balances 22,784 20,009 2,908 50 50 

Net Debt (12,852) (10,213) 6,939 9,991 9,965 

 
10.1 The Council currently has a difference between gross debt and net debt (after deducting cash 

balances) of £10.213m. 

 

10.2 The general aim of this treasury management strategy is to reduce the difference between the 

two debt levels in order to reduce the credit risk incurred by holding investments.  However, 

measures previously taken have already reduced substantially the level of credit risk so another 

factor which will be carefully considered is the difference between borrowing rates and 

investment rates to ensure the Council obtains value for money once an appropriate level of 

risk management has been attained to ensure the security of its investments. 

 

10.3 The next financial year is expected to continue to be one of historically abnormally low Bank 

Rate, at least for most of the financial year.   

 

10.4 Against this background caution will be adopted with the 2019/20 treasury operations.  The 

Deputy Chief Executive will monitor the interest rate market and adopt a pragmatic approach to 

changing circumstances, reporting any decisions to the appropriate decision making body. 

11 LIMITS ON ACTIVITY 
  
11.1 The aim of the prudential indicators is to contain the activity of the treasury function within 

Page 313



  
 

Page 8 of 15 

certain limits, thereby reducing the risk or likelihood of an adverse movement in interest or 

borrowing decisions which could impact negatively on the Council’s overall financial position. 

 
11.2 The proposed local limit of 100% on variable rate loan debt, as shown in the following table, 

relates to the potential situation where maturing fixed rate is not replaced.  

 

Treasury Management Indicators 

 

 2018/19 

Upper 

2019/20 

Upper 

2020/21 

Upper 

Limits on fixed interest rates 100% 100% 100% 

Limits on variable interest rates 100% 100% 100% 

Maximum principal sums invested for 

over 365 days 

 

£3m 

 

£3m 

 

£3m 
 

 
 

11.3 The Council must set upper and lower limits for the maturity structure of its borrowings. 

 

 

Proposed limits for Maturity Structure of Borrowing 

 

Period to maturity of debt Upper Limit Lower Limit 

Under 12 months 43% 0% 

12 months and within 24 months 0% 0% 
24 months and within 5 years 0% 0% 
5 years and within 10 years 0% 0% 
10 years and above 57% 0% 
 

 

The maturity in the under 12 month period relates to Lender Option, Borrower Option (LOBO) 

loans.  From 2011/12 the maturity date of a LOBO is now deemed to be the next call date. The 

LOBO’s have six monthly call dates. 

 

 

12 DEBT RESCHEDULING 

 
12.1 CIPFA issued an updated Statement of Recommended Accounting Practice (SORP 2007) 

incorporating, for financial instruments, Financial Reporting Standard 25 (Presentation & 

Disclosure), FRS 26 (Recognition & Measurement) and FRS 29 (replacement disclosure 

requirements).  This presented major potential changes in the treatment of the valuation of 

debt and investments, the calculation of interest and the treatment of premiums and discounts 

arising from debt rescheduling. The SORP removed the ability to spread premiums and 

discounts arising under debt rescheduling over the life of replacement borrowing. 

 

In the main, the above mentioned financial reporting standards have converged with 

international standards for 2011/12 and onwards reporting. 

 
 In exceptional circumstances the Deputy Chief Executive may approve rescheduling under 

emergency powers, e.g. where swift action is required to secure favourable rates.   

  

This action would be reported to Cabinet. 

 

13 INVESTMENT STRATEGY 

 
13.1 The Council will have regard to the MHCLG revised guidance on Local Government 

Page 314



  
 

Page 9 of 15 

Investments; and CIPFA’s Treasury Management in Public Services Code of Practice and Cross 

Sectoral Guidance notes revised in 2017.  The Council’s investment priorities are:- 

 

o The security of capital 

o The liquidity of its investments 

 

The Council will also aim to achieve optimum return on its investments commensurate with 

proper levels of security and liquidity. 

 
13.2 The borrowing of monies purely to invest or on-lend and make a return is unlawful and the 

Council does not engage in the activity.  

 
13.3 If the Council is in a position where it has surplus funds for a period of time, competitive 

quotations will be sought from a range of institutions with a view to making a temporary 

investment.  Investments will be placed with the most cost-effective institution, taking dealing 

costs into account.  The Council uses the services of City brokers to identify the optimum 

investment opportunities. 

 
13.4 The Council uses the credit ratings available from the three major credit rating agencies; Fitch, 

Moodys and Standard & Poor, to derive its lending criteria.  All credit ratings will be monitored 

weekly.  The Council is alerted to changes in Credit ratings through its use of the Link Asset 

Services Ltd creditworthiness service.  The creditworthiness service uses a sophisticated 

modeling approach with credit ratings from all three credit rating agencies.  If a downgrade 

results in the counterparty no longer meeting the Councils minimum criteria, its further use as 

a new investment will be withdrawn immediately.  If required new counterparties which meet 

the criteria are added to the list.  The Credit ratings are supplemented by use of Credit Default 

Swap (CDS) spreads which give an early warning of likely changes in credit ratings. 

 
13.5 

 
Fully Nationalised Banks in the UK have credit ratings which do not conform to the credit 

criteria usually used by local authorities to identify banks which are of high credit worthiness.  

In particular, as they are no longer separate institutions in their own right, it is impossible for 

Fitch to assign to them an individual rating for their stand alone financial strength.  Accordingly, 

Fitch have assigned an F rating which means that at a historical point of time, this bank has 

failed and is now owned by the Government.  However, these institutions are now recipients of 

an F1+ short term rating as they effectively take on the credit worthiness of the Government 

itself i.e. deposits made with them are effectively being made to the government.  They also 

have a support rating of 1; in other words, on both counts, they have the highest rating 

possible. 

 

The other situation which could arise is where the Bank hasn’t been fully nationalised but 

receives support from the UK Government, in which case the individual rating is E i.e. the Fitch 

definition is “A bank which requires external support”. 
  
13.6 Investment instruments identified for use in the financial year are classified as ‘Specified’ and 

‘Non-Specified’ Investments.  Counterparty limits will be as set through the Council’s Treasury 

Management Practices. 

 

 

 

 

 

 
13.7 Specified Investments are sterling investments of not more than one-year maturity.  These are 

low risk assets and the possibility of loss of principal or investment income is very low.  The 

investments are defined as: 

Page 315



  
 

Page 10 of 15 

 

1. The UK Government (such as the Debt Management Office, UK Treasury Bills or a gilt 

with less than one year to maturity). 

2. A local authority, parish council or community council. 

3. An investment scheme that has been awarded a high credit rating by a credit rating 

agency such as Standard and Poor, Moody’s or Fitch. 

4. Pooled Investment Vehicles (such as Money Market Funds) that have been awarded a 

high credit rating by a credit rating agency. 

5. A body that has been awarded a high credit rating by a credit rating agency (such as a 

bank or building society). 

 

 
13.8 Non Specified Investments include any other type of investment (i.e. not defined as specified 

above).  These are sterling investments with: 

 

1. Securities admitted to the Official List of the Stock Exchange, which are guaranteed by 

the UK Government (such as supranational bonds). 

2. Gilt edged securities with a maturity of greater than one year. 

3. Institutions not meeting the basic security requirements under the specified 

investments. 

4. A body that has been awarded a high credit rating by a credit rating agency (such as a 

bank or building society), for deposits with a maturity of more than one year. 

 

At the present time, the Council has no immediate plans to invest in non specified investments, 

in order to maintain the high security and liquidity of Council funds. 

 

 

14 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT PRACTICES (TMP) 

 

CIPFA recommend that all of the following TMPs should be adopted, with the schedules where 

appropriate to the scope and nature of the treasury management activities undertaken: 

 

TMP1 Risk Management 

 

The Deputy Chief Executive will implement and monitor all arrangements for the identification, 

management and control of treasury management risk, reporting at least annually on this; 

relevant issues include liquidity risk management, interest rate risk management, security of 

investments, refinancing risk management, legal and regulatory risk management, fraud error 

and corruption issues, market risk management. 

 

TMP2 Best Value and Performance Measurement 

 

Commitment to best value and performance measurement in treasury management activities. 

 

TMP3 Decision-making and Analysis 

 

Full records to be maintained. 

 

TMP4 Approved Instruments, Methods and Techniques 

 

To list the instruments, methods and techniques that the authority will use to ensure that any 

risks involved are fully understood and evaluated. 

TMP5 Organization, clarity, segregation of responsibilities, dealing arrangements.  

 

Clear written statements of responsibilities, and arrangements for absence cover. 

Page 316



  
 

Page 11 of 15 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

15 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

TMP6 Reporting requirements and management information arrangements 

 

As a minimum, reports to be submitted to the Executive and Council on the strategy and plan 

to be pursued in the coming year, and on performance in the past year. 

 

TMP7 Budgeting, accounting and audit arrangements 

 

To be fully documented. 

 

TMP8 Cash and cash flow management 

 

Unless statutory or regulatory requirements demand otherwise, all monies in the hands of this 

organisation will be under the control of the Deputy Chief Executive and aggregated for cash 

flow and investment management purposes. Cash flow projections to be prepared on a regular 

and timely basis. 

 

TMP9 Money laundering 

 

Where appropriate, to be alert to the possibility of money laundering, and to maintain 

procedures for verifying and recording the identity of counterparties etc. 

 

TMP10 Staff training and qualifications 

 

Recognising the importance of ensuring that staff involved in the treasury management 

function are fully equipped to undertake the duties and responsibilities allocated to them. 

 

TMP11 Use of external service providers 

 

Recognising the potential value of employing external providers of treasury management 

services in order to access specialist skills and resources, subject to evaluation of costs and 

benefits and proper documentation. 

 

TMP12 Corporate governance 

 

Commitment to the pursuit of proper corporate governance and the key recommendations of 

this Code; accordingly, the treasury management function to be undertaken with openness and 

transparency, honesty, integrity and accountability. 

 

A full description of each TMP is at appendix 3. 

 

POLICY ON THE USE OF EXTERNAL SERVICE PROVIDERS 

 

The Council uses Link Asset Services, as its external treasury management advisor. 

 

The Council recognises that responsibility for treasury management remains with the 

organisation at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is not placed upon external service 

providers. 

 

It also recognises there is value in employing external providers of treasury management 

services in order to acquire specialist skills and resources. 

 

16 

 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY IN-YEAR AND YEAR-END REPORTING 

Page 317



  
 

Page 12 of 15 

 As well as the half-year update report to Cabinet , treasury management features, when 

appropriate, in revenue budget monitoring reports during the year; and the annual outturn of 

treasury management and indicators is reported to Cabinet as soon as practicable after the 

year end.  In addition, in light of the revised code of practice,  the Resources Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee was given by the Full Council, from March 2010 via addition to terms of 

reference, a role to monitor and review the Council’s treasury management strategy and 

policies;  and changes made to the Financial Procedures Rules include for that. 

 

 

17 IMPLICATIONS 

Issue Comments 

Financial Implications 

(including any future 

financial implications for 

the Council) 

There are none arising directly from this report. 

Legal and human rights 

implications 

The Local Government Act 2003 (part 1) and associated regulations 

gave statutory recognition to the Prudential Code.  Therefore there 

is a statutory backing to the background and local purpose of the 

report. 

Treasury Management activities of local authorities are prescribed 

by statute – the source of powers is, in England & Wales, the 2003 

Act.  ‘Statutory Guidance’ on investment is given by the DCLG to 

local authorities. 

Assessment of Risk There are inherent risks in capital finance and treasury 

management.  When appropriate the risks are identified and 

assessed as part of the various recommendations made on 

Prudential Capital Finance and in the Council’s Treasury 

Management Strategy. Risks arising from Financial Instruments are 

also described and addressed in the Statement of Accounts’ related 

note. 
Equality and diversity 
implications 
A Customer First Analysis 
should be completed in 
relation to policy decisions 
and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  

 

There are no specific implications for customers’ equality and 

diversity arising directly from the recommendations in this report. 

  

 

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

18 

 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 

List of Background Papers:   

Page 318

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407


  
 

Page 13 of 15 

 Part 1 of the Local Government Act 2003 and related regulations 

 The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (CIPFA 2017) 
 CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management in Public Services (revised 2017) 

 The Council’s Policy Statement on Treasury Management (Full Council February 2018) 
 The Councils Policy on Treasury Management Practices ( Full Council February 2018) 
 Capital Programme reports 

 Revenue Budget reports. 

 

  
19 FREEDOM OF INFORMATION 

The report does not contain exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972, 

Schedule 12A and all information can be disclosed under the Freedom of  Information Act 2000. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 319

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/26/contents
PIs%20&%20T%20M%20Strat%20Cabinet%20mtg%206%20Feb'19.doc
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/documents/s7189/Prudential%20Indicators%20and%20Treasury%20Management%20-%20Report%20and%20Apps%201%20and%202.pdf


  
 

Page 14 of 15 

Appendix 1 
 

Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement 2019/20 
 

Options in statutory guidance 

 
Option 1: Regulatory method 

 

Under the previous MRP regulations, MRP was set at a uniform rate of 4% of the adjusted CFR 

(i.e. adjusted for “Adjustment A”) on a reducing balance method (which in effect meant that MRP 

charges would stretch into infinity). This historic approach must continue for all capital 

expenditure incurred in years before the start of this new approach. It may also be used for new 

capital expenditure up to the amount which is deemed to be supported by Government through 

the ‘SCE allocation’ (supported capital expenditure). 

 

Option 2: Capital Financing Requirement method 

 

This is a variation on Option 1 which is based upon a charge of 4% of the aggregate CFR without 

any adjustment for Adjustment A, or certain other factors which were brought into account under 

the previous statutory MRP calculation. The CFR is the measure of an authority’s outstanding debt 

liability as depicted by their balance sheet. 

 

Option 3: Asset Life method. 

 

Under this option, it is intended that MRP should be spread over the estimated useful life of either 

an asset created, or other purpose of the expenditure. 

There are two methods of calculating charges under option 3: 

a. equal instalment method – equal annual instalments; 

b. annuity method – annual payments gradually increase during the life of the asset. 

 

Option 4: Depreciation Method 

 

Under this option, MRP charges are to be linked to the useful life of each type of asset using the 

standard accounting rules for depreciation (but with some exceptions) i.e. this is a more complex 

approach than option 3. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 320



  
 

Page 15 of 15 

 

Appendix 2 

 

Treasury Management Policy Statement 2019/20 
 
Hyndburn Borough Council defines its treasury management activities as follows:- 

 

1.   The management of the authority’s investments and cash flows, its banking, money market 

and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with those 

activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks. 

2. The Council regards the successful identification, monitoring and control of risk to be the 

prime criteria by which the effectiveness of its treasury management activities will be 

measured. Accordingly, the analysis and reporting of treasury management activities will 

focus on their risk implications for the organisation, and any financial instruments entered 

into to manage these risks.  

3. The Council acknowledges that effective treasury management will provide support 

towards the achievement of its business and service objectives. It is therefore committed 

to the principles of achieving value for money in treasury management, and to employing 

suitable comprehensive performance measurement techniques, within the context of 

effective risk management. 

Page 321



This page is intentionally left blank



           Appendix 3

             

             

             

 Hyndburn Borough Council     

 Treasury Management Practices 2019/20  

             

             

             

            

Page 323



Treasury Management Practices  
2 

Contents   

  Paragrapgh 

TMP 1 Treasury risk management 1.1 – 1.8.1 

TMP 2   Performance measurement 2.1 – 2.3.5 

TMP 3   Decision–making and analysis 3.1 – 3.1.3.3 

TMP 4 
Approved instruments, methods and 
techniques 

4.1 – 4.6 

TMP 5 
Organisation, clarity and segregation of 
responsibilities, and dealing 
arrangements 

5.1 – 5.10 

TMP 6 
Reporting requirements and 
management information arrangements 

6.1 – 6.9 

TMP 7   
Budgeting, accounting and audit 
arrangements 

7.1 – 7.4 

TMP 8 Cash and cash flow management    8.1 – 8.6 

TMP 9 Money laundering  9.1 – 9.6 

TMP 10 Training and qualifications 10.1 – 10.7 

TMP 11 Use of external service providers  11.1 – 11.2 

TMP 12 Corporate governance  12.1 

  

  

  

   

 

Page 324



Treasury Management Practices  
3 

TMP1 Risk Management 

The responsible officer – Deputy Chief Executive -  will design, implement and monitor all 
arrangements for the identification, management and control of treasury management risk, will 
report at least annually on the adequacy/suitability thereof, and will report, as a matter of 
urgency, the circumstances of any actual or likely difficulty in achieving the organisation’s 
objectives in this respect, all in accordance with the procedures set out in TMP6 Reporting 
requirements and Management Information Arrangements. In respect of each of the following 
risks, the arrangements which seek to ensure compliance with these objectives are set below. 

  

1.1 Credit and Counterparty Risk Management 

Credit and counter-party risk is the risk of failure by a counterparty to meet its contractual 
obligations to the organisation under an investment, borrowing, capital project or partnership 
financing, particularly as a result of the counterparty’s diminished creditworthiness, and the 
resulting detrimental effect on the organisation’s capital or current (revenue) resources. 

 
This organisation regards a key objective of its treasury management activities to be the security 
of the principal sums it invests. Accordingly, it will ensure that its counterparty lists and limits 
reflect a prudent attitude towards organisations with whom funds may be deposited, and will limit 
its investment activities to the instruments, methods and techniques referred to in TMP4 
Approved Instruments Methods And Techniques. It also recognises the need to have, and will 
therefore maintain, a formal counterparty policy in respect of those organisations from which it 
may borrow, or with whom it may enter into other financing arrangements. 
 
 
 
1.1.1 Creditworthiness Policy    

This Council applies the creditworthiness service provided by Link Asset Services.  This service 
employs a sophisticated modelling approach utilising credit ratings from the three main credit rating 
agencies - Fitch, Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s.  The credit ratings of counterparties are 
supplemented with the following overlays:  

 credit watches and credit outlooks from credit rating agencies; 

 CDS spreads to give early warning of likely changes in credit ratings; 

 sovereign ratings to select counterparties from only the most creditworthy countries. 

 
This modelling approach combines credit ratings, credit Watches and credit Outlooks in a weighted 
scoring system which is then combined with an overlay of CDS spreads for which the end product is a 
series of colour coded bands which indicate the relative creditworthiness of counterparties.  These 
colour codes are used by the Council to determine the suggested duration for investments.  The 
Council will therefore use counterparties within the following durational bands : 
 

 Yellow 5 years (UK Government debt, or its equivalent, money market funds 
 Dark pink 5 years for Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds with a credit score of 1.25 
 Light pink 5 years for Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds with a credit score of 1.5 
 Purple  2 years 
 Blue  1 year (only applies to nationalised or semi nationalised UK Banks) 
 Orange 1 year 
 Red  6 months 
 Green  100 days   
 No colour  not to be used  

 

Page 325



Treasury Management Practices  
4 

 
 
The Link Asset Services’ creditworthiness service uses a wider array of information than just primary 
ratings. Furthermore, by using a risk weighted scoring system, it does not give undue preponderance 
to just one agency’s ratings. 
 
Typically the minimum credit ratings criteria the Council use will be a Short Term rating (Fitch or 
equivalents) of   F1 and a Long Term rating of A-. There may be occasions when the counterparty 
ratings from one rating agency are marginally lower than these ratings but may still be used.  In these 
instances consideration will be given to the whole range of ratings available, or other topical market 
information, to support their use. 
 
All credit ratings will be monitored weekly. The Council is alerted to changes to ratings of all three 
agencies through its use of the Link Asset Services’ creditworthiness service.  

 if a downgrade results in the counterparty / investment scheme no longer meeting the 
Council’s minimum criteria, its further use as a new investment will be withdrawn immediately. 

 in addition to the use of credit ratings the Council will be advised of information in movements 
in credit default swap spreads against the iTraxx benchmark and other market data on a daily 
basis via its Passport website, provided exclusively to it by Link Asset Services. Extreme 
market movements may result in downgrade of an institution or removal from the Council’s 
lending list. 

Sole reliance will not be placed on the use of this external service.  In addition this Council will also use 
market data and market information, information on any external support for banks to help support its 
decision making process.  

Country and sector limits 

The Council has determined that due to the uncertainty of Brexit it will use any UK bank regardless 
that the sovereign credit rating may be reduced from its current AA rating position.  It will only use 
approved counterparties from other countries with a minimum sovereign credit rating of AA- from Fitch. 
The list of countries that qualify using this credit criteria as at the date of this report are shown below.  

This list is based on those countries which have sovereign ratings of AA- or higher (at the date of 
this report) and also have banks operating in sterling markets which have credit ratings of green or 
above in the Link Asset Services credit worthiness service. 
 

AAA                      
 Australia   

 Canada 

 Denmark 

 Germany 

 Luxembourg 

 Netherlands 

 Norway 

 Singapore 

 Sweden 

 Switzerland 

 

AA+ 

 Finland 

 U.S.A. 

 

 Page 326



Treasury Management Practices  
5 

 

 

AA 

 Abu Dhabi (UAE) 

 France 

 Hong Kong 

 UK 

 

AA- 

 Belgium  

 Qater 

 

 This list will be added to, or deducted from, by officers should ratings change in accordance with this 
policy. 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 327



Treasury Management Practices  
6 

 

Maximum maturity periods and amounts to be placed in different types of investment instrument 
are as follows: - 

 

 Maturities up to a maximum of 1 year 

Organisation 
Minimum ‘High’ Credit 
Criteria 

Max 
Amount 

Max Period 

Debt Management 
Agency Deposit 
Facility 

- 
 

£2m 1 year 

Term Deposits  - Local 
Authorities 

-  £2m 1 year 

Term Deposits – 
Banks & Building 
Societies  

Short-term, Long-term, 
Viability, Support. 

£2m 
Colour Code 
Dependant but 
max of 1 year 

Liquid  Deposits - Nat 
West Bank  

Short-term, Long-term, 
Viability, Support. 

£3m 1 year 

Money Market Funds AAA long-term rating  £2m 1 year 

UK Government 
Support to the banking 
sector  

Sovereign Rating £2m 1 year 

  

 

 Maturities in excess of 1 year 

 

Organisation Minimum ‘High’ Credit Criteria 

Debt Management Agency 
Deposit Facility 

- 
 

Term Deposits  - Local 
Authorities 

-  

Term Deposits – Banks & 
Building Societies ** 

Short-term, Long-term, Viability, 
Support. 

Money Market Funds AAA long-term rating  

UK Government Support to the 
banking sector  

Sovereign Rating 

 
 Page 328



Treasury Management Practices  
7 

 

1. Diversification: this organisation will avoid concentrations of lending and borrowing by 
adopting a policy of diversification.  It will therefore use the following: - 

 Maximum amount to be placed with any one institution - £2m - with the exception of a 
deposit in Nat West Liquidity Account where the investment will not exceed £3m. 

 Group limits where a number of institutions are under one ownership – maximum of 
£10m. 

2.  Investments will not be made with counterparties that do not have a credit rating in 
their own right. The definition of ‘high credit quality’ in order to determine what are 
specified investments as opposed to non specified investments which do not have 
high credit ratings is set out at the end of  TMP1 in schedule 1.   

 
 
1.2 Liquidity Risk Management 
 
This is the risk that cash will not be available when it is needed, that ineffective management 
of liquidity creates additional unbudgeted costs, and that the organisation’s business/service 
objectives will be thereby compromised. 

 
This organisation will ensure it has adequate though not excessive cash resources, 
borrowing arrangements, overdraft or standby facilities to enable it at all times to have the 
level of funds available to it which are necessary for the achievement of its business/service 
objectives. This organisation will only borrow in advance of need where there is a clear 
business case for doing so and will only do so for the current capital programme or to finance 
future debt maturities. 

 
 

1.2.1. Amounts of approved minimum cash balances and short-term investments 

 The Treasury Management section shall seek to minimise the balance held in the 
Council’s main bank accounts at the close of each working day. Borrowing or lending 
shall be arranged in order to achieve this aim. 

 
1.2.2. Details of: 

a. Standby facilities 
At the end of each financial day any unexpected surplus funds are transferred to the 
Nat West Liquidity Account which is available from the Council’s main bank.  The 
balance on this account is instantly accessible if the group bank account becomes 
overdrawn. 

 

b. Bank overdraft arrangements 
There is no overdraft arrangement for the Council’s accounts. Bank Charges will be 
calculated on overdrawn amounts at base rate (currently 0.75%) plus 4%. 

 
c. Short-term borrowing facilities 

The Council may access temporary loans through approved brokers on the London  
money market. The approved borrowing limit for short term debt is £10m. 
 

d. Insurance/guarantee facilities 
There are no specific insurance or guarantee facilities as the above arrangements  
are regarded as being adequate to cover all unforeseen occurrences. 

 
                               
 
 Page 329



Treasury Management Practices  
8 

 
1.3 Interest Rate Risk Management 

There is a risk that fluctuations in the levels of interest rates would create an unexpected or 
unbudgeted burden on the organisation’s finances, against which the organisation has failed 
to protect itself adequately. 
 
This Council will manage its exposure to fluctuations in interest rates with a view to 
containing its interest costs, or securing its interest revenues, in accordance with the amounts 
provided in its budgetary arrangements as amended in accordance with TMP6 Reporting 
requirements and management information arrangements. 
 
It will achieve this by the prudent use of its approved financing and investment instruments, 
methods and techniques, primarily to create stability and certainty of costs and revenues, but 
at the same time retaining a sufficient degree of flexibility to take advantage of unexpected, 
potentially advantageous changes in the level or structure of interest rates. This should be 
the subject to the consideration and, if required, approval of any policy or budgetary 
implications. 
 
1.3.1 Details of approved interest rate exposure limits   

The Treasury Indicators for 2019/20 include a figure of £35 million for External Debt – 
Authorised Limit. 

 

1.3.2 Trigger points and other guidelines for managing changes to interest rate      
levels 

The Treasury Indicators for 2019/20 include a figure of £20 million for External Debt – 
Operational Boundary. 

 

1.3.3 Upper limit for fixed interest rate exposure  

The Prudential Indicators for 2019/20 include an estimated exposure of 100% of 
principal sums outstanding in respect of borrowing at fixed interest rates. 

  

1.3.4 Upper limit for variable interest rate exposure 

The prudential Indicators for 2019/20 include an estimated exposure of 100% of 
principal sums outstanding in respect of borrowing at variable interest rates. 

 

1.3.5 Policies concerning the use of instruments for interest rate management. 

a. Forward Dealing   
 Consideration will be given to dealing from forward periods dependent upon market 

conditions.  
 
b. Callable Deposits   
 The Council may use callable deposits as part as of its Annual Investment Strategy 

(AIS).  The credit criteria and maximum periods are set out in the Schedule of 
Specified and Non Specified Investments appended to the AIS.  

 
c. LOBOS (borrowing under lender’s option/borrower’s option) 
 Use of LOBOs are considered as part of the annual borrowing strategy. All 

borrowing for periods in excess of 365 days must be approved by the Deputy Chief 
Executive. 

  
 
 
 
 Page 330



Treasury Management Practices  
9 

 
1.4 Exchange Rate Risk Management 

The risk that fluctuations in foreign exchange rates create an unexpected or unbudgeted 
burden on the organisation’s finances, against which the organisation has failed to protect 
itself adequately. 
 
The Council will manage its exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates so as to minimise any 
detrimental impact on its budgeted income/expenditure levels. 
 
 

1.5 Refinancing Risk Management 

The risk that maturing borrowings, capital, project or partnership financings cannot be 
refinanced on terms that reflect the provisions made by the organisation for those refinancing, 
both capital and current (revenue), and/or that the terms are inconsistent with prevailing 
market conditions at the time. 
 
This Council will ensure that its borrowing, private financing and partnership arrangements 
are negotiated, structured and documented, and the maturity profile of the monies so raised 
are managed, with a view to obtaining offer terms for renewal or refinancing, if required, 
which are competitive and as favourable to the organisation as can reasonably be achieved 
in the light of market conditions prevailing at the time. 
 
It will actively manage its relationships with its counterparties in these transactions in such a 
manner as to secure this objective, and will avoid overreliance on any one source of funding 
if this might jeopardise achievement of the above. 

 

1.5.1. Debt/Other Capital Financing, Maturity Profiling, Policies and Practices 

The Council will establish through its Prudential and Treasury Indicators the amount of 
debt maturing in any year/period.   
 
Any debt rescheduling will be considered when the difference between the refinancing 
rate and the redemption rate is most advantageous and the situation will be continually 
monitored in order to take advantage of any perceived anomalies in the yield curve.  
The reasons for any rescheduling to take place will include: 

a) the generation of cash savings at minimum risk; 
b) to reduce the average interest rate; 
c) to amend the maturity profile and /or the balance of volatility of the debt portfolio. 

 
All rescheduling will be reported to the Cabinet at as soon as possible after the debt 
rescheduling exercise. 

 
1.5.2. Projected Capital Investment Requirements 

The Deputy Chief Executive will prepare a three year plan for capital expenditure for 
the Council. The capital plan will be used to prepare a three year revenue budget for all 
forms of financing charges.   
In addition the Deputy Chief Executive will draw up a capital strategy report which will 
give a longer term view. 
 
The definition of capital expenditure and long term liabilities used in the Code will follow 
recommended accounting practice as per the Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting. 
 
 
 

Page 331



Treasury Management Practices  
10 

 
1.5.3. Policy Concerning Limits on Affordability and Revenue Consequences of Capital 

Financing 

In considering the affordability of its capital plans, the Council will consider all the 
resources currently available/estimated for the future together with the totality of its 
capital plans, revenue income and revenue expenditure forecasts for the forthcoming 
year and the two following years and the impact these will have on council tax.  It will 
also take into account affordability in the longer term beyond this three year period.  
 
The Council will use the definitions provided in the Prudential Code for borrowing (65), 
capital expenditure (66), capital financing requirement (67), debt (68), financing costs 
(69), investments (70), net borrowing (71), net revenue stream (72), other long term 
liabilities (73).   

 
 
1.6 Legal and Regulatory Risk Management 

The risk that the organisation itself, or an organisation with which it is dealing in its treasury 
management activities, fails to act in accordance with its legal powers or regulatory requirements, 
and that the organisation suffers losses accordingly. 
 
The Council will ensure that all of its treasury management activities comply with its statutory 
powers and regulatory requirements. It will demonstrate such compliance, if required to do so, to 
all parties with whom it deals in such activities. In framing its credit and counterparty policy under 
TMP1[1] credit and counterparty risk management, it will ensure that there is evidence of 
counterparties’ powers, authority and compliance in respect of the transactions they may effect 
with the organisation, particularly with regard to duty of care and fees charged. 
 
The Council recognises that future legislative or regulatory changes may impact on its treasury 
management activities and, so far as it is reasonably able to do so, will seek to minimise the risk 
of these impacting adversely on the organisation. 

 
 

1.6.1. References to Relevant Statutes and Regulations 
The treasury management activities of the Council shall comply fully with legal 
statute, guidance, Codes of Practice and the regulations of the Council.  These are: 

 
English Authorities: - 

 Local Government Finance Act 1988 section 114 – duty on the responsible officer to 
issue a report if the Council is likely to get into a financially unviable position 

 Requirement to set a balanced budget – Local Government Finance Act 1992 section 32  

 Local Government Act 2003   

 S.I. 2003 No.2938 Local Government Act 2003 (Commencement No.1 and Transitional 
Provisions and Savings) Order 2003  13.11.03 

 S.I. 2003 No.3146 Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) 
Regulations 2003 and associated commentary    10.12.03 

 S.I. 2004 No.533 Local Authorities (Capital Finance) (Consequential, Transitional and 
Savings Provisions) Order 2004    8.3.04  

 S.I. 2004 No.534 Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (Amendment) 
(England) Regulations 2004    8.3.04 

 S.I. 2004 no.3055 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (Amendment) 
(England) (No.2) Regulations 2004 

 S.I. 2006 no.521 Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (Amendment) 
(England) Regulations 2006   

Page 332



Treasury Management Practices  
11 

 S.I. 2007 no. 573 Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (Amendment) 
(England) Regulations 2007  

 Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 s238(2) – power to issue 
guidance; to be used re: MRP 

 S.I. 2008 no. 414 Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (Amendment) 
(England) Regulations 2008 

 S.I. 2009 no. 321 Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (Amendment) 
(England) Regulations 2009 

 S.I. 2009 no. 2272 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance And Accounting) (England) 
(Amendment) (No.2) Regulations 2009 

 S.I. 2009 no. 3093 The Local Government Pension Fund Scheme (Management and 
Investment of Funds) Regulations 2009 

 S.I. 2010 no. 454 (Capital Finance and Accounting) (Amendment) (England) Regulations 
2010 

 Localism Act 2011 

 S.I. 2012 no.265 Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2012 

 S.I.2012 no 711 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) 
(Amendment) (No.2) Regulations 2012 

 2012 no.1324 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) 
(Amendment) (No.3) Regulation 2012 

 S.I. No 2269 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) 
(Amendment) (No.4) Regulations 2012 

 S.I. 2013 no 476 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2013 

 S.I. 2015 no.234 Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 

 

Guidance and codes of practice 

 CIPFA’s Treasury Management Codes of Practice and Guidance Notes 2011,  

 CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities revised 2011 

 CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities – guidance notes for 
practitioners 2013 

 CIPFA Local Authority Capital Accounting – a reference manual for practitioners 2014 
edition 

 CIPFA Guide for Chief Financial Officers on Treasury Management in Local Authorities 
1996 

 CIPFA Standard of Professional Practice on Treasury Management 2002 

 CIPFA Standard of Professional Practice on Continuous professional Development 2005 

 CIPFA Standard of Professional Practice on Ethics 2006 

 The Good Governance Standard for Public Services 2004 

 CIPFA’s Treasury Management Codes of Practice and Guidance Notes 2017. 

 CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities revised 2017. 

 CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities – guidance notes for 
practitioners 2013. 

 MHCLG Revised Guidance on Investments Feb 2017. 

 MHCLG guidance on minimum revenue provision – Feb 2017. 

 LAAP Bulletins  

 IFRS - Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom: A 
Statement of recommended Practice Page 333



Treasury Management Practices  
12 

 PWLB circulars on Lending Policy 

 The UK Money Markets Guide (was formerly known as the Non Investment Products 
Code (NIPS) - (formerly known as The London Code of Conduct) for principals and 
broking firms in the wholesale markets. 

 Financial Conduct Authority’s Code of Market Conduct 

 The Council’s Standing Orders relating to Contracts 

 The Council’s Financial Regulations 

 The Council’s Scheme of Delegated Functions  

 

Page 334



Treasury Management Practices  
13 

1.6.2. Procedures for Evidencing the Council’s Powers/Authorities to Counterparties 

The Council’s powers to borrow and invest are contained in legislation.   
 

Investing:    Local Government Act 2003, section 12   
Borrowing:  Local Government Act 2003, section 1   
 
Required Information on Counterparties  
Lending shall only be made to counterparties on the Approved Lending list. This list 
has been compiled using advice from the Council’s treasury advisers based upon 
credit ratings supplied by Fitch, Moodys and Standard & Poors. 

 
 

1.6.3 Statement on the Council’s Political Risks and Management of Same 

The Deputy Chief Executive shall take appropriate action with the Council, the Chief 
Executive and the Leader of the Council to respond to and manage appropriately 
political risks such as change of majority group, leadership in the Council, change of 
Government etc. 

 
1.6.4 Monitoring Officer 

The monitoring officer is the Executive Director – Legal & Democratic Services; the 
duty of this officer is to ensure that the treasury management activities of the Council 
are lawful. 

 
1.6.5. Chief Financial Officer 

The Chief Financial Officer is the Deputy Chief Executive; the duty of this officer is to 
ensure that the financial affairs of the Council are conducted in a prudent manner and 
to make a report to the Council if he has concerns as to the financial prudence of its 
actions or its expected financial position. 

 
 
1.7 Fraud, Error and Corruption, and Contingency Management 

There is a risk that an organisation could fail to identify the circumstances in which it may be 
exposed to the risk of loss through fraud, error, corruption or other eventualities in its treasury 
management dealings, and fail to employ suitable systems and procedures and maintain 
effective contingency management arrangements to these ends. This is commonly referred to 
as operational risk. 

 
The Council will ensure that it has identified the circumstances which may expose it to the 
risk of loss through fraud, error, corruption or other eventualities in its treasury management 
dealings. Accordingly, it will employ suitable systems and procedures, and will maintain 
effective contingency management arrangements, to these ends. 

 
The Council will therefore:- 

a) Seek to ensure an adequate division of responsibilities and maintenance at all times of 
an adequate level of internal check which minimises such risks.   

b) Fully document all its treasury management activities so that there can be no possible 
confusion as to what proper procedures are.   

c) Staff will not be allowed to take up treasury management activities until they have had 
proper training in procedures and are then subject to an adequate and appropriate level 
of supervision.   

d) Records will be maintained of all treasury management transactions so that there is a 
full audit trail and evidence of the appropriate checks being carried out. 

 
 
 Page 335



Treasury Management Practices  
14 

1.7.1. Details of Systems and Procedures to be Followed, Including Internet Services 

 
 Authority 

 The Scheme of Delegation to Officers sets out the delegation of duties to officers.  
 All loans and investments are negotiated by the responsible officer or authorised 

persons.  
 Loan procedures are defined in the Council’s Financial Regulations. 
 
 Procedures 

 Electronic Banking procedures – A password and PIN number is required to access 
the Bankline system which is used to make electronic payments. 

 CHAPS payments – Payments can only be authorised by agreed officers who have 
been notified to the current provider of our banking services. 
 

 
 Investment and borrowing transactions 

 A detailed register of all loans and investments is maintained by the treasury team. 
This is regularly checked to the ledger. 

 Adequate and effective cash flow forecasting records are maintained on 
spreadsheets to support the decision to lend or borrow. 

 A written acknowledgement of each deal is sent promptly to the lending or borrowing 
institution.  

 Written confirmation is received and checked against the dealer’s records for the 
transaction. 

 Any discrepancies are immediately reported to the Principal Accountant for 
resolution. 

 All transactions placed through brokers are confirmed by a broker note showing 
details of the loan arranged. Written confirmation is received and checked against 
the dealer’s records for the transaction.  Any discrepancies are immediately reported 
to the Principal Accountant for resolution. 

 
Regularity and security 

 Lending is only made to institutions on the Approved List of Counterparties.  
 All loans raised and repayments made go directly to and from the bank account of 

approved counterparties. 
 Counterparty limits are set for every institution that the Council invests with. 
 Brokers have a list of named officials authorised to agree deals.. 
 There is a separation of duties in the section between dealers and the checking and 

authorisation of all deals. 
 The Council’s bank holds a list of Council officials who are authorised signatories for 

treasury management transactions. 
  Payments can only be authorised in a formal letter by an authorised signatory, the  

list of signatories having previously been agreed with the current provider of our 
banking services. 

 There is adequate insurance cover for employees involved in loans management and 
accounting. 

 
Checks 

 The bank reconciliation is carried out monthly from the bank statement to the financial 
ledger. 

 A debt charge/investment income listing is produced monthly when a review is 
undertaken against the budget for interest earnings and debt costs.   

 
   

Page 336



Treasury Management Practices  
15 

Calculations 

 The calculation of repayment of principal and interest notified by the lender or 
borrower is checked for accuracy against the amount calculated by the Treasury 
Team. 

 
 

1.7.2. Emergency and Contingency Planning Arrangements 
Disaster Recovery Plan. 
 
Treasury Management related files (word and excel) are stored on the Council’s ‘H’ 
Drive with arrangements for contingency/back-up.  Backup facilities can be accessed 
off site.  
 
In the event of a ‘Bankline System’ failure, manual procedures would be followed with 
information being provided from the Council’s Bankers by telephone. 
 
All members of the treasury management team are familiar with this plan and new 
members will be briefed on it.   

 
   

1.7.3. Insurance Cover Details  
Fidelity Insurance 
The Council has ‘Fidelity’ insurance cover with Zurich Municipal Insurance. This 
covers the loss of cash by fraud or dishonesty of employees.  
This cover is limited to £2m for 13 designated officers, and for all other officers £140k, 
for any one event with an excess of £5,000 for any one event  
 
Officials Indemnity Insurance 
The Council also has an ‘Officials Indemnity’ insurance policy with Travellers which 
covers loss to the Council from the actions and advice of its officers in the course of 
their duty which are negligent and without due care. This cover is limited to £2m for 
any one event with an excess of £25,000 for any one event.  
This insurance is currently up for tender and a new insurer may be in place from 1st 
April.  The level of cover will not change. 
 
Business Interruption 
The Council also has a ‘Business Interruption’ cover as part of its property insurance 
with Zurich Municipal Insurance 

 
 
1.8  Market Risk Management 
The risk that, through adverse market fluctuations in the value of the principal sums an 
organisation borrows and invests, its stated treasury management policies and objectives are 
compromised, against which effects it has failed to protect itself adequately. 
 
The Council will seek to ensure that its stated treasury management policies and objectives will 
not be compromised by adverse market fluctuations in the value of the principal sums it invests, 
and will accordingly seek to protect itself from the effects of such fluctuations. 
 

1.8.1. Details of Approved Procedures and Limits for Controlling Exposure to 
Investments Whose Capital Value May Fluctuate (Gilts, CDs, Etc.) 

 These are controlled through setting limits on investment instruments where the 
principal value can fluctuate.  The limits are determined and set through the Annual 
Investment Strategy.  

 
 Page 337



Treasury Management Practices  
16 

TMP 1 SCHEDULE 1 – SPECIFIED AND NON SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS 
The guidance and CIPFA TM Code distinguishes between specified and non-specified 
investments, as follows:- 
 

 Specified Investments: All such investments will be sterling denominated with maturities 
up to a maximum of 1 year, meeting the minimum ‘high’ quality criteria where applicable. 

 Non-Specified Investments: These are investments which do not meet the Specified 
Investment Criteria. 

 
 
 

Organisation – 
Specified unless 
otherwise stated 

Minimum credit criteria / 
colour band 

Max Amount Max Period 

Term deposits with 
UK Clearing Banks 

 
Blue 
Orange 
Red 
Green 
No Colour 

£2m 
 

 
Up to 1 year* 
Up to 1 year 
Up to 6 months 
Up to 100 days 
Not for use 

Liquid deposits with 
Nat West Liquidity 
Account  

 
Blue 
Orange 
Red 
Green 
No Colour 

 
£3m  

 
Up to 1 year* 
Up to 1 year 
Up to 6 months 
Up to 100 days 
Not for use 

Term deposits with 
UK Building 
Societies 

 
Blue 
Orange 
Red 
Green 
No Colour 

£2m 
 

 
Up to 1 year* 
Up to 1 year 
Up to 6 months 
Up to 100 days 
Not for use 

 
UK Local Authorities 
 

N/A £2m Up to 1 year 

 
Money Market Funds 
 

Minimum AAA £2m Up to 1 year 

 
 * Nationalised and part Nationalised banks 

Page 338



Treasury Management Practices  
17 

TMP 2 Performance Management 
 
2.1 Evaluation and Review of Treasury Management Decisions 

The Council has a number of approaches to evaluating treasury management decisions: - 
a. reviews with our treasury management consultants 
b. annual review after the end of the year as reported to full council 
c. half yearly reports to Cabinet 

 

 
2.1.1 Reviews with our treasury management consultants 

The treasury management team holds reviews with our consultants every 12 months to 
review the performance of the investment and debt portfolios.   

 
2.1.2 Review reports on treasury management 

An Annual Treasury Report is submitted to the Council each year after the close of the 
financial year which reviews the performance of the debt and investment portfolios. 
This report contains the following: - 

 
a. total debt and investments at the beginning and close of the financial year and 

average interest rates 
b. borrowing strategy for the year compared to actual strategy 
c. investment strategy for the year compared to actual strategy 
d. explanations for variance between original strategies and actual 
e. debt rescheduling done in the year 
f. actual borrowing and investment rates available through the year 
g. compliance with Prudential and Treasury Indicators 
h. other 

 
 

2.1.3 Half Yearly Monitoring Reports 

A half yearly Report on Treasury Management is submitted to Cabinet in October 
which reviews the performance of the debt and investment portfolios.  This report 
contains the same information as the annual report but only includes information for the 
first 6 months 
 
 

2.1.4 Comparative reviews 

When data becomes available, comparative reviews are undertaken to see how the 
performance of the authority on debt and investments compares to other authorities 
with similar size portfolios (but allowing for the fact that Prudential and Treasury 
Indicators are locally set).  Data used will be sourced from: - 

 
 CIPFA Treasury Management statistics published each year for the last complete 

financial year  
 CIPFA Benchmarking Club 
 other 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Page 339



Treasury Management Practices  
18 

2.2 Benchmarks and Calculation Methodology: 

2.2.1 Debt management 

 Average rate on all external debt 
 Average rate on external debt borrowed in previous financial year 
 Average rate on internal borrowing 
 Average period to maturity of external debt  
 Average period to maturity of new loans in previous year 
 

2.2.2 Investment. 

  The performance of investment earnings will be measured against the following 
benchmarks: - 

 
a. in house investments  
b. Link Asset Services model   
 
Performance may also be measured against other local authority funds with similar 
benchmark and parameters managed by other fund managers. 

 
2.3 Policy Concerning Methods for Testing Value for money in Treasury Management 

 
2.3.1 Frequency and processes for tendering 
 Tenders are normally awarded on a 3 year basis.  The process for advertising and 

awarding contracts will be in line with the Council’s Contract Standing Orders. 
 
2.3.2 Banking services 
 The Council’s banking arrangements are to be subject to competitive tender unless it is 

considered that there will be changes in the volume of transactions in the foreseeable 
future which renders a shorter period appropriate. 

  
2.3.3 Money-broking services 
 The Council may use money broking services in order to make deposits or to borrow, 

and will establish charges for all services prior to using them.   
  
2.3.4 Consultants’/advisers’ services 
 This Council’s policy is to appoint full-time professional treasury management 

consultants (Link Asset Services) and separate leasing advisory consultants (Chrystal 
Consulting Ltd). 

  
 
2.3.5  Policy on External Managers (Other than relating to Superannuation Funds) 
   

The Council’s policy is not to appoint external investment fund managers.   

Page 340



Treasury Management Practices  
19 

TMP 3 Decision-Making and Analysis 

3.1  Funding, Borrowing, Lending, and New Instruments/Techniques: 
 

3.1.1 Records to be kept 
All loan transactions are recorded on a spreadsheet. 
The following records will be used relative to each loan or investment. 
 Daily cash balance forecasts 
 Money market rates obtained by telephone and e-mail from brokers or direct 
 Dealing slips for all money market transactions 
 Brokers’ confirmations for investment and temporary borrowing transactions 
 Confirmations from borrowing /lending institutions where deals are done directly 
 PWLB loan confirmations 
 PWLB debt portfolio schedules.  
 Certificates for market loans, local bonds and other loans 

 
3.1.2 Processes to be pursued 

 Cash flow analysis. 
 Debt and investment maturity analysis 
 Ledger reconciliation 
 Review of opportunities for debt restructuring (if applicable) 
 Review of borrowing requirement to finance capital expenditure (and other forms of 

financing where those offer value for money) 
 Performance information (e.g. monitoring of actuals against budget for debt 

charges, interest earned, debt management; also monitoring of average pool rate, 
investment returns, etc). 

 
3.1.3 Issues to be addressed. 

 
3.1.3.1. In respect of every treasury management decision made the Council will: 

a) Above all be clear about the nature and extent of the risks to which the Council 
may become exposed 

b) Be certain about the legality of the decision reached and the nature of the 
transaction, and that all authorities to proceed have been obtained 

c) Be content that the documentation is adequate both to deliver the Council’s 
objectives and protect the Council’s interests, and to deliver good 
housekeeping 

d) Ensure that third parties are judged satisfactory in the context of the Council’s 
creditworthiness policies, and that limits have not been exceeded 

e) Be content that the terms of any transactions have been fully checked against 
the market, and have been found to be competitive. 

 

Page 341



Treasury Management Practices  
20 

3.1.3.2 In respect of borrowing and other funding decisions, the Council will: 
a) consider the ongoing revenue liabilities created, and the implications for the 

organisation’s future plans and budgets 
b) evaluate the economic and market factors that might influence the manner and 

timing of any decision to finance capital schemes 
c) consider the merits and demerits of alternative forms of funding, including 

funding from revenue, leasing and external grant providers 
d) consider the alternative interest rate bases available, the most appropriate 

periods to fund and repayment profiles to use.  
 
 
3.1.3.3 In respect of investment decisions, the Council will: 

a) Consider the optimum period, in the light of cash flow availability and 
prevailing market conditions; 

b) Consider the alternative investment products and techniques available, 
especially the implications of using any which may expose the Council to 
changes in the value of its capital.  

 

Page 342



Treasury Management Practices  
21 

TMP 4 Approved Instruments, Methods and Techniques 

4.1 Approved Activities of the Treasury Management Operation 

 borrowing; 
 lending; 
 debt repayment and rescheduling; 
 consideration, approval and use of new financial instruments and treasury management 

techniques; 
 managing the underlying risk associated with the Council’s capital financing and surplus 

funds activities; 
 managing cash flow; 
 banking activities; 
 leasing. 

 
 
4.2 Approved Instruments for Investments  

Refer to the Annual Investment Strategy (updated February 2019) 

 
 

4.2.1 Implementation of MIFID II Requirements  

Since 3 January 2018, UK public sector bodies have been defaulted to “retail” status under the 
requirements of MiFID II. However, for each counterparty it is looking to transact with, (e.g. 
financial institution, fund management operator, broker), there remains the option to opt up to 
“professional” status, subject to meeting certain requirements specified by MIFID II and that it has 
the appropriate level of knowledge and experience and decision making processes in place in 
order to use regulated investment products.  
  
MIFID II does not cover term deposits so local authorities should not be required to opt up to 
professional status. However, some non-UK banks do not have the necessary regulatory 
permissions to deal with retail clients, so opting up to professional status would be required.   
  
For investing in negotiable investment instruments, (e.g. certificates of deposit, gilts, corporate 
bonds), money market funds and other types of investment funds, which are covered by MIFID II, 
a schedule is maintained of all counterparties that the treasury management team are authorised 
to place investments with. This specifies for each investment instrument and for each 
counterparty, whether the authority has been opted up to professional status. (N.B. some money 
markets funds will deal with both retail and professional clients.) 
 
A file is maintained for all permissions applied for and received for opt ups to professional status 
specifying name of the institution, instrument, date applied for and date received.   
 
 

4.3 Approved Techniques 

 Forward dealing  
 LOBOs – lenders option, borrower’s option borrowing instrument 
 The use of structured products such as callable deposits 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Page 343



Treasury Management Practices  
22 

4.4 Approved Methods and Sources of Raising Capital Finance 

Finance will only be raised in accordance with the Local Government Act 2003, and within 
this limit the Council has a number of approved methods and sources of raising capital 
finance.  These are: 

 
On Balance Sheet Fixed Variable  
  

PWLB    

Market (long-term)    

Market (temporary)   

Market (LOBOs)   

Local temporary   

Local Bonds  

Overdraft    

Internal (capital receipts & revenue balances)   

Leasing (not operating leases)   

Deferred Purchase   

  

 Other Methods of Financing 

 Government and EC Capital Grants 

 Lottery monies 

 Operating leases 

 
Borrowing will only be done in Sterling.  All forms of funding will be considered dependent on 
the prevailing economic climate, regulations and local considerations. The Deputy Chief 
Executive has delegated powers in accordance with Financial Regulations, Standing Orders, 
the Scheme of Delegation to Officers Policy and the Treasury Management Strategy to take 
the most appropriate form of borrowing from the approved sources. 

 
 
 
4.5 Investment Limits 

The Annual Investment Strategy sets out the limits and the guidelines for use of each type of 
investment instrument.   

 
4.6 Borrowing Limits 

See the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Prudential and Treasury Indicators.  

Page 344



Treasury Management Practices  
23 

TMP 5  Organisation, Clarity and Segregation of Responsibilities, and 

Dealing Arrangements 
 
5.1  Allocation of responsibilities 

 
(i) Full Council 

 receiving and reviewing reports on treasury management policies, practices and 
activities 

 approval of annual strategy. 

 Approval of capital strategy 
 

 
(ii) Full Council / Cabinet 

 approval of amendments to the organisation’s adopted clauses, treasury 
management policy statement and treasury management practices 

 budget consideration and approval 

 approval of the division of responsibilities 

 receiving and reviewing regular monitoring reports and acting on recommendations 

 approving the selection of external service providers and agreeing terms of 
appointment. 

 
(iii) Resources Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

 reviewing the treasury management policy and procedures and making 
recommendations to the responsible body. 

 
 
5.2 Principles and Practices Concerning Segregation of Duties 

5.2.1 The following duties are undertaken by separate officers: - 

Dealing  

 

Negotiation and approval of deal. 

Receipt and checking of brokers confirmation 
note against loans diary. 

Reconciliation of cash control account. 

Bank reconciliation 

 

Accounting Entry Processing the expenditure or income 
i.e.posting the entries into the accounting 
system. 

 

Authorisation/Payment of Deal Entry onto system. 

Approval and payment. 

Approval of deals 
 

Page 345



Treasury Management Practices  
24 

5.3 Treasury Management Organisation Chart 

 
  Deputy Chief 

Executive   
(S151 Officer) 

  

  I   
  Head of Accounts   
                 I   
  Financial Controller   
                 I   
  Principal 

Accountant 
  

                 I   
  Accountancy 

Assistant 
  

 
5.4 Statement of the treasury management duties/responsibilities of each treasury post 
 

5.4.1. The responsible officer  
The responsible officer is the person charged with professional responsibility for the 
treasury management function and in this Council is the Deputy Chief Executive   (This 
post is also the S151 officer.)   This person will carry out the following duties: - 
 

a) Recommending clauses, treasury management policy/practices for approval, 
reviewing the same regularly, and monitoring compliance 

b) Submitting regular treasury management policy reports 
c) Submitting budgets and budget variations 
d) Receiving and reviewing management information reports 
e) Reviewing the performance of the treasury management function 
f) Ensuring the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills, and the 

effective division of responsibilities within the treasury management function 
g) Ensuring the adequacy of internal audit, and liaising with external audit 
h) Recommending the appointment of external service providers. 

i) The responsible officer has delegated powers through this policy to take the 
most appropriate form of borrowing from the approved sources, and to make 
the most appropriate form of investments in approved instruments. 

j) The responsible officer may delegate his power to borrow and invest to 
members of his staff. The Financial controller, the Principal Accountant or the 
Accountancy Assistant Treasury Management Team must conduct all dealing 
transactions, or staff authorised by the responsible officer to act as temporary 
cover for leave/sickness.  All transactions must be authorised by at least two of 
the named officers above. 

k) The responsible officer will ensure that Treasury Management Policy is adhered 
to, and if not will bring the matter to the attention of elected members as soon 
as possible.  

l) Prior to entering into any capital financing, lending or investment transaction, it 
is the responsibility of the responsible officer to be satisfied, by reference to the 
Council’s legal department and external advisors as appropriate, that the 
proposed transaction does not breach any statute, external regulation or the 
Council’s Financial Regulations 

m) It is also the responsibility of the responsible officer to ensure that the Council 
complies with the requirements of The UK Money Markets Code (formerly 
known as the Non Investment Products Code) for principals and broking firms in 
the wholesale markets. 

 Page 346



Treasury Management Practices  
25 

5.4.2. Financial Controller / Principal Accountant 
 The responsibilities of this post will be: - 

a) Execution of transactions 
b) Adherence to agreed policies and practices on a day-to-day basis 
c) Maintaining relationships with counterparties and external service providers 
d) Supervising treasury management staff 
e) Monitoring performance on a day-to-day basis 
f) Submitting management information reports to the responsible officer 
g) Identifying and recommending opportunities for improved practices 

 
5.4.3. The Head of the Paid Service – the Chief Executive 
 The responsibilities of this post will be: - 

a) Ensuring that the system is specified and implemented 
b) Ensuring that the Deputy Chief Executive reports regularly to the full Council and 

Cabinet on treasury policy, activity and performance. 
 
5.4.4. The Monitoring Officer – Executive Director – Legal & Democratic Services 
 The responsibilities of this post will be: - 

a) Ensuring compliance by the Deputy Chief Executive with the treasury 
management policy statement and treasury management practices and that they 
comply with the law. 

b) Being satisfied that any proposal to vary treasury policy or practice complies with 
law or any code of practice. 

c) Giving advice to the Deputy Chief Executive when advice is sought. 
 
5.4.5. Internal Audit 
 The responsibilities of Internal Audit will be: - 

a) Reviewing compliance with approved policy and treasury management practices. 
b) Reviewing division of duties and operational practice. 
c) Assessing value for money from treasury activities. 
d) Undertaking probity audit of treasury function. 

 
5.5 Absence Cover Arrangements 

The Head of Accounts is also the deputy S151 Officer. 
 
5.6 Dealing Limits 

The following posts are authorised to deal: -  

 Head of Accounts 

 Financial Controller 

 Principal Accountant 
 
The dealing limits are set out in TMP 1.1.1 

 
 

5.7 Direct Dealing Practices 

The Council will consider dealing direct with counterparties if it is appropriate and the 
Council believes that better terms will be available.  At present, most deals are arranged 
through brokers.  There are certain types of accounts and facilities, however, where direct 
dealing is required, as follows; 

 Business Reserve Accounts: 

 Call Accounts: 

 Money Market Funds. 
 
 
 Page 347



Treasury Management Practices  
26 

5.8 Settlement Transmission Procedures 

For payments a transfer will be made through the CHAP’s system to be completed by the 
appropriate bank deadlines in place that day. 

 
5.9 Documentation Requirements 

For each deal undertaken a record should be prepared giving details of dealer, amount, 
period, counterparty, interest rate, dealing date, payment date(s), broker.   

 
5.10 Arrangements Concerning the Management of Third-Party Funds. 

The Council holds a number of trust funds.  The cash in respect of these funds is held in 
the Council’s bank account but transactions are separately coded.  Interest is given on 
credit balances at the bank base rate for internal balances for the year.   

Page 348



Treasury Management Practices  
27 

TMP 6  Reporting Requirements and Management  

Information Arrangements 

 
6.1  Annual programme of reporting 
 

a) Annual reporting requirements before the start of the year: - 
a. review of the organisation’s approved clauses, treasury management policy 

statement and practices 
b. strategy report on proposed treasury management activities for the year 

comprising of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement, Annual Investment 
Strategy and Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement  

c. Capital Strategy to cover the following: 
I. Give a longer term view of the capital programme and treasury 

management implications thereof beyond the three year time horizon for 
detailed planning. 

II. An overview of treasury and non-treasury investments to highlight the risks 
and returns involved in each and the balance (proportionality), between 
both types of investments. 

III. The authorities risk appetite and specific policies and arrangements for 
non-treasury investments. 

IV. Schedule of non-treasury investments 
 

b) Mid-year review  
 

c) Annual review report after the end of the year 

 
6.2 Annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement 

1. The Treasury Management Strategy Statement sets out the specific expected treasury 
activities for the forthcoming financial year. This strategy will be submitted to the Cabinet 
and then to the full Council for approval before the commencement of each financial year.  

 

2. The formulation of the annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement involves 
determining the appropriate borrowing and investment decisions in the light of the 
anticipated movement in both fixed and shorter term variable interest rates.  For instance, 
the Council may decide to postpone borrowing if fixed interest rates are expected to fall, 
or borrow early if fixed interest rates are expected to rise.  

 

3. The Treasury Management Strategy Statement is concerned with the following elements: 

a) Prudential and Treasury Indicators  
b) current Treasury portfolio position 
c) borrowing requirement  
d) prospects for interest rates 
e) borrowing strategy 
f) policy on borrowing in advance of need 
g) debt rescheduling 
h) investment strategy 
i) creditworthiness policy 
j) policy on the use of external service providers 
k) any extraordinary treasury issue 
l) the MRP strategy 
 

Page 349



Treasury Management Practices  
28 

4. The Treasury Management Strategy Statement will establish the expected move in 
interest rates against alternatives (using all available information such as published 
interest rate forecasts where applicable), and highlight sensitivities to different scenarios. 

 

6.3 The Annual Investment Strategy Statement 

At the same time as the Council receives the Treasury Management Strategy Statement it will 
also receive a report on the Annual Investment Strategy which will set out the following: - 

a) The Council’s risk appetite in respect of security, liquidity and optimum performance 
b) The definition of ‘high credit quality’ to determine what are specified investments as 

distinct from non specified investments 
c) Which specified and non specified instruments the Council will use 
d) Whether they will be used by the in house team, external managers or both (if 

applicable) 
e) The Council’s policy on the use of credit ratings and other credit risk analysis 

techniques to determine creditworthy counterparties for its approved lending list 
f) Which credit rating agencies the Council will use 
g) How the Council will deal with changes in ratings, rating watches and rating outlooks 
h) Limits for individual counterparties and group limits 
i) Country limits  
j) Levels of cash balances 
k) Interest rate outlook 
l) Budget for investment earnings 
m) Policy on the use of external service providers 

 

 

6.4 The Annual Minimum Revenue Provision Statement  

This statement will set out how the Council will make revenue provision for repayment of its 
borrowing using the four options for so doing and will be submitted at the same time as the 
Annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement. 

 

 

6.5 Policy on Prudential and Treasury Indicators  

1. The Council approves before the beginning of each financial year a number of treasury 
limits which are set through Prudential and Treasury Indicators. 

2. The responsible officer is responsible for incorporating these limits into the Annual 
Treasury Management Strategy Statement, and for ensuring compliance with the limits. 
Should it prove necessary to amend these limits, the responsible officer shall submit the 
changes for approval to Cabinet and then full Council. 

 
 
6.6  Mid year review 

The Council will review its treasury management activities and strategy on a six monthly  
basis.  This review will consider the following: - 
 
a) activities undertaken 
b) variations (if any) from agreed policies/practices 
c) interim performance report 
d) regular monitoring 
e) monitoring of treasury management indicators for local authorities. 
 

 Page 350



Treasury Management Practices  
29 

6.7 Annual Review Report on Treasury Management Activity 

 An annual report will be presented to the Cabinet and then to the full Council  at the earliest 
practicable meeting after the end of the financial year, but in any case by the end of 
September.  This report will include the following: -  

 
a) transactions executed and their revenue (current) effects 
b) report on risk implications of decisions taken and transactions executed 
c) compliance report on agreed policies and practices, and on statutory/regulatory 

requirements 
d) performance report 
e) report on compliance with CIPFA Code recommendations 
f) monitoring of treasury management indicators  

 
 
6.8  Management Information Reports 

Management information reports will be prepared every month by the Principal Accountant 
and will be presented to the Financial Controller. 

 
These reports will contain the following information: - 
a) a summary of transactions executed and their revenue effect; and 
b) the effect on loan charges/investment income; and 
c) any non compliance with Prudential limits or other treasury management limits. 

 

 
6.9  Publication of Treasury Management Reports 

Reports presented to Council and Cabinet are available to view on the Council’s website 
www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk. 

 

  

Page 351



Treasury Management Practices  
30 

TMP 7  Budgeting, Accounting and Audit Arrangements 
 
7.1 Statutory/Regulatory Requirements 

The accounts are drawn up in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in Great Britain that is recognised by statute as representing proper accounting 
practices.   
The Council has also adopted in full the principles set out in CIPFA’s ‘Treasury Management 
in the Public Services - Code of  Practice’ (the ‘CIPFA Code’), together with those of its 
specific recommendations that are relevant to this Council’s treasury management activities. 
 

7.2 Sample Budgets / Accounts / Prudential and Treasury Indicators 

The Deputy Chief Executive will prepare a three year medium term financial plan with 
Prudential and Treasury Indicators for treasury management which will incorporate the 
budget for the forthcoming year and provisional estimates for the following two years. This 
will bring together all the costs involved in running the function, together with associated 
income.  The Deputy Chief Executive will exercise effective controls over this budget and 
monitoring of performance against Prudential and Treasury Indicators, and will report upon 
and recommend any changes required in accordance with TMP6.  

 
7.3 List of Information Requirements of External Auditors. 

 Reconciliation of loans outstanding in the financial ledger to Treasury Management 
records 

 Maturity analysis of loans outstanding 
 Certificates for new long term loans taken out in the year 
 Reconciliation of loan interest, discounts received and premiums paid to financial ledger 

by loan type 
 Calculation of loans fund interest and debt management expenses 
 Details of interest rates applied to internal investments 
 Calculation of interest on working balances 
 Interest accrual calculation  
 Analysis of any deferred charges 
 Calculation of loans fund creditors and debtors 
 Annual Treasury Report 
 Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Prudential and Treasury Indicators 
 Review of observance of  limits set by Prudential and Treasury Indicators 
 Calculation of the Minimum Revenue Provision 
 

7.4 Monthly Budget Monitoring Report 

Monthly Budget Monitoring reports are produced for the Deputy Chief Executive, whilst a six 
monthly budget monitoring report goes to Cabinet.  The report is intended to highlight any 
variances between budgets and spend in order that the Council can assess its financial 
position.  Details of treasury management activities are included within this report.  
  

Page 352



Treasury Management Practices  
31 

TMP 8 Cash and Cash Flow Management 
 
8.1 Arrangements for Preparing/Submitting Cash Flow Statements 

Cash flow projections are prepared annually, monthly and daily. The annual and monthly 
cash flow projections are prepared from the previous years’ cash flow records, adjusted for 
known changes in levels of income and expenditure and also changes in payments and 
receipts dates. These details are supplemented on an ongoing basis by information received 
of new or revised amounts to be paid or received as and when they are known. 
  

8.2 Bank Statements Procedures 

The Council receives daily bank statements and a monthly download of data from its bank.  
All amounts on the statement are checked to source data from Payroll, Creditors etc.   
A formal bank reconciliation is undertaken on a  monthly basis by the Finance Department. 

 
8.3 Payment Scheduling and Agreed Terms of Trade With Creditors 

Our policy is to pay creditors (including sub-contractors) as per the agreed terms of trading. 
 
8.4 Arrangements for Monitoring Debtors / Creditors Levels 

The Administration Services Manager is responsible for monitoring the levels of debtors and 
creditors.  

 
8.5 Procedures for Banking of Funds 

All money received by an officer on behalf of the Council will without unreasonable delay be 
passed to the collection office to deposit in the Council’s bank accounts.  Cash and cheques 
banked the previous day will be taken into account in the daily cash flow. 

 
8.6 Practices Concerning Prepayments to Obtain Benefits 

The Council has no formal arrangement in place.  Where such opportunities arise, the 
prepayment would be sought and authorised by the responsible officer. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 353



Treasury Management Practices  
32 

TMP 9 Money Laundering 
 

9.1  Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 
Money laundering has the objective of concealing the origin of money generated through 
criminal activity. Legislation has given a higher profile to the need to report suspicions of 
money laundering. The Proceeds of Crime Act (POCA) 2002 established the main offences 
relating to money laundering. In summary, these are: 
 

 concealing, disguising, converting, transferring or removing criminal property from 
England and Wales, from Scotland or from Northern Ireland 
 

 being concerned in an arrangement which a person knows or suspects facilitates the 
acquisition, retention, use or control of criminal property 
 

 acquiring, using or possessing criminal property. 
 
These apply to all persons in the UK in a personal and professional capacity. Any person 
involved in any known or suspected money-laundering activity in the UK risks a criminal 
conviction. Other offences under the POCA include: 

 failure to disclose money-laundering offences 

 tipping off a suspect, either directly or indirectly 

 doing something that might prejudice an investigation – for example, falsifying a 
document. 

 
 
 

9.2  The Terrorism Act 2000 
This act made it an offence of money laundering to become concerned in an arrangement 
relating to the retention or control of property likely to be used for the purposes of terrorism, 
or resulting from acts of terrorism. All individuals and businesses in the UK have an obligation 
to report knowledge, reasonable grounds for belief or suspicion about the proceeds from, or 
finance likely to be used for, terrorism or its laundering, where it relates to information that 
comes to them in the course of their business or employment  
 
 
 

9.3  The Money Laundering Regulations 2012, 2015 and 2017 
Organisations pursuing relevant business (especially those in the financial services industry 
regulated by the FCA) are required to do the following: 

 identify and asses the risks of money laundering and terrorist financing 

 have policies, controls and procedures to mitigate and manage effectively the risks of 
money laundering and terrorist financing identified through the risk assessments 

 appoint a nominated officer 

 implement internal reporting procedures 

 train relevant staff in the subject 

 obtain, verify and maintain evidence and records of the identity of new clients and 
transactions undertaken 

 report their suspicions 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Page 354



Treasury Management Practices  
33 

9.4  Local authorities 
Public service organisations and their staff are subject to the full provisions of the Terrorism 
Act 2000 and subsequent Terrorism Acts and may commit most of the principal offences 
under the POCA, but are not legally obliged to apply the provisions of the Money Laundering 
Regulations 202,2015 and 2017. However, as responsible public bodies, they should employ 
policies and procedures which reflect the essence of the UK’s anti-terrorist financing, and 
anti-money laundering, regimes.  Accordingly this Council will do the following: - 
 
a) evaluate the prospect of laundered monies being handled by them 
b) determine the appropriate safeguards to be put in place 
c) require every person engaged in treasury management to make themselves aware of 

their personal and legal responsibilities for money laundering awareness 
d) make all its staff aware of their responsibilities under POCA 
e) appoint a member of staff to whom they can report any suspicions.  This person is Head 

of Accounts. 
f) in order to ensure compliance is appropriately managed, this Council will require senior 

management to give appropriate oversight, analysis and assessment of the risks of 
clients and work/product types, systems for monitoring compliance with procedures and 
methods of communicating procedures and other information to personnel. 

g) The officer responsible for the creation and monitoring the implementation of a corporate 
anti money laundering policy and procedures is  Executive Director – Legal & Democratic 
Services and it shall be a requirement that all services and departments implement this 
corporate policy and procedures. 

 
 
9.5  Procedures for Establishing Identity / Authenticity Of Lenders 

It is not a requirement under POCA for local authorities to require identification from every 
person or organisation it deals with.  However, in respect of treasury management 
transactions, there is a need for due diligence and this will be effected by following the 
procedures below. 
 
The Council does not accept loans from individuals. 
 
All loans are obtained from the PWLB, other local authorities or from authorised institutions 
under the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000.  This register can be accessed through 

the FCA website on www.fca.gov.uk. 

 
When repaying loans, the procedures in 9.6 will be followed to check the bank details of the 
recipient. 
 

 
9.6  Methodologies for  Identifying Deposit Takers 

In the course of its Treasury activities, the Council will only lend money to or invest with 
those counterparties that are on its approved lending list.  These will be local authorities, the 
PWLB, Bank of England and authorised deposit takers under the Financial Services and 
Markets Act 2000. The FCA register can be accessed through their website on 

www.fca.gov.uk). 
 
All transactions will normally be carried out by CHAP’s for making deposits or repaying 
loans. 

 
 
 

Page 355

http://www.fca.gov.uk/
http://www.fca.gov.uk)/


Treasury Management Practices  
34 

TMP 10 Training and Qualifications 
 
The Council recognises that relevant individuals will need appropriate levels of training in 
treasury management due to its increasing complexity. There are two categories of relevant 
individuals: -  

a) Treasury management staff employed by the Council 
b) Members charged with governance of the treasury management function 

 
All treasury management staff should receive appropriate training relevant to the requirements of 
their duties at the appropriate time.  The Council operates a Personal Development Review 
system which identifies the training requirements of individual members of staff engaged on 
treasury related activities. 
 
Additionally, training may also be provided on the job and it will be the responsibility of the 
Deputy Chief Executive to ensure that all staff under his authority receives the level of training 
appropriate to their duties.  This will also apply to those staff who from time to time cover for 
absences from the treasury management team. 
 
10.1 Details of Approved Training Courses 

Treasury management staff and members attend courses provided by our treasury 
management consultants, CIPFA, money brokers etc. 
 

10.2 Records of Training Received by Treasury Staff 

The relevant line manager will update the relevant officers Personal Development Review 
with details of training received. This will be passed the Human Resources Department 
who will maintain records on all staff and the training they receive.   
 

10.3 Record of Secondment of Senior Management 

Records will be kept of senior management who are seconded into the treasury 
management section in order to gain first hand experience of treasury management 
operations. 

 
10.4 Statement of Professional Practice (SOPP) 

1. Where the Chief Financial Officer is a member of CIPFA, there is a professional need 
for the CFO to be seen to be committed to professional responsibilities through both 
personal compliance and by ensuring that relevant staff are appropriately trained.  

 
2. Other staff involved in treasury management activities who are members of CIPFA 

must also comply with the SOPP. 
 
10.6  Member training records 

Records will be kept of all training in treasury management provided to members.  
 
 
10.7  Members charged with governance 

Members charged with diligence also have a personal responsibility to ensure that they 
have the appropriate skills and training for their role. 

Page 356



Treasury Management Practices  
35 

MP 11 Use of External Service Providers 
 
11.1 Details of Contracts with Service Providers, Including Bankers, Brokers, 

Consultants, Advisers 

This Council will employ the services of other organisations to assist it in the field of 
treasury management.  In particular, it will use external consultants to provide specialist 
advice in this ever more complex area.  However, it will ensure that it fully understands 
what services are being provided and that they meet the needs of this organisation, 
especially in terms of being objective and free from conflicts of interest. 
 
It will also ensure that the skills of the in house treasury management team are maintained 
to a high enough level whereby they can provide appropriate challenge to external advice 
and can avoid undue reliance on such advice. 
 
Treasury management staff and their senior management will therefore be required to 
allocate appropriate levels of time to using the following sources of information so that 
they are able to develop suitable levels of understanding to carry out their duties, 
especially in challenge and avoiding undue reliance.  

 
 The quality financial press 

 Market data 

 Information on government support for banks and 

 The credit ratings of that government support 

 
11.1.1 Banking Services 

a) Name of supplier of service is the National Westminster Bank. 
b) Regulatory status – banking institution authorised to undertake banking 

activities by the FSA  
c) The branch address is: 

PO Box No.2 
St James Street 
Accrington 
Lancashire 
BB5 1NB 

 Tel :-   0845 366 0613 
d) Contract commenced 13/6/1975 and is reviewed annually. 
e) Cost of service is variable depending on schedule of tariffs and volumes 
f) Payments monthly and quarterly 

 
11.1.2  Money-Broking Services 

 The Council may use money brokers for temporary borrowing and investment and 
long term borrowing. It will seek to give an even spread of business amongst the 
approved brokers.  

 
Name of supplier of service: 

a) RP Martin Brokers (UK) Ltd 
Level 3 
1 Snowdon Street 
London 
EC2A 2DQ 
Tel: 020 7894 8698 
Regulatory Status: FCA registered counterparty 187916 
 

Page 357



Treasury Management Practices  
36 

b) Tullet Prebon Europe Ltd 
 155 Bishopsgate 
 2nd Floor 
 London 
 EC2M 3TQ 
 Tel: 020 7200 7042 
 Regulatory Status: FCA Authorised 146880 
 
When undertaking temporary borrowing. The brokers currently charge commission at 
0.1% of the amount borrowed for the duration of the loan.  There is no commission 
charge for undertaking investment transactions. 

 
 

11.1.3 Consultants’/Advisers’ Services 

Treasury Consultancy Services 
The Council will seek to take expert advice on interest rate forecasts, annual 
treasury management strategy, timing for borrowing and lending, debt rescheduling, 
use of various borrowing and investment instruments, how to select credit worthy 
counterparties to put on its approved lending list etc. 
The performance of consultants will be reviewed by the Deputy Chief Executive 
annually to check whether performance has met expectations.   
 
a) Name of supplier of service is Link Asset Services Limited. Their address is 6th 

Floor, 65 Gresham Street, London, EC2V 7NQ         Tel:  0207 954 9618 
b) Regulatory status: Investment Adviser authorised by the FCA 
c) Contract commenced  2003 and is re-negotiated annually. 
d) Cost of service is currently £8,500 per year. 
e) Payments due annually 

 
  Leasing Consultancy Services 

a) The name of the supplier is Chrystal Consulting Ltd. 
b) Their address is 500 Styal Road, Manchester, M22 5HQ.     
c) Tel:  0161 493 9770 
d) Fee is agreed at 0.5% of the capital cost of drawdown and at 25% of any savings 

negotiated on secondary lease rentals. 
   

 Other Consultancy services may be employed on short term contracts as and when 
required. 

 
11.1.4   Credit Rating Agency 

 The Council receives a credit rating service through its treasury management 
consultants, the costs of which is included in the consultant’s annual fee. 

 
11.2     Procedures & Frequency for Tendering Services 

 The procedure for awarding contracts will be as per the Councils contract procedure 
rules. 

Page 358



Treasury Management Practices  
37 

TMP 12 Corporate Governance 
 
12.1 List of Documents to be Made Available for Public Inspection 

 
a. The Council is committed to the principle of openness and transparency in its treasury 

management function and in all of its functions. 
 
b. It has adopted the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management and 

implemented key recommendations on developing Treasury Management Practices, 
formulating a Treasury Management Policy Statement and implementing the other 
principles of the Code. 

 
c. The following documents are available for public inspection: - 

 
Treasury Management Policy Statement 
Treasury Management Strategy Statement  
Annual Investment Strategy  
Minimum Revenue Provision policy statement 
Annual Statement of Accounts 
Annual revenue budget and capital programme 
Year Capital Plan 
Capital Strategy 
Medium Term Financial Plan 
          
Minutes of Council / Cabinet / committee meetings 
 

Page 359



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 4 

 
 
 
Hyndburn Borough Council 
 
Capital Strategy 2019/20 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 361



  2 

 

Contents 
 

1. Overview 

2. Scope 

3. Capital Expenditure 

4. Capital vs. Treasury Management Investments 

5. Service and Commercial Investments 

6. Council Objectives 

7. The Capital Budget Setting Process 

7.1 Identifying the need for Capital Expenditure/Investment 

7.2 Deciding which Schemes are to be put forward 

7.3 Member Approval Process 

8. Monitoring of the Capital Programme Expenditure 

9. Multi-Year Schemes 

10. Funding Strategy and Capital Policies 

10.1 External Funding 

10.2 Capital Receipts 

10.3 Revenue Funding 

10.4 Prudential/Unsupported Borrowing 

10.5 Leasing 

11. Procurement and Value for Money 

12. Partnerships and Relationships with other Organisations 

13. Management Framework 

14. Performance Management 

15. Risk Management 

15.1 Credit Risk 

15.2 Liquidity Risk 

15.3 Interest Rate Risk 

15.4 Inflation Risk 

15.5 Legal and Regulatory Risk 

15.6 Fraud, Error and Corruption 

16. Other Considerations 

Page 362



  3 

 

1 Overview 

 
The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Prudential Code 
requires local authorities to produce a capital strategy to demonstrate that capital 
expenditure and investment decisions are taken in line with service objectives and take 
account of stewardship, value for money, prudence, sustainability and affordability. 
 
The Capital Strategy is a key document for the Council and forms part of the authority’s 
integrated revenue, capital and balance sheet planning. It provides a high level 
overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and treasury management 
activity contribute to the provision of services. It also provides an overview of how 
associated risk is managed and the implications for future financial sustainability.  It 
includes an overview of the governance processes for approval and monitoring of 
capital expenditure. 
 

2 Scope 

 

This Capital Strategy includes all capital expenditure and capital investment decisions, 
not only as an individual local authority but also those entered into under group 
arrangements. It sets out the long term context in which decisions are made with 
reference to the life of the projects/assets. 
 
The Capital Strategy : 

 States the council’s processes for: 

o project initiation 

o deciding on the prioritisation of capital projects 

o monitoring and evaluating schemes 

 Takes account of significant revenue implications 

 Provides a framework for the management and monitoring of the capital 

programme 

 Identifies funding and provides a basis to inform bidding for additional capital 

resources (eg from the National Lottery, government initiatives) 

 Apprises the corporate review of existing properties 

 

The Capital Strategy considers all aspects of the Council’s capital expenditure and 
extends to areas where the Council is able to influence others through the use of its 
capital resources. It forms part of the Council’s integrated revenue, capital and balance 
sheet planning. 
 
 
 
 

Page 363



  4 

 

3 Capital Expenditure 

 
Capital expenditure is incurred on the acquisition or creation of assets, or expenditure 
that enhances or adds to the life or value of an existing fixed asset that is needed to 
provide services. Fixed assets are tangible or intangible assets that yield benefits to 
the Council generally for a period of more than one year, e.g. land, buildings, roads, 
vehicles. This is in contrast to revenue expenditure which is spending on the day to 
day running costs of services such as employee costs and supplies and services.  
 
The capital programme is the authority’s plan of capital works for future years, 
including details on the funding of the schemes. Included are the projects such as the 
purchase of land and buildings, the construction of new buildings, design fees and the 
acquisition of vehicles and major items of equipment. Also included could be service 
and commercial investments. 
 

4 Capital vs. Treasury Management Investments 

 

Treasury Management investment activity covers those investments which arise from 
the organisation’s cash flows and debt management activity, and ultimately represent 
balances which need to be invested until the cash is required for use in the course of 
business. 
 
For Treasury Management investments the security and liquidity of funds are placed 
ahead of the investment return. The management of associated risk is set out in the 
Treasury Management Policy and the Annual Investment Strategy.  
 
The CIPFA Treasury Management Code recognises that organisations may make 
investments for policy reasons outside of normal treasury management activity. These 
may include service and commercial investments. 
 

5 Service and Commercial Investments 

 
These are investments for policy reasons outside of normal treasury management 
activity. This may include: 
 

Service investments 

These are investments held clearly and explicitly in the course of the provision, and for 
the purposes, of operational services, including regeneration. 

 

Commercial investments 

These are investments taken for mainly financial reasons. These may include: 

Page 364



  5 

 

 investments arising as part of business structures, such as shares and loans in 
subsidiaries or other outsourcing structures such as IT providers or building 
services providers; 

 investments explicitly taken with the aim of making a financial surplus for the 
Council. 

Commercial investments also include fixed assets which are held primarily for financial 
benefit, such as investment properties.  

Due to the nature of the assets or for valid service reasons, such investments do not 
always give priority to security and liquidity over yield. In these cases, such a decision 
will be explicit, with the additional risks set out and the impact on financial sustainability 
identified and reported. 

The Deputy Chief Executive will ensure that the Council has the appropriate legal 
powers to undertake such investments. 

6 Council Objectives 

 
The Council has agreed a number of corporate aims, priorities and objectives which 
guide its work. These are set out in the Corporate Plan and Medium Term Financial 
Strategy (MTFS). Capital investment projects must be in line with these overall 
objectives as well as individual service aims and objectives. The following processes 
are designed to ensure this happens. 
 

7 The Capital Budget Setting Process 

7.1 Identifying the need for Capital Expenditure 

 
The need for a capital scheme is be identified by a Service Manager and a bid is 
submitted to the Autumn Capital Programme Working Group. 
 
Capital projects are subject to robust justification process, bringing together a clear 
business case with sufficient detailed costings to ensure transparent decisions can be 
taken.  
Proposals are reviewed in terms of validation arrangements and estimated figures.  
To ensure project delivery is achievable project management arrangements are 
undertaken with ownership and responsibility of projects siting in the initiating 
department. 
The capital bids are discussed and prioritised at Capital Programme Working Group. 
This report is then considered by Corporate Management Team. The 
recommendations are given to members for their discussion and input. The final report 
is then submitted to Cabinet and then Full Council. 
 
 
 

Page 365



  6 

 

7.2 Criteria used to decide which schemes are recommended. 
 

Capital projects will be assessed for: 

 Strategic fit – corporate objectives are being met by the expenditure 

 Identified need – eg vital repairs and maintenance of existing assets 

 Achievability – this may include alternatives to direct expenditure by the Council 

such  as partnerships with others, rent or buy options, alternative delivery 

vehicles 

 The scheme is deliverable by the Council within its resources, skills and legal 

constraints 

 Acceptable risk levels 

 Reduces future capital or revenue spend 

 Practicality and deliverability 

 Revenue generation  

 The scheme has a good gearing ratio 

 Maintains or enhances service provision 

 Provides value for money for the taxpayer 

 Provides long term benefits 

 Has a positive environmental and social impact. 

 
Additionally, consideration should be given to: 
 
Prudence: 

 Recognition of the capacity in the organisation to deliver such a programme; 

 The approach to treasury management and the management of risk as set out 
in the Treasury Management Strategy. 

 
Affordability: 

 Revenue impact of the proposals on the Medium Term Financial Plan; 

 The borrowing position of the Council, projections of external debt and the use 
of internal borrowing to support capital expenditure; 

 The authorised limit and operational boundary for the following year; 

 Whether schemes are profiled to the appropriate financial year. 

 
Sustainability: 

 Provision for the repayment of debt over the life of the underlying debt as set out 
in the Minimum Revenue Provision policy; 

 An overview of asset management planning including maintenance 
requirements and planned disposals. 

All bids are produced in line with the appropriate timetable with consideration for the 
financial information contained within the bid. 

Page 366



  7 

 

 
Portfolio Holders must be briefed and understand the service need and the budget 
consequences, both revenue and capital, of completing the scheme. 
 
Possible sources of funding can then be considered for each of the proposed capital 
schemes. Each project will be considered in terms of revenue funding to cover the 
operational running costs of the asset and any borrowing repayment costs, and also 
how the asset will be funded in terms of capital expenditure. 
 
The proportionality of the proposals as a whole will then be considered in respect of 
overall resources and longer term sustainability and risk. The Deputy Chief Executive 
will take an overall view on the prudence, affordability and sustainability of the overall 
borrowing level if all bids are accepted. 
 
Once the Deputy Chief Executive has taken a view of the prudence of the overall 
borrowing level, the Corporate Management Team will then consider the bids from a 
corporate priority perspective.  
 

7.3 Member Approval Process 

 

In autumn, the Deputy Chief Executive will present the agreed list of key capital 
projects to the Corporate Management Team. At this stage funding details are 
sometimes unavailable, as Government funding allocations are announced later in the 
year. The presentations inform Members of the key projects to be completed over the 
next year. 
 
Where appropriate schemes will be reported to Members based on the schemes being 
subject to external funding approval. 
 
These overall capital programme totals are then reported to Cabinet Members as part 
of the annual budget process, who then make recommendations on the overall capital 
programme. 
 
The Cabinet receives the Capital Programme in February each year and makes their 
recommendations to full Council. 
 
Members approve the overall borrowing levels at the budget meeting in February each 
year as part of the Treasury Management Report. The taking of loans then becomes 
an operational decision for the Deputy Chief Executive who will decide on the basis of 
the level of reserves and money market position whether financing should be met 
internally from the Capital Reserve/Capital Receipts or whether to enter into external 
borrowing.   
 
Once the Council has approved the capital programme, then expenditure can be 
committed against these approved schemes subject to the normal contract procedure 
rules and the terms and conditions of funding. Before expenditure commences an 
“Approval to Spend” form is completed by officers and authorised. This confirms the 

Page 367



  8 

 

profile of expenditure and confirmation that any external grant allocation has been 
obtained. 
 
Whether capital projects are funded from grant, contributions, capital allocations or 
borrowing, the revenue costs must be able to be met from existing revenue budgets or 
identified (and underwritten) savings or income streams. 

8 Monitoring of the Capital Programme Expenditure 

 

Once detailed capital programmes have been approved by members, the financial 
spend is monitored at Capital Programme Working Group on an alternate monthly 
basis. 
 
The Council will assign a Project Manager to each project to oversee planning, 
delivery, management and governance of capital projects. 

9 Multi-Year Schemes 

 

Payments for capital schemes often occur over several years, depending on the size 
and complexity of the project. Therefore, estimated payment patterns are calculated for 
each project so that the expected capital expenditure per year is known. This is called 
a cash flow projection or budget profiling. 
 
The approval of a rolling multi-year capital programme assists the Council in a number 
of ways. It assists service managers, allowing them to develop longer term capital 
plans for service delivery.  
 
It allows greater flexibility in planning workloads and more certainty for preparation 
work for future schemes. It will also allow greater integration of the revenue budget and 
capital programme. It also matches the time requirement for scheme planning and 
implementation since capital schemes have a considerable initial development phase. 
 

10 Funding Strategy and Capital Policies 
 

This section sets out the policies of the Council in relation to funding capital 
expenditure and investment. 
 
Proposals for capital projects must identify the funding requirements for the timescale 
of the project including any revenue implications. Funding must be appropriate for the 
project and will come from: 

 Reserves 

 Capital receipts – from the sale of assets or finance lease receipts 

 Government grants – such as disabled facilities grant funding 

 Third party grants and contributions 

 Revenue contributions 

 Other developer contributions 

Page 368



  9 

 

 External (prudential) borrowing 

Any restrictions on borrowing or funding of ongoing capital finance will be assessed. 
Project appraisal will consider additional or alternative funding sources, match funding 
opportunities, bidding timeframes and  the likely success of being awarded a grant. 
Other funding sources may include national lottery, government grant, heritage lottery 
fund etc. 

10.1 External Funding 
 

Services must seek to maximise external funding wherever possible to support capital 
schemes. This can be in the form of grants and contributions from outside bodies 
including central government.  However, services must underwrite any cost overruns 
on externally funded schemes. If services bid for external funding for schemes and say 
at tender or during construction or procurement, costs exceed the available funding, 
then services must fund any shortfall from their existing resources (either revenue or 
capital). 
 
In respect of match funding bids then the relevant service must fully identify the 
necessary match funding resources from within existing service budgets.  If this is not 
possible then the appropriate service must raise this for consideration with the 
members of the Corporate Management Team and the relevant Portfolio Holder prior 
to submitting any bid for funding. 
 

10.2 Capital Receipts 

 

A capital receipt is an amount of money exceeding £10,000 which is received from the 
sale of an asset. They cannot be spent on revenue items.  
 

The Deputy Chief Executive will review all of the Council’s property annually. The 
general policy is that any capital receipts are then pooled and used to finance future 
capital expenditure and investment according to priorities, although they may be used 
to repay outstanding debt on assets financed from loans, as permitted by the 
regulations. 
 
 

10.3 Revenue Funding 
 

Services may use their revenue budgets to fund capital expenditure. The revenue 
reserve may also be used to finance capital expenditure as an alternative to external 
borrowing.  
 
The Head of the Service and the Deputy Chief Executive will need to take an overview 
and decide the most appropriate way of funding their service areas. 
 
 

Page 369



  10 

 

10.4 Prudential/Unsupported Borrowing 
 

Local Authorities can set their own borrowing levels based on their capital need and 
their ability to pay for the borrowing. The levels will be set by using the indicators and 
factors set out in the Prudential Code and set out in the Treasury Management 
Statement. The borrowing costs are not supported by the Government so services 
need to ensure they can fund the repayment costs. This borrowing may also be 
referred to as Prudential Borrowing.  
Capital projects that cannot be funded from any other source can be funded from 
Prudential Borrowing. Services must be able to afford the borrowing repayment and 
interest charges on the loan from existing revenue budgets or the Council must see 
this as their key priority for the budget process and to be factored into the medium term 
financial strategy accordingly.   
 
The Deputy Chief Executive will make an assessment of the overall prudence, 
affordability and sustainability of the total borrowing requested. The impact of this 
borrowing will be reported in the Treasury Management Strategy alongside the 
Prudential Indicators required by CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance. 
 
The view of the Deputy Chief Executive will be fed into the corporate bidding process 
so that, should the borrowing levels be unaffordable or not prudent, then the schemes 
will be prioritised against the available funding from borrowing. 
  
The Deputy Chief Executive will also determine whether the borrowing should be from 
internal resources such as the Revenue/Capital Reserve or whether to enter into 
external borrowing. 
 

10.5 Leasing 
 

The Deputy Chief Executive may enter into finance leasing agreements to fund capital 
expenditure on behalf of services. However, a full option appraisal and comparison of 
other funding sources must be made and the Deputy Chief Executive must be 
confident that leasing provides the best value for money method of funding the 
scheme. 
 
Under the Prudential Code finance leasing agreements are counted against the overall 
borrowing levels when looking at the prudence of the authority’s borrowing. 
 

11 Procurement and Value for Money 
 

Procurement is the purchase of goods and services, with a strategy being developed to 
assist with the definition of quality standards and securing provision of the best 
possible services for local people for a given price.  
 
 

It is essential that all procurement activities comply with EU procurement directives and 
adhere to the relevant requirements stipulated in directives. Procurement must also 

Page 370



  11 

 

comply with the Councils policies and regulations such as Contract Procedural Rules 
and Financial Regulations. 
 
The main aim is to hold ‘value for money’ as a key goal in all procurement activity to 
optimise the combination of cost and quality. 
 

12 Partnerships and Relationships with other Organisations 
 

Wherever possible and subject to the usual risk assessments services should look to 
expand the number of capital schemes which are completed on a partnership basis 
and continually look for areas where joint projects can be implemented. 
 

13 Management Framework 
 

The governance structure of the Council has the Corporate Management Team that 
takes a corporate and group view on the capital programme and investment. 

14 Performance Management 
 

Clear measurable outcomes should be developed for each capital scheme. After the 
scheme has been completed, services should check if outcomes have been achieved. 
 
Post scheme evaluation reviews should look at the effectiveness of the whole project in 
terms of service delivery outcomes, design and construction, financing etc. and identify 
good practice and lessons to be learnt in delivering future projects. 

15 Risk Management 
 

Risk is the threat that an event or action will adversely affect the Council’s ability to 
achieve its objectives and to execute its strategies successfully. 
 
Risk management is the process of identifying risks, evaluating their potential 
consequences and determining the most effective methods of managing them and/or 
responding to them. It is both a means of minimising the costs and disruption to the 
organisation caused by undesired events and of ensuring that staff understand and 
appreciate the element of risk in all their activities. 
 
The aim is to reduce the frequency of adverse risk events occurring (where possible), 
minimise the severity of their consequences if they do occur, or to consider whether 
risk can be transferred to other parties. 
 
To manage risk effectively, the risks associated with each capital project need to be 
systematically identified, analysed, influenced and monitored. 
 
It is important to identify the appetite for risk by each scheme and for the capital 
programme as a whole, especially when investing in capital assets held primarily for 
financial returns. Under the CIPFA Prudential Code these are defined as investments 

Page 371



  12 

 

and so the key principle of control of risk and optimising returns consistent with the 
level of risk applies. 
 
The Deputy Chief Executive will report on the affordability and risk associated with the 
Capital Programme. 
 
An assessment of risk should therefore be built into every capital project. 
 

15.1 Credit Risk 

 
This is the risk that the organisation with which we have invested capital monies 
becomes insolvent and cannot pay us our investment returns or complete the agreed 
contract.  
 

15.2 Liquidity Risk 

 
This is the risk that the timing of any cash inflows from a project will be delayed, for 
example if other organisations do not make their contributions when agreed. This is 
also the risk that the cash inflows will be less than expected, for example due to the 
effects of inflation, interest rates or exchange rates. Our exposure to this risk will be 
monitored via the revenue and capital budget monitoring processes.  
 

15.3 Interest Rate Risk 

 
This is the risk that interest rates will move in a way that has an adverse effect on the 
value of capital expenditure or the expected financial returns from a project. Interest 
rates will be reviewed as part of the on-going monitoring arrangements to identify such 
adverse effects. As far as possible our exposure to this risk will be mitigated via robust 
contract terms and when necessary contract re-negotiations. 
 

15.4 Inflation Risk 

 
This is the risk that rates of inflation will move in a way that has an adverse effect on 
the value of capital expenditure or the expected financial returns from a project. Rates 
of inflation will be reviewed as part of the on-going monitoring arrangements to identify 
such adverse effects. As far as possible our exposure to this risk will be mitigated via 
robust contract terms and when necessary contract re-negotiations. 
 
 
 
 

Page 372



  13 

 

15.5 Legal and Regulatory Risk 

 
This is the risk that changes in laws or regulation make a capital project more 
expensive or time consuming to complete, make it no longer cost effective or make it 
illegal or not advisable to complete. Before entering into capital expenditure or making 
capital investments, the Council will understand the powers under which the 
investment is made.  
 

15.6 Fraud, Error and Corruption 

 
This is the risk that financial losses will occur due to errors or fraudulent or corrupt 
activities. Officers involved in any of the processes around capital expenditure or 
funding are required to follow the Council’s policies and procedures. This is supported 
by the Employee Code of Conduct and detailed policies such as Anti-Fraud and 
Corruption, Anti Money Laundering, Whistle Blowing and Declaration of Interests. 
 

16 Other Considerations 
 

Capital Schemes must comply with legislation, such as the Disability Discrimination 
Act, and also Council policies, Contract Procedure Rules and Financial Regulations. 
Reference should also be made to other strategies and plans of the Council. 
 
Important Linking Documents for reference are: 
 

 Corporate Plan; 

 Corporate Asset Management Strategy; 

 Individual Service Plans; 

 Procurement Strategy; 

 Financial Regulations; 

 Contract Procedure Rules; 

 Treasury Management Strategy; 

 Minimum Revenue Provision Policy. 

 Medium Term Financial Strategy 
 

Page 373



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Page 1 of 46 

Report to   Council 
Report by   Councillor Joyce Plummer 

Portfolio Holder Resources 
Date  21st February 2019 

 
Report Prepared 
by  

 Joe McIntyre 
Deputy Chief Executive 

 
 
 

GENERAL FUND REVENUE BUDGET  

2019/20 
 
 
 
 

Purpose of the Report 

1. This report sets out proposals for the 2019/20 General Fund Revenue 

Budget. It also provides an overview of key issues arising from the 

Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

 

2. The decision to set the Budget will be a key decision of the Council.  

The role of the Cabinet is to recommend a proposed Budget to the 

Council. 

Page 375

Agenda Item 9.



 
 

Page 2 of 46 

Recommendations 

3. I recommend: 

a) That Cabinet proposes to increase Council Tax for 2019/20 

by £5.00 per year for a Band D property.  This is equivalent 

to less than 10 pence per week and as most households in 

Hyndburn are Band A rather than Band D properties, the 

vast majority of households will only see a rise of 7p per 

week.  This is only the third increase in Council Tax by 

Hyndburn Council in 10 years.  

 

b) The Budget for 2019/20 will therefore be £10,995,000 as 

detailed in Appendices 1 and 2. 

 

c) That Cabinet recommend approval of the list of savings and 

budget changes for 2019/20 as set out in Appendix 3. 

 

d) That Cabinet note the significant improvement made in 

relation to budget monitoring and cost reduction within the 

Authority over the past 15 years and confirms its 

commitment to continuing this approach in the year ahead.  

Page 376



 
 

Page 3 of 46 

 

e) That Cabinet recommends during the financial year 

2019/20, the Deputy Chief Executive be delegated 

responsibility to amend the Budget (following consultation 

with the Leader of the Council) for technical reasons, such 

as the restructuring of cost centres, the re-apportionment 

and re-allocation of overheads etc., provided such 

amendments have an overall neutral impact on the Budget. 

 

f) That Cabinet recommends during the financial year 

2019/20, the Deputy Chief Executive be delegated 

responsibility to amend the Budget (following consultation 

with the Leader of the Council) should the estimate of 

Business Rates not be sufficiently accurate, by drawing on 

reserves if needed or paying over additional contributions 

to reserves. 

g) That to aid future financial management planning any 

surpluses generated during 2019/20 are set aside to help the 

Council reduce its cost base over the next three years, 

support its long term capital programme or strengthen its 

overall reserve position. 

 

Page 377



 
 

Page 4 of 46 

h) That Cabinet recommends that the New Homes Bonus and 

any additional unring-fenced funding from the Government 

as well as any further surplus on the Collection Fund can be 

used if required to support Capital expenditure as 

determined by the Deputy Chief Executive in the overall 

financing of capital expenditure or be transferred to 

Reserves. 

 

Summary 

4. This Report sets out the Council’s Revenue Budget for 2019/20.  This 

will require a net expenditure of £10,995,000.   

 

5. Under these proposals, Council Tax for Hyndburn residents will rise 

for Hyndburn Council provided services by £5.00 (2.07%) for a Band 

D property.  The amounts due for each band are shown at Appendix 4.  

The increase is equivalent to 10p per week for a Band D property, but 

for most residents the increase will be less than 7p per week as the 

majority of households in Hyndburn are Band A properties that pay 

two-thirds the value of a Band D property in Council Tax. 

 

Page 378



 
 

Page 5 of 46 

6. This is the only the third rise in council tax for Hyndburn services 

since 2009/10 and the average annual increase over this period has 

been less than 0.6%.  If the Council had increased Council Tax simply 

by inflation over the last 11 years rather than the actual increases 

made, Council Tax for Hyndburn’s services would have been almost 

25% more expensive at £56.50 higher for each average Band D 

property within Hyndburn.   

 

7. The increase in Council Tax by Hyndburn Council is a direct result of 

Lancashire County Council (LCC) ending its financial support for 

recycling across Lancashire.  This decision by LCC removed 

£821,000 of income Hyndburn used to support this service and while 

the Council was able to offset the loss of a great deal of this income 

by service efficiency steps and other measures, it was forced to raise 

an additional £5.00 per household for 3 years to cover the shortfall 

that remained. 

 

8. Lancashire County Council, the Police & Crime Commissioner and 

the Combined Fire & Rescue Authority have not yet formally taken 

their decisions on Council Tax Levels for 2019/20.  It is expected that 

the County Council will raise its Council Tax for each household by 

3.99%, while the Police Commissioner will raise it by £24.00 per 

Page 379



 
 

Page 6 of 46 

Band D property (13.5%) and the Fire & Rescue Authority will 

increase their charge by 2.99% and these values are shown in the 

Appendices. 

 

9. Altham Parish Council has set a separate precept for its activities for 

the eleventh time in 2019/20.  This year the Parish Council does not 

intend to increase its precept.  The Band D charge for Altham Parish 

Council will therefore remain at £40.27 for the year and a precept on 

the Collection Fund of £12,725.  Details of the impact of the potential 

increase on other Bandings for properties in Altham are shown in 

Appendix 6. 

 

10. In setting the Budget for 2019/20 the Council faces continued 

volatility around some of the most significant items within its Budget.  

Major reforms of local government finance have transferred the risk 

of business rate revenues and Council Tax benefits to the Council for 

the first time.  The certainty on which the Council could budget and 

manage its finances has therefore decreased since 2013 and it will be 

important going forward to plot any deviations away from the 

expected figures and take appropriate action if these should start to 

emerge.  This might result in the need to reduce spending during the 

Page 380



 
 

Page 7 of 46 

year, if revenue analysis during the year starts to indicate the amounts 

of funds received will fall short of the target. 

 

11. The Cabinet intends to continue the good financial stewardship of the 

Council’s affairs by continuing the successful policies introduced over 

the last 15 years to manage costs effectively and promote appropriate 

service investment.  Once again, we have given emphasis to shifting 

resources from central and support services into front line services. 

This has been done at the express request of the Cabinet and is in 

accordance with the national agenda to improve the value of local 

government services.  It is also worth noting that proposals for savings 

and new investment have all been vetted by the Corporate 

Management Team and Cabinet against the priorities in the Corporate 

Strategy.  The outcome of this process is that there is a continuing 

shift of resources in this budget toward front line, priority areas.  This 

Budget will therefore deliver, 

 

 A major reduction in back office costs, with Policy & 

Corporate Governance contributing 73% of the 

savings the Council has to achieve to balance its 

Page 381



 
 

Page 8 of 46 

budget next year, despite being less than 29% of the 

overall size of the Council. 

 

 A continuation of our established approach of 

limiting enhancements on early retirement, 

continuing our rigorous approach to absence 

management and committing to minimising 

borrowing costs.  These actions have already 

stemmed the build-up of unproductive costs within 

the organisation.  In each of these cases we have put 

a stop to the costly and financially damaging policies 

of the past and created a healthier and more 

financially stable culture within the Council. 

 

 While the Council is not incurring any further 

borrowing costs it is able to invest almost £2.1m in 

total for the year with £900,000 going to support 

those with medical and physical difficulties to live 

independent lives in their own homes, it will 

continue its work to improve Accrington Town 

Page 382



 
 

Page 9 of 46 

Centre building upon the £2m already spent in this 

area, provide money to improve facilities in two key 

parks and invest in our Sport Halls and Council 

buildings to ensure services can continue to be 

provided from these locations for many years to 

come. 

 

 Despite costs of over £85,000 to provide car parking 

in Hyndburn for residents and visitors and 

particularly for shoppers, we will continue to provide 

this facility free of charge and not introduce charges 

for parking in Hyndburn.  We believe this action will 

help bolster our town centres through these difficult 

economic times and provide an incentive for people 

to shop locally rather than drive and pay to shop 

elsewhere across the North-West 

 

 Further reductions in our accommodation costs, 

building on the success over the last 10 years 

including further rationalising our accommodation 

and looking at more ways of using our 

Page 383



 
 

Page 10 of 46 

accommodation more effectively.  We will also 

continue our actions to reduce our carbon emission 

and our energy costs and continue contributing to 

the improvements of our environmental footprint by 

positive action.  

 

12. We intend to continue to deliver all of the above and remain 

committed to a radical agenda of improvement while managing within 

our available resources.  This will be more difficult in the years to 

come, given our reduced resources from the Government.  However, 

there remains a firm commitment and absolute determination amongst 

Members and Officers of the Council to control the finances of the 

Council, drive forward on the efficiency agenda and continue to 

improve service delivery.  We wish to continue to push forward on the 

drive for delivering value for money as a key priority for the Council. 

 

13. The rewards of strong financial control remain clearly evident.  The 

Council has built itself back from experiencing major difficulties in 

controlling expenditure and a position of negative reserves in 2003/04 

to a situation by March 2018, in which Balances are over £2.5m and 

the Revenue Budget for 2018/19 is predicting a saving of over 

Page 384



 
 

Page 11 of 46 

£176,000 which will contribute to improving the strength of our 

underlying financial position. 

 

14. Within the Budget for 2019/20 there are a number of areas which are 

subject to our best estimation.  There are therefore a number of risks 

around the budget, should these estimated costs or revenue amounts 

vary during the year.   

 

15. After the introduction of the Government reforms to Business Rates 

Funding of Local Government, the Council now carries a significant 

risk around the level of monies available, fluctuating substantially 

from this source.  In addition as the calculation of how much funds 

will be available is dependent on a number of factors including debt 

collection rates, the size of appeals against business rates assessment 

and the success of these appeals, new rules around levies, safety nets 

and pooling, the introduction of new rules on rates relief on retail 

premises and small businesses, as well as predicted levels of growth 

or decline in business activities and the estimation of a number of 

figures which will only truly emerge after the end of the financial 

year, the imprecision in these estimates is regarded as high and could 

be subject to variations of hundreds of thousands of pounds.  The 

Page 385



 
 

Page 12 of 46 

volatility around these forecasts is expected to remain for a number of 

years until the new system becomes bedded down and more robust 

data emerges on which to make more reliable forecasts. 

 

16. The threat of pay inflation during 2019/20 is viewed as low.  The 

Local Government Employers Organisations and the Trade Unions 

have successfully negotiated a pay deal for 2019/20 and this largely 

removes the potential for increased costs from this area occurring 

outside those allowed for in setting the Budget. 

 

17. With inflation likely to be low over the period and our strong past 

record on tracking in-year spend, plus the level of our Reserves, the 

Council should have confidence going into the year ahead that it will 

be able to deliver its Budget. 

 

Background 

Introduction 

18. Over the last 12 months, the Council has continued to work hard to 

stabilise and improve its underlying financial position.  The Financial 

Year 2017/18 ended with the Council achieving a surplus on its 

Page 386



 
 

Page 13 of 46 

Revenue Account.  The improvement has meant it has not been 

necessary to strengthen reserves from the Council’s Revenue budget 

in any of the last 12 years, which has freed up resources to go directly 

into service provision and we are again proposing that there is no need 

to direct resources away from front line services for this purpose 

during 2019/20.   

 

19. Since taking office in May 2011, cost control has continued to be high 

on the Controlling Group’s agenda and they have responded with 

positive steps to a number of external pressures on costs and loss of 

income over the years.  These extra pressures have not only been 

contained within overall budget, but additional savings generated each 

year and there is an expectation that a budget surplus will be 

generated in 2018/19 of approximately £176,000.  This money has 

been earmarked to assist the Council to reduce its cost base over the 

next few years.   

 

20. Although it is worth noting the major improvements in financial 

management and cost control over the last 12 years, the Council needs 

to press this home in the year ahead in order to continue to drive value 

for money across its operations.  Members of all parties have made it 

Page 387



 
 

Page 14 of 46 

clear that this is an absolute priority for the Authority and have 

supported a rigorous approach to this issue.   

 

21. The Council must also deal clearly and effectively with the challenges 

ahead. The Medium Term Financial Strategy continues to indicate 

major savings pressures over the next three years, most of which stem 

from the loss of Government funding for our core activities. 

 

22. For Hyndburn this will require a focus on and commitment to tough 

decisions for a number of years ahead.  Indications from right across 

local government, but particularly at Shire District level, suggest there 

is huge pressure on services due to the limited amount of funding 

available.  The Local Government Finance Settlement has reduced our 

available resources by almost £5.6m since 2010/11 and our forecast is 

that we will need to save over £1.9m more in the period 2019/20 to 

2021/22.   

 

Medium Term Financial Strategy 
 

23. The Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) has been updated by 

the Deputy Chief Executive ahead of the preparation of the Council’s 

Page 388



 
 

Page 15 of 46 

Budget and submitted to the Cabinet meeting of the 6
th
 February 2019 

and will be placed before the Council on the 21
st
 
 
February 2019. 

 

24. The MTFS indicates that the Council faces a major challenge to 

balance its Budget beyond the current year and that in taking decisions 

in regard to 2019/20, it needs to recognise the savings agenda it will 

potentially face in 2020/21 and 2021/22.  The main pressures stem 

from the Government’s ending of direct funding to the Council in the 

form of Revenue Support Grant and the likely significant reduction in 

the amount the Council can retain in locally raised business rates 

under the Fair Funding Review.   The other major pressures the 

Council faces are 

 The reduction of grant to support the payment of housing 

benefits. 

 Inflationary pressures on wages and the purchase of goods 

and services. 

In addition, the Council could face further financial pressure over the 

period of the MTFS if inflation on salaries and goods and services 

increases beyond the current forecast and it would face a potential 

major additional cost in 2021/22 if it uses up all its available capital 

Page 389



 
 

Page 16 of 46 

resources and has to finance any future Capital spend from its 

Revenue Budget. 

Continuation Budget 

25. Work has been undertaken with Service Managers and Finance Staff 

to establish a roll-forward budget based on our corporate priorities, 

current expenditure patterns in 2018/19 and known financial pressures 

for 2019/20.  Our Corporate Priorities are detailed within our 

Corporate Strategy with the overall objective of improving the local 

economy and the mix of housing within Hyndburn.  This objective 

remains challenging in a period of reduced funding, uncertain global 

economic indicators, Brexit negotiations and a Minority Government 

at Westminster. 

 

26. Our current budgets are aligned to these objectives.  Service Plans are 

updated on an on-going basis as required by Managers throughout the 

year and Service Managers are invited to update their medium term 

running costs and changes of strategic or tactical direction ahead of 

the compilation of the Medium Term Financial Strategy.  Equally the 

existing MTFS guides managers on the likely resources available over 

the future period and gives an indication of the potential boundaries 

Page 390



 
 

Page 17 of 46 

and challenges they may face and need to address within their Service 

Plans.  Cost pressures are initially dealt with internally within service 

areas, as are developments in new services provision with managers 

exercising their abilities to re-organise between priorities and choose 

between competing demands based on the guidance set out in the 

Corporate Strategy and discussions with Cabinet Members.  Plans for 

improvements or service development not internally funded are 

detailed below. 

 

27. Pay costs are assumed to increase in line with the guidance issued by 

Government in respect of public sector pay or the actual outcome of 

negotiations between the employers’ side and the trade unions.  This 

limits the overall increase in wage costs to around 2% to 3% after 

uprating salary costs for 2019/20 and allowing for increments and the 

knock-on impacts on national insurance contributions and employer 

pension contributions.   

 

28. Inflation for non-pay items continues and is currently at the Bank of 

England target of 2% having fall back from a peak of 3% during 2017.  

There is speculation that inflation could rise if the UK exits the 

European Union without securing a trade deal and this may occur if 

key goods cannot be imported into the country, at least for a 

Page 391



 
 

Page 18 of 46 

temporary period.  However, in general there appears to be continuing 

over capacity on the supply side of the world economy, weakening 

any opportunity for suppliers to effectively pass on price increases 

they incur and this seems to apply a brake on inflationary pressures in 

the UK and across the world.  We have therefore assumed for 

budgeting purposes that cost centres will be able to absorb whatever 

inflationary pressure they face within their Budgets. 

 

29. These calculations indicate a Continuation Budget of just over 

£10.99m and this figure has been used in Appendix 1 to show the 

level of potential spend the Council faces compared to the resources 

available and establish the savings target for the Council going into 

2019/20. 

Growth Pressures 

30. There are no growth items proposed for the 2019/20 Budget. Other 

service pressures are being dealt with by Service Managers within 

their own budgets when they deem that new ideas and initiatives 

require support.  In these circumstances they will generate additional 

savings above their target savings to finance these changes. 

Page 392



 
 

Page 19 of 46 

Available Resources 

Core Government Revenue Support Grant (RSG) 

 
31. Revenue Support Grant for 2019/20 has been set at £1,534,000. On a 

like for like basis Revenue Support Grant is £500,000 down compared 

to the previous year.  This is 25% less compared to the amounts we 

received in the previous year.  
1
  

Business Rates  

 

32.  Business Rates which until 2013/14 came in the form of a grant from 

Central Government is now collected and partially retained locally 

and is therefore a new separate revenue source for the Council.  The 

Council currently shares the business rates collected locally with the 

Government who take 50% of the sums raised, Lancashire County 

Council who receive 9% and the Fire and Rescue Authority who 

receive 1%.  In addition, the Government operates a system of Tariffs 

and Top-ups which sees the amount retained by Hyndburn Council 

reduce by a further £3.8m to £4.1m and the amounts can be further 

adjusted if the Council enters a Pooling arrangement with other 

                                                           
1
 This year Hyndburn has entered into a Business Rates Pooling arrangement with a number of other 

Lancashire Councils.  Under these arrangements, the Government actually cancels the payment of RSG but 

adjusts the amount of business rates to be retained by an equal amount.  To ensure consistency with 

previous years and future funding, the amount of RSG we would normally have received is shown here and 

the amount of business rates we are actually receiving is adjusted downwards by an equal amount. 

Page 393



 
 

Page 20 of 46 

Councils.   The Council also now has the risk around non-collection 

and the impact of late payments.   

 

33. Additionally, in 2018/19 there was a major revaluation of property 

business rates nationally. At a local level this has altered downwards 

the overall amount of Business Rates to be collected in Hyndburn and 

the figure will be further reduced by the higher rate for exemption 

from Business Rates for small businesses.    These changes add an 

additional degree of complexity to forecasting correctly the level of 

Business Rates the Council will receive to manage its Budget in 

2019/20 and therefore there is a recommendation to allow the Deputy 

Chief Executive to draw upon reserves if this figure included in the 

Budget is too high compared to the actual level of revenue received 

and for the Deputy Chief Executive to contribute any additional sums 

received over and above the Budgeted figure to reserves and assign 

any surplus on the Collection Fund to reserves or to support the 

Capital Programme going forward with these one-off sums.  For 

2019/20 the estimated revenue from Business Rates is expected to be 

£4.1m. 

 

  

Page 394



 
 

Page 21 of 46 

Council Tax 

 

34. It is expected that the Council Tax will raise the equivalent of £5.1m 

of revenue for the Council in 2019/20.  After seven years of no 

council tax increase in Hyndburn, dating back to 2009/10, this year 

will be the third year of a council tax increase of £5.00 for a Band D 

property.  This is the equivalent of less than 10 pence per week for a 

Band D property and as 2/3
rds

 of the properties in Hyndburn are Band 

A properties, most households will only pay around 7 pence per week 

more, an annual increase of £3.34. (2.07%), a lower percentage 

increase than last year’s 2.12% increase and in line with the current 

rate of inflation.  (December 2018 CPI 2.0%) 

35. The increase in Hyndburn’s Council Tax is below the amount 

assumed by the Government of 2.99% and by which it adjusts its 

future support of local government finances, indicating the Council is 

continuing to outperform other Councils and the Government’s 

predictions on providing value for money to its local residents. 

 

36. The increase in council tax of £5.00 is needed to help the Council 

replace funding cut by Lancashire County Council for the collection 

of recyclables.  The council tax increase raised £100,000 of additional 

revenue in the first year (2017/18) and this will increase to £305,000 

Page 395



 
 

Page 22 of 46 

of additional revenue in 2019/20.  This will partly contribute to the 

loss of £821,000 annually from Lancashire County Council’s 

decisions in this area.   

 

New Homes Bonus  

 

37. The Council will also receive some additional resources from the New 

Homes Bonus.  This is additional funding from the Government to 

encourage local Councils to support the building of new homes.  The 

amount each Council receives is determined by the increase in homes 

as shown on the annual returns to the MHCLG.  For Hyndburn the 

expectation is that the number of new homes built will remain small 

and we will only receive £220,000 for 2019/20.  This is down 

£101,000 compared to the previous year.  As the value of the grant 

will be small, liable to fluctuate from year to year and will be difficult 

to determine each year in advance, the recommendation is that these 

monies are used to supplement the Capital resources of the Council.  

The figure is expected to continue to fall in subsequent years and 

could be abolished.  This will lessen the extent to which we can fund 

Capital Projects from this source of money into the future. 

 

Page 396



 
 

Page 23 of 46 

Resource Summary 

 

38. The Council’s estimated Resources for 2019/20 are £10,995,000 and 

this compares to an expected roll forward cost of operating the 

organisation of £11,641,000.  This indicates a saving gap for the year 

of £646,000.  Individual savings from Service Departments and 

Corporately of £646,000 have been identified, equal to the savings 

target and these are shown at Appendix 3.   

Budget Proposals 2019/20 

General Financial Pressures 

 

39. The Cabinet recognises that it needs to maintain services and continue 

to deliver on its key priorities.  It also has a clear duty to set a 

balanced financial budget for 2019/20 and continue its financial 

strategy to ensure its financial stability over the medium term. 

 

40. The Corporate Management Team has been working with Service 

Managers to develop proposals to meet these broad aims.  The major 

elements of these plans to reduce the overall costs are set out below 

and further details on the savings and income generation are provided 

Page 397



 
 

Page 24 of 46 

in Appendix 3.  Given that over the last 14 years we have looked to 

save around £1m a year on average, some of the proposals put forward 

present the Council with hard choices.  However, in order to continue 

with the good work done over the last 14 years and to keep the 

District precept to a minimum, these decisions need to be made.  If 

any of the proposals are not accepted a comparable and compensating 

proposal will need to be found. 

 

41. The proposals for 2019/20 assume that savings activated to deliver 

previous budgets continue to be used and that where one-off savings 

were identified, Budget Holders bring forward equivalent amounts in 

2019/20 to buttress their budgets ahead of any further proposed 

savings for 2019/20 onwards.  Last year we set a one year corporate 

savings target of £107,000 which we are on target to deliver in 

2017/18.  However, as it was a one-off savings plan this figure has 

been incorporated into the savings target for 2019/20 to produce a 

permanent solution to this saving gap.   

 

42. The Council also needs to generate a further £100,000 of additional 

income or make further savings of £100,000 to fill the gap left by 

Lancashire County Council withdrawing its financial support for 

Page 398



 
 

Page 25 of 46 

recycling.  Up to 2018/19 Hyndburn was receiving over £820,000 in 

income to support the recycling of household waste.  This was lost 

when LCC withdrew its support for the scheme.  The Council has 

taken various steps to offset the lost income and altered the way it 

operates, introduced new efficiency measures and developed new 

methods of working, but needs to raise an extra £5.00 per household 

in council tax to fund the remaining cost of this service.  The council 

tax increase this year provides £100,000 of additional revenue to 

partly cover the £820,000 lost, with previous actions having covered 

the remaining £720,000 of lost funds. 

Budget Saving Proposals 

 

43. The general financial pressures and the specific ones stemming from 

Lancashire County Council’s decision on no longer supporting 

District Councils with recycling require us to focus sharply on our 

priorities so that we can be clear both about the areas for targeted cost 

reduction and also the areas for new or additional investment. On this 

basis, the budget has been designed to allow the Council to pursue a 

range of saving initiatives – a selection of which are set out below: 

 

 Environmental Services will save £102,000 compared to 

its roll forward budget position from a combination of 

Page 399



 
 

Page 26 of 46 

more effective working, generating additional income 

through fees and charges, reducing some staff costs and 

making savings on supplies and services via 

renegotiation of contracts and better procurement 

management. 

 The Planning Service will reduce its cost by £15,000 

through an exercise to re-organise the way the 

department operates, generating additional income and 

other cost saving measures 

 Policy and Corporate Governance will provide over 

£471,000 worth of savings through a mixture of staff 

efficiencies, limiting spend on non-essential items, and 

reducing overhead costs.  The overall budget will also 

be improved by income generation and efficiency 

measures. 

 Regeneration Services have provided a variety of 

savings measures and increased income projections for 

the year totalling almost £57,000.   

 

44. The pattern of savings to achieve the overall average saving of 5% 

shows that protecting fundamental services and reducing our back 

Page 400



 
 

Page 27 of 46 

office costs remains our highest priority with corporate costs 

providing almost 75% of the savings, while only forming 29% of the 

total spend.  

 

45. Full details of the savings are set out in Appendix 3.   

Reserves 

46. The Council has recognised the need to refresh and maintain its 

financial reserves after they became dangerously low as a result of the 

financial difficulties, we experienced over a decade ago.   

 

47. However, after the significant improvement achieved over the last few 

years it has not been necessary to make an additional provision since 

2006/07 from the Revenue Budget and it is possible for 2019/20 to 

continue with this policy.  Reserves are currently over £2.5m and an 

underspend is predicted for 2018/19.  The strong position on Reserves 

therefore allows the Council to commit its entire available budget to 

service provision, further improving the delivery to the public of 

Hyndburn. 

 

Page 401



 
 

Page 28 of 46 

48. Reserves while having been restored after the difficulties of a few 

years ago need to be maintained and increased when possible.  The 

MTFS outlines the large number of potential claims on our 

expenditure from items that are not contained within the Budget and a 

minimum provision to face these threats of £2.0m to £3.0m is 

considered appropriate.  Some of the potential calls upon the Reserves 

are listed below from the MTFS.   

 
 Any further reduction in core Government Grants 

stemming from how the Government determines to 

manage public sector finances over the next few 

years. 

 The threat of substantial increased costs from the 

Government’s proposals to cap the amount it 

reimburses the Council in relation to Council Tax 

support. 

 The increased threat of industrial action during a 

period of public sector pay restraint and job losses. 

 The Government’s stated intention to end paying 

Housing Benefit and the potential for large residual 

Page 402



 
 

Page 29 of 46 

costs that may fall upon Councils in terminating this 

service.
2
 

 The increased threat of settling employment disputes 

as a result of employment tribunal decisions and 

changes in employment law 

 Emergency spend pressures in-year, due to one-off 

items of capital or revenue spend 

 Risks around the conclusion of the Housing Market 

Renewal Programme 

 The continuing trading difficulties experienced by 

Hyndburn Leisure and financial pressures on other 

partner organisations 

 Supplier failure during an elongated period of 

financial constraint  

 Environmental warranties on our land and guarantees 

provided to Hyndburn Homes over land transferred 

to them  

 Legal challenges over the operation of our fees and 

charges  

                                                           
2
 The Government has announced a longer roll-out period for the introduction of Universal Credit and has 

said it will meet redundancy costs associated with the ending of Housing Benefit, however there are a 

number of caveats around this proposal and the Council may still face exit costs from terminating the 

service. 

Page 403



 
 

Page 30 of 46 

 The threat that Central Government will pass fines 

from Europe directly to Councils if the UK fails to 

meet its targets on climate change and environmental 

improvements. 

 Continuing reductions in our income from fees and 

charges as the economy remains sluggish  

 Potential large fines under the General Data 

Protection Regulations introduced in 2019/20. 

 

49. This is not a fully comprehensive list of all of the potential calls that 

could be made on the Reserves, however it provides some indication 

of the financial risks outside the core Budget that the Council could 

face. 

 

50. While some events are more likely than others and they vary in their 

potential cost to the Council, the extent and monetary range of these 

unbudgeted challenges have the potential to severely damage the 

Council’s finances if they mature. 

 

Page 404



 
 

Page 31 of 46 

Risks and Risk Management 

51. The 2019/20 Budget is constructed on a number of estimates, because 

exact figures are not known for many future events.  There are a 

number of these estimations which are subject to uncertainty and 

volatility.  In order to complete the Budgetary exercise, it is necessary 

to make a series of judgements around the level at which certain items 

should be costed.  The significant areas in the Budget around which 

judgements have been applied are explained below. 

 

52. There is significant estimation in the figure for Business Rates paid in 

the year and these are liable to fluctuate significantly for a wide 

variety of reasons. 

 

53. Pay Inflation should not be a major factor over the next 12 months as 

the Council has introduced the nationally agreed pay deal for local 

government employees and this was factored into the Budget 

calculations. 

 

 

54. There were predictions of a rise in inflation immediately following the 

Brexit Vote coupled with a drop in consumer activity and possibly a 

Page 405



 
 

Page 32 of 46 

further recession.  This has not materialised but similar predictions 

exist if the UK leaves the European Union without securing a 

favourable trade deal.  Inflation increased to just over 3% during 2017 

but has fallen subsequently to 2% at the end of 2018 and therefore it 

does not appear currently likely to accelerate at an alarming and 

unaffordable rate as there appears to be continuing global economic 

weakness and this is expected to keep the cost of Goods and Service 

stable over the 12 months of the Budget and therefore inflation in this 

area is expected to create only a low to moderate degree of risk within 

the financial forecast. 

 

55. Given the Brexit vote and the need to provide some stability and 

strength into the economy we do not expect to see any significant 

change in the Bank Base Rate over the 2019/20 financial year. 

 

56. The next 12 months therefore sees a Budget period with the only 

major risk around Business Rates actuals diverging significantly from 

the estimates made.  The Council however has sufficient financial 

reserves to draw upon if necessary, to deal with any such fluctuations. 

 

57. The normal risks around in-year pressures on spending and income 

will be dealt with via our well-developed budget reporting 

mechanisms, which not only displays how much is spent each month 

Page 406



 
 

Page 33 of 46 

within the Council, but requires Service Managers to estimate their 

spend to the end of the year.  We should therefore receive early 

warnings of any overspends allowing corrective action to be taken.  

Reserve Levels are also sufficient to allow us to be protected from any 

immediate threat, while we take action to adjust our cost base to cope 

with any external financial pressures. 

 

Consultation 

 

58. This year we are asking the public to attend the Council’s Overview 

and Scrutiny Meeting on the Budget which takes place at 10:00am on 

12
th
 February 2019 at Scaitcliffe House.  At this meeting they will get 

to hear the questions put to each of the main parties around their 

Budget proposals and the public will be invited to put questions to the 

Leaders of each group and make any general comments.  This direct 

involvement with the Public at this key meeting to debate the 

Cabinet’s budget proposals is seen as a continuing innovative way to 

engage the public and create a dialogue that informs Councillors and 

the public of the choices and difficulties around setting the budget. 

 

Page 407



 
 

Page 34 of 46 

59. The Council Tax due to Hyndburn Borough Council for each property 

by Band is shown at Appendix 4. 

 

60. The overall estimated Council Tax per household for 2019/20 is 

shown at Appendix 5.   

Conclusion 

 

61. The overall Revenue Budget 2019/20 is set out at Appendix 2.  The 

Budget for 2019/20 will be £10,995,000 and will be supported by a 

Council Tax levy of £245.52 for a Band D property—translating into 

a revenue source of £5,139,000 to meet services to the local 

community.  The Budget has been determined in light of continuing 

upward pressure on costs, previous financial difficulties that continue 

to overhang the Council, the available funding from Government and 

the Council’s strong desire to provide high levels of service to the 

Community in line with its priorities.   

Page 408



 
 

Page 35 of 46 

CONSULTATIONS 

62. As outlined in the Report, the public have been invited to participate 

in the Council’s Overview & Scrutiny Meeting on the 12
th

 February at 

10:00am in Scaitcliffe House to review in detail the Budget proposals 

of all parties, consider the proposals put forward and make 

suggestions on changes and improvements to the Budget plans to be 

submitted to Full Council on the 21
st
  February 2019. 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

63. The recommendations in the report provide an appropriate platform on 

which the Cabinet can recommend a Budget to the Council which 

meets the objectives and key priorities of the people of Hyndburn. 

 

Page 409



 
 

Page 36 of 46 

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

CONSIDERED AND REASONS FOR 

REJECTION 

64. There have been a wide number of individual proposals put forward to 

produce a Balanced Budget.  Options have been rejected on a variety 

of grounds including policy objectives, practicalities and the potential 

for additional costs to be incurred.  Further options may be presented 

at the Council meeting. 

 

BUDGET IMPLICATIONS 

65. As outlined in the report 

 

LINKS TO CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

66. The Budget report links to all corporate priorities in determining the 

funding levels for expenditure in the year ahead. 

Page 410



 
 

Page 37 of 46 

EQUALITY  

67. Any detailed policy changes, changes in service provision or 

operational changes as a result of the budget proposals will have an 

EIA produced by the relevant Service Head where this is required. 

 

RISKS 

 

68. There are a number of financial risks around setting the Budget.  

These are set out in detail in the report and cover the impact of 

making estimations of a number of large financial areas which contain 

a degree of volatility.  The Council is able to offset these risks by the 

effective management it has in place over budgets during the year and 

the ability to take early corrective action and make additional savings 

and re-prioritise spending decisions if necessary.  It can also draw 

upon its reserves as a short term measure while it takes corrective 

action. 

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

69. The Council is required to set a Balanced Budget for the Financial 

Year ahead and needs to take into consideration the Government’s 

threat of Capping. 

Page 411



 
 

Page 38 of 46 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO 

INFORMATION) ACT 1985 

70. See the relevant supporting papers from the Cabinet February 2019 

and the report to Cabinet in October 2019 which provided an update 

on the Medium Term Financial Strategy which are available from the 

Hyndburn Borough Website (links provided below) and other items 

on today’s agenda. 

Medium Term Financial Strategy October 2019 

Cabinet 6th February 2019  

Page 412

https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=2306&Ver=4
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=2309&Ver=4


 
 

Page 39 of 46 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Initial Outline Budget
2019/20 £000

Revenue Support Grant 1535

Business Rates 4082

Council Tax 5140

Collection Fund Surplus 238

Use of Reserves 0

Total Resources Available 2019/20 10,995

Roll Forward Budget 11,640

Growth Items 0

Unadjusted Predicted Spend 11,640

Savings Required 645

Savings Indentified 645

Predicted Spend 2019/20 11,640

Unfunded Spend at this time 0

Page 413



 
 

Page 40 of 46 

Appendix 2 
 

 
 

   

Revenue Budget 2019/20

Service Expenditure £000

Environmental Services 5,011

Culture & Leisure Services 898

Planning & Transportation 795

Regeneration Services 1,913

Policy & Corporate Governance 2,981

Non Service Related Budgets -603

Contribution to Reserves 0

Net Total Expenditure 10,995

Band D Property 201819 240.52£       

Band D Property 2019/20 245.52£       

Increase on Previous Year 5.00£            

% Increase on Previous Year 2.1%

Band A Property 2018/19 160.35£       

Band A Property 2019/20 163.68£       

Increase on Previous Year 3.33              

% Increase on Previous Year 2.1%

Page 414



 
 

Page 41 of 46 

APPENDIX 3 
 
 

 
 

SAVINGS LIST 2019/20  

  
Environmental Services  

Food & Safety  

Reduction in Car Allowances  £        1,280  

Increased Income Tattoo Licenses  £        1,000  

  
Pest Control  

Increased Fees  £     25,350  

Saving on Fuel Costs £      1,000 

  
Dog Warden  

Saving on Mileage Costs  £        2,500  

Net Reduction in Out Of Hours Service  £        4,000  
  
Waste Services  

Increased Income from Commercial 
Services 

 £     25,000  

Increased Income from Highways Work  £        3,000  

Miscellaneous Savings   £        1,500  

Net increase in Diesel Costs -£     14,200  

Net Savings on Sweeping Operations  £           500  

Additional Staff Cost  -£       1,650  

Increased Fees from Additional MOT Test  £     10,000  

  
Parks & Cemeteries  

Reduction in Purchase of Materials  £        5,000  

Reduced use of External Personnel  £     11,000  

Savings on External Contract  £        1,468  

Increased Fees for Interment  £        6,000  

Page 415



 
 

Page 42 of 46 

Additional Fees from Cremation Service  £     20,000  

  
Town Centre and Market Hall  £0 

  
Planning & Transportation  

Savings on Dangerous Tree Work  £        1,230  

Increased fee income  £        2,000  

Savings on Cost of Drainage Works  £        2,000  
Savings on Bus Shelter Expenditure  £        3,025  

Reduced costs on Sweeping Car Parks  £        5,000  

Miscellaneous Savings   £        1,602  

  
  
Regeneration Services  

Deletion of Vacant Part Time Post  £     14,549  
Additional Fee Income  £        2,629  

Reduction in Grants paid  £        1,312  

Saving on Legal Fees  £     15,137  

Increased Property Income  £        9,000  

Increased Income Generation from 
Weddings 

 £        5,106  

Savings on Accommodation Costs  £        5,289  

Miscellaneous Savings   £        3,630  

  
Policy & Corporate Governance  

Member Services Miscellaneous Savings  £           670  

Members Expenses  £        1,300  

Mayoralty   £           260  

HR Reduction in Training Budget  £        1,847  

HR Miscellaneous Savings  £           800  

Legal Services Miscellaneous Savings  £        3,175  

Graphics, Licensing, Land Charges & Policy  £        1,742  

Secretarial Support  £        9,147  
ICT Savings on Mobile & Broadband 
Contract Costs 

 £     10,200  

Page 416



 
 

Page 43 of 46 

ICT Reduced costs of mobile phones  £           500  

Benefit & Customer Services--Additional 
Income 

 £     30,000  

Benefit & Customer Services--Reduced 
Operational costs 

 £        5,547  

Benefit & Customer Services --Staff 
Reduced Hours 

 £     10,350  

Accountancy Services Staff Reorganisation  £     43,879  

Investment & Income Savings  £     15,000  

Deputy Chief Executive Miscellaneous 
Savings 

 £        2,000  

Cannon Street Offices -Building Costs 
Savings 

 £        5,970  

Council Tax Support Hardship Fund  £        2,000  

Reduction in Cost of Apprenticeship Levy  £     29,000  

Reduction in Cost of Pension Auto 
Enrolment 

 £     85,000  

Insurance Tender Savings  £     16,000  

Reduction in Central Pension Costs  £     32,000  
Corporate Savings Target  £   165,184  

  
  
Total Savings for 2019/20  £   645,828  

 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 
  

Page 417



 
 

Page 44 of 46 

Appendix   4 
Hyndburn Borough 

Council Tax Increase 2019/20 
by Property Band 

 
 

 
 
 

  

Appendix 4

Council Tax Council Tax Annual Increase

2018/19 2019/20

Band A 6/9 160.35£                 163.68£                 3.33£                      

Band B 7/9 187.08£                 190.96£                 3.88£                      

Band C 8/9 213.80£                 218.24£                 4.44£                      

Band D 9/9 240.52£                 245.52£                 5.00£                      

Band E 11/9 293.97£                 300.08£                 6.11£                      

Band F 13/9 347.42£                 354.64£                 7.22£                      

Band G 15/9 400.87£                 409.20£                 8.33£                      

Band H 18/9 481.04£                 491.04£                 10.00£                   

Valuation Band and Statutory ratios of 

Band D Council Tax

P
age 418



 
 

Page 45 of 46 

Appendix   5 
Overall Change in Council Tax 2019/20 

 
 
This assumes a £5.00 increase in Council Tax for a Band D property by Hyndburn Borough Council as indicated in this report.  
Altham Parish Council has decided not to increase its Council Tax.  Lancashire County Council, the Police & Crime Commissioner 
and the Fire & Rescue Authority have not made formal decisions as yet. The above model assumes a 3.99% increase for LCC, a £24 
increase by the Police & Crime Commissioner and a 2.99% increase by the Fire & Rescue Authority. 

 
  

2019/20 Change Between 2018/19 and 2019/20

Council Tax 

Schedule Band A Band B Band C Band D Band E Band F Band G Band H Band A Band B Band C Band D Band E Band F Band G Band H

2019/20 £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Hyndburn Borough 

Council 163.68 190.96 218.24 245.52 300.08 354.64 409.20 491.04 3.33 3.88 4.44 5.00 6.11 7.22 8.33 10.00      

Lancashire County 

Counci 897.73 1,047.35 1,196.97 1,346.59 1,645.83 1,945.08 2,244.32 2,693.18 34.45 40.19 45.93 51.67 63.15 74.64 86.12 103.34    

Lancashire Police & 

Crime 

Commissioner 134.30 156.69 179.07 201.45 246.22 290.99 335.75 402.90 16.00 18.67 21.33 24.00 29.33 34.67 40.00 48.00      

Lancashire Fire & 

Rescue Authority 46.32 54.04 61.76 69.48 84.92 100.36 115.80 138.96 1.34 1.57 1.79 2.02 2.46 2.91 3.36 4.04         

Total Council Tax 

Payable (outside 

Altham Parish 

Council 1,242.03 1,449.04 1,656.04 1,863.03 2,277.05 2,691.07 3,105.07 3,726.08 55.12 64.31 73.49 82.68 101.05 119.44 137.81 165.38    

Altham Parish 

Council 26.85 31.33 35.80 40.27 49.22 58.17 67.12 80.54 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Altham Parish 

Council & Hyndburn 

Borough Council 190.53 222.29 254.04 285.79 349.30 412.81 476.32 571.58 3.33 3.88 4.44 5.00 6.11 7.22 8.33 10.00      

Total for Altham 1,268.88 1,480.37 1,691.84 1,903.30 2,326.27 2,749.24 3,172.19 3,806.62 55.12 64.31 73.49 82.68 101.05 119.44 137.81 165.38    

P
age 419



 
 

Page 46 of 46 

 
 

Appendix   6 
 

Altham Parish Precept 2019/20 
by Property Valuation Band 

 
 

 
 
  *  There are currently no Band H properties in Altham parish 
 

Altham Parish Council

Appendix 6
Council Tax Council Tax Annual Increase

2018/19 2019/20

Band A 6/9 26.85 26.85£                   £0.00

Band B 7/9 31.33 31.33£                   £0.00

Band C 8/9 35.80 35.80£                   £0.00

Band D 9/9 40.27 40.27£                   £0.00

Band E 11/9 49.22 49.22£                   £0.00

Band F 13/9 58.17 58.17£                   £0.00

Band G 15/9 67.12 67.12£                   £0.00

Band H 18/9 80.54 80.54£                   £0.00

Valuation Band and Statutory ratios of 

P
age 420



Page 1 of 14 

Report to   Council  

Report by   Councillor Joyce Plummer 

Portfolio Holder Resources 

Date  21
st
 February 2019 

Report Prepared 

by  

 Joe McIntyre 

Deputy Chief Executive  
 

 

GENERAL FUND 

CAPITAL PROGRAMME 

2019/20 
 

Purpose of the Report 

 

To invite the Cabinet to consider the Council’s capital investment priorities for 

2019/20 and to recommend to the Council a capital programme for approval at its 

meeting on the 21
st
 February 2019, having regard to key linkages between the 

management of the Council’s capital and revenue resources. 

Recommendations 

I recommend that the Cabinet proposes to Council 

 

1. A Capital Programme for 2019/20 of £2,070,128 as set out in 

Appendix 1.  

 

2. That the programme is funded by new anticipated direct external grants 

of £1,235,128 and £835,000 of new investment from the Council’s 

resources.  External grant funding must be secured before any internal 

Page 421



Page 2 of 14 

funds are committed to projects that rely on external funding to 

proceed. 

 

3. That delegated authority is given to the Deputy Chief Executive, in 

consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Resources to flex the 

programme in accordance with the available funding, provided this 

does not require any additional borrowing. 

 

4. That the  individual projects within the Capital Programme require the 

written authorisation of the Deputy Chief Executive following 

consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Resources before 

commencing and incurring expenditure and that Service Managers 

provide the Deputy Chief Executive, with written details of estimated 

costs of schemes with full justification of the need and benefits from 

undertaking the capital investments before approval is provided and 

that approval to commence is delegated to the Deputy Chief Executive, 

in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Resources. 

 

5. That Projects are timed to minimise the need for borrowing and the 

Deputy Chief Executive be requested to seek project start dates after 

September 2019 whenever this is practical. 

 

6. That in-year underspends are not made available to fund new projects 

during the year. 

Page 422



Page 3 of 14 

Summary 

 

The Report sets out the Council’s Capital Programme for 2019/20.  In recent years, 

the Council has funded significant programmes of Capital Expenditure which have 

exceeded £15m per annum.  In these more austere times it is not possible to fund 

investment into the local community at these levels.  However the Council is able to 

put forward a substantial capital investment programme of almost £2.1m, despite the 

severe reductions in public spending that have been necessary due to the Recession.  

This has only been made possible by the Council’s effective financial management 

over recent years, which has seen it avoid additional borrowing and increase its 

revenue reserves, while reducing its operating costs. 

 

It is intended that the Council will continue these strong policies of financial 

management and this year will again avoid increasing its borrowing.  It will rely on 

securing external sources of funding, using capital receipts, making revenue 

contributions to capital projects and will use unspent monies to fund its programme.  

It will also apply a rigorous approach to selecting projects by examining all proposals 

against its corporate objectives and only selecting the most pressing and deserving 

projects to fund.  This is in accordance with the Council policy of limiting the 

increase in debt and borrowing costs, while ensuring the Council’s objectives are met. 

 

The Revenue implications of the strategy to finance the Capital Programme are a key 

element in the affordability issues on the Revenue Budget this year. The programme 

contains a limited amount of risk this year.  The level of risk is significantly down 

from previous financial years.  This is largely due to the smaller programme and the 

removal of much of the risk around the level of available capital funds to meet the 

Page 423



Page 4 of 14 

proposed expenditure.  The Council’s overall resources and management systems are 

believed to be sufficiently robust to effectively monitor these risks and ensure 

appropriate action is taken if they should materialise. 

 

The Council will continue with its strategy adopted for over 10 years of attempting to 

reduce its level of debt wherever possible by restricting borrowing and repaying debt 

and will continue to work extensively with external funders to bring forward realistic 

plans for Capital investment in the area. 

 

Detail 

 

1. The Council fundamentally altered its capital investment strategy with the 

Capital Programme it announced in March 2004.  Up until that point, the 

Council had looked to maximise the capital investment it made each year.  The 

upper limit of investment each year was the Basic Credit Approval provided 

by the Government plus any specific Supplementary Credit Approvals.  This 

system of Capital Credit Approvals allowed local authorities to spend up to a 

maximum amount each year on Capital Schemes.  This figure was pre-

determined by the Government.   

 

2. By taking advantage of these Credit Approvals, the Council made significant 

investments in the local infrastructure, however this came at the cost of steep 

increases in revenue costs to meet the interest payments in relation to these 

borrowings.  Further underlying problems were also being built-up by the use 

of Capital Receipts to further support more Capital expenditure rather than 

repaying existing debt.  The issue of debt repayment was accentuated still 

Page 424



Page 5 of 14 

further by the significant reduction in Grant Commutation which was 

impacting on the revenue costs of the Council. 

 

3. Work undertaken in 2004, showed the Council was moving on a course that 

would see its General Fund Debt rise from £16.3m in 2002/3 to £27.5m by 

March 2007 and would see its financing costs rise from just over £1m in 

2002/3 to almost £2.9m by 2006/7 with a continuing forward trajectory of 

escalating costs.  This analysis predicted the proportion of the General Fund 

Revenue Account required to fund debt-financing would rise from around 8% 

in 2002/3 to almost 25% by 2006/7 and continue on an upward path in 

subsequent years.  At times of increased pressure on the General Fund from a 

wide variety of sources it was recognised that the previous strategy was 

unsustainable and a new approach was developed around limiting capital 

investment to essential projects and using capital receipts to repay debt.  This 

strategy has proved very successful and the predicted interest costs in 2019/20 

are expected to be 5% or less of general revenue expenditure.  

 

4.  This transformation has saved the Council around £2.275m per year over the 

last 10 years, based on the current ratio of cost to total net expenditure.  This 

action, in light of the severe reduction in funding the Council has faced over 

the last 8 years, has ensured that the Council has been able to manage its 

financial position appropriately.  If the Council still had the levels debt it had 

in 2003/4 or had allowed the amounts borrowed to grow over the last 10 years 

its financial position would have been precarious under the present financial 

climate. 

 

5. Debt financing costs are expected to remain stable over the next 3 years.  Our 

loan portfolio has interest rates that are unlikely to significantly alter over the 

Page 425



Page 6 of 14 

period of the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS).  Interest rates, with 

the Bank of England Base Rate currently at 0.75% are not expected to increase 

until the second quarter of 2019 at the earliest.  The increase when it occurs in 

2019 is only expected to by 25 base points, raising the Base Rate at the Bank 

of England to 1.00% and further increases are expected to be limited to 25 

base points and only introduced on a quarter year basis at the most in 2020. 

 

 

6. The Council via its successful financial management of its resources repaid the 

last of its short term loans during 2015/16 and now only has long term debts of 

just under £10m that it cannot repay for around another 20 years.  The loans 

outstanding are held as fixed term loans or “lender option, borrower option” 

(LOBO) loans.  Interest rate increases are not expected to change sufficiently 

for our LOBO lenders to exercise their options to “call” the loan and have it 

repaid, in the expectation that they can produce a better return on their money.  

At some point in the future the Council should consider starting to build 

sufficient cash reserves to effectively terminate these loans when they are 

either “called” or mature.  However, the current pressure on the Council’s 

financial positon over the next few years and the remote likelihood of any 

“call” in that period suggest this would not be an effective strategy at the 

present time. 

 

7. The current Capital Projections for 2019/20 show that our estimated debt has 

decreased from the projected £27m in 2004 to under £10m currently and that 

we do not estimate that there will be a need for this position to worsen in the 

near future. 

 

Page 426



Page 7 of 14 

8. This demonstrates that our early prudent action in the management of the debt 

position has produced a significant improvement in our debt position and we 

have achieved our objectives as detailed in last year’s Capital Programme.   

 

 

9. The Capital Programme Working Group (CPWG) received bids considerably 

in excess of the available resources for the 2019/20 year and all of these 

applications have gone through a process of rationalisation to come up with a 

proposed programme for 2019/20.   

 

10. The proposed programme is outlined in Appendix 1 and a summary of the 

major projects are given below. 

 

a) The Council will commit almost £900,000 to Disabled Facility Grants 

in 2019/20, to help those that suffer medical conditions so that they can 

continue to live independent lives in their own homes.  The money will 

provide stairlifts, toilet and bathroom adaptations, access ramps and 

other equipment, as well as grants for major structural alterations 

where needed. 

b) The Council will continue to assist in the regeneration of Accrington 

Town Centre, building on the major £2m investment it has already 

undertaken in recent years outside the Town Hall and Market Hall and 

along Blackburn Road, with a £50,000 scheme to improve Broadway. 

c) There will be significant investment in our Parks with almost a quarter 

of a million pounds dedicated to a major improvement to Milnshaw 

Park, following on from the regeneration of Rhyddings Park over the 

last few years.  In addition, almost £150,000 is committed to 

improving facilities for young people at Mercer Park and there is 

Page 427



Page 8 of 14 

£25,000 this year to improve paths and walkways around our other 

parks. 

d) Money has also been set aside in the Capital Programme to upgrade 

Hyndburn Sport Centre plant and machinery to ensure the key sport 

and leisure facility in Hyndburn remains functional and there is a loan 

to Hyndburn Leisure to allow them to develop a much needed 

gymnastic facility that will allow the Trust to significantly increase the 

numbers of participants in this sport over the coming years. 

e) The Council will also be investing heavily in its key buildings, assets 

and infrastructure with £575,000 set aside for health and safety 

improvements, the upgrade of financial and information technology 

systems and vehicle replacements, along with a provision for the 

updating of Christmas decorations used at key shopping locations each 

year to help boost local trade. 

 

Improving the Management of Capital Investments 

 

11. The Council needs to continue to develop its financial control over its major 

capital investment programme.  It is critical that during 2019/20 the Council 

continues to adequately manage this spend, to ensure it gains as much benefit 

from this investment as possible and effectively controls its costs. 

 

12. The outline of schemes for the 2019/20 Capital Programme can be seen at 

Appendix 1.  However, the Council needs to ensure these schemes can provide 

the positive benefits the level of spend requires.  Following on from the 

successful approach introduced 11 years ago, each scheme is required to 

Page 428



Page 9 of 14 

provide more detailed analysis, if requested, before final spending is 

committed to ensure that the project can be delivered within the funds made 

available, that revenue costs of the schemes can be accommodated within 

existing revenue budgets and most importantly that the benefits from the 

scheme are clearly identified and delivered. 

 

13. The Deputy Chief Executive, will be instructed only to release funds for 

capital investment once the required written detail has been submitted to him 

for approval.  Until this has been given, Service Managers are not allowed to 

commit expenditure.  Additional projects may be authorised by the Deputy 

Chief Executive, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Resources 

during the year if the projects have sufficient external funding to meet their 

costs or other funding sources can be obtained. 

 

14. Under the previous regime of Credit Approvals from the Government there 

was an in-built incentive to spend up to the maximum each year—as failure to 

do so, might have led to reduced credit approvals in the future and 

subsequently lost the Council flexibility in future spending decisions.  

Therefore, if parts of the Capital Programme slipped, came in under budget or 

were cancelled, there was a strong tendency to seek to replace these with other 

projects, to maintain the overall spend close to the maximum Credit Approval.   

 

15. Under the new regime of Prudential Borrowing, there is no requirement to 

spend up to a budgeted amount.  The Council should determine its needs for 

Capital spend purely on rational grounds and underspends in the programme 

should not automatically lead to other projects being brought forward to soak 

up potentially available funds.  Given that a rigorous process of determining 

Page 429



Page 10 of 14 

the need for Capital spend has taken place at the start of the year and the 

Council’s strong commitment for reducing the overall level of debt, there 

should be a major predisposition to continued banking of these underspends as 

a genuine saving to the Council. 

Conclusion 

 

16. Overall the Council will be investing almost £2.1m in Capital investment in 

2019/20.  There is a significant amount of the total resource available this year 

dedicated to supporting people with disabilities continue to live in their own 

homes, along with continued investment in Accrington Town Centre and the 

Council’s key buildings and infrastructure that it needs to deliver services to 

the public.  

17. The details behind all of these proposals remain at the outline stage only and 

further work is required to ensure that these projects provide positive benefits 

to the Community and the Council.  Each project is therefore required to 

submit further detailed plans if required in order to obtain final approval for 

expenditure to occur and to obtain final clearance from the Deputy Chief 

Executive, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Resources. 

 

18. The Capital Programme does require a degree of flexibility within it, to 

respond to sudden demands for Capital expenditure, actions to be taken on the 

receipts of monies and revisions to proposals as projects are not financially 

viable or encounter other problems such as securing external funding.  CPWG 

will report back to Cabinet at frequent intervals throughout the year to ensure 

Cabinet is kept appraised of the current situation and any approvals necessary 

for alteration are obtained. 

Page 430



Page 11 of 14 

 

CONSULTATIONS 

A variety of schemes are recommended from a number of sources to the Council.  

These are considered by the Council’s CPWG against a list of corporate priorities and 

other assessment criteria before the final list is determined.  Councillors and the 

Public are invited to the Council’s Overview & Scrutiny Committee on the 12
th

    

February 2019 at 10:00am in Scaitcliffe House, Accrington to review the proposals 

and give their views.  These views are then reported to the Council ahead of them 

making their decision on the Capital Budget. 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

These schemes represent the best value for money and meet the Council’s overall 

corporate policy objectives, within the funding envelop for the year. 

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REASONS FOR 

REJECTION 

 

A wider programme of funding has not been considered due to the Council’s policy 

commitment to limiting Capital Expenditure to affordable levels and seeking to repay 

debt. 

BUDGET IMPLICATIONS 

As outlined in the report. 

 

Page 431



Page 12 of 14 

Risk Management 

The programme for 2019/20 should be low risk and has much less risk attached to it 

compared to recent years, due to its decreased size and the level of certainty around its 

funding.  As with previous years we look to monitor the individual transactions 

closely and arrange the overall programme so that we do not commit expenditure in 

areas where we have some degree of control, until these risky transactions are 

concluded.  The main risks within the programme relate to the dangers of escalating 

costs linked to building work, as many of the buildings are old and potential problems 

can emerge once the scheduled work has commenced.  The Council attempts to 

mitigate this risk by undertaking survey work ahead of schemes commencing and 

adopting a rolling programme of work to allow flexibility in the scheduling of projects 

if cost overruns start to occur. 

 

LINKS TO CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

The Council’s Corporate Objectives are delivered through its Capital and Revenue 

Budget. 

EQUALITY  

The report is for information and does not contain any changes to Council Policies 

which would require an equality impact assessment to rake place. 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Not applicable 

Page 432



Page 13 of 14 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 

No specific background papers applicable, other than previous reports on this subject 

in previous years but they do not relate directly to the content of this report. 

Page 433



Page 14 of 14 

 APPENDIX 1 

Capital Programme 

2019/20 

Scheme Gross External Net Cost

Cost Funding 2019/20

Disabled Facility Grants  £    895,128  £    895,128  £           -   

Planned Asset Improvement Programme  £    325,000  £325,000 

Milnshaw Park Refurbishment Works  £    223,000  £    198,000  £  25,000 

Hyndburn Leisure Centre - Mechanical and 

Plant Replacement

 £    150,000  £150,000 

Mercer Park Skate Facility  £    142,000  £    117,000  £  25,000 

New Financial Software  £    100,000  £100,000 

Annual Vehicle Replacement Programme  £      55,000  £  55,000 

Broadway Resurfacing  £      50,000  £      25,000  £  25,000 

Tech Refresh  £      50,000  £  50,000 

Upgrading CCTV  £      35,000  £  35,000 

Infrastructure Reconstruction Works  £      25,000  £  25,000 

Hyndburn Leisure 3G Pitch Sinking Fund  £      10,000  £  10,000 

Christmas Decorations  £      10,000  £  10,000 

Total  £2,070,128  £1,235,128  £835,000 

Loan

Hyndburn Leisure Gymnastics Expansion  £      36,500  £  36,500 

BID PROPOSALS

 

Page 434


	Agenda
	4. Confirmation of Minutes
	5. Core Strategy Review and Site Allocations DPD consultation draft (Regulation 18)
	Background Paper 1 - Core Strategy Review Reg18 consultation draft
	Background Paper 2 - GO SO Justification paper
	Background Paper 3 - Site Allocations DPD Regulation 18 2 draft
	final Customer1stAnalysis_LocalPlanReg18-2_Feb19

	6. National Non Domestic Rates Retail Discount Scheme
	7. Medium Term Financial Strategy 2019/20 to 2021/2022
	8. Prudential Indicators and Treasury Management & Investment Strategy 2019/20- 2021/22
	TMP 2019-20 APP 3
	Capital Strategy 2019-20 v3 APP 4

	9. General Revenue Budget, Council Tax Levels and Capital Programme 2019/20
	Capital Programme Report 2019-20 v2


